
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, MARCH 01, 2021 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The meeting will also be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the 
meeting in the following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of February 15, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing Read Across America Day as March 2, 2021. 

3. Proclamation recognizing International Women's Day as March 8, 2021. 

Special Order of Business 

4. Public hearing on the proposed lease agreement with the Cedar Falls Municipal Band relative to the 
Overman Park Band Shell. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 19, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Lease Agreement with the Cedar Falls 
Municipal Band relative to the Overman Park Band Shell. 

1



Page 2 of 4 

5. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to adaptive re-use of institutional buildings.  
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 19, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to adaptive 
re-use of institutional buildings, upon its first consideration. 

Old Business 

6. Pass Ordinance #2984, amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
permitting poultry in residential areas, upon its third and final consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #2985, amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
establishing regulations for rear yard poultry in residential areas, upon its third and final 
consideration. (contingent upon approval of Ordinance #2984) 

8. Pass Ordinance #2983, amending Chapter 15, Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
keeping poultry in residential areas, upon its third and final consideration. (Contingent upon approval 
of Ordinances #2984 and #2985) 

9. Resolution extending the face mask mandate for the City of Cedar Falls. 

10. Resolution authorizing city staff to approve or deny the application of Cedar Basin Music Festival for 
a Public Event Permit for June 25-27, 2021, pursuant to provisions of the Code of Ordinances. 

11. Resolution authorizing city staff to approve or deny the application of Live-to-9 for a Public Event 
Permit for June 25-26, 2021, pursuant to provisions of the Code of Ordinances. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

12. Receive and file Mayor's Monthly Report for February 2021. 

13. Receive and file a communication from the Mayor relative to establishing the Cedar Falls Racial 
Equity Task Force. 

14. Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) Mary-Sue Bartlett, Art & Culture Board 
b) Barbara Weeg, Board of Adjustment 

15. Receive and file the Work Session minutes of the February 15, 2021 relative to the following item: 
a) Joint Work Session with Human Rights Commission to discuss future roles, responsibilities and 
City Council expectations for the Human Rights Commission. 

16. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of February 15, 2021 relative to the following 
item: 
a) Request to extend suspension of paid parking in municipal lots. 

17. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of January, 2021. 

18. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, Class B beer & outdoor service - renewal. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor – change in ownership. 
c) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C liquor – change in ownership. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

19. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
234 Clark Drive. 

20. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
821 Madison Street. 

21. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
2303 Washington Street. 

22. Resolution extending the suspension of paid parking in municipal parking lots in the City of Cedar 
Falls. 

23. Resolution approving an amendment to the Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition, and 
ratifying and confirming approval of the final plat of McMahill First Addition. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Emergent Architecture for 
design services relative to the City Hall Remodel Project. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Community Housing Development Organization 
(CHDO) Agreement with the City of Waterloo and Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity for the use of 
FY2021 Federal HOME Funds towards construction, acquisition and rehabilitation projects. 

26. Resolution approving a Central Business District (CBD) Overlay Zoning District site plan for 
construction of a restaurant and outdoor patio at 108 East 4th Street. 

27. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District site plan for a 
remodel to double the numbers of bedrooms at 704-706 West 28th Street (P&Z recommended 
denial). 

28. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District site plan for 
construction of a driveway with landscaping improvements at 704-706 West 28th Street, as 
recommended by city staff. 

29. Resolution approving an S-1 Shopping Center District site plan for a build-out and facade 
improvements at 6607 University Avenue. 

30. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Municipal Pipe 
Tool Company, LLC, in the amount of $198,189.80, for the 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project. 

31. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of K. Cunningham 
Construction Company, Inc., in the amount of $2,329,948.23, for the Downtown Streetscape and 
Reconstruction Project - Phase II. 

32. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Feldman Concrete for 
the 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 3. 

33. Resolution approving the Final Statement of Expenditures for the 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project 
- Zone 3. 

34. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Terracon Consultants, Inc. to develop a work plan and site 
monitoring report relative to an Iowa Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Tier 2 Report, in 
conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project.  

3



Page 4 of 4 

35. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Utilities Relocation and Easement 
Conveyance/Vacation Agreement with Qwest Corporation d/b/a CenturyLink QC relative to 
the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project.  

36. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting March 15, 2021 as the date of the public hearing, on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Street Construction 
Project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

37. Allow Bills and Claims of March 1, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, FEBRUARY 15, 2021 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse 
(via video conference), Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None.  

 
53201 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of February 1, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
53202 -     Jay Stoddard, 228 Maryhill Drive, highlighted projects within the community that 

the Sturgis Falls Celebration has contributed funding towards. 
 
  Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, expressed appreciation for the Council’s 

explanation of a prior Council vote and for staff’s response to a Freedom of 
Information (FOIA) record request, and requested inclusion of payroll in the 
Council packets. 

 
  Mayor Green responded to a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, 

regarding Robert’s Rules of Order, the term “germane” and items on the consent 
calendar. Mr. Skaine also commented that he likes public forum at the beginning 
of the agenda and then commented on the Capital Improvement Program portion 
of the proposed budget. 

 
  T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way, noted incorrect dates on the “no parking” signs 

posted for snow removal. 
 
53203 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of February 3, 2021, 

this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed FY2022 Budget 
for the City of Cedar Falls. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller 
that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
53204 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed budget. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck provided a brief summary of the proposed budget and 
responded to a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street. There being no one 
else present wishing to speak about the proposed budget, the Mayor declared 
the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53205 -     It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,255, 

approving and adopting the FY2022 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls, be 
adopted. Following a comment by Councilmember Sires, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah. Nay: 
Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,255 duly passed 
and adopted.  

 
53206 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of February 5, 2021, 

this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that 
the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
53207 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer Tolan provided a 
brief summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present wishing 
to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
53208 -     It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,256, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project, be adopted. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, 
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #22,256 duly passed and adopted.  

 
53209 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of February 5, 2021, 

this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Downtown Streetscape 
and Reconstruction Project - Phase II. It was then moved by Darrah and 
seconded by Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be 
received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
53210 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer Claypool 
provided a brief summary of the proposed project. There being no one else 
present wishing to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53211 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,257, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project - Phase II, be 
adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,257 duly passed and 
adopted.  

 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

53212 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2984, 
amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to permitting 
poultry in residential areas, be passed upon its second consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, 
Miller, Kruse, Harding, Darrah. Nay: deBuhr, Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53213 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2985, amending 

Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to establishing 
regulations for rear yard poultry in residential areas, be passed upon its second 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, Kruse, Harding, Darrah. Nay: deBuhr, 
Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53214 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2983, 

amending Chapter 15, Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances relative to keeping 
poultry in residential areas, be passed upon its second consideration. Following a 
question by Councilmember Darrah and response by Mayor Green, the Mayor 
put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, Kruse, Harding, Darrah. Nay: deBuhr, 
Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53215-    It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #2986, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
Applicability of Robert's Rules of Order, be passed upon its second 
consideration. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah that the 
rules requiring this ordinance to be considered at three separate meetings, be 
suspended.  Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires.  Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
      It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that that Ordinance #2986, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
Applicability of Robert's Rules of Order, be passed upon its third and final 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #2986 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
53216 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,258, 

approving and adopting the FY2022 City Council Goals, Work Program, and 
Short-Term Financial Plan, be adopted. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Darrah. Nay: Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#22,258 duly passed and adopted. 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 
53217 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Nicole Winther, Human Rights Commission. 
b) Evan Renfro, Human Rights Commission. 

 Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special 
Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C 
liquor - renewal. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

53218 -  It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Miller to receive and file the 
Committee of the Whole minutes of February 1, 2021, relative to the Main Street 
Traffic Study. Following a question by Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, and 
response by Mayor Green, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
53219 -     It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 
  Resolution #22,259, approving and authorizing submission of the Iowa Certified 

Local Government (CLG) 2020 Annual Report of the Historic Preservation 
Commission to the State Historical Society of Iowa. 

 
Resolution #22,260, approving and authorizing execution of a Plan Change 
Amendment with iSolved Benefit Services to incorporate Consolidated 
Appropriations Act (CAA) allowances into the City's Cafeteria Benefits Plan 
Document. 

 Resolution #22,261, approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for 
Alcohol Enforcement with the Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division. 

 Resolution #22,262, approving and authorizing execution of a Service Agreement 
with Benchmark Solutions LLC, dba Benchmark Analytics LLC, for police training 
management software. 

 Resolution #22,263, approving the final plat of The Arbors Fourth Addition. 

 Resolution #22,264, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a tandem axle dump truck. 

 Resolution #22,265, approving and authorizing execution of a Third Amendment 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

to Storm Water Maintenance and Repair Agreement and Permanent Easement 
and a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Midwest 
Development Co. relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan 
for The Arbors Fourth Addition. 

 Resolution #22,266, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in The Arbors Fourth Addition. 

 Resolution #22,267, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with MidAmerican Energy Company relative to installing an electrical 
distribution system within the Cedar Heights Drive and Katoski Drive right-of-way. 

 
 Resolution #22,268, setting March 1, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a 

proposed lease agreement with the Cedar Falls Municipal Band relative to the 
Overman Park Band Shell. 

 Resolution #22,269, setting March 1, 2021 as the date of public hearing on 
proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to adaptive re-use of institutional buildings. 

 Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,259 through #22,269 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53220 -    It was moved by Harding and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #22,270, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Engagement Letter for Retained 
Exclusive Search Services with The Overture Group, LLC to perform recruitment 
services relative to the position of Principal Engineer, be adopted. Following a 
question by Councilmember Dunn and response by City Administrator Gaines, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#22,270 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53221 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that a resolution approving and 

authorizing execution of a Sturgis Falls Celebration Agreement for Use of City 
Parks and Services with Sturgis Falls Celebration, Inc.; and approving Public 
Event Permits for Live-to-9 and Cedar Basin Music Festival, be adopted. 
Following a comment by Councilmember deBuhr, it was moved by deBuhr and 
seconded by Sires to divide the question into three components. Following 
questions and comments by Councilmembers Harding, Sires and Kruse, and 
response by City Administrator Gaines, the motion to divide the question carried 
6-1, with Darrah voting Nay. 

 
  It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by deBuhr to approve and authorize 

execution of the Sturgis Falls Celebration Agreement. Following comments by 
Councilmember Kruse, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Sires to amend 
the motion to include eight points of an affiliate participation agreement within 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

item Q of the Sturgis Falls Celebration agreement. Following questions and 
comments by Councilmembers Harding, Kruse and Sires, responses by Public 
Works Director Schrage and City Attorney Rogers, and comments by Rick Sharp, 
1623 Birch Street, Mayor Green called the motion out of order. Following 
comments by Kyle Henderson, 1008 Erik Road, Councilmember Kruse, Mayor 
Green and City Attorney Rogers, it was moved by Miller and seconded by Sires 
to postpone consideration of the Sturgis Falls Celebration Agreement until the 
March 1, 2021 City Council meeting. Motion carried, 5-2 with Darrah and Harding 
voting Nay. 

   
  It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding to approve a Public 

Event permit for Live to 9. It was then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Sires 
to postpone consideration until the March 1, 2021 City Council meeting. 
Following comments by Councilmembers Darrah, deBuhr, Sires and Kruse, and 
T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way, the motion to postpone carried unanimously. 

 
  It was then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Sires to postpone consideration 

of a Public Event permit for Cedar Basin Music Festival until the March 1, 2021 
City Council meeting. Following comments by Kyle Henderson, 1008 Erik Road, 
the motion to postpone carried 4-3, with Dunn, Darrah and Hardng voting Nay. 

 
53222 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the bills and claims of 

February 15, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Dunn, Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53223 -     It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse to refer to the Committee of the 

Whole to have staff present information pertaining to the following options: a) 
streamlining or simplifying the process of expanding outdoor seating for local 
businesses, b) the possibilities pertaining to the temporary suspension of city 
codes where appropriate, c) other creative viable options that would help local 
business expand outdoor seating for the spring and summer seasons. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
  It was then moved by Harding and seconded by Darrah to refer to the Committee 

of the Whole an update/review of the poultry ordinances in approximately one 
year following implementation. Following a comment by Councilmember Kruse, 
the motion carried unanimously. 

        
  It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding to refer to the Committee 

of the Whole a comprehensive comparison of the complete streets policies of 
2009 and 2013. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Darrah, 
Kruse, Miller and Sires, the motion carried 5-2, with Darrah and Miller voting Nay. 

 
53224  Councilmember Harding suggested a social media campaign as an outreach 

effort to inform the public of snow removal ordinances. 
 

10

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

  Councilmember Sires thanked the 6th and 7th graders at Blessed Maria Assunta 
Pallotta Middle School in Waterloo for inviting him to speak about the 
Constitution. 

 
  Councilmember Dunn requested an update on snow removal efforts. 
 
53225 - Public Works Director Schrage commented on snow removal efforts and 

provided information about the snow emergency in effect in the Downtown and 
College Hill areas from Tuesday night until Wednesday morning to allow for snow 
removal in those areas. 

 
  Operations and Maintenance Division Manager Heath explained the City’s snow 

removal process, including clearing intersections for sight issues, and provided 
clarification on trail clearing. Councilmembers Dunn, Kruse and Harding, and 
Mayor Green thanked staff for their efforts. 

 
  Community Development Director Sheetz commented on residential sidewalk 

clearing requirements and stated that 48 hours is considered to be a reasonable 
amount of time. Ms. Sheetz responded to a question by Councilmember Miller 
regarding landlord accountability and assessment of points. 

 
  Library Director Stern stated that the library opened to the public today with 

limited browsing hours. 
 
  Mayor Green recognized City Administrator Ron Gaines for his 15 years of 

service with the City. 
 
53226 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:52 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

11

Item 1.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 

 

 

 

 

READ ACROSS AMERICA DAY 
MARCH 2, 2021 

 

WHEREAS, Read Across America Day is an annual initiative of the National 

Education Association to promote reading for pleasure and personal growth; 

and 

WHEREAS, this motivational and awareness day on March 2nd each year 

encourages all children and young adults to celebrate reading in every 

community across the United States; and 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Public Library, local school libraries and book 

stores are a treasure trove of adventures, knowledge and inspiration through 

the written word; and 

WHEREAS, children benefit from seeing their parents, guardians, and other 

important role models actively engaged in reading for pleasure and growth;  

THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

March 2, 2021 as Read Across Cedar Falls Day throughout the city and 

encourage citizens to celebrate literacy and the written word by visiting the 

Cedar Falls Public Library, school library or bookstore, and selecting a great 

book to help pass along a love of reading to the next generation. 

Signed this 25th day of February, 2021.  

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

12

Item 2.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 

  

 

 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL WOMEN’S DAY 
 March 8, 2021 

 
WHEREAS, International Women’s Day was honored for the first time in 

Austria, Denmark, Germany and Switzerland in 1911; and 

WHEREAS, March 8 is celebrated worldwide as International Women’s Day to 

recognize the achievements of women and their contribution to society; and 

WHEREAS, women can celebrate significant progress in equality globally, but 

also contemplate those areas where more can be done through access to 

education, health care and paid labor, as well as legislation to ensure equal 

opportunities for women and respect for their human rights; and  

WHEREAS,  nowhere in the world can women claim to have all the same rights 

and opportunities as men, and until we all work together to secure the rights 

and full potential of women, lasting solutions to social, economic and political 

problems are unlikely to be found;  

THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

March 8, 2021, as International Women’s Day in the city of Cedar Falls, and 

encourage citizens to work to addresses the social, economic and political 

barriers still facing women and girls while celebrating their achievements and 

the progress made in support of women’s equality. 

Signed this 25th day of February, 2021. 

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

  

  
13

Item 3.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 22, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  Lease Agreement – Overman Park Band Shell  

 
Over the past several months we have been working with the Cedar Falls Municipal 
Band to determine the status of ownership for the Band Shell located in Overman Park.  
It was determined that the Municipal Band owns the Band Shell, however, the City owns 
the land that the structure sits on.   It was also determined that it would be in the best 
interest of both parties to have a formal agreement that outlines ownership of the band 
shell, use of the band shell, maintenance, and insurance requirements.  The proposed 
lease is attached.  
 
As part of that lease the City is leasing the ground to the Municipal Band for the Band 
Shell.  Since this lease is longer than three years, a public hearing is required. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact Kevin Rogers or myself.  
 

14

Item 4.



15

Item 4.



16

Item 4.



17

Item 4.



18

Item 4.



19

Item 4.



20

Item 4.



21

Item 4.



22

Item 4.



23

Item 4.



24

Item 4.



25

Item 4.



26

Item 4.



27

Item 4.



28

Item 4.



29

Item 4.



30

Item 4.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

  Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: February 25, 2020  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Adaptive re-use of institutional buildings (TA20-
002) 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 
The owner of a vacant church building in an R-1 residential district has inquired about 
alternative uses and wants to operate an event space there for wedding receptions. The 
activity associated with that use may not be too different from that of a church and could be 
compatible with the neighborhood. However, in the R-1 and R-2 districts, principal uses are 
limited generally to residential dwellings and uses of a religious or civic nature.  And while the 
R-3 and R-4 zoning districts do allow a wider variety of uses, in some instances in order to 
preserve a large institutional building some flexibility in the standards may be needed. In the 
recent inquiry, the owner of the vacant church has only four options allowed by code: 1. Sit 
vacant; 2. Sell to another church; 3. Convert the use to a public or parochial school; or 4. 
Tear down and subdivide into residential lots. Staff is bringing this before the Planning and 
Zoning Commission to explore ways to provide more flexibility within the zoning ordinance for 
repurposing existing religious and civic buildings currently in R districts. 
 
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM 
When the decision is made that the use of a church or other civic building is no longer viable 
or desirable, the common consideration to close or tear down these buildings is often a tough 
reality for the owner and the patrons of those institutions. They are often buildings of 
historical or cultural significance worthy of preservation but also pose unique challenges 
because they are large buildings that sit on large parcels. They have plenty of potential but 
their location within a residential zone is usually the biggest hurdle keeping them from 
converting into another practical use. As such, providing flexibility within the zoning ordinance 
for economically viable alternatives to religious or civic uses may be appropriate to provide a 
path to repurpose these institutional facilities. 
 
DISCUSSION OF SOLUTIONS 
While exploring this issue, staff reached out to planners in Iowa City, Cedar Rapids, Des 
Moines, and Council Bluffs to find out how they have handled similar issues in their cities. 
While a number of these cities indicated that they have encountered similar inquiries about 

31

Item 5.



re-purposing obsolete institutional buildings, only two have pursued specific ordinance 
amendments to address these issues: Council Bluffs and Iowa City. Staff in Council Bluffs 
proposed amendments to allow alternative uses through a conditional use process, but these 
have yet to be adopted.  Iowa City allows repurposing of buildings of historical significance 
through a special exception process.  
 
If a use is conditionally allowed in a zoning district, this is known as a conditional use or 
special exception. According to Iowa Code 414.12(2), such matters are to be decided by a 
Board of Adjustment.  Some cities use the term “conditional use” and some use the term 
“special exception,” but the meaning is the same. In some ordinances, the term “special 
exception” is also used to refer to actions by the Board of Adjustment to allow adjustments to 
other requirements in a zoning ordinance, such as setbacks or height standards, when 
specifically enumerated in the code. While the Cedar Falls Board of Adjustment is 
empowered to hear special exception cases, there are few enumerated in the zoning 
ordinance. The ones most requested are from owners of property located in the Floodway 
Districts, where City’s floodplain ordinance establishes conditions under which improvements 
to properties may be approved through a special exception or variance process.    
 
A conditional use or special exception process allows requests to be carefully considered 
through a public hearing process. The basic premise is that uses listed as conditional or 
special exceptions, may or may not be appropriate for a particular location. It is up to the 
owner of the property to present convincing evidence at a public hearing to demonstrate how 
the proposed use would fit into the context of the surrounding neighborhood and meet the 
approval criteria.  Conditional uses or special exceptions are a standard element of zoning 
ordinances in Iowa. Many cities in Iowa, including cities of similar size to Cedar Falls 
(Marshalltown, Mason City, Bettendorf, Marion, and Urbandale) have conditional uses as part 
of their zoning ordinances. 
 
Conditional uses are an excellent tool because they provide flexibility and extra scrutiny for 
uses that may fit nicely into a neighborhood if certain conditions are met. They may be denied 
if the characteristics of a particular use are determined to be problematic for a particular 
location. Prior to any public hearing on a conditional use, surrounding property owners are to 
be notified, and notice published in the newspaper of record.  The Board of Adjustment would 
consider all the evidence presented at the hearing and render a decision to approve (with or 
without conditions) or deny the requested conditional use. 
 
Staff recommends establishing a conditional use process to consider requests for adaptive 
re-use of institutional buildings, particularly buildings of historic or cultural significance. Each 
conditional use application that qualifies would require review and a decision by the Board of 
Adjustment. After consideration, the Board may approve, deny, or approve the proposal with 
conditions. Surrounding property owners would be notified prior to the hearing and staff 
would review and provide analysis of the proposal at the meeting. Board of Adjustment 
meetings are considered quasi-judicial public hearings and therefore notice must be 
published prior to the meeting. Procedures established in State Code must be followed. 
 
Staff identified issues that we may want to consider in an ordinance amendment. These 
include the following: 

32

Item 5.



 Not all uses are compatible with residential neighborhoods. We may want to limit the 
alternative uses that can be considered; 

 Nuisance issues such as noise and traffic will be important to evaluate when 
considering alternative uses; 

 Allowing an opportunity for neighborhood input will be important in the review process; 

 Depending on the proposed use and the characteristics of the site, additional 
conditions may need to be imposed, such as additional requirements for or restrictions 
on parking, limits to hours of operation, restrictions on use of amplified sound, 
additional landscape screening and buffering to ensure compatibility with the 
neighborhood.  

 
Since not all uses would be compatible with residential living, the following is a list of potential 
alternative uses that staff has identified as appropriate for consideration: 

 Hospitality-oriented uses such as: retreat facilities, guesthouses, commercial meeting 
halls, and event facilities. 

 Conversion to a multi-unit dwelling where the proposed number of units may not 
otherwise be allowed. 

 Community service uses such as: libraries, museums, senior centers, community 
centers, neighborhood centers, day care facilities, youth club facilities, social service 
facilities, and vocational training facilities for the physically or mentally disabled. 

 Specialized educational facilities such as: music schools, dramatic schools, dance 
studios, martial arts studios, language schools, and short-term examination 
preparatory schools. 

 Professional office uses such as accountants, lawyers, and architects. 
 
Each case should be evaluated carefully with regard to aspects of the proposed use that 
might create a nuisance in the neighborhood. For example: 

 Are the proposed hours of operation compatible with the neighborhood context? 

 Will noise levels be at or below the levels produced by the previously permitted use or 
otherwise controlled in a manner that is compatible with residential living? 

 Will the traffic generated by the proposed use be similar or less than what was 
generated by the previously permitted use? 

 Will the proposed use draw similar or lower numbers of people to the site than the 
previously permitted use? Will it draw large groups converging for a singular event? 
Small groups? Constant stream of visitors?  

 Will the frequency of activity be similar or less intense than the previously permitted 
use? Will it be every day? Just weekends? 

 Does the proposed use require any updates to parking or landscaping to address 
issues of neighborhood compatibility or compliance with current zoning standards? 

 Is special consideration warranted in order to preserve a building or site of historical or 
cultural value? 

 What type of signage, if any, should be allowed? 

 Is there neighborhood support for the proposal? Have neighborhood concerns been 
adequately addressed?  

 

The questions above will help identify conditions that the Board of Adjustment may see fit to 
impose if the request is approved, or may be grounds for denial of the request 
 

33

Item 5.



EXAMPLES FROM OTHER CITIES 
During the Planning and Zoning Commission’s discussion of this proposal on August 26, 
2020, the Commission requested examples of code language from other cities. Staff talked 
with staff and/or reviewed codes from Dubuque, Cedar Rapids, Des Moines, Mason City, 
Iowa City, and Council Bluffs.  While few codes specifically address the issue of adaptive re-
use of institutional or civic buildings, many cities in Iowa allow conditional uses or special 
exceptions even if on a limited basis. The specific conditional use we are proposing is fairly 
unique, but as stated above we found a similar exception allowed in Iowa City to help 
preserve buildings of historic significance.  Here is the example from the Iowa City zoning 
code: 
 

2.   The Board of Adjustment may grant a special exception to allow a property designated as 
an Iowa City landmark or registered on the National Register of Historic Places to be adapted 
and reused as a community service use, specialized educational facility, or hospitality oriented 
retail use. In addition to the general special exception approval criteria listed in chapter 4, 
article B of this title, the applicant must also meet the following criteria in order for the board to 
grant this exception: 

a.   The exception will help preserve the historic, aesthetic, or cultural attributes of the 
property. 
b.   The applicant must obtain a certificate of appropriateness from 
the Historic Preservation Commission. 

 
In the Iowa City example above, note that for every special exception considered there are 
also general special exception approval criteria (not listed above) related to neighborhood 
compatibility that must be considered. Based on staff’s research, the general approval criteria 
in the Iowa City Code are similar to conditional use or special exception approval criteria 
found in numerous codes across Iowa. The following language from the Dubuque code is 
similar to general approval criteria found in codes from other Iowa cities.   
 

No conditional use permit shall be granted unless the board determines on the basis of 
specific information presented at the public meeting or contained in the application for 
such use that each of the following conditions has been satisfied: 

   A.   The proposed conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of this 
title, including lot requirements, bulk regulations, use limitations, and all other 
standards or conditions contained in the provisions authorizing such use. 
   B.   Adequate utility, drainage and other necessary facilities or improvements have 
been or will be provided. 
   C.   Adequate access roads or entrances and exit drives will be provided and will be 
designed so as to prevent traffic hazards and to minimize traffic conflicts and 
congestion in public streets and alleys. 
   D.   The use shall not commence until applicant has provided written evidence that all 
necessary permits and licenses required for the operation of the conditional use have 
been obtained. 
   E.   All exterior lighting fixtures are shaded wherever necessary to avoid casting 
direct light upon any property located in a residential district. 
   F.   The location and size of the conditional use, the nature and intensity of the 
activities to be involved or conducted in connection with it, the size of the site in relation 
thereto, and the location of the site with respect to streets giving access to 
the conditional use, shall be such that it will be in harmony with the appropriate and 
orderly development of the district and neighborhood in which it is located. 

34

Item 5.



   G.   The location, nature and height of buildings, structures, walls, and fences on the 
site and the nature and extent of landscaping and screening on the site shall be such 
that the use will not reasonably hinder or discourage the appropriate 
development, use and enjoyment of the adjacent land, buildings and structures. 
   H.   The proposed conditional use will not cause substantial injury to the value of 
other property in the neighborhood in which it is located and will contribute to and 
promote the convenience and welfare of the public.  

 
For the specific purpose of allowing for adaptive re-use of institutional buildings, staff’s 
recommended language is crafted to specifically address issues that might arise with 
adaptive reuse of such buildings, but the principles of neighborhood compatibility and 
consideration of the specific characteristics of the proposal are similar to other conditional 
use processes followed by other cities. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
To provide more flexibility to re-purpose defunct institutional uses within residential 
neighborhoods, staff recommends adding a conditional use process to the zoning ordinance 
whereby each case can be considered by the Board of Adjustment on its own merits and any 
neighborhood concerns addressed. At their August 26th meeting the Planning and Zoning 
Commission discussed the proposed zoning code text amendments. After further discussion 
at their October 28th meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval 
on a vote of 8-0.  
 
Staff provided a presentation of the proposed ordinance amendments at the Committee of 
the Whole meeting on December 7th.  Staff also met with the Board of Adjustment on January 
7th to introduce the ordinance and get feedback. The minutes of that meeting are also 
included below.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
8/26/2020 

Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He discussed a case where a church has sat vacant with few options for allowed 
land uses, including continuing to sit vacant, sell to another church, convert to a 
public or parochial school or tear it down and subdivide it into residential lots. 
The owner was hoping to use the property to host wedding receptions, however 
without a religious institution it would not be allowed. He discussed research that 
has been done to review codes in other cities to consider different approaches. It 
is proposed to craft an amendment that provides alternatives that would be 
subject to review and approval by staff, the Commission and City Council. Mr. 
Sevy discussed the critical issues for consideration, including compatibility with 
residential neighborhoods, nuisance issues such as noise and traffic, allowing 
neighborhood input and any additional conditions that may need to be imposed. 
He identified appropriate alternative uses for consideration, including: hospitality-
oriented uses, conversion to a multi-unit dwelling, community services, 
specialized educational facilities and professional offices. Mr. Sevy also 
discussed factors to consider in the neighborhood context. Staff recommends 
adding a conditional use process to the zoning ordinance, review and discussion 
of the proposal and setting a date for public hearing at the September 9 meeting. 
 
Ms. Saul felt that a lot of thought was put into the item and that it would be 

35

Item 5.



beneficial. Mr. Holst also feels it is a good idea and clarified that it will be 
considered for all districts. Mr. Schrad asked if the tax base would change. Ms. 
Houk Sheetz clarified that it could, depending on the proposed use. Ms. Prideaux 
also feels it would be a good idea and would like to see the wording in other 
communities. Ms. Prideaux asked about the historical aspects of the building and 
whether that would be considered. Mr. Leeper likes the flexibility that this would 
give the commission. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the recommendation to set a date for public 
hearing. Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul 
and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

Discussion 
and Vote 
10/28/2020 

Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He explained that a recent inquiry regarding an empty church and the options for 
reusing the building was brought to staff. Currently, the options include sitting 
vacant, selling to another church, converting the use to a public or parochial 
school or tear down the building and subdivide it into residential lots. However, 
many alternative uses which may be considered to be appropriate are currently 
prohibited by Code. Research was done to get information on how other 
communities handle the re-use of these buildings and it was decided that a 
conditional use permitting process would be the most appropriate process to 
consider these requests. There are critical issues to consider, such as 
compatibility with residential neighborhoods, nuisance issues such as noise and 
traffic, allowance of neighborhood input and additional conditions depending on 
the proposed use and characteristics of the site. Appropriate alternative uses to 
qualify for consideration include hospitality-oriented uses, conversion to a multi-
family unit dwelling, community services, specialized educational facilities or 
professional offices. He noted that according to Iowa Code the Board of 
Adjustment is the appropriate body to hear these requests, which was confirmed 
by the City Attorney. 
 
Mr. Sevy also discussed factors to consider in the neighborhood context. Each 
case should be considered on its own merits, because every location is different. 
Considerations must be given to hours of operation, noise and traffic, number of 
patrons, frequency of activity, required site updates for compatibility or 
compliance, historical or cultural value of the site, allowed signage and 
neighborhood concerns. He discussed the Code language in some detail and 
noted some examples from other cities with regard to conditional use standards 
and processes. Staff recommends approval of the item. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. 
Mr. Holst stated that he likes that the proposal brings the requests before the 
Board of Adjustment for approval and that he likes the way the process is 
structured and that each case is considered on its own merits and is not 
precedent setting. Ms. Saul noted that she likes the idea offering these options 
for these types of processes and ensuring that it fits into the neighborhood. Mr. 
Holst also stated that he likes that the neighborhood concerns are taken into 
account. Mr. Larson asked what the staff review process is like for this type of 

36

Item 5.



case. Mr. Sevy outlined that process and noted it would be similar to how other 
land use cases are handled. Howard described the Board of Adjustment meeting 
process and their particular purview. 
 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

Committee 
of the 
Whole 
Discussion 
12/7/2020 

Mayor Green introduced the final item on the agenda Zoning Code Amendment: 
Adaptive Re-Use of Institutional Buildings in Residential Zone. Chris Sevy 
Planner I stated they received a request from an owner of a vacant church 
building in an R-1 residential district has inquired about alternative uses and 
wants to operate an event space there for wedding receptions. He stated 
currently the activity associated with that use may not be too different from that 
of a church and could be compatible with the neighborhood; however the zoning 
ordinance leaves few options for adaptively re-using existing vacant institutional 
buildings within residential districts. He stated to provide more flexibility to re-
purpose defunct institutional buildings within residential neighborhoods, staff 
recommends adding a conditional use process where the Board of Adjustment 
would consider requests to adaptively re-use the buildings for specific other 
listed uses. Each case can be considered on its own merits at a public hearing 
where neighborhood concerns could be heard and the Board could deny, 
approve with conditions, or approve the proposal. Mr. Sevy stated the Planning 
and Zoning Commission discussed the proposed zoning code amendments at 
their August 26th and after further discussion at their October 28th meeting, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval. Mayor Green opened 
it up for discussion from Council. Ms. Howard answered questions with regards 
to the distinction between a conditional use process and spot zoning, she stated 
the Board of Adjustment would consider these requests at a public hearing 
where any concerns could be addressed. 

 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

Discussion 
1/7/2021 

Ms. Lang presented the next item for discussion by the Board, a conditional use 
process to allow the repurposing of obsolete institutional buildings. Ms. Howard 
first spoke about the conditional use process, explaining that Iowa Code 
empowers the Board to hear appeals, special exceptions and variances. Some 
cities establish conditional uses in their zoning ordinances as a kind of special 
exception. Conditional uses are considered to be uses that might fit into a certain 
zoning district if certain approval criteria are met. They essentially provided 
additional flexibility in a zoning ordinance to allow a broader range of land uses. 
Careful scrutiny by the Board through a public hearing process is required. 
Currently the City does not have conditional uses in the zoning ordinance, and 
because of a recent request regarding the repurposing an old church building, it 
may be useful to add to the ordinance. 
 
To allow conditional uses, they must be established in the zoning ordinance and 
they will need to include specific approval criteria that must be met for approval. 
The burden of proof is on the applicant to show how the criteria are being met, 

37

Item 5.



and the Board may approve, approve with conditions or deny the request. If the 
Board determines that one or more of the criteria cannot be met, the request 
must be denied. The Board has the power to impose any conditions that they 
determine will ensure the conditional use will fit into the context of the specific 
location and meet all the approval criteria. 
 
Each case would be considered on their own merits and surrounding property 
owners will be notified and provided an opportunity to be heard. As each case is 
unique, granting a conditional use should not be considered a precedent for 
granting the conditional use in future cases. Denial does not take away anyone’s 
rights, but grants a special right to use the property according to conditions 
imposed by the Board. 
 
Ms. Weeg asked if applicants will be made aware that the conditional uses are 
not a “right” and are not guaranteed. Ms. Howard noted that it will be explained 
to applicants, it’s simply something that may be requested and evaluated for 
approval. 
 
Ms. Howard discussed findings of fact, noting that it is important in these cases 
for the Board to state their findings of fact for each of the approval criteria. She 
provided examples of such findings and explained that there could be potential 
consequences if the Board does not give good findings. Ms. Weeg asked if the 
conditions could be enforced and Ms. Howard stated that their approval could be 
withdrawn if the conditions are not met. Ms. Weeg asked for more clarification on 
what it means that there could be consequences if the Board does not give good 
findings. Ms. Howard explained that it’s up to the Board to ensure that whoever 
is coming for consideration meets the criteria and that decisions aren’t made 
arbitrarily, for instance due to sympathy for the applicant. Therefore good 
findings are imperative and should be addressed at the meeting. Ms. Howard 
also noted that the Board is allowed to ask probing questions as needed to reach 
those findings. Ms. Weeg asked what would happen if the Board were to be sued 
and Ms. Howard explained that it is likely the City would provide legal 
representation for the Board as a whole. Ms. Weeg asked about the time 
allotment for reaching their findings and whether the item can be discussed and 
continued to another meeting. Ms. Howard explained that if the Board feels they 
need extra time to consider an item, they can vote to continue the hearing to a 
future meeting. Mr. Weintraut noted that typically staff tries to think ahead to the 
questions that the Board may have to provide additional information to the Board 
to help in their decision. 
 
Mr. Sevy spoke about consideration of adaptive re-use of vacant institutional 
facilities to give an example of a potential conditional use case to give some 
context to the discussion. He gave an example of a case regarding a vacant 
church building and explained that the current options for such a building include: 
sit vacant, sell to another church, convert the use to a public or parochial school 
or tear down and subdivide into residential lots. Many alternative uses which may 
be appropriate are currently prohibited by code. He noted that institutional 
facilities are properties with unique characteristics. They are large buildings on 

38

Item 5.



large parcels and often have some historical or cultural value, so it seems 
appropriate to cautiously provide flexibility of use while considering neighborhood 
context. 
 
Mr. Sevy did some research and discussed the issue with other planners across 
Iowa and reviewed codes considered and adopted by other cities. Different 
approaches were considered and an approach was settled upon that fits into the 
context of our municipal code. This will not guarantee that a use will be allowed 
but it will allow for consideration that was previously not afforded. 
 
Ms. Weeg asked for more clarification of what is being decided regarding the 
conditional uses. Ms. Howard clarified that it is being added to the ordinance as 
an amendment to allow for a potential conditional uses but that it will not be 
considered as a use that is permitted by right. It will just open it up for potentially 
allowing other uses than what are currently appropriate on a case-by-case basis. 
 
Mr. Sevy discussed the critical issues to be considered, noting that not all uses 
will be compatible with residential neighborhoods. Nuisance issues such as 
noise and traffic will be important when evaluating potential alternative uses. 
Neighborhood input will be important during the review process as well. 
Additional conditions may need to be imposed depending on the proposed use 
and characteristics of the site. Staff has identified appropriate alternative uses to 
qualify for consideration, which include:  

 Hospitality-oriented uses (i.e. retreat facilities, guest houses, commercial 
meeting halls, event facilities, etc.) 

 Conversion to multi-unit dwelling  

 Community services (i.e. libraries, museums, senior centers, community 
centers, neighborhood centers, youth club facilities, vocational training facilities, 
etc.)  

 Specialized educational facilities (i.e. dance studios, language schools, etc.)  

 Professional offices (i.e. accountants, lawyers, architects, etc.) 
 
Mr. Sevy discussed factors that need to be considered in the neighborhood 
context, which include: hours of operation, noise and traffic, number of patrons, 
frequency of activity, required site updates for compatibility or compliance, 
historical or cultural value of site, allowed signage and neighborhood concerns. 
He discussed the language that is proposed to add to the zoning ordinance, 
which utilizes the Board of Adjustment decision-making for conditional uses. The 
burden of proof will fall upon the applicant, other cases will have no bearing on 
special exceptions for other properties, and all regulations of the base zones still 
apply. Ms. Rasmussen asked about cases where the ordinance for a particular 
zone may have been different at 4 the time the building was built and how that 
would be handled with regard to what the ordinance says today. Ms. Howard 
explained that it would be grandfathered in as it was at the time it was built. 
 
Mr. Sevy then discussed the recommendations by staff and how it would read in 
the amendment. He provided a list of the qualifying uses for consideration. Ms. 
Weeg asked about non-profit agencies, such as an administrative center for 

39

Item 5.



homeless people that was not discussed as another potential community 
services. She asked if that would fall within category. Mr. Sevy stated that they 
left that somewhat open ended so that it would be allowable. Ms. Weeg asked if 
a homeless shelter would be considered as a multi-family dwelling. Ms. Howard 
stated that it would not fall into the residential use category, but temporary 
lodging. Ms. Weeg asked if homeless shelters are included in the Cedar Falls 
ordinances and how they are considered. It is of specific interest to her and she 
would like to know what covers shelters and what is allowed. Ms. Howard noted 
that City Council had concerns with the list of uses and whether it is too broadly 
drawn. Staff needs to be somewhat specific so that the uses don’t end up being 
spot zoning and Mr. Sevy again clarified that this amendment only allows the 
right to bring the request to the Board, but does not guarantee that it will be 
allowed. 
 
The Board agreed that this is a good amendment. 

 
 
Attachments:  Proposed Ordinance 
 

  

 

40

Item 5.



Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING AN UNTITLED SUBPARAGRAPH G. TO 
PARAGRAPH (1), PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USES, OF SECTION 26-164, R-1 
RESIDENCE DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF 
ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, 
ZONING, AND ADDING A NEW SECTION 26-140, CONDITIONAL USES, TO 
DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

 
WHEREAS, defunct church and civic buildings within residential zones have few alternative use options 

available in the zoning code; and 
 
WHEREAS, these are often buildings of historical or cultural significance worthy of preservation which pose 

unique challenges because they are large buildings that sit on large parcels; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is common practice for cities to grant conditional uses or special exceptions on a case by 

case basis, the framework for which is set forth in the proposed amendment, and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendment provides use flexibility to owners of these buildings without the risk 

of granting a broad list of land use categories by right, and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed ordinance under Case # 

TA20-002and recommends approval; and now, therefore:  
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1.  Paragraph (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-164, R-1 Residence District, of Division 

2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add an untitled subparagraph g., as 

follows:  

 
g. Conditional uses as provided for in Section 26-140 

 
Section 2.  Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new Section 26-140 

(previously reserved), titled Conditional Uses, as follows:  

 
Sec. 26-140. Conditional uses 

 
(a) Generally. The board of adjustment is empowered to hear and decide applications for 

conditional uses in certain circumstances specifically enumerated within this section. To 
ensure that the spirit of the ordinance is observed, no conditional use shall be granted by 
the board unless the applicant demonstrates that all of the approval criteria are met for the 
conditional use requested.  

(b) Burden of proof. The applicant bears the burden of proof and must support each of the 
approval criteria by a preponderance of the evidence.  

 
(c) Precedents. The granting of a special exception is not grounds for granting other special 

exceptions for the same or different properties. 

41

Item 5.



(d) Other applicable regulations. In addition to the approval criteria listed in this section, all 
conditional uses are required to meet the regulations of the base zone and any overlay 
district in which they are located and all other applicable regulations of this chapter, except 
as may be specifically modified by the board for the specific conditional use requested. If a 
property is located in a floodway or floodplain overlay district, the floodplain regulations 
apply in all cases. Approval of a conditional use permit is not intended to substitute for 
other permits required under local, state, or federal laws or regulations.  

(e) Specific conditional uses enumerated. The following conditional uses are permitted only 
after approval from the board of adjustment, subject to the restrictions and the approval 
criteria listed for each specific use listed below and any conditions imposed by the board of 
adjustment after consideration at a public hearing as set forth in the Board’s rules of 
procedure and according to the Iowa Code.   

(1) Adaptive re-use of defunct institutional buildings or buildings or properties of 
significant historical or cultural value. According to the provisions set forth in this 
subsection, the board of adjustment may grant a conditional use permit to allow the 
adaptive re-use of a building or property of historic or cultural value or a defunct 
institutional facility, such as a church or civic building, when such building or 
property is located in a district where such adaptive use would not otherwise be 
permitted. The board of adjustment may deny the use or aspects of the use that are 
deemed out of scale, incompatible, or out of character with the surrounding 
neighborhood, or may require additional measures to mitigate these differences.  
Additional conditions may include, but are not limited to, additional screening, 
landscaping, parking, pedestrian facilities, setbacks, limitations on hours or days of 
operation, occupancy limits, limitations on outdoor or accessory uses, and 
restrictions on use of amplified sound, exterior lighting, or signage. The following 
provisions, regulations, and restrictions shall apply: 
a. Qualifying uses. Only the following uses qualify for consideration under this 

subsection: 
1. Hospitality-oriented uses such as: retreat facilities, convention centers, 

guesthouses, meeting halls, and event facilities; 
2. Conversion to a multi-unit dwelling in a zone where such use is not 

otherwise allowed or where the proposed number of units exceeds the 
number otherwise allowed in the zone; 

3. Community service uses such as: libraries, museums, senior centers, 
community centers, neighborhood centers, day care facilities, youth club 
facilities, social service facilities, and vocational training facilities for the 
physically or mentally disabled; 

4. Specialized educational facilities such as: music schools, dramatic schools, 
dance studios, martial arts studios, language schools, and short-term 
examination preparatory schools; 

5. Professional office uses such as: accountants, lawyers, architects, or 
similar. 

b. Criteria for approval. In order to grant a conditional use, the board of adjustment 
must find that the proposal meets the following approval criteria or will meet the 
criteria if certain conditions are applied: 
1. The anticipated characteristics of the proposed use, including but not limited 

to hours of operation, noise levels, lighting, traffic generation, signage, 
number of patrons/visitors/residents, and frequency, level, and type of 
activity will be compatible with the neighborhood; 

2. The proposed use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, 
safety, comfort or general welfare; 

3. The proposed use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity; 

42

Item 5.



4. Establishment of the proposed use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses 
permitted in the district in which the property is located; 

5. Adequate utilities, access roads, parking, drainage and/or other necessary 
facilities are or will be provided; 

6. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress or egress 
designed to minimize traffic congestion on public streets; 

7. In the case of a building or property of historic or cultural significance, the 
proposal will preserve the significant historic, aesthetic, and/or cultural 
attributes of the property. 

8. The specific proposed use, in all other respects, conforms to the applicable 
regulations of the zone in which it is located.  

c. Required submittals. The applicant must demonstrate how the proposal meets 
the criteria for approval. The following is the minimum necessary 
documentation that the applicant must furnish: 
1. A description of the previous use to the extent known, including but not 

limited to: site layout, number of existing parking spaces, traffic generation, 
hours/days of operation, number of patrons, visitors, and/or residents (as 
applicable), and frequency and level of both indoor and outdoor activity; 

2. A detailed description of the proposed use including, but not limited to: any 
proposed changes to the site layout,  anticipated traffic generation, 
proposed hours of operation, projected number of patrons or visitors(as 
applicable), frequency and type of activity (both indoor and outdoor), any 
new outdoor lighting proposed, proposed signage, residential density (if 
applicable), number of off-street parking spaces, anticipated parking 
demand, anticipated outdoor activities, and any proposed use of amplified 
sound. 

3. A site plan showing all proposed changes including site removals and 
improvements to accommodate the proposed use. 

4. A list of owners of record of all parcels located within 300 feet of the parcel 
and their addresses. 

5. Any further information or materials that will help demonstrate compliance 
with the criteria for approval listed above. 

 
INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

43

Item 5.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
  Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: January 26, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Poultry Ordinance & Associated Code Updates 
 
 
At the January 19, 2021 City Council meeting, the Council discussed, amended and 
held the first reading of an ordinance permitting poultry.  The amendments included the 
following: 

 Definition: add quail, dove, pheasant and pigeon (squab’s being a baby pigeon) 

 Size of coop & run: remove requirement of three square feet and replace with 
statement that it must be sized in compliance with generally accepted animal 
husbandry standards 

 
The change in definition results in recommending two other changes to the ordinance: 
Sections 6-60 on noises and 6-64/6-65 on coloring/sale.  In Section 6-60, the January 
19th version simply added to the list of general dog and cat noises with some examples 
of noises poultry might make.  The addition of four other types of fowl expands this.  
Enumerating the types of noises becomes more difficult.  In addition, having a long list 
of examples may lead to arguments that if a certain sound is not listed, it is not subject 
to this provision.  This is not the intent.  Therefore to avoid this issue, Staff recommends 
revising this section to remove examples of sounds and simply refer to it as “noise 
making” or “noise” (Sections 6-60(a) and (b)).  Sections 6-64 and 6-65 give a list of baby 
fowl.  Given the definition has expanded, it is recommended that these sections be 
simplified to “animal.”  Staff also found that Section 6-65 needed another revision on the 
quantity of young fowl allowed for sale or use as prize such that it corresponds to the 
current number of poultry permitted.  Immediately below are those recommended 
changes: 
 
Sec. 6-60. - Noisy dogs, cats or poultry.  
(a)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog, cat or poultry to permit or allow such 

animal alone or in combination with others to cause serious annoyance or 
disturbance to a reasonable person by frequent and habitual noise makinghowling, 

44

Item 6.



2 
 

whining, yelping, barking, crowing, quacking, gobbling, honking, chirping, calling or 
other noises.  

(b)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog, cat or poultry to permit or allow the 
animal to howl, whine, yelp, bark, crow, quack, gobble, honk, chirp, call, or 
otherwise make noise that is annoying or disturbing to a reasonable person for 
more than 15 minutes in duration (whether consecutive or not) in any 24 hour-
period within the city.  

(c)  Proof of ownership of a dog, cat or poultry shall constitute in evidence a prima 
facie presumption of permission of the owner in any proceedings charging any 
violation of this section.  

(Code 2017, § 6-58; Ord. No. 2778, § 2, 8-27-2012)  

Sec. 6-64. - Artificially colored animals.  
No animalchick, duckling, gosling, poult or rabbit that has been dyed or otherwise 

colored artificially may be sold or offered for sale, raffled, offered or given as a prize, 
premium or advertising device, or displayed in any store, shop, carnival or other public 
place.  

(Code 2017, § 6-62)  

Sec. 6-65. - Sale of baby fowl or use as prize, premium  
Chicks, ducklings, poults, goslings and other Ffowl younger than four weeks of age 

may not be sold or offered for sale, raffled or offered or given as a prize, premium or 
advertising device, in quantity of less than 102 to an individual person, unless sold by a 
person engaged in the business of selling such animals for agricultural or wildlife 
purposes.  

(Code 2017, § 6-63)  

Sec. 6-66. - Care of baby fowl displayed to public.  
Stores, shops, vendors and others displaying chicks, ducklings, poults, goslings or 

other fowl to the public shall provide and operate brooders or other heating devices that 
may be necessary to maintain the animals in good health, and shall keep adequate food 
and water available to the animals at all times.  

(Code 2017, § 6-64)  

Another provision in the version of the ordinances passed on January 19 has to do with 
the maximum size of openings.  Section 6-304 (Poultry Coop) and Section 6-305 
(Poultry Run) both contain the following phrase:  No permanent openings greater than 2 
1/8 inches in diameter are allowed.  With the addition of smaller species of birds such 
as pigeons and doves, these maximum allowances may be too large to prevent escape.  
It is therefore recommended that these provisions be stricken.  It is believed that other 
language in the two sections would be sufficient such as “safe and secure” and 

45

Item 6.



“completely enclosed so as to prevent the escape of the poultry.”   
 
Staff researched general husbandry standards to investigate how to address this in the 
ordinance as well as consider how this would consistently be applied with licenses/land 
use permits and then code enforcement.  Terms searched included “poultry husbandry 
standards”, “urban poultry standards”, “standards for backyard poultry”, “humane animal 
urban farming”, and “urban farming interest groups”.  In a majority of cases, information 
found was primarily about chickens.  Information on the other fowl proposed for Cedar 
Falls’ poultry ordinance was not found with these searches.  A Poultry Extension 
website for Small and Backyard Poultry linked to five extension agencies including Iowa, 
Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, Kentucky, and Oregon.  Two had no information on sizing of 
coops and runs, three of them indicated it should be based on body weight applying a 
standard from 1-2 square feet for the coop and 2 square feet for the run.  Only one site 
went on to state that hens are typically 4-6 pounds, but species will vary.  This approach 
brings a lot of variability to the license and land use permitting process.  The weight will 
be different as the poultry grows, each animal will be a different size, and the owner 
may change their mix of poultry, to name a few examples.  Staff is also concerned that 
finding an animal husbandry standard for each type of poultry permitted is not 
straightforward.  This will not only require much time from staff in researching, but sets 
up for disagreements about which source should be considered a “generally accepted 
animal husbandry standard.”   Staff considered whether a size needs to be identified at 
all in the ordinance.  However, the concern with avoiding the topic then becomes how to 
address a concern on animal neglect, should that later occur.  The same front end 
issues now just become back end issues.  Animal neglect is typically a determination 
made by the humane society or animal control officers in the case of dogs and cats but 
not livestock animals such as poultry.  The concerns here are not intended to be 
argumentative, rather to note the difficulty we could experience in dealing with 
interpretation and enforcement.  Knowing these are often issues with ordinances, staff 
is working as diligently as possible to have a clear ordinance for the community.  
Therefore, setting a standard on the minimum size is recommended.  It may be too 
large for some of the poultry types, just right for others, and slightly small if a turkey is 
housed.  Owners should take care to appropriately size for larger animals.  The 
research on the sizing of coops and runs also leads to recommending the originally 
proposed language remain (a minimum of three square feet per animal for both coop 
and run). 
 
The attached ordinances are what staff interprets to be the amended versions from 
January 19th  that were passed upon first consideration.  The red lines show only the 
amendments passed on January 19th.  All other changes to the original ordinances have 
been accepted.   
 
In order to adopt the changes recommended in this Memorandum, Council would need 
to pass a motion or motions to amend to incorporate these changes.  If such 
amendments were passed, these would constitute material changes and passage of the 
ordinances would need to begin again with first consideration.  If these recommended 
changes are not adopted then the ordinances would be considered as a second 

46

Item 6.



4 
 

reading.   
 
If Council wishes to make new amendments to the ordinances that are not contained in 
this Memorandum, it is recommended that such amendments be deliberated and a 
consensus reached, but that additional readings be postponed to the next meeting, thus 
allowing staff the ability to assess if such changes have other impacts or to research 
standards and consider how they could work most effectively. 
 
If there is urgency to adopting these amendments, the Council may consider 
suspending the rules to allow the third reading to occur immediately following the 
second reading. 
 

 

47

Item 6.



1 
 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2984 

AN ORDINANCE (1).  REPEALING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, 

AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 6, 

ANIMALS, CONSISTING OF SECTION 6-1, AUTHORITY OF LAW ENFORCEMENT 

OFFICERS AND ANIMAL WARDENS; INTERFERENCE WITH OFFICER OR WARDEN; 

SECTION 6-2, ANIMAL NEGLECT; SECTION 6-3, ABANDONMENT OF CATS, DOGS OR 

POULTRY; SECTION 6-4, USE OF STREETS FOR DRIVING OR RIDING ANIMALS; 

SECTION 6-5, SECURING OF ANIMALS LEFT ON STREET; SECTION 6-6, RUNNING 

AT-LARGE PROHIBITED; GRAZING ON PUBLIC PROPERTY OR PROPERTY OF 

ANOTHER; SECTION 6-7, IMPOUNDMENT OF LIVESTOCK RUNNING AT-LARGE; 

SECTION 6-8, RECOVERY OF COSTS BY CITY FOR DAMAGE DONE BY ANIMALS; 

SECTION 6-9, DISPOSAL OF DEAD ANIMALS; SECTION 6-10, TRANSPORTATION OF 

DEAD ANIMALS; SECTION 6-11, ANIMALS CAUSING ANNOYANCE OR 

DISTURBANCE; AND SECTION 6-12, BUTCHERING OF ANIMALS PROHIBITED;  (2).  

REPEALING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF 

CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 1, 

GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, 

CONSISTING OF SECTION 6-42, DEFINITIONS; SECTION 6-43, LICENSE REQUIRED 

FOR DOGS, CATS AND POULTRY; SECTION 6-44, APPLICATION FOR DOG OR CAT 

LICENSE; SECTION 6-45, APPLICATION FOR POULTRY LICENSE; SECTION 6-46, 

DOG, CAT AND POULTRY LICENSE FEES; SECTION 6-47, RABIES VACCINATION 

FOR DOGS AND CATS; SECTION 6-48, ISSUANCE AND USE OF DOG OR CAT 

LICENSE TAG; SECTION 6-49, DURATION OF DOG, CAT OR POULTRY LICENSE; 

TRANSFER OF TAG OR LICENSE; SECTION 6-50, IMPLIED CONSENT TO 

INSPECTION OF PROPERTY OF PERSON OBTAINING DOG, CAT OR POULTRY 

LICENSE; SECTION 6-51, EXCEPTIONS TO DOG, CAT AND POULTRY LICENSE 

REQUIREMENTS; SECTION 6-52, ANIMAL POUND; SECTION 6-53, IMPOUNDMENT 

OF DOGS, CATS OR POULTRY RUNNING AT-LARGE; SECTION 6-54, REDEMPTION 

OF IMPOUNDED ANIMALS; SECTION 6-55, DISPOSITION OF IMPOUNDED ANIMALS 

FOR CERTAIN PURPOSES PROHIBITED; SECTION 6-56, DUTY TO REPORT 

ATTACKS BY ANIMALS AND KNOWN OR SUSPECTED CASES OF RABIES; SECTION 

6-57, CONFINEMENT OF ANIMAL BITING PERSON OR SUSPECTED OF HAVING 

RABIES; SECTION 6-58, PERMITTING DOG, CAT OR POULTRY TO RUN AT-LARGE; 

SECTION 6-59, PERMITTING DOG OR CAT TO ATTACK PERSONS OR ANIMALS, 

DESTROY PROPERTY; SECTION 6-60, NOISY DOGS, CATS OR POULTRY; SECTION 

6-61, CONFINEMENT OF DOGS OR CATS IN HEAT; SECTION 6-62, CLEANUP OF 

ANIMAL DROPPINGS; SECTION 6-63, DUTY OF OWNER TO KEEP PREMISES IN 

SANITARY CONDITION; SECTION 6-64, ARTIFICIALLY COLORED ANIMALS; SECTION 

6-65, SALE OF BABY FOWL OR USE AS PRIZE, PREMIUM; SECTION 6-66, CARE OF 

BABY FOWL DISPLAYED TO PUBLIC; SECTON 6-67, GIVING AWAY ANIMAL AS 

48

Item 6.



2 
 

BUSINESS INDUCEMENT; SECTION 6-68, DISPLAY OF WILD ANIMALS; SECTION 6-

69, DUTY OF OWNER REGARDING CARE OF ANIMALS; AND SECTION 6-70, 

ANIMALS PROHIBITED; STURGIS FALLS CELEBRATION AND CEDAR BASIN JAZZ 

FESTIVAL; (3).  REPEALING DIVISION 3, DANGEROUS ANIMALS, OF ARTICLE II, 

ANIMAL CONTROL, OF CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A 

NEW DIVISION 3, DANGEROUS ANIMALS, OF ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF 

CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, CONSISTING OF SECTION 6-131, DEFINITION; SECTION 6-

132, AUTHORITY TO IMPOUND OR REQUIRE CONFINEMENT; SECTION 6-133, 

NOTICE OF IMPOUNDMENT; SECTION 6-134, DISPOSITION OF IMPOUNDED 

ANIMALS; SECTION 6-135, NOTICE OF DESTRUCTION OF ANIMAL; APPEAL; 

SECTION 6-136, PAYMENT OF IMPOUNDMENT FEES; AND SECTION 6-137, 

HARBORING PROHIBITED; (4). REPEALING DIVISION 4, AGRICULTURAL NON-

DOMESTIC ANIMALS AND EXOTIC ANIMALS, OF ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF 

CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 4, 

AGRICULTURAL NON-DOMESTIC ANIMALS AND EXOTIC ANIMALS, CONSISTING OF 

SECTION 6-158, KEEPING OF AGRICULTURAL ANIMALS; SECTION 6-159, KEEPING 

OF CHICKENS AS NONCOMFORMING USE; AND SECTION 6-160, INDOOR PETS; ALL 

IN THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Article I, In General, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Article I, In General, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL  

Sec. 6-1. - Authority of law enforcement officers and animal wardens; interference with 

officer or warden.  

Law enforcement officers and animal wardens shall have police powers in the enforcement of this 
chapter. No person shall interfere with, hinder, molest or abuse any such officer or warden in the exercise 
of such powers. For the purpose of discharging the duties imposed by this chapter and to enforce its 
provisions, any law enforcement officer or animal warden is empowered to enter upon any premises upon 
which a dog, cat, poultry, horse or other animal is kept or harbored, to demand the exhibition by the 
owner of a dog, cat or poultry of the required license for the dog, cat or poultry and the exhibition of any 
required rabies vaccination tag, and, consistent with state law, to rescue animals threatened with abuse, 
neglect or torture.  

Sec. 6-2. - Animal neglect.  

(a)  A person commits animal neglect when the person owns or has custody of an animal, and fails to 
provide the animal with any of the following conditions for the animal’s welfare:  

(1)  Access to food in an amount and quality reasonably sufficient to satisfy the animal’s basic 
nutrition level to the extent the animal’s health or life is endangered.  

(2)  Access to a supply of potable water in an amount reasonably sufficient to satisfy the animal’s 
basic hydration level to the extent that the animal’s health or life is endangered.  Access to 
snow or ice does not satisfy this requirement.  

49

Item 6.



3 
 

(3)  Sanitary conditions free from excessive animal waste or the overcrowding of animals to the 
extent that the animal’s health or life is endangered. 

(4)     Ventilated shelter reasonably sufficient to provide adequate protection from the elements and 
weather conditions suitable for the age, species, and physical condition of the animal so as to 
maintain the animal in a state of good health to the extent that the animal’s health or life is 
endangered.  The shelter must protect the animal from wind, rain, snow, or sun and have 
adequate bedding to provide reasonable protection against cold and dampness.  A shelter may 
include a residence, garage, barn, shed, poultry coop or doghouse. 

(5)     Grooming to the extent it is reasonably necessary to prevent adverse health effects or 
suffering. 

(6)     Veterinary care deemed necessary by a reasonably prudent person to relieve an animal’s 
distress from any of the following: 

     i)     A condition caused by failing to provide for the animal’s welfare as described in this section. 

     ii)     An injury or illness suffered by the animal causing the animal to suffer prolonged pain and 
suffering.  

(b)  This section does not apply to any of the following: 

     1)     A person issued or renewed an authorization to operate a commercial establishment, or a person 
acting under the direction or supervision of that person, if all of the following apply: 

          i)  The animal, as described in subsection (a), was maintained as part of the commercial 
establishment’s operation. 

          ii)     In providing conditions for the welfare of the animal, as described in subsection (a), the person 
complied with the standard of care requirements provided in Iowa Code section 162.10A, subsection 
1, including any applicable rules adopted by the state department of agriculture and land stewardship 
applying to any of the following: 

               A)     A state licensee or registrant operating pursuant to Iowa Code section 162.10A, 
subsection 2, paragraph a or b. 

                B)     A permittee operating pursuant to Iowa Code section 162.10A, subsection 2, paragraph c. 

     2)     A research facility, as defined in Iowa Code section 162.2, if the research facility has been issued 
or renewed a valid authorization by the state department of agriculture and land stewardship 
pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 162, and performs functions within the scope of accepted practices 
and disciplines associated with the research facility.   

(c)  A person who commits animal neglect that does not cause injury, serious injury, or death to an 
animal is guilty of a simple misdemeanor.  

(d)  It shall be the duty of any law enforcement officer or animal warden to seize and place in a proper 
animal shelter or animal pound any animal threatened with abuse, neglect or torture.  

Sec. 6-3. - Abandonment of cats, dogs or poultry.  

A person who has ownership or custody of a cat, dog or poultry shall not abandon such animal, 
except the person may deliver the animal to another person who will accept ownership and custody or the 
person may deliver such animal to an animal shelter or animal pound as defined in Iowa Code § 162.2. A 
person who violates this section is guilty of a simple misdemeanor. If a person is found guilty of a violation 
of this section or section 6-2, the disposition of the neglected or abused animal shall be determined by the 
court.  

Sec. 6-4. - Use of streets for driving or riding animals.  

50

Item 6.



4 
 

No person having the care, custody or control of any driving or riding animal upon any street in the 
city shall permit such animal to exit a street beyond the curb lines, or edge of a street with no curbs, 
except in the case of domestic pets.  

Sec. 6-5. - Securing of animals left on street.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to leave standing loose or not securely tied to some post or other 
thing sufficient to restrain such animal from being at-large or running away, on any of the streets or other 
places outside of an enclosure within the limits of the city, any team or animal used for riding or driving, 
without the team or animal being in immediate charge of some person.  

Sec. 6-6. - Running at-large prohibited; grazing on public property or property of another.  

(a)  No horses, mules, jacks, cattle, swine, goats, sheep,  or any other livestock animal shall be 
permitted to run at-large within the corporate limits of the city, nor shall any animal be permitted to be 
staked or tied out to graze on or in front of any person's premises without the consent of such 
person, nor shall any animal be permitted to be staked or tied out to graze in any of the public 
property of the city.  

(b)  No owner or person having charge of any animal shall permit the animal to run at-large or to be 
staked out contrary to the provisions of this section.  

Sec. 6-7. - Impoundment of livestock running at-large.  

(a)  Authority of law enforcement officers and animal wardens It shall be the duty of any member of the 
public safety services department as well as animal wardens, when on duty, to take up, distrain and 
impound any animal found running at-large contrary to the provisions of section 6-6, and care for the 
animal until the animal's sale or release as provided in this section. Such animal shall be impounded 
in a proper animal shelter, animal pound, or other suitable place pending sale or release..  

(b)  Confinement by private persons. Any person may take upon his own premises and distrain any 
animal running at-large contrary to the provisions of section 6-6 and endangering such person's or 
another's safety or property. Such person shall give notice forthwith to the public safety services 
department, or he may deliver such animal immediately to the public safety services department. In 
either case, the public safety services department shall impound the animal as authorized in 
subsection (a) of this section.  

(c)  Notice of impoundment. Within 24 hours after the impoundment of any animal pursuant to this 
section, the chief of police shall post at city hall, in some conspicuous place in the place of 
impoundment and at some public place in the city, a notice particularly describing the animal 
impounded and calling on the owner thereof to identify and take charge of the animal after paying 
the fees and expenses incurred in the taking, impounding and keeping of such animal. The chief of 
police shall serve such notice personally on the owner if known.  

(d)  Sale of unredeemed animals.  

(1)  If a distrained animal has not been redeemed pursuant to the notice of distraint required by this 
section, the chief of police shall give notice of the sale of such animal after the expiration of two 
days from the time of impoundment. Such sale shall be at a public auction in front of the city 
pound or other place of impoundment, and it shall be held between the hours of 1:00 p.m. and 
4:00 p.m. on a day not less than three days nor more than ten days from the date of posting 
notices. The day of posting shall be counted as the first day.  

(2)  The notice of distraint required by subsection (c) of this section shall contain a description of 
the animal and shall state the time and place of sale.  

(3)  At the time and place fixed for the sale in the notice, the chief of police shall proceed to sell 
such animal for cash at such public auction to the highest and best bidder therefor. In case no 
bid is received, or if in the opinion of the chief it is impossible to sell such animal, the chief shall 

51

Item 6.



5 
 

humanely dispose of the animal. Within three days after the sale, the chief shall pay to the 
finance officer the proceeds of such sale.  

(e)  Redemption by owner. The owner of any animal impounded in accordance with the provisions of 
this section may redeem the animal at any time before the sale thereof upon the payment to the chief 
of police of all costs and expenses, including the costs of advertising, and after having first furnished 
to the chief satisfactory proof of ownership.  

(f)  Disposition of proceeds of sale. After the sale authorized in subsection (d) of this section, the 
treasurer shall pay the balance, if any, remaining from the sale of the stock to the owner thereof, 
upon the written order of the mayor, provided such owner shall establish the owner’s claim thereto 
before the mayor within one year from the date of the sale. After the expiration of one year, the 
money shall be declared forfeited to the city.  

(g)  Redemption fees. Any person claiming any animal impounded in accordance with this section shall 
pay the chief of police such amounts as established by council resolution from time to time for each 
animal of every kind, for the discharge of such animal. The chief shall charge a further sum per head 
for each day's keeping of such animal, and for the cost of advertising if the animal has been 
advertised.  

Sec. 6-8. - Recovery of costs by city for damage done by animals.  

The city shall have a right of action in all cases against the owner or person in control of any of the 
animals mentioned in section 6-6 for all damages to public property.  

Sec. 6-9. - Disposal of dead animals.  

No person shall place or allow to be placed any dead animal in any public right-of-way or other public 
place in the city. No person shall allow any dead animal which the person owned or had control over at 
the time of death to remain in any public right-of-way or other public place for more than 24 hours after 
death. No person shall allow any dead animal to remain on such person's premises for more than 24 
hours after death. Such persons, and all other persons in possession of a dead animal within the city, 
shall properly dispose of such dead animal within 24 hours.  

Sec. 6-10. - Transportation of dead animals.  

No person shall take, draw, haul or carry any dead animal through any street of the city without first 
securely covering and protecting such animal in a manner that will screen the animal from public view and 
exposure.  

Sec. 6-11. – Animals causing annoyance or disturbance.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person keeping, owning or sheltering any animal to allow or permit such 
animal to cause annoyance or otherwise interfere with the premises of another, or by frequent and 
habitual noise making or otherwise cause serious annoyance or disturbance to reasonable persons.  

(b)  No person shall be convicted under the provisions of this section except upon evidence of two or 
more reasonable persons of different households.  

Sec. 6-12. - Butchering of animals prohibited.  

Except as authorized in section 16-15, no person shall within the city limits slaughter, butcher or 
process any animal on public property or, within the sensory perception of any person not on the same 
premises, on private property. Any remains must be disposed of in a sanitary manner and in accordance 
with the law. Field dressing by authorized hunters of animals slaughtered in the areas designated for 
hunting in section 16-15 shall be allowed in those areas.  

 

52

Item 6.



6 
 

       Section 2.    Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Animal Control, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Division 1, Generally, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

ARTICLE II. - ANIMAL CONTROL 

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY  

Sec. 6-42. - Definitions.  

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Animal means any living creature, domestic or wild.  

Animal pound means a facility for the prevention of cruelty to animals operated by the state, city or 
other political subdivision for the purpose of impounding or harboring seized stray, at large, homeless, 
abandoned, or unwanted animals, or animals threatened with abuse, neglect or torture; or a facility 
operated for such purpose under a contract with the city or incorporated society.. 

Animal shelter means a facility which is used to house or contain dogs or cats, or both, and which is 
owned, operated, or maintained by an incorporated humane society, animal welfare society, society for 
the prevention of cruelty to animals, or other nonprofit organization devoted to the welfare, protection, and 
humane treatment of such animals. 

Animal warden means any person employed, contracted, or appointed by the state, city or other 
political subdivision, for the purpose of aiding in the enforcement of the provisions of this chapter or any 
other state or federal law or ordinance relating to the licensing of animals, control of animals or seizure 
and impoundment of animals and includes any law enforcement officer, animal control officer, or other 
employee whose duties in whole or in part include assignments which involve the seizure or taking into 
custody of any animal.    

At large means running or found loose within the city upon any street, alley, sidewalk or public or 
private grounds. A dog or cat, or poultry, properly licensed as required by this article, shall not be deemed 
at-large if it is:  

(1)  On the premises of the owner and, in the case of poultry, either confined in a poultry coop or 
poultry run or under the direct physical control of the owner;  

(2)  Under the control of a person competent to restrain and control the dog or cat, either by leash, 
cord, chain or other similar restraint not more than ten feet in length, or properly restrained 
within a motor vehicle;  

(3)  Properly housed in a veterinary hospital or licensed kennel;  

(4)  Accompanied by or at heel beside and obedient to the commands of the owner or a competent 
responsible person unless the dog is on a recreational trail. Dogs on recreational trails must be 
on a leash of six feet or less in length as required in section 17-275(3); or  

(5)  A dog which is either under the control of a person competent to restrain and control the dog, 
or which is accompanied by or at heel beside and obedient to the commands of the owner or a 
competent responsible person, and which is within the confines of an authorized off-leash dog 
exercise facility as described in section 17-209, provided that such person is at all times in 
compliance with all of the provisions of such section.  

Cat means all members of the species Felis domestica, male or female, whether altered or not.  

Chief animal control officer means the chief executive officer or head of the animal control agency. 

Code enforcement officer means any city employee, officer or contractor authorized to enforce the 
ordinances of the city.  

53

Item 6.



7 
 

Dog means all members of the canine species, male or female, whether altered or not.  

Health department means the health department of the city or county.  

Horse means an animal of the genus Equus and species caballus.  

Kennel means any premises on which four or more dogs or four or more cats, four months old or 
older are kept. The term shall not include a veterinary hospital.  

Owner means any person owning, keeping or harboring an animal. 

Pet shop means any person engaged in the business of breeding, buying, selling or boarding 
animals of any species, except the operation of a kennel or agricultural or wildlife pursuits. 

Poultry means one or more domesticated chicken, turkey, goose, duck, quail, dove, pheasant or 
pigeon.   

Poultry coop means a structure for the housing of poultry. 

Poultry run means an enclosed outdoor area within which poultry can roam. 

Riding school or stable means any person engaged in the business of teaching persons to ride 
horses, or providing horses to ride for a fee.  

Sec. 6-43. - License required for dogs, cats and poultry.  

The owners of all dogs and cats four months old or older, and of poultry four weeks old or older, shall 
annually obtain a license for such animal or animals as provided in this article.  

Sec. 6-44. - Application for dog or cat license.  

(a)  The owner of a dog or cat for which a license is required shall, on or before January 1 of each year, 
apply to the city clerk or designee for a license for each owned dog or cat . Such application for 
license may be made after January 1, and at any time, for a dog or cat which has come into the 
possession or ownership of the applicant, or which has reached the age of licensure after such date.   

(b)  The application shall be in writing on blanks provided by the city clerk, and shall state the breed, 
sex, age, color, markings and name, if any, of the dog or cat, and the name and address of the 
owner, and be signed by the owner. Such application shall also state the date of the most recent 
rabies vaccination, the type of vaccine administered and the date the dog or cat shall be 
revaccinated. 

Sec. 6-45. –Application for poultry license. 

(a)     The owner of poultry for which a license is required shall, on or before January 1 of each 
year, apply to the city clerk or designee for a license for all owned poultry.  Only one license 
shall be required, regardless of the number of poultry owned, up to the maximum number 
allowed under section 6-303.  Such application for license may be made after January 1, 
and at any time, for poultry which has come into the possession or ownership of the 
applicant, or which has reached the age of licensure after such date.  

(b)     The application shall be in writing on blanks provided by the city clerk, and shall state the 
total number of poultry, the name and address of the owner, and shall be signed by the 
owner.  

(c)     Poultry may be replaced during the period of the license without obtaining a new license if 
the total number of poultry is not increased by such replacement.  A reduction in the total 
number of poultry shall not require a new license but an increase in the total number of 
poultry shall require a new license. 

(d)     License tags shall not be required for poultry.       

  

54

Item 6.



8 
 

Sec. 6-46. – Dog, cat and poultry license fees.  

(a)  Dogs and cats. The annual license fee for each male dog or cat or spayed dog or cat or female dog 
or cat incapable of reproduction and for each unspayed female dog or cat shall be in an amount 
established annually by resolution of the city council. The license fee for all dogs or cats kept in a 
kennel shall be waived so long as the owner of the kennel dogs or cats pays the annual kennel fee 
and complies with all other requirements for kennels as contained in section 6-99. However, the 
owner of all dogs or cats four months old or older must comply with all provisions of this article, 
including obtaining a rabies vaccination and license tag, even though the license fee has been 
waived. A written certificate from a licensed veterinarian shall be required to prove that a male dog or 
cat has been altered or that a female dog or cat has been spayed or is incapable of reproduction. 

(b)   Poultry.  The annual license fee for poultry shall be in an amount established annually by resolution 
of the city council.   

(c)  Delinquency. All license fees for dogs, cats and poultry become delinquent on April 1 in the year in 
which they are due and payable, and a penalty in an amount to be established annually by the city 
council shall be added to each unpaid license fee on or after such date.  

Sec. 6-47. - Rabies vaccination for dogs and cats.  

(a)  Vaccination prerequisite for obtaining license. Before a license is issued for any dog or cat, the 
owner must present evidence with the application for the license that the dog or cat has been 
vaccinated against rabies. Such evidence shall be a certificate of vaccination signed by a licensed 
veterinarian, and the certificate shall show that the vaccination does not expire within six months 
from the effective date of the dog or cat license.  

(b)  Administration of vaccine; rabies tag. The rabies vaccination required by subsection (a) of this 
section shall be an injection of antirabies vaccine approved by the state department of agriculture, 
and the frequency of revaccination necessary for approved vaccination shall be as established by 
such department. The vaccine shall be administered by a licensed veterinarian and shall be given as 
approved by the state department of agriculture. The veterinarian shall issue a tag with a certificate 
of vaccination, and such tag shall at all times be attached to the collar of the dog or cat.  

(c)  Vaccination required. Every owner of a dog or cat shall obtain a rabies vaccination for such animal. 
It shall be unlawful for any person to own or have a dog or cat in his possession four months of age 
or over which has not been vaccinated against rabies.  

Sec. 6-48. - Issuance and use of dog or cat license tag.  

(a)  The city clerk or the designee of the city clerk shall, upon receipt of the application for a dog or cat 
license, payment of the license fee and proof of rabies vaccination, deliver or mail to the applicant a 
license, which shall be in the form of a metal tag.  

(b)  The license tag shall be attached by the owner of a dog or cat to a substantial collar, and, during the 
term of the license, the collar, with attached license, shall be at all times kept on the dog or cat for 
which the license is issued. On the expiration of the license, the owner shall not remove the license 
tag from the dog or cat until the owner has purchased and attached a new current license tag for the 
dog or cat.  

Sec. 6-49. - Duration of dog, cat or poultry license; transfer of tag or license.  

(a)  Duration of license; transfer of tag. All dog, cat and poultry licenses shall expire on January 1 of the 
year following the date of issuance. A license tag issued for one dog or cat shall not be transferable 
to another dog or cat. 

(b)  Transfer of license. When the permanent ownership of a dog, cat or poultry is transferred, the 
license for the dog, cat or poultry may be transferred by the city clerk by notation on the license 
record giving the name and address of the new owner.  

55

Item 6.



9 
 

Sec. 6-50. - Implied consent to inspection of property of person obtaining dog, cat or 

poultry license.  

The application for and the receipt of a dog, cat or poultry license shall include an implied consent by 
the owner to permit an inspection of both real and personal property under the owner’s control for the 
purpose of carrying out the provisions of this article.  

Sec. 6-51. - Exceptions to dog, cat and poultry license requirements.  

The requirements of this article for licenses for dogs, cats and poultry shall not apply to dogs, cats or 
poultry that are under the control of the owners or handlers and which are in transit or to be exhibited, or 
to nonresidents of the city, if they are in the state for less than 30 days, or which are assigned to a 
research institution or like facility.  

Sec. 6-52. - Animal pound.  

(a)  Establishment by city.  

(1)  The city may establish and maintain a municipal animal pound or shelter to be 
conducted and operated by the city.  

(2)  It shall be the duty of the authorized person appointed by the city to supervise and 
control such pound or shelter to cause it to be kept in a sanitary condition and free from 
offensive odors, to provide for adequate wholesome food for animals impounded 
therein, to provide careful and humane treatment toward such animals, and to isolate 
diseased animals and provide for humane destruction of animals when necessary.  

(b)  Authority to contract for care and disposition of animals in lieu of establishing pound. The 
city may, in lieu of the establishment and maintenance of animal pounds, contract with any 
incorporated society or association for the prevention of cruelty to animals or with another 
municipality or other political subdivision, for the collection and protection of licensed or 
unlicensed dogs, cats and other animals or the maintenance of a shelter or pound for 
licensed or unlicensed dogs, cats or other animals, for the collection of dogs or cats or other 
animals at-large, for the destruction or other disposition of seized dogs or cats or other 
animals not redeemed as provided by ordinance, for the disposal of dead animals, and to 
assist in the collection of licenses upon dogs, cats and poultry.  

Sec. 6-53. - Impoundment of dogs, cats or poultry running at-large.  

Any dog, cat or poultry found running at-large shall be apprehended and impounded. When 
such dog, cat or poultry has been apprehended and impounded, the public safety services 
department or animal warden shall post written notice on the residence of the dog, cat or poultry 
owner, if such owner is known. The impounding agency shall also post notice of the impounded 
dog, cat or poultry on its website, if such owner is known. If the owner does not redeem the dog, 
cat or poultry as provided in section 6-52, the dog, cat or poultry may be humanely destroyed or 
otherwise disposed of in accordance with law. The impoundment and disposition provisions of 
this section do not apply to animals impounded under division 3 of this article.  

Sec. 6-54. - Redemption of impounded animals.  

Any unlicensed dog, cat or poultry or any other animal restrained or impounded in 
accordance with provisions of this article shall be held for a period of five days if there is no 
known owner. Any dog, cat or poultry restrained or impounded that is licensed or wearing a 
rabies tag will be held for a period of seven days. Litters of puppies and kittens may only be held 
for 24 hours. At the end of the five- or seven-day period, the owner of the dog, cat, poultry or 

56

Item 6.



10 
 

other animal may redeem the animal by obtaining the required license and/or rabies vaccination 
if required, and by paying the cost of impoundment, which shall include a pickup fee and a daily 
boarding fee. The cost of impoundment paid to the impounding agency shall be retained by the 
impounding agency. The impoundment and disposition provisions of this section do not apply to 
animals impounded under division 3 of this article.  

Sec. 6-55. - Disposition of impounded animals for certain purposes prohibited.  

It shall be unlawful for any person employed by the city or any person employed by or 
connected with the animal pound or shelter, or any society or organization operating or 
maintaining such pound or shelter under lease or contract with the city, to sell, give away or 
dispose of, through any pretext or by any device or means whatsoever, any dog or cat or other 
animal impounded in such pound to any person for the purpose of using such dog or cat or 
other animal as food, or for the purpose of medical experimentation unless the institution 
desiring such dog or cat or other animal for medical experimentation is duly approved and 
authorized by the state to conduct such experimentation, or for any other purpose except for 
pets and related activities.  

Sec. 6-56. - Duty to report attacks by animals and known or suspected cases of rabies.  

It shall be the duty of the owner of any dog or cat or any other animal which has bitten or 
attacked a person, or any person having knowledge of such bite or attack, to report this act to 
the health department, police operations division or animal warden. It shall be the duty of 
physicians or veterinarians to report to the health department the existence of any animal known 
or suspected to be suffering from rabies.  

Sec. 6-57. - Confinement of animal biting person or suspected of having rabies.  

Whenever a law enforcement officer or animal warden receives information that any person 
has been bitten by an animal, or that a dog, cat or other animal is suspected of having rabies, 
he or she shall order the owner to confine such animal in any manner as directed. If the owner 
fails to confine such animal in the manner directed, the animal shall be apprehended and 
impounded by such official, and after two weeks the animal may be humanely destroyed. If such 
animal is returned to its owner, the owner shall pay the cost of impoundment, which shall 
include a pickup fee and a daily boarding fee.  

Sec. 6-58. - Permitting dog, cat or poultry to run at-large.  

(a)  Prohibition. It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog, cat or poultry to:  

(1)  Generally. Permit or allow a dog, cat or poultry to be at-large. Any dog, cat or poultry 
found at-large shall be presumed to be so with the permission of its owner and proof 
that such dog, cat or poultry was at-large, and of ownership, shall constitute in 
evidence a prima facie presumption in any proceeding charging any violation of this 
section.  

(2)  Cemeteries. Permit or allow a dog, cat or poultry to be in any public cemetery at any 
time.  

(b)  Exceptions. The foregoing subsections (a)(2) and (a)(3) of this section shall not apply to 
service dogs or assistive animals used by handicapped persons.  

(c)  Repeated violations. Any owner of a dog, cat or poultry who has been found in violation of 
this section on three or more occasions within a two-year period immediately prior to 
impoundment of an animal found to be in violation of this section, shall not have the right to 

57

Item 6.



11 
 

redeem such animal from impoundment as provided for in section 6-54. Instead, the animal 
shall be disposed of as provided for in section 6-55.  

Sec. 6-59. - Permitting dog or cat to attack persons or animals or destroy property  

It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog or cat to permit such dog or cat to attack persons, 
domestic animals or destroy property, or to permit such dog or cat to place persons in 
reasonable fear of attack or injury. Proof of ownership of a dog or cat and that the dog or cat did 
attack persons or domestic animals, destroy property or place persons in reasonable fear of 
attack or injury shall constitute in evidence a prima facie presumption of permission of the owner 
in any proceeding charging violation of this section.  

Sec. 6-60. - Noisy dogs, cats or poultry.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog, cat or poultry to permit or allow such animal 
alone or in combination with others to cause serious annoyance or disturbance to a 
reasonable person by frequent and habitual noise making.  

(b)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog, cat or poultry to permit or allow the animal to 
make noise that is annoying or disturbing to a reasonable person for more than 15 minutes 
in duration (whether consecutive or not) in any 24 hour-period within the city.  

(c)  Proof of ownership of a dog, cat or poultry shall constitute in evidence a prima facie 
presumption of permission of the owner in any proceedings charging any violation of this 
section.  

Sec. 6-61. - Confinement of female dogs or cats in heat.  

The owner of any female dog or cat in heat shall confine the female dog or cat in a building, 
or keep the dog or cat in his presence, so that the female dog or cat cannot come into contact 
with another animal except for planned breeding.  

Sec. 6-62. - Cleanup of animal droppings.  

It shall be unlawful for any owner or person in charge of an animal to fail to clean up and 
remove as soon as possible any excrement or droppings deposited by the animal on any real 
estate, whether privately or publicly owned, other than on the premises of the owner or person 
in charge.  

Sec. 6-63. - Duty of owner to keep premises in sanitary condition.  

It shall be unlawful for the owner or person in charge of any dog, cat, poultry, horse or other 
animal to permit excrement or droppings from any of such animals to collect on the premises of 
the owner or person in charge, causing odor or unsanitary conditions. Failure to keep the 
premises in a clean and sanitary condition shall be deemed a nuisance and may be abated as 
provided in chapter 15.  

Sec. 6-64. - Artificially colored animals.  

No animal colored artificially may be sold or offered for sale, raffled, offered or given as a 
prize, premium or advertising device, or displayed in any store, shop, carnival or other public 
place.  

Sec. 6-65. - Sale of baby fowl or use as prize, premium  

58

Item 6.



12 
 

Fowl younger than four weeks of age may not be sold or offered for sale, raffled or offered 
or given as a prize, premium or advertising device, in quantity of less than 10 to an individual 
person, unless sold by a person engaged in the business of selling such animals for agricultural 
or wildlife purposes.  

Sec. 6-66. - Care of baby fowl displayed to public.  

Stores, shops, vendors and others displaying  fowl to the public shall provide and operate 
brooders or other heating devices that may be necessary to maintain the animals in good 
health, and shall keep adequate food and water available to the animals at all times.  

Sec. 6-67. - Giving away animal as business inducement.  

No person shall give away any live vertebrate animal as a prize for or as an inducement to 
enter any contest, game or other competition, or as an inducement to enter a place of 
amusement, or offer such vertebrate as an incentive to enter into any business agreement 
whereby the offer was for the purpose of attracting trade.  

Sec. 6-68. - Display of wild animals.  

No person shall keep or permit to be kept on his premises any wild or vicious animal for 
display or for exhibition purposes, whether gratuitously or for a fee. This section shall not be 
construed so as to apply to a theatrical exhibit or circus, except that no theatrical exhibit or act 
shall be held in which animals are encouraged to perform through the use of chemical, electrical 
or mechanical devices.  

Sec. 6-69. - Duty of owner regarding care of animals.  

(a)  Standard of care. Each owner or keeper of an animal shall comply with the standards of 
care for each such animal set forth in this section. Failure to comply with any standards of 
care set forth in this section shall be a violation of this section.  

(b)  Adequate veterinary care. It shall be the duty of each owner or keeper of an animal to 
provide the animal with adequate veterinary care, which shall mean that a sick, diseased, or 
injured animal shall be provided with a proper program of care that is recommended by a 
veterinarian, or shall be humanly euthanized. Each animal shall be provided with proper 
immunizations, proper flea control measures, and proper preventive health care, including 
parasite control.  

(c)  Cleaning and grooming. It shall be the duty of each owner or keeper of an animal to keep 
the animal clean, and to provide proper grooming as appropriate for the species.  

Sec. 6-70. - Animals prohibited: Sturgis Falls Celebration and Cedar Basin Music Festival 

(a)  The city council shall designate the dates and locations for the annual Sturgis Falls 
Celebration and Cedar Basin Music Festival, in the city. Such designation by resolution 
shall occur no later than two weeks prior to the start of the Sturgis Falls Celebration and 
Cedar Basin Music Festival, which take place simultaneously.  

(b)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of an animal to permit or allow the animal to be in the 
areas designated by the city council as Sturgis Falls Celebration and Cedar Basin Music 
Festival, locations during the designated dates. The following listed dogs are exempt: a 
certified police canine, rescue dog or tracking dog acting on behalf of a public safety 
agency in the performance of its duties, or engaged in approved training or a public 
demonstration of its skills; service dog; certified therapy dog; assistive animal.  

59

Item 6.



13 
 

      

       Section 3.  Division 3, Dangerous Animals, of Article II, Animal Control, of Chapter 6, 

Animals, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety and a new Division 3, Dangerous Animals, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

ARTICLE II. - ANIMAL CONTROL  

DIVISION 3. - DANGEROUS ANIMALS  

Sec. 6-131. - Definition.  

For purposes of this division, any animal which attacks or injures any person or domestic 
animal, or which constitutes a physical threat to any person or domestic animal, shall constitute 
a dangerous animal; provided, however, that a dog assisting a peace officer engaged in law 
enforcement duties shall be exempt from the provisions of this division.  

Sec. 6-132. - Authority to impound or require confinement.  

If a law enforcement officer or animal warden, in his or her discretion, believes that a 
dangerous animal poses an unreasonable risk or threat of harm to any person or domestic 
animal, the officer or warden may impound such dangerous animal. As an alternative to 
impoundment, the officer or warden may, in his or her discretion, leave a dangerous animal in 
the custody of its owner, upon receipt of the owner's written agreement to keep the dangerous 
animal in a secure enclosure until such time as the chief of police or designee reviewed the 
circumstances and taken action under section 6-134.  

Sec. 6-133. - Notice of impoundment.  

Upon impoundment of a dangerous animal under section 6-132, the law enforcement officer 
or animal warden shall notify the owner as soon as practicable, but in any event within 48 hours 
after such impoundment, if the owner is known.  

Sec. 6-134. - Disposition of impounded animals.  

(a)  Within 48 hours after impoundment of any dangerous animal, the chief of police or 
designee shall review the circumstances surrounding the impoundment and shall do one of 
the following:  

(1)  Retain such animal for purposes of observation and evaluation for a period not to 
exceed 30 days, in which case the owner, if known, shall be promptly notified thereof in 
writing.  

(2)  Release such animal to the control of its owner pursuant to a written agreement to be 
signed by the owner, upon such terms and conditions as the chief of police deems 
reasonably necessary to ensure the public safety, including, but not limited to, the 
following requirements:  

a.  Requiring that, at all times, the animal either be confined in a secure enclosure, or 
be attended by the owner or a person capable of controlling the animal who is 
eight years of age or older, and restrained by a secure collar and leash of sufficient 
strength to prevent escape.  

b.  Prohibiting the animal from being chained, tethered or otherwise tied to any fixed 
object such as a tree, post or building.  

60

Item 6.



14 
 

c.  Requiring the owner to inform by any means, including written notification, signs, 
etc., any persons, including, but not limited to, the postmaster, utility company, 
meter readers or other persons who routinely come on the property of the owner, 
that a dangerous animal is on the premises, or, if the owner moves his residence 
to another location within the city, to inform any such persons that the animal is 
now on the new premises.  

d.  Requiring the owner to prove financial responsibility for any injury or damage 
which may be caused by the animal by posting a cash or surety bond for an 
amount up to $1,000.00.  

e.  Requiring the owner to agree to neither sell, offer for sale, breed, give away, nor 
take any designated dangerous animal out of the city without first having given 
written notice thereof to the animal control officials.  

f.  Requiring the owner to attend a prescribed course in animal owner responsibility or 
an obedience class.  

g.  Requiring the owner to tattoo the dangerous animal to provide permanent 
identification of the animal.  

h.  Requiring all fees and expenses described in section 6-136 to be paid by the 
owner before the animal is released to the owner.  

i.  Requiring the owner to agree that failure to comply with any of the terms and 
conditions of the written agreement may result in the animal subsequently being 
impounded and humanely destroyed.  

(3)  Cause the animal to be humanely destroyed if, in the opinion of the chief of police, the 
release of such animal would create an unreasonable risk of harm to the public safety.  

(b)  In making its determination regarding the disposition of the animal, the chief of police shall 
consider all of the circumstances, including, but not limited to, whether the animal's 
behavior was provoked by any person or other animal.  

Sec. 6-135. - Notice of destruction of animal; appeal.  

(a)  Notification of owner; appeal procedure.  

(1)  If the chief of police determines that a dangerous animal which has been impounded 
pursuant to this division is to be destroyed pursuant to the provisions of section 6-
134(a)(3), the chief of police shall notify the owner of such animal in writing, at least ten 
days in advance, of the intent to destroy the animal, and further inform such owner of 
the owner’s right to appeal as provided by this section.  

(2)  The owner of such animal may, at any time prior to the date upon which the animal is 
to be destroyed, appeal the determination of the chief of police to the administration 
committee of the city council by filing a written notice of such appeal with the city clerk.  

(3)  After receipt of a notice of appeal under this section, the city clerk shall calendar the 
appeal for hearing by the administration committee of the city council, and shall notify 
the owner and the chief of police of such action.  

(4)  The chief of police shall not thereafter destroy such animal until the administration 
committee of the city council shall have first heard the appeal and rendered its 
decision.  

61

Item 6.



15 
 

(5)  Any owner of a dangerous animal who fails to file an appeal or to appear at such 
hearing after being given notice as provided in this section shall be deemed to have 
waived any right in or claim to such animal or any right to claim any damages or other 
relief by reason of any action by the chief of police pursuant to this division.  

(b)  Action by administration committee. After hearing such testimony and evidence as it may 
deem proper, the administration committee of the city council may:  

(1)  Uphold the decision of the chief of police and order the animal humanely destroyed.  

(2)  Modify or reverse, either in whole or in part, the decision of the chief of police, and 
order the return of the animal to its owner, and impose such conditions upon such 
return as may be reasonably necessary to ensure the public safety, including, but not 
limited to, the terms and conditions set forth in sections 6-134(a)(2)a through i, or a 
continuation of the impoundment of such animal for a period not to exceed 30 days 
from the date of the hearing.  

(c)  Enforcement of decision. After the decision of the administration committee of the city 
council has been rendered as provided in this section, the chief of police shall take such 
action as is necessary to carry out such decision.  

Sec. 6-136. - Payment of impoundment fees.  

The owner of a dangerous animal which has been impounded pursuant to this division shall 
be charged for all costs incurred in connection with the impoundment of the animal, including, 
but not limited to, a pickup fee and a daily boarding fee. The owner shall be required to pay all 
such fees before any animal is released to its owner.  

Sec. 6-137. - Harboring prohibited.  

No person shall knowingly harbor or hide or cause to be harbored or hidden any known 
dangerous animal. Any such animal shall immediately be surrendered to a law enforcement 
officer or animal warden. Any violation of this section shall constitute a simple misdemeanor, 
and shall be punished accordingly.  

Secs. 6-138—6-157. - Reserved.  

 

     Section 4.  Division 4, Agricultural Non-domestic Animals and Exotic Animals, of Article II, 

Animal Control, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Division 4, Agricultural Non-domestic Animals 

and Exotic Animals, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

ARTICLE II. - ANIMAL CONTROL  

DIVISION 4. - AGRICULTURAL NON-DOMESTIC ANIMALS AND EXOTIC ANIMALS 

Sec. 6-158. - Keeping of agricultural animals.  

No horse, mule, cow, calf, swine, sheep, goat, llama, camel, ostrich, peacock, or other 
agricultural animal or specialized breed of such agricultural animal shall be kept on any property 
that is not located in the A-1 Agricultural District under chapter 26, zoning, with the exception 

62

Item 6.



16 
 

that horses may be kept on properties that are zoned R-1 Residential District, on the terms 
provided in section 26-164.  

Sec. 6-159. - Keeping of chickens as nonconforming use.  

(a)  Existing nonconforming use. The keeping of chickens that are located on any property that 
is not zoned A-1 Agricultural District, under chapter 26, zoning, as of November 1, 2006, is 
hereby declared to be a nonconforming use. Any person who owns or possesses chickens 
that are located on any property in any zoning district other than the A-1 Agricultural District 
under chapter 26, zoning, as of November 1, 2006, may continue to keep not more than 
three chickens, but not to include roosters, on such property, as long as such chickens are 
kept in a totally enclosed structure which is located outside of a residential dwelling, and 
which is located at least 25 feet from any other residential dwelling.  

(b)  Termination of nonconforming use by discontinuation. In addition, if such person 
discontinues the keeping of chickens on such property for a period of one year, such 
nonconforming use shall terminate, and the use of the property shall thereafter conform to 
the requirements of section 6-158. The keeping of such chickens shall be specific to the 
property on which the chickens were located on November 1, 2006, and shall be specific to 
the person keeping such chickens on such property as of such date, and may not be 
transferred to any other person or to any other property.  

(c)  Termination of nonconforming use for health reasons. Further, in the event of issuance of 
an advisory by any department of public health, federal, state or local, that all chickens 
must be exterminated in the interests of public health, the keeping of all chickens that then 
constitute a valid nonconforming use under this section shall immediately terminate, and 
shall not thereafter be re-established on such properties, and the use of all such properties 
shall thereafter conform to the requirements of section 6-158.  

Sec. 6-160. - Indoor pets.  

Gerbils, hamsters, guinea pigs, rabbits, mice, birds, snakes, insects, lizards, and other 
similar animals that are normally maintained as household pets and kept in an enclosure inside 
a principal or accessory structure located on a property are not, by the provisions of this 
division, prohibited in any zoning district in the city.  Poultry is not considered a household pet 
under this section.  

 

INTRODUCED:  ____________________ February 1, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    February 1, 2021   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   February 15, 2021   

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

 
 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                               Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk        

63

Item 6.



1 
 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2985 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF CHAPTER 6, 

ANIMALS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

BY ENACTING A NEW DIVISION 5, REAR YARD POULTRY, CONSISTING OF SECTION 

6-301, GENERALLY; SECTION 6-302, POULTRY LICENSE; SECTION 6-303, FEMALE 

POULTRY ONLY; MAXIMUM NUMBER; SECTION 6-304, POULTRY COOP; SECTION 6-

305, POULTRY RUN; SECTION 6-306, POULTRY COOP AND POULTRY RUN LAND 

USE PERMIT; SECTION 6-307, REVOCATION OF PERMIT; ENFORCEMENT; 

NUISANCE; AND SECTION 6-308, REVOCATION OF POULTRY LICENSE FOR PUBLIC 

HEALTH.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Article II, Animal Control, of Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by enacting a new Division 5, Rear Yard 

Poultry, as follows: 

ARTICLE II. - ANIMAL CONTROL  

DIVISION 5. – REAR YARD POULTRY 

Sec. 6-301. – Generally. 

     Poultry may be kept in the rear yard area of a dwelling located on a residential block in the 
city as long as the owner of such residence complies with the following: 

(a)  The poultry shall be kept at all times in a poultry coop and poultry run on the premises.  The 
poultry coop and poultry run shall be maintained in a reasonably clean, sound, safe and sanitary 
condition. 

(b)  No part of the poultry coop or poultry run shall be located within 25 feet of a dwelling located 
on an adjoining property and no part of a poultry coop or poultry run shall be located closer to 
any street side lot line than the principal dwelling on the lot.  In addition, the poultry coop must 
be located at least two feet from any side or rear property line.  

(c)  The owner of the poultry must reside on the premises where the poultry is located. 

64

Item 7.



2 
 

For purposes of this section a “residential block’ means a city block in which at least half the 
structures are permanent residences. 

Sec. 6-302. – Poultry license. 

     In addition to a land use permit, a poultry license as provided for in division 1 must be 
obtained and maintained for poultry to be kept.  All outstanding fees, assessments and fines 
related to poultry must be paid in full prior to issuance or renewal of a poultry license. 

 Sec. 6-303. – Female poultry only; maximum number. 

     Only poultry of female gender is allowed to be kept.  No more than 10 total poultry in any 
combination of species may be kept at a single residence, at any one time. 

Sec. 6-304. – Poultry coop. 

     Poultry shall be kept in a poultry coop located on the poultry owner’s property.  The size of 
the poultry coop shall comply with generally accepted animal husbandry standards for every 
individual poultry kept there.  The poultry coop shall be of sufficient structural soundness to 
keep the poultry safe and secure.  Materials used in the construction of the poultry coop must 
be similar in appearance and quality to the main structure or accessory structures on the 
premises, unless purchased as an item advertised as a complete, standalone poultry 
confinement structure.  A detached garage or shed located on the premises may be used as a 
poultry coop provided that the poultry is confined to a specific area of such structure.  The 
poultry coop shall be sized appropriately to accommodate the total number of poultry kept at 
any time.  The poultry coop shall be constructed so as to allow access for the purposes of 
feeding and watering of poultry, for cleaning, maintenance and repairs, and for inspection by 
authorized city personnel.     

Sec. 6-305. – Poultry run. 

     A poultry run is required for the keeping of poultry.  The poultry run must to be attached to 
the poultry coop so that poultry may have free access to either at all times.  The poultry run shall 
be completely enclosed so as to prevent the escape of the poultry. The size of the poultry run 
shall comply with generally accepted animal husbandry standards for every individual poultry 
kept.  Materials used for the poultry run shall be sturdy and self-supporting.  The poultry run 
shall be sized appropriately to accommodate the total number of poultry kept at any time. The 
poultry run shall be constructed so as to allow access for the purposes of feeding and watering 
of poultry, for cleaning, maintenance and repairs, and for inspection by authorized city 
personnel.   

Sec. 6-306. – Poultry coop and poultry run land use permit.  

     Prior to the keeping of any poultry, a poultry owner must obtain a land use permit for the 
poultry coop and poultry run from the zoning administrator or designee.  The granting and 
continuation of such land use permit shall be conditioned on compliance with the requirements 
set forth in this division. A dimensional site plan of the poultry coop and poultry run shall be 
required as part of the application for such permit, including distances from neighboring 
dwellings.  Construction of a poultry coop larger than 120 square feet in size shall also require a 
building permit.  If the poultry coop or run is to be moved, the site plan shall also show the entire 

65

Item 7.



3 
 

area where the coop and run may be located.  Any substantial modification of the poultry coop 
or poultry run shall require a new land use permit.   

Sec. 6-307. – Revocation of permit; enforcement; nuisance. 

Failure to maintain a poultry coop or poultry run in a reasonably clean, safe, sound and sanitary 
condition or in compliance with the requirements of this division may result in suspension or 
revocation by the zoning administrator of the land use permit after notice to the owner and after 
a reasonable opportunity for hearing.  Code enforcement officers of the city are authorized to 
enforce the requirements of this division.  Failure to comply with the requirements of this division 
may also constitute a nuisance to be abated as provided for in chapter 15. 

Sec. 6-308. – Revocation of poultry license for public health. 

     In the event of issuance of an advisory by any department of public health, federal, state or 
local, that poultry must be exterminated in the interests of public health, any poultry license 
issued under this division shall be deemed immediately revoked, and the owner of such poultry 
shall take immediate steps to comply with such advisory, or in the alternative the poultry may be 
seized and exterminated by the city at the owner’s cost.        

 

INTRODUCED:      February 1, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    February 1, 2021    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:    February 15, 2021    

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:          

ADOPTED:             

 

 

                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

66

Item 7.



 
 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2983 
 

AN ORDINANCE (1). AMENDING SECTION 15-2, NUISANCE DEFINED; CERTAIN 

ACTS, CONDITIONS DECLARED AS NUISANCES, OF ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, BY 

ENACTING A NEW UNTITLED SUBSECTION (43); AND (2). AMENDING SECTION 15-

83, GENERAL NOISES PROHIBITED, OF ARTICLE III, NOISE, BY STRIKING UNTITLED 

SUBSECTION 15-83(B)(4) AND ENACTING A NEW UNTITLED SUBSECTION 15-

83(B)(4) IN LIEU THEREOF; ALL OF CHAPTER 15, NUISANCES, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 15-2, Nuisance Defined; Certain Acts, Conditions Declared as 

Nuisances, of Article I, In General, of Chapter 15, Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by enacting a new untitled subsection (43), as 

follows: 

(43)     Any poultry coop or poultry run that is not in a reasonably clean, sound, safe and sanitary 
condition or that does not comply with construction requirements as set forth in division 5 of 
article II of chapter 6 of this code.    

 

       Section 2.    Untitled subsection (b)(4) of Section 15-83, General Noises Prohibited, of Article 

III, Noise, of Chapter 15, Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

is hereby stricken in its entirety and a new untitled subsection (b)(4) is enacted in lieu thereof, 

as follows: 

(4)  Keeping noisy animals. The keeping, upon any premises owned, occupied or controlled by any 
person, of any animal otherwise permitted to be kept which, by any sound or cry, shall cause 
annoyance or discomfort to a reasonable person of normal sensibilities. 

INTRODUCED:      January 19, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    January 19, 2021   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   February 15, 2021   

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                               Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

67

Item 8.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 
 

RESOLUTION EXTENDING A FACE MASK MANDATE FOR THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 WHEREAS, we, the elected representatives of the City of Cedar Falls, took an oath to 
uphold and defend the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Iowa, 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the emergence of the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, that causes the 
disease COVID-19, can result in serious illness or death and can easily be spread from person to 
person, and 

 
 WHEREAS, on January 31, 2020, the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services declared a national public health emergency related to the dangers posed by COVID-19, 
and  
 

WHEREAS, on March 9, 2020, the Governor of the State of Iowa, Kim Reynolds, signed a 
proclamation of disaster emergency for the entire State of Iowa based on the increasing numbers 
in the State of Iowa testing positive for COVID-19, and 

  
WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 

outbreak to be a worldwide pandemic, and  
 
WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, the President of the United States signed an emergency 

declaration under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act authorizing 
emergency response measures in all fifty states in response to COVID-19, and  

 
WHEREAS, the most current local data relating to COVID-19 as provided by the Iowa 

Department of Public Health (“IDPH”) and the Black Hawk County Department of Public Health 
(“BHCDPH”) show that the State of Iowa and Black Hawk County continue to experience significant 
community spread of this disease, and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa has a compelling interest to protect the lives of its 

residents, and  
 
WHEREAS, Article III, Section 38A of the Iowa Constitution grants municipalities the power 

to determine their local affairs and government not inconsistent with the laws of the general 
assembly, and  

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 364 of the Iowa Code reaffirms the constitutional grant of home rule 

authority to municipalities “to exercise any power and perform any function it deems appropriate to 
protect and preserve the rights, privileges, and property of the city of its residents, and to preserve 
and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort and convenience of its residents”, and  

 
WHEREAS, a city “may exercise its general powers subject only to limitations expressly 

imposed by state or city law,” and the exercise of a city power “is not inconsistent with a state law 
unless it is irreconcilable with the state law.” Iowa Code section 364.2(2) and (3), and  

 
WHEREAS, a city may set standards and requirements which are higher or “more stringent 

than those imposed by state law, unless a state law provides otherwise.” Iowa Code Section 
364.3(3)(a); City of Des Moines v. Gruen, 457 N.W.2d 340, 343 (Iowa 1990); Bryan v. City of Des 
Moines, 261 N.W.2d 685, 687 (Iowa 1978), and 

68

Item 9.



 
WHEREAS, the Center of Disease Control (“CDC”), the IDPH, and BHCDPH, have all 

determined and encouraged that face coverings are an critical tool in the fight against COVID-19 
that could reduce the spread of the virus particularly when used universally within a community, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s current proclamation requires that businesses and gatherings 

ensure social distancing of employees, customers, and attendees, increased hygiene practices, 
and other public health measures to reduce the risk of transmission of COVID-19 consistent with 
the guidance of the IDPH, and  

 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s current proclamation additionally requires the wearing of masks 

or face coverings in certain circumstances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the IDPH’s reopening guidance advises that members of the public consider 

the use of cloth face coverings when distancing is not possible because wearing a face covering in 
public places where social distancing measures are difficult can help slow the spread of COVID-19, 
and  

 
WHEREAS, a requirement that persons in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa wear face 

coverings is essential to reducing the risk of transmission of COVID-19, and necessary to protect 
the health, welfare, and safety of residents and visitors and to accelerate local recovery efforts, and  

 
WHEREAS, a requirement that persons wear a face covering is generally not irreconcilable 

with the Governor’s proclamations and the guidance of the Iowa Department of Public Health, and  
 
WHEREAS, this resolution is not meant to be stigmatizing or punitive and is in the best 

interest of the health, welfare, and safety, and economic recovery of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and its residents. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as 

follows: 
 
Section 1. Every person in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa must wear a face covering when:  

a) In public, as opposed to one’s place of residence, when one cannot stay six (6) 
feet apart from others.  

b) Inside any indoor public settings, including but not limited to:  
1. Grocery stores  
2. Pharmacies  
3. Hardware stores  
4. Retail stores  
5. Other public settings that are not one’s place of residence and when among 

people who do not live in the same household  
6. City buildings  

c) Outside if maintaining a distance of six (6) feet apart is not possible  
d) Using public transportation or private car services (including taxis, ride share, or 

carpooling) 
  

Section 2. No business that is open to the public may provide service to a customer or allow 
a customer to enter its premises, unless the customer is wearing a face covering as required by 
this resolution, and businesses that are open to the public must post signs at entrance(s) 
instructing customers of their obligations to wear a face covering while inside.  

 

69

Item 9.



Section 3. Those who are exempt from wearing a face covering are:  
a) Persons younger than 5 years of age.  
b) Anyone who has trouble breathing, on oxygen therapy, or ventilator.  
c) Anyone who is unconscious, incapacitated, or otherwise unable to remove their 

face covering without assistance.  
d) Anyone who has been told by a medical, legal, or behavioral health professional 

not to wear face coverings.  
e) Anyone actively engaged in a public safety role, including but not limited to law 

enforcement, firefighters, or emergency medical personnel. 
 

Section 4. Places and times where persons are exempt from wearing a face covering:  
a) While traveling in a personal vehicle alone or with only household members.  
b) While a person is alone or with only household members.  
c) While exercising at moderate or high intensity e.g. swimming, jogging, biking. 
d) While seated at a food establishment in the process of eating or drinking.  
e) While obtaining a service that would require temporary removal of the person’s face 

covering.  
f) When federal or state law prohibits wearing a face covering or requires the removal 

of a face covering.  
 

Section 5. If a cloth face covering is chosen, appropriate use of a cloth face covering 
includes:  

a) A snug fit, but comfortable against the side of the face.  
b) Completely covers the nose and mouth.  
c) Is secured with ties or ear loops.  
d) Includes multiple layers of fabric.  
e) Allows for breathing without restriction.  
f) Can be laundered and machine dried without damage or change in shape.  

 
Section 6. This resolution shall be effective immediately upon signing by the Mayor and 

expires at 11:59 PM on the 7th day of April, 2021. Upon its effective date this resolution replaces 
and supersedes Resolution #22,097 dated September 8, 2020, and extended by Resolution 
#22,140 dated October 19, 2020, Resolution #22,193 dated December 7, 2020, and Resolution 
#22,227 dated January 19, 2021.  Prior to the expiration of this resolution, the City Council of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa may extend the mandate by adopting a new resolution. 

 
Section 7.  If any provision of this resolution is in irreconcilable conflict with a specific 

directive in the Governor’s proclamation then in effect as it pertains to the wearing of a mask or 
face covering, the Governor’s proclamation shall prevail.    

 
Section 8. If any section, provision, or part of this resolution is adjudged invalid or 

unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the resolution as a whole or any 
section, provision, or part of this resolution not adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of March, 2021. 
 
        
        ___________________________ 
ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

70

Item 9.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Public Event Permit – Cedar Basin Music Festival 

 
As City Council is aware there have been on-going discussions at City Council meetings 
about the Sturgis Falls Celebration and two applications for public event permits during 
the Sturgis Falls weekend.  Cedar Basin Music Festival is one of those permits.  City 
Council had originally wanted to review these permits in conjunction with the Sturgis 
Falls agreement.  However, once the council voted to review these documents 
separately, it seemed proper for staff to review these permits as outlined in City Code of 
Ordinance Sec. 17-210.  As you are aware, this code section designates authority to 
staff to issue these public event permits.   
 
At this point, the public event permit application for Cedar Basin Music Festival has 
gone through the proper review by all city departments and staff would not have any 
technical reason to deny this public event permit.  
 
If you have any questions, about the permit, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 

71

Item 10.



 
RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CITY STAFF TO APPROVE OR DENY THE 

APPLICATION OF CEDAR BASIN MUSIC FESTIVAL FOR A 
PUBLIC EVENT PERMIT FOR JUNE 25-27, 2021 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the last full weekend in June is the designated weekend for the 

annual Sturgis Falls Celebration; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Cedar Basin Music Festival has submitted an application for a 

Public Event Permit for the same weekend as the Sturgis Falls Celebration. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that city staff is hereby authorized to approve or deny the application of Cedar 

Basin Music Festival for a Public Event Permit for June 25-27, 2021, pursuant to the 

provisions of the Code of Ordinances. 

  

ADOPTED this 1st day of March, 2021. 

 
 
       _____________________ 
                                                                                      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

72

Item 10.



73

Item 10.



74

Item 10.



75

Item 10.



76

Item 10.



77

Item 10.



78

Item 10.



79

Item 10.



80

Item 10.



81

Item 10.



82

Item 10.



83

Item 10.



84

Item 10.



85

Item 10.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Public Event Permit – Live to 9 

 
As City Council is aware there have been on-going discussions at City Council meetings 
about the Sturgis Falls Celebration and two applications for public event permits during 
the Sturgis Falls weekend.  Live to 9 is one of those permits.  City Council had originally 
wanted to review these permits in conjunction with the Sturgis Falls agreement.  
However, once the council voted to review these documents separately, it seemed 
proper for staff to review these permits as outlined in City Code of Ordinance Sec. 17-
210.  As you are aware, this code section designates authority to staff to issue these 
public event permits.   
 
At this point, the public event permit application for Live to 9 has gone through the 
proper review by all city departments and staff would not have any technical reason to 
deny this public event permit.  
 
If you have any questions, about the permit, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 

86

Item 11.



 
RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CITY STAFF TO APPROVE OR DENY THE 

APPLICATION OF LIVE-TO-9 FOR A PUBLIC EVENT PERMIT 
FOR JUNE 25-26, 2021 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the last full weekend in June is the designated weekend for the 

annual Sturgis Falls Celebration; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Live-to-9 has submitted an application for a Public Event Permit for 

the same weekend as the Sturgis Falls Celebration. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that city staff is hereby authorized to approve or deny the application of Live-to-9 

for a Public Event Permit for June 25-26, 2021, pursuant to the provisions of the Code 

of Ordinances. 

  

ADOPTED this 1st day of March, 2021. 

 
 
       _____________________ 
                                                                                      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

87

Item 11.



88

Item 11.



89

Item 11.



90

Item 11.



91

Item 11.



92

Item 11.



93

Item 11.



94

Item 11.



95

Item 11.



96

Item 11.



97

Item 11.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: February 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Mayor’s Monthly Report for February 2021 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-187(c): Mayor Powers and Duties 

  (b) FY2021 Cedar Falls City Council Goals and Objectives  

 

1. Introduction. In response to the City Council’s expressed desire in references (a) and (b) for 

“Mayor’s Updates” separate from the Departmental Monthly Reports,  I will provide a written 

report of activities at the first meeting of each month in 2021. 

2. Notable Activities for the Previous Month (February 2021).  

a. Cedar Falls Racial Equity Task Force. I’ve included the final task force charter in with 

the March 1st agenda. Thanks very much for your feedback in the creation. The four 

members of the Executive Committee have been assigned and are now working to identify 

the additional 6-8 members who will comprise the full task force. I will advise council as 

soon as the task force has identified these citizens. Council Member Darrah is the chair of 

the task force, so feel free to contact him directly with questions and feedback. 

b. Public Safety Special Report FY2021-2025 Release. Following an advance release to 

council members, the Department of Public Safety Services publicly released its special 

report on February 22nd.  I encourage Council Members to engage in follow-up questions 

and conversations about the direction of the Public Safety Department based on this report. 

c. UNI Quest Participation. I’m continuing to represent the city in this six-week discussion 

program.  I highly recommend to Council the videos and readings contained at 

https://quest.uni.edu. It’s a very well-done and comprehensive look at racial inequity, 

particularly from a local perspective. 

d. Kosovo Independence Day Celebration. On Wednesday, February 17th I attended a 

livestream of the Kosovo’s 13th Independence Day celebration. While we have not 

formally signed the Ferizaj Sister City Partnership (it must first be approved by the 

Kosovo Foreign Ministry), our Cultural Programs Supervisor has already initiated a pen-

pal program between Cedar Falls and Ferizaj residents. If Council would like more info 

about this partnership, we can schedule a presentation for Committee of the Whole. 

98

Item 12.

https://quest.uni.edu/


3. Notable Anticipated Activities for the Next Month (March 2021). 

a. ICU Marshalltown Visit.  On the morning of March 4th, I plan to visit Marshalltown to 

view an ICU workshop (https://www.icuworldwide.com/) being conducted for the 

Marshalltown Police Department.  I have been in communication with one of that group’s 

organizers (Mr. Del Marion) and have had this program recommended to me by both CFU 

and the Waterloo PD, both of whom have hosted ICU workshops in their organizations. 

b. Human Rights Commissioner Selections.  I will be working with the selection panel 

(HRC Chair, Staff Liaison, and Mayor Pro Tem) to appoint two new Human Rights 

Commissioners. If you have suggestions for outstanding candidates, please let me know. 

c. Cedar Valley Coalition Meeting with D.C. Staffs.  Typically, a group of Cedar Valley 

leaders travels to Washington to present important initiatives to our congressional 

delegations.  Like last year, the 2021 engagement will be held virtually from 8am to 10:15 

on March 11th on Zoom, and will be broken into Education, Housing, and Transportation 

segments. Cedar Falls will be presenting its case for Federal funding support for a new 

interchange (on and off ramps) for Highway 58 at Greenhill Road.   

d. Main Street Traffic Study Presentation. Public Works plans to follow-up with its January 

Main Street Committee of the Whole presentation with a second presentation on March 

15th to specifically answer some of the questions that were brought up in January.  After 

that presentation, I drove the length of 4th St SW in Waverly (from 2nd Ave SW to 7th Ave 

SW) seven times to get a better feel for what the traffic flow of a three-lane looks like on a 

roadway with multiple residential side streets.   I recommend trying that out for a first-

person perspective. 

  

4. Future Monthly Reports. This format is a work in progress, and I hope is a useful record for 

the Council’s use. I also hope that it will give the public some additional insight into the 

mayor’s role in Cedar Falls, as well as transparency and accountability.  Please let me know if 

you have additional thoughts or ideas on how to make this report as useful as possible to you. 

Xc: City Clerk 

       City Administrator 

### 

99

Item 12.

https://www.icuworldwide.com/


   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor  
 

 TO: City Administrator 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: February 23, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Creation of the Cedar Falls Racial Equity Task Force  

 REF: (a) “The Worst Cities for Black Americans” – 247wallst.com report of 11/9/2018 1 

  (b) Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, §50: Committees 

  (c) Iowa Code §21, Official Meetings Open to Public (Open Meetings) 

  (d) Iowa Code §22, Examination of Public Records (Open Records) 

 

1. Purpose. This memorandum creates a Task Force to provide guidance and recommendations to 

the City of Cedar Falls to address long-term challenges of racial equity in the city. This memo 

provides the Task Force’s scope of work, member selection process, and completion dates.  

 

2. Background.   

 

a. 24/7 Wall Street Report. In November 2018, an article published by 24/7 Wall Street 

(reference (a)) named the Waterloo - Cedar Falls metropolitan area as the nation’s worst 

place for Black people to live, based on metrics surrounding income, employment, and 

homeownership. According to 24/7 Wall Street, our metropolitan area continues to rank 

as the one of the worst places for black Americans, ranking 3rd in 2019 and 5th in 2020. 

 

b. Council Referral and Action. At its regular meeting on February 1, 2021, the City 

Council directed city staff to develop a structure and schedule for a Task Force to serve 

as a “steering committee” for the Human Rights Commission. On Tuesday, February 2, 

2021, Council Member Darrah, Ron Gaines, Jennifer Rodenbeck, Toni Babcock and I 

met with three experienced members of the Human Rights Commission (Willie Barney, 

Susan Langan, and Teri Lynn Jorgensen) to gain perspective on how the task force could 

be most helpful and productive for the ongoing efforts of the Human Rights Commission. 

That feedback has been incorporated into this document.  

  

3. Task Force Charge.  
 

a. The Task Force will use the 24/7 Wall Street report and similar resources as a foundation to 

build a common understanding of the challenges of diversity and racial equity in Cedar Falls.  

 

b. The Task Force shall identify problems, concerns, and reasons the community currently 

ranks as one of the worst places for Black Americans to live, in order to provide remedial 

guidance and change recommendations for laws and policies under the City’s jurisdiction. 

 

4. Deliverables. The Task Force shall provide, no later than October 1, 2021, a final report to 

the Mayor and City Council that identifies specific problems and shortfalls.  In this report, 
                                                           
1
 https://247wallst.com/special-report/2018/11/09/the-worst-cities-for-black-americans-4/4/  

 

100

Item 13.

https://247wallst.com/special-report/2018/11/09/the-worst-cities-for-black-americans-4/4/


 

2 

 

the Task Force shall also make formal recommendations for follow-on action, including 

policy and procedure change recommendations, and identification of ongoing efforts and 

resourcing needed to promote an inclusive and diverse community and to eliminate both real 

and perceived racial inequity in Cedar Falls.  

 

5. Task Force Membership and Staff Liaisons.   

 

a. Executive Committee.  This committee shall be: 

 

(1) Frank Darrah, Ward 5 City Council Member – Non-Voting Chair 

(2) Kelly Dunn, At-Large City Council Member – Vice-Chair 

(3) Willie Barney, CF Human Rights Commission Chair 

(4) Melissa Heston, CF Human Rights Commission Member 

 

The Executive Committee will determine the remaining membership of the Task Force 

by recruiting, interviewing, evaluating, and selecting candidates. The Mayor shall be the 

final approving authority of the Task Force’s membership. 

 

b. Membership Selection.  

 

(1) The Executive Committee shall select either six or eight additional Task Force 

members, with preference given to those who reside or work in Cedar Falls. The 

result will be either ten or twelve total members.   With the chair as a non-voting 

member of the body, the Task Force will have nine or eleven voting members. 

 

(2) Members should ideally be community leaders and decision-makers with the authority 

and perspective to enact relevant and complimentary changes within their own 

organizations. The membership should be selected on the basis of leadership, 

dedication, and ability to analyze problems and develop solutions that create an 

environment for change in organizational policies and practices, and ultimately in the 

community as a whole. Members must be active, open-minded, and willing to have 

difficult and uncomfortable conversations about racial equity in Cedar Falls.  

 

(3) Member selection from the following key stakeholder groups is recommended: Cedar 

Falls Community Schools District; University of Northern Iowa; Black Hawk County 

NAACP; Grow Cedar Valley; and the Cedar Falls Housing Commission. Ultimately, 

the Executive Committee shall have the discretion to select members who best suit 

the requirements of the Task Force. 

 

(4) The Task Force Chair shall provide a full slate of proposed members no later than 

Thursday, March 11th to the Mayor for final approval; the Chair may request from the 

Mayor a time extension if needed. 

 

c. City Staff Liaisons.  The following city staff are assigned to support the Task Force and to 

participate in meetings in a liaison (non-voting) role: 

 

(1) Jennifer Rodenbeck – Director of Finance and Business Operations 

(2) Kevin Rogers – City Attorney 

(3) Toni Babcock – Human Resources Manager 

(4) Craig Berte – Police Chief 

 

101

Item 13.



 

3 

 

 Other staff may be called upon to provide input and perspective as needed. 

 

6. Budget. A budget has not been established for the Task Force. The Chair shall make a 

request to the Mayor to fund the materials, travel, education, invited speakers, and other 

expenses necessary for the Task Force’s success. 

 

7. Duration. The Task Force will exist until the Final Report is presented to the Mayor and City 

Council. Once the final report has been delivered, the Task Force will only convene at the 

direction of the Mayor. If the Task Force needs additional time to deliver the final report, the 

Chair may request in writing an extension from the Mayor.  

 

8. Proposed Schedule.  
 

a. The Task Force’s productivity and success require respect for participant time; these 

volunteer members are making a significant time commitment for this important work. For 

this reason, each meeting should have a time budget of no more than 90 minutes.  

 

b. Meetings will be held on the 2nd and 4th Wednesday of the month from 4:00 p.m. to 5:30 

p.m. at City Hall, unless the Task Force determines a different schedule and/or location is 

more amenable to the participants.  

 

c. The Task Force may change, cancel, or add meeting dates and locations as needed to 

effectively carry out its work.   

 

9. Parliamentary Procedure. The Task Force will be guided by the basic provisions of 

Robert’s Rules (reference b) to deliberate and take action on the business of the day, as well 

as to create agendas and minutes. These agendas shall be published at least 24 hours in 

advance, as required by the Iowa Open Meetings Law (reference (c)). The Chair shall decide 

the level of formality appropriate for each meeting, and preside accordingly. 

 

10. Committees. The Task Force may create committees as described in reference (b) to allow 

for greater focus on certain aspects of the Task Force’s charge. This may be advantageous for 

deliberating and developing plans and recommendations prior to consideration by the entire 

Task Force. 

 

11. Public Participation. The Task Force Chair shall have the discretion to determine the degree 

of public participation (through public comment) at each meeting, depending on the business 

before the Task Force. As a working group, the Task Force must balance the democratic 

benefit of public participation with the reality of a limited time budget each day for carrying 

out the Task Force’s charge. A solution may be to invite these interested public participants 

to be featured speakers at relevant future meetings, with dedicated time slots to present their 

valuable perspectives. 

 

12. Compliance with State Law. The Task Force shall comply with the provisions of both the Iowa 

Open Meetings Law (reference (c)) and the Iowa Open Records Law (reference (d)) in 

accomplishing its work.  As a public body investigating a controversial and high-visibility topic, 

open and transparent deliberations are vital to the success of the Task Force’s mission.  

 

Xc:  City Council 

 City Clerk 

Cedar Falls Racial Equity Task Force Executive Committee 

 

### 

102

Item 13.



103

Item 14.



104

Item 14.



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Council Chambers 

February 15, 2021 
 

The City Council held a special work session at City Hall at 5:10 p.m. on February 15, 
2021, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, Frank Darrah, 
Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires.  
Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Members of the Human Rights 
Commission and members of the community teleconferenced in.  

Mayor Green introduced the only item on the agenda, Joint Work Session with Human 
Rights Commission to discuss future roles, responsibilities, and City Council 
expectations for the Human Rights Commission (HRC). 

Mayor Green introduced the Chair, Willie Barney, Jr., and Vice Chair, Susan Langan, of 
the Human Rights Commission. 

Mayor Green referenced the memo in the packet, Creation of Steering Task Force for 
the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission. 

Mayor Green introduced the first topic of discussion, Purpose.  

Mayor Green opened the floor. 

Councilmember Darrah would like to see what are the HRC roles, their functions within 
the community, have a clearer understanding of the Council’s expectations, and what 
the city needs to do.  Council needs to be supportive and engaged with the HRC. 

HRC Chair Barney discussed how the city has an opportunity to evaluate its role in 
addressing equity and injustice.  He also discussed the HRC becoming a secondary 
role in the work, since they are supporting the community in that bigger work.  We need 
to figure out the work of the City of Cedar Falls to determine the next steps going 
forward.  The HRC, Housing Commission, and Public Safety Department are all 
reflective of the work that the governance defines for the whole City of Cedar Falls.  The 
HRC is one entity that will have some work once the City defines what is necessary for 
its move forward.   

Mayor Green stated since the groups that were mentioned are City entities it could be 
expanded. 

Councilmember Harding suggested providing direction to the City and including all 
Boards and Commissions and City Council, so it’s not limited to the HRC. 

Councilmember Dunn would like to see education and discussion, collaboration with 
Waterloo, show our history of this town, admit there was wrong in the past and listen to 
our HRC members.  We need to focus on being inclusive, welcoming and how do we fix 
the black unemployment rate. 

105

Item 15.



HR Commissioner Melissa Heston asked if the Council is on board with the issues of 
equity, social justice, economic justice, and inclusion.  To do this well, people are going 
to feel uncomfortable and your constituents might get uncomfortable.  Race is a very 
difficult issue in this country to talk about and there could be repercussions and 
unhappiness from Cedar Falls citizens if the commission becomes [more] active, 
present, and visible than it has been in the past 30 years.  

Mayor Green stated approval was unanimous from City Council to have this joint Work 
Session with the Human Rights Commission.  

Councilmember Miller stated this can’t bind future Councils to set course, but the steps 
we are taking can solidify a direction.  He agrees with Councilmember Dunn that the 
history of Cedar Falls is going to lend information on how we got here and offer 
guidance on moving forward. 

Councilmember Harding wants to support the HRC (Human Rights Commission) and 
the goal towards equity in Cedar Falls for all races and religions.  He hopes an end 
report from the Task Force will direct Council, City staff, HRC, and other Commissions 
on the actions that need to be taken. 

Mayor Green asked HRC if there were any concerns or objections to having this be a 
Task Force which provides direction to the City government rather than just the HRC.     
HR Vice Chair Susan Langan agrees this is bigger than just the HRC.  Mayor Green 
stated we have a consensus and will move forward. 

HR Commissioner David Kivett stated it would help if the City was intentional about 
recognizing the reality of racism in particular in our community and we want to address 
that openly and honestly, but also discuss all forms of discrimination.  Waterloo and 
Cedar Falls mayors should join together and do a letter in support of the 1619 project as 
a supplement to our education. 

Mayor Green introduced/discussed slide, Task Force Charge.   

HR Chair Barney commented many times when you look at the reports that identify the 
State of Iowa as one of the worst states in the country, they are looking at 
unemployment rates, incarceration, graduation rates and universities [to] help move that 
category.  We need to make sure we are looking at all the listed factors and over-
representation or under-representation. 

Mayor Green introduced/discussed slide, Deliverables, Initial Membership and Full 
Membership.  

Councilmember Dunn verified that you need to work or live in Cedar Falls and Mayor 
Green confirmed. 

HR Commissioner Teri Lynn Jorgensen recommended if your children go to Cedar Falls 
schools, but if you work and your home address is in Waterloo, you should be 
considered.  Mayor Green agreed children in Cedar Falls schools can be one of the 
considerations of the Task Force to decide. 

106

Item 15.



Mayor Green introduced/discussed slide, Staff Liaisons, Budget, Schedule, Public 
Participation, and Open Meetings/Open Records. 

Councilmember Darrah asked about what the role for City staff would be.  City 
Administrator Gaines stated they would act as liaisons, provide data, legal advice, and 
reports.  Councilmember Darrah asked if someone would be keeping minutes and City 
Administrator Gaines confirmed someone will be keeping minutes.  Director Rodenbeck 
stated staff will do the minutes, post agendas and the Communication Specialist can 
distribute any communication from the task force. 

Mayor Green discussed completion of the Task Force deadline due to current Council 
election rotation.  Councilmember Harding stated December 10th would be too late to 
take any action with the current council.  Mayor Green stated the report will have 
detailed information and possibly sub-reports and the sub-reports can be 
approved/recommended prior to the final report.  Councilmember Miller stated the report 
should be available for goal setting in September, but the Task Force can continue if 
needed.  Councilmember Harding agrees with Miller that a report should be provided in 
September and asked if goal setting will remain in November due to the election.  City 
Administrator Gaines confirmed goal setting will be in November, but will wait until after 
the first election and then invite all candidates to participate in goal setting.  
Councilmember Harding suggested October 1, but the date will remain flexible.  Mayor 
Green agreed to change date to October 1 and an extension can be requested. 

Councilmember Miller asked the HRC if they are satisfied with having the investigations 
portion removed from their tasks and is everyone satisfied with the direction the HRC is 
headed.  HR Vice Chair Susan Langan stated they would like to get training to help 
provide assistance to those citizens that are filing claims.  HR Commissioner Teri Lynn 
Jorgensen stated her concern is the lack of training and wants to make sure she is 
asking the correct questions and following the correct procedures to make sure we are 
serving our citizens to the best of our ability.  HR Vice Chair Susan Langan stated that 
when they did some research on investigations, they discovered that Cedar Falls was 
the only volunteer-run Commission doing investigations and it does take lots of training.  
She stated they are assisting a citizen at this time with the initial investigations 
paperwork and more training on that would be helpful.  Also, getting the word out the 
HRC is here to assist citizens with completing that paperwork.  HR Commissioner 
Melissa Heston believes training is essential.     

Councilmember Harding stated that he’s under the understanding the Commission has 
not only stepped into an education, outreach, and advocacy group but a supportive role 
of helping file the claims with the ICRC (Iowa Civil Rights Commission).  Does the HRC 
need a higher budget or training to support and help people file claims?  HR Chair 
Barney confirmed in the past, if they received an investigation case, that case could 
deplete the budget quickly; but if you’re doing education and sponsoring events that 
budget is acceptable for the HRC.  HR Commissioner Spencer Luvert confirmed that 
even though they’ve had a $1,500 budget it hasn’t been a hindrance in getting their job 
done and they’ve always been granted extra money if needed.  HR Vice Chair Susan 
Langan stated the ICRC does provide training for free.  HR Commissioner David Kivett 
stated there is an unsettled survey with community businesses and he would like to 

107

Item 15.



resolve this hindrance.  Mayor Green stated he assisted with getting the final draft of 
that survey last year during the strategic planning session and some of the members of 
the HRC members were here for that and it was sent back to the Commission with 
Mayor’s approval, and he was looking for the commission to move forward with the 
survey.  Mayor Green stated the Commission has the authority to issue that survey; it’s 
not up to the Council or Mayor to give a final approval, and that’s the whole idea of 
autonomy, and how can the staff liaison support you in getting that out.  Mayor does not 
expect to see that survey again and he expects the survey to be issued.  Mayor Green 
stated the survey was a directive prior, and he doesn’t want this to be addressed during 
the Task Force meetings; it should be addressed by the HRC.  Director Rodenbeck 
stated this will be a nice fresh start to do a lot of things and see how everyone does in 
their new roles.  We have talked about a budget and at this time we are just going to try 
things for a while and see how they go and then re-adjust if needed.  HRC will be 
meeting twice a month for the next 2-3 months and Director Rodenbeck gives them 
kudos for volunteering their time with the HRC.  Councilmember Harding welcomed the 
HRC to speak at Council Meetings during the special presentation portion. 

Councilmember Miller thanked the HRC for serving and asked if citizens have a fair shot 
with the process we have in place.  HR Chair Barney stated there’s a couple things that 
need to be put in place:  the process of filing a complaint; who’s the point of contact; 
review the literature; and what’s in writing and how do people gain access to it.  Mr. 
Barney stated if we are going to be involved, what does it look like, how do we support 
it, where do we need the training in order to support it, and sit side by side with an 
applicant and helping them go through the process of filing that complaint.  We need to 
make sure there are no obstacles in filing that complaint and seeing it through, or refer 
the applicant to some else.  HR Chair Barney stated this is a great starting point for us 
to look at what documents are there and making sure the contacts, phone numbers, etc. 
are included.            

Mayor Green would like to set up another time for a joint HRC session in the near 
future.   

HR Chair Barney will provide Mayor Green with two HR Commissioners names of who 
will be serving on the Task Force by Tuesday, February 23, 2021. 

There being no further discussion, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:22 p.m. 

Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor             

 

108

Item 15.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

February 15, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:30 p.m. on February 15, 2021, with 
the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, Frank Darrah, 
Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse (via video conference), Mark 
Miller, and Dave Sires. Staff members attended from all City Departments as well as 
members of the community teleconferenced in.   

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the agenda, 
Request to extend suspension of paid parking in municipal lots.  Jennifer Rodenbeck 
Director of Finance and Business Operations stated at a special Council Meeting on 
December 9, the council passed a resolution to suspend paid parking in municipal 
parking lots through April 1, 2021.  She reviewed the three options given at that time 
and the pros and cons with each option. Mayor Green opened it up for council 
discussion.  Ms. Rodenbeck answered questions from the council members and stated 
the two studies and implementation cost approximately $200,000 and the costs 
associated with the pay stations is $20,000/year. She said it is unknown if there will be 
technical issues with the pay station if they sit unused for a year. She explained she 
didn’t have the cost for removal of the pay stations or if they could get a credit for the 
pay station machines. She stated the request from Community Main Street is to 
suspend the paid parking in municipal lots through April 1, 2022.  Kim Bear with 
Community Main Street commented businesses are barely surviving due to the 
pandemic and confirmed the request in the letter. Ms. Bear stated the parking study was 
done when there was a parking problem and now there aren’t parking issues with the 
pandemic.  Simon Harding motioned to extend the suspension of paid parking in all 
municipal parking lots through August 1, 2021. David Sires seconded the motion.  Ms. 
Rodenbeck stated that there was only one month of activity with paid parking and that 
the parking fund has had a loss, down $200,000 from a $900,000. She explained the 
loss would continue to deplete the fund balance and would then be covered by the 
general fund and property taxes.  City Administrator Gaines is unaware of any CARES 
grant funding for covering these costs. Ms. Rodenbeck stated enforcement has 
continued through all this time. Ms. Rodenbeck stated the parking study came about 
from a request from Community Main Street for the downtown area and the additional of 
College Hill area was added.  Council member Darrah stated the City has gone to a 
great expense to implement the parking requirements and it should be enforced once 
the moratorium is over as it was presented.  Mayor Green called the question.  Motion 
passed 6-1. (aye - Darrah, Dunn, Harding, Kruse, Miller, Sires; nay - deBuhr)    

There being no further business, Frank Darrah moved for adjournment, seconded by 
Simon Harding. Motion carried unanimously.  Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 
6:49 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

109

Item 16.



110

Item 17.



111

Item 17.



112

Item 17.



113

Item 17.



114

Item 17.



115

Item 17.



116

Item 17.



117

Item 17.



118

Item 17.



119

Item 17.



120

Item 17.



121

Item 17.



122

Item 17.



123

Item 17.



124

Item 17.



125

Item 17.



126

Item 17.



127

Item 17.



128

Item 17.



129

Item 17.



130

Item 17.



131

Item 17.



132

Item 17.



133

Item 17.



134

Item 17.



135

Item 17.



136

Item 17.



137

Item 17.



138

Item 17.



139

Item 17.



140

Item 17.



141

Item 17.



142

Item 17.



143

Item 17.



144

Item 17.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  February 25, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, Class B beer & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor – change 
in ownership. 

c) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C liquor – change in ownership. 

 

145

Item 18.



146

Item 19.



147

Item 19.



148

Item 19.



149

Item 19.



150

Item 19.



151

Item 19.



152

Item 19.



153

Item 19.



154

Item 19.



155

Item 19.



156

Item 19.



157

Item 19.



158

Item 19.



159

Item 19.



160

Item 19.



161

Item 19.



162

Item 19.



163

Item 20.



164

Item 20.



165

Item 20.



166

Item 20.



167

Item 20.



168

Item 20.



169

Item 20.



170

Item 20.



171

Item 20.



172

Item 20.



173

Item 20.



174

Item 20.



175

Item 20.



176

Item 20.



177

Item 20.



178

Item 20.



179

Item 20.



180

Item 20.



181

Item 21.



182

Item 21.



183

Item 21.



184

Item 21.



185

Item 21.



186

Item 21.



187

Item 21.



188

Item 21.



189

Item 21.



190

Item 21.



191

Item 21.



192

Item 21.



193

Item 21.



194

Item 21.



195

Item 21.



196

Item 21.



197

Item 21.



198

Item 21.



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 DATE: February 22, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Resolution extending suspension of paid parking until August 1, 2021 

 
At the February 15, 2021 City Council Committee of the Whole meeting, the majority of 
City Council agreed to extend the suspension of paid parking in all municipal parking 
lots until August 1, 2021. Because fees are set by resolution, they must also be 
suspended by resolution so the attached resolution will formalize the City Council’s 
desire to suspend the paid parking fees in all municipal parking lots until August 1, 
2021. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with questions regarding this proposed resolution. Thank 
you. 
  
     

199

Item 22.



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

RESOLUTION EXTENDING THE SUSPENSION OF PAID PARKING IN MUNICIPAL 
PARKING LOTS IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA UNTIL AUGUST 1, 2021 

 
 

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 virus has caused a widespread pandemic in the State of 

Iowa and across the nation and a Public Health Disaster Emergency has been declared by 

Governor Reynolds of the State of Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon request of local businesses, the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, adopted Resolution #22,203, on December 9, 2020, suspending paid parking in 

municipal parking lots in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa until April 1, 2021 in an effort to assist 

businesses that have been affected by the pandemic; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request from the Community Main Street Board of 

Directors to extend the suspension of paid parking in municipal parking lots in the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa for an additional amount of time; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City wishes to accommodate the request by extending the suspension 

of paid parking in the municipal parking lots in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa until August 1, 2021.    

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

that the rate for paid parking in municipal parking lots, including parking permits for licensed 

vehicles, in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall be $0.00 until August 1, 2021. 

 

BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED, that all other parking enforcement operations will be 

unaffected and will continue per current parking regulations as outlined in the Code of 

Ordinances. 

 

 ADOPTED this 1st day of March, 2021.                      

                       
       __________________________ 
                                                                                          Robert M. Green, Mayor                                                                             
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

200

Item 22.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: February 22, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  Amendment to Deed of Dedication, McMahill First Addition 
 
 

Attached to this Memorandum please find a Proposed Resolution approving 

amendments to the Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition. 

 

You will recall that McMahill First Addition is the tract of land acquired and subdivided 

jointly by the City and Cedar Falls Community School District.  A school, a park and 

other public improvements were installed there.  The final plat for the subdivision was 

approved by Council on July 20, 2020.  During the process of recording the final plat it 

was discovered that the Deed of Dedication that accompanied the final plat contained 

some errors.  The Deed of Dedication contained a clause referring to a condominium 

regime, which was not applicable, and included some vague language related to 

dedication and designation of public areas. 

 

The proposed amendment corrects these errors.  Otherwise the Deed of Dedication and 

final plat with the amended Deed of Dedication are ratified and confirmed.  

 

These steps are necessary so that a correct Deed of Dedication and final plat may be 

recorded.  Staff therefore recommends approval of the Resolution. 

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  

201

Item 23.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 

 

AMENDMENT TO 

DEED OF DEDICATION 

FOR 

MCMAHILL FIRST ADDITION 

IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 

That the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and the Cedar Falls Community School District (hereinafter 

collectively referred to as the “Owner”), state as follows: 

 

The Owner executed that certain Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition, in the City of 

Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (hereinafter referred to as the “Deed of Dedication”), on July 14, 

2020, and on July 21, 2020, respectively; and 

 

The Owner hereby amends the Deed of Dedication in the following particulars: 

 

1. The last sentence of the first un-numbered paragraph on Page 1 of the Deed of Dedication 

is hereby stricken, and it is replaced with the following sentence: 

 

“All of which is with the free consent and desire of the said Owner, and the 

Owner does hereby dedicate to the public, and designate and set apart for public 

use, the streets and drives as shown on the attached Plat, the recreational trail and 

public sidewalk along Arbors Drive, and the public sidewalk along Ashworth 

Drive, as shown on the attached Plat.” 

 

2. Paragraph number 3 on Page 2 of the Deed of Dedication is hereby stricken in its 

entirety, and Paragraph numbers 4, 5 and 6 on Pages 2 and 3 of the Deed of Dedication are renumbered as 

Paragraph numbers 3, 4 and 5. 

 

3. Paragraph number 11(a) on Page 5 of the Deed of Dedication is hereby stricken, and it is 

replaced with the following new Paragraph number 11(a): 

 

“Tract “A” and Tract “B” to be deeded have been designated and set apart for 

public use and dedicated to the City of Cedar Falls as public road right-of-way, 

as set forth in this Deed of Dedication.” 

 

4. In all other respects, the Owner does hereby ratify and confirm the provisions of the Deed 

of Dedication, as now amended.  

 
202

Item 23.



2 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed at Cedar Falls, Iowa, on the 

_____ day of _____________________, 2021. 

 

 

 

 THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By:   

 Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

Attest:   

  Jacqueline K. Danielsen, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

   ) ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

  This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2021, by 

Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline K. Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

       

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

  

203

Item 23.



3 

 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed at Cedar Falls, Iowa, on the 

_____ day of _____________________, 2021. 

 

 

 THE CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY 

 SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

 

By:   

 Jeff Hassman, School Board President 

 

 

By:   

   (printed name),  

 School Board Secretary 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

   ) ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

  This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2021, by 

Jeff Hassman as School Board President, and _________________________________________ as 

School Board Secretary, of the Cedar Falls Community School District.  

 

 

       

   Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

204

Item 23.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 

 

AMENDMENT TO 

DEED OF DEDICATION 

FOR 

MCMAHILL FIRST ADDITION 

IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 

That the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and the Cedar Falls Community School District (hereinafter 

collectively referred to as the “Owner”), state as follows: 

 

The Owner executed that certain Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition, in the City of 

Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (hereinafter referred to as the “Deed of Dedication”), on July 14, 

2020, and on July 21, 2020, respectively; and 

 

The Owner hereby amends the Deed of Dedication in the following particulars: 

 

1. The last sentence of the first un-numbered paragraph on Page 1 of the Deed of Dedication 

is hereby stricken, and it is replaced with the following sentence: 

 

“All of which is with the free consent and desire of the said Owner, and the 

Owner does hereby dedicate to the public, and designate and set apart for public 

use, the streets and drives as shown on the attached Plat, the recreational trail and 

public sidewalk along Arbors Drive, and the public sidewalk along Ashworth 

Drive, as shown on the attached Plat.” 

 

2. Paragraph number 3 on Page 2 of the Deed of Dedication is hereby stricken in its 

entirety, and Paragraph numbers 4, 5 and 6 on Pages 2 and 3 of the Deed of Dedication are renumbered as 

Paragraph numbers 3, 4 and 5. 

 

3. Paragraph number 11(a) on Page 5 of the Deed of Dedication is hereby stricken, and it is 

replaced with the following new Paragraph number 11(a): 

 

“Tract “A” and Tract “B” have been designated and set apart for public use and 

dedicated to the City of Cedar Falls as public road right-of-way, as set forth in 

this Deed of Dedication.” 

 

4. In all other respects, the Owner does hereby ratify and confirm the provisions of the Deed 

of Dedication, as now amended.  

 
205

Item 23.



2 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed at Cedar Falls, Iowa, on the 

_____ day of _____________________, 2021. 

 

 

 

 THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By:   

 Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

Attest:   

  Jacqueline K. Danielsen, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

   ) ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

  This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2021, by 

Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline K. Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

       

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

  

206

Item 23.



3 

 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed at Cedar Falls, Iowa, on the 

_____ day of _____________________, 2021. 

 

 

 THE CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY 

 SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

 

By:   

 Jeff Hassman, School Board President 

 

 

By:   

   (printed name),  

 School Board Secretary 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

   ) ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

  This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2021, by 

Jeff Hassman as School Board President, and _________________________________________ as 

School Board Secretary, of the Cedar Falls Community School District.  

 

 

       

   Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

207

Item 23.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, (319) 273-8600  

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AMENDMENT TO DEED OF DEDICATION FOR 
MCMAHILL FIRST ADDITION AND RATIFYING AND CONFIRMING 
APPROVAL OF FINAL PLAT OF MCMAHILL FIRST ADDITION 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls (“City”) and Cedar Falls Community School District 
(“School District”) jointly purchased land in the City for development of a school, a park and 
other public amenities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and School District undertook to subdivide the land by submitting a  
preliminary plat describing the subdivided land as McMahill First Addition, which preliminary plat 
was approved by the City Council of the City by Resolution No. 20,368, dated January 16, 2017; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, public improvements were installed by the City and School District 
subsequent to preliminary plat approval, such public improvements being accepted and 
approved by City Council Resolution No. 20,057 dated July 20, 2020, which was filed with the 
office of the Black Hawk County Recorder on July 28, 2020, as Doc. # 2021-2116; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the final plat of McMahill First Addition was accepted and approved by City 
Council Resolution No. 22,058, also dated July 20, 2020; and  
 
            WHEREAS, a Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition in the City of Cedar Falls, 
Black Hawk County, State of Iowa, was executed by the City on July 14, 2020, and by the 
School District on July 21, 2020 (“Deed of Dedication”); and 
 
            WHEREAS, the Deed of Dedication contains errors primarily related to the designation 
and dedication of certain public areas; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the City and the School District wish to amend the Deed of Dedication to 
correct these errors; and 
 

208

Item 23.



 2 

            WHEREAS, the City and School District wish to otherwise ratify and confirm the 
provisions of the Deed of Dedication and further wish to ratify and approve the final plat of 
McMahill First Addition with amended Deed of Dedication; and 
  
            WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the School District has approved such amendment 
and such approvals and ratifications on February 22, 2021.   
 
            NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 1.  That the Amendment to Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition in the City of 
Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, State of Iowa, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference, be and the same is hereby in all respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and 
the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to 
execute, attest, seal and deliver said Amendment for and on behalf of the City in substantially 
the form and content now before this meeting.  The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby further 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of said 
Amendment as executed. 
 
            2.  That the Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition in the City of Cedar Falls. 
Black Hawk County, State of Iowa, is hereby ratified and confirmed as amended. 
 
            3.  That the final plat of McMahill First Addition is hereby ratified and approved with the 
Deed of Dedication as amended. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2021. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M, Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
                                                       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

209

Item 23.



 3 

 
                                                        CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK:             ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify 

that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _____ duly 

and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2021. 

  

            IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2021. 

 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

210

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Inspections Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jamie Castle, Building Official 
 
 DATE: February 24, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Emergent Architecture   
  Professional Design Services Agreement 
  City Hall Remodel 
 
Attached you will find the Professional Services Agreement with Emergent Architecture 
and insurance documentation for design services for the City Hall Remodel Project.   
 
In August of 2019 a Master Planning project was completed to determine how the city 
should move forward to efficiently utilize the available space within city hall.  From this a 
project scope was created along with a maximum budget for the project.  Once this step 
was completed another RFP was completed for design services to complete the project 
based on master plan that was developed from the August 2019 contract.   
 
The proposed Professional Services Agreement with Emergent Architecture will provide 
architectural services, mechanical and electrical engineering services, and furnishing 
design services for the City Hall remodel. The compensation for this agreement will be a 
fixed fee of $292,500. This funding will come from CIP #48 City Hall Repurpose and 
Remodel, which has a total dollar amount of 4,500,000 associated with it. 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of the Professional Services Agreement with Emergent Architecture for design services 
of the City Hall Remodel. If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact 
me.  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
   

 

211

Item 24.



   Document B101™ – 2017
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect

Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document has 
added information needed for its 
completion. The author may also 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes added 
information as well as revisions to 
the standard form text is available 
from the author and should be 
reviewed. A vertical line in the left 
margin of this document indicates 
where the author has added 
necessary information and where 
the author has added to or deleted 
from the original AIA text.

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification.

AGREEMENT made as of the Eleventh day of February in the year Two Thousand 
Twenty-One
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

BETWEEN the Architect’s client identified as the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
Telephone Number: 319.268.5189

and the Architect:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Emergent Architecture  
200 State St, Ste 103 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
Telephone Number: 319.529.3945

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed description)

Cedar Falls City Hall Remodel
 
Cedar Falls, Iowa
 
A remodel of City Hall is prompted by the need to update the building due to aging 
materials (carpets and finishes), efficient operations of staff and best use of the space 
available.

The Owner and Architect agree as follows.

212

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

2

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1    INITIAL INFORMATION

2    ARCHITECT’S RESPONSIBILITIES

3    SCOPE OF ARCHITECT’S BASIC SERVICES

4    SUPPLEMENTAL AND ADDITIONAL SERVICES

5    OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

6    COST OF THE WORK

7    COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES

8    CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

9    TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

10   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

11   COMPENSATION

12   SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

13   SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT

ARTICLE 1   INITIAL INFORMATION
§ 1.1 This Agreement is based on the Initial Information set forth in this Section 1.1.
(For each item in this section, insert the information or a statement such as “not applicable” or “unknown at time
of execution.”)

§ 1.1.1 The Owner’s program for the Project:
(Insert the Owner’s program, identify documentation that establishes the Owner’s program, or state the manner in
which the program will be developed.)

Program as described in "Request for Proposals - CITY HALL REMODEL" issued January 11, 2021 by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

§ 1.1.2 The Project’s physical characteristics:
(Identify or describe pertinent information about the Project’s physical characteristics, such as size; location;
dimensions; geotechnical reports; site boundaries; topographic surveys; traffic and utility studies; availability of
public and private utilities and services; legal description of the site, etc.)

Physical characteristics as described in "Request for Proposals - CITY HALL REMODEL" issued January 11, 2021 
by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

§ 1.1.3 The Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work, as defined in Section 6.1:
(Provide total and, if known, a line item breakdown.)

The project has a total budget of $4,500,000.00.  This includes construction costs, soft costs (architect fees, 
reimbursables), FFE, and contingency. 

§ 1.1.4 The Owner’s anticipated design and construction milestone dates:

213

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

3

.1    Design phase milestone dates, if any:

Anticipated March 3, 2021 - Design Project Commencement
Anticipated August 9, 2021 - Design Plan Completion
Anticipated September 13, 2021 - Bid Letting 

.2    Construction commencement date:

Anticipated October 25, 2021 - Construction Commencement 

.3    Substantial Completion date or dates:

To Be Determined 

.4    Other milestone dates:

To Be Determined 

§ 1.1.5 The Owner intends the following procurement and delivery method for the Project:
(Identify method such as competitive bid or negotiated contract, as well as any requirements for accelerated or fast-
track design and construction, multiple bid packages, or phased construction.)

Competitive bidding with award to a single prime General Contractor.

§ 1.1.6 The Owner’s anticipated Sustainable Objective for the Project:
(Identify and describe the Owner’s Sustainable Objective for the Project, if any.)

None at time of execution.

§ 1.1.6.1 If the Owner identifies a Sustainable Objective, the Owner and Architect shall complete and incorporate
AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, into this Agreement to define the terms, conditions and
services related to the Owner’s Sustainable Objective. If E204–2017 is incorporated into this agreement, the Owner
and Architect shall incorporate the completed E204–2017 into the agreements with the consultants and contractors
performing services or Work in any way associated with the Sustainable Objective.

§ 1.1.7 The Owner identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 5.3:
(List name, address, and other contact information.)

Jamie Castle
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
Telephone Number: 319.268.5189
Email Address: jamie.castle@cedarfalls.com

§ 1.1.8 The persons or entities, in addition to the Owner’s representative, who are required to review the Architect’s 
submittals to the Owner are as follows:
(List name, address, and other contact information.)

City of Cedar Falls Department Staff and City Council 

§ 1.1.9 The Owner shall retain the following consultants and contractors:
(List name, legal status, address, and other contact information.)

None at time of execution.

214

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

4

(Paragraphs Deleted)

§ 1.1.10 The Architect identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 2.3:
(List name, address, and other contact information.)

Jesse Lizer
200 State St, Ste 103 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
Telephone Number: 319.505.0313
Email Address: Jesse@emergentarch.com

§ 1.1.11 The Architect shall retain the consultants identified in Sections 1.1.11.1 and 1.1.11.2:
(List name, legal status, address, and other contact information.)

§ 1.1.11.1 Consultants retained under Basic Services:
.1    Structural Engineer:

Not required for project at time of execution   

.2    Mechanical/Electrical Engineer:

Bluestone Engineering   
5518 NW 88th Street 
Johnston, IA 50131 
515.727.0700 

.3    Civil Engineer:

Not required for project at time of execution   

.4     Furniture Consultant:

Kirk Gross Company
4015 Alexandria Dr
Waterloo, IA 50702
319.234.6641

§ 1.1.11.2 Consultants retained under Supplemental Services:

None at time of execution.

§ 1.1.12 Other Initial Information on which the Agreement is based:

None at time of execution.

§ 1.2 The Owner and Architect may rely on the Initial Information. Both parties, however, recognize that the Initial
Information may materially change and, in that event, the Owner and the Architect shall appropriately adjust the
Architect’s services, schedule for the Architect’s services, and the Architect’s compensation. The Owner shall adjust
the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work and the Owner’s anticipated design and construction milestones, as
necessary, to accommodate material changes in the Initial Information.

215

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

5

§ 1.3 The parties shall agree upon protocols governing the transmission and use of Instruments of Service or any
other information or documentation in digital form. The parties will use AIA Document E203™–2013, Building
Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, to establish the protocols for the development, use, transmission,
and exchange of digital data.

§ 1.3.1 Any use of, or reliance on, all or a portion of a building information model without agreement to protocols
governing the use of, and reliance on, the information contained in the model and without having those protocols set
forth in AIA Document E203™–2013, Building Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, and the requisite
AIA Document G202™–2013, Project Building Information Modeling Protocol Form, shall be at the using or
relying party’s sole risk and without liability to the other party and its contractors or consultants, the authors of, or
contributors to, the building information model, and each of their agents and employees.

ARTICLE 2   ARCHITECT’S RESPONSIBILITIES
§ 2.1 The Architect shall provide professional services as set forth in this Agreement. The Architect represents that it 
is properly licensed in the jurisdiction where the Project is located to provide the services required by this 
Agreement, or shall cause such services to be performed by appropriately licensed design professionals.

§ 2.2 The Architect shall perform its services consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily provided by 
architects practicing in the same or similar locality under the same or similar circumstances. The Architect shall 
perform its services as expeditiously as is consistent with such professional skill and care and the orderly progress of 
the Project.

§ 2.3 The Architect shall identify a representative authorized to act on behalf of the Architect with respect to the 
Project.

§ 2.4 Except with the Owner’s knowledge and consent, the Architect shall not engage in any activity, or accept any 
employment, interest or contribution that would reasonably appear to compromise the Architect’s professional 
judgment with respect to this Project.

§ 2.5 The Architect shall maintain the following insurance until termination of this Agreement. If any of the 
requirements set forth below are in addition to the types and limits the Architect normally maintains, the Owner shall 
pay the Architect as set forth in Section 11.9.

§ 2.5.1 Commercial General Liability with policy limits of not less than One Million  Dollars and Zero Cents
( $ 1,000,000.00 ) for each occurrence and Two Million  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 2,000,000.00 ) in the aggregate 
for bodily injury and property damage.

§ 2.5.2 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned, and non-owned vehicles used, by the Architect with policy 
limits of not less than One Million  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 1,000,000.00 ) per accident for bodily injury, death of 
any person, and property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance and use of those motor vehicles, along 
with any other statutorily required automobile coverage.

§ 2.5.3 Umbrella/Excess insurance with policy limits of not less than Three Million Dollars and Zero Cents 
( $3,000,000.00 ), written on a per occurrence basis.

§ 2.5.4 Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits.

§ 2.5.5 Employers’ Liability with policy limits not less than Five Hundred  Thousand  Dollars and Zero Cents
( $ 500,000.00 ) each accident, Five Hundred  Thousand  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 500,000.00 ) each employee, 
and Five Hundred  Thousand  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 500,000.00 ) policy limit.

216

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

6

§ 2.5.6 Professional Liability covering negligent acts, errors and omissions in the performance of professional
services with policy limits of not less than Two Million  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 2,000,000.00 ) per claim and
Two Million  Dollars and Zero Cents ( $ 2,000,000.00 ) in the aggregate.

§ 2.5.7 Additional Insured Obligations. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Architect shall cause the primary
and excess or umbrella polices for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability to include the Owner as
an additional insured for claims caused in whole or in part by the Architect’s negligent acts or omissions. The
additional insured coverage shall be primary and non-contributory to any of the Owner’s insurance policies and shall
apply to both ongoing and completed operations.

§ 2.5.8 The Architect shall provide certificates of insurance to the Owner that evidence compliance with the
requirements in this Section 2.5.

ARTICLE 3   SCOPE OF ARCHITECT’S BASIC SERVICES
§ 3.1 The Architect’s Basic Services consist of those described in this Article 3 and include usual and customary
structural, mechanical, and electrical engineering services. Services not set forth in this Article 3 are Supplemental
or Additional Services.

§ 3.1.1 The Architect shall manage the Architect’s services, research applicable design criteria, attend Project
meetings, communicate with members of the Project team, and report progress to the Owner.

§ 3.1.2 The Architect shall coordinate its services with those services provided by the Owner and the Owner’s
consultants. The Architect shall be entitled to rely on, and shall not be responsible for, the accuracy, completeness,
and timeliness of, services and information furnished by the Owner and the Owner’s consultants. The Architect shall
provide prompt written notice to the Owner if the Architect becomes aware of any error, omission, or inconsistency
in such services or information.

§ 3.1.3 As soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement, the Architect shall submit for the Owner’s approval a
general schedule for the project. The schedule initially shall include anticipated dates for the commencement of
construction and for Substantial Completion of the Work as set forth in the Initial Information.

§ 3.1.4 The Architect shall not be responsible for an Owner’s directive or substitution, or for the Owner’s acceptance
of non-conforming Work, made or given without the Architect’s written approval.

§ 3.1.5 The Architect shall contact governmental authorities required to approve the Construction Documents and
entities providing utility services to the Project. The Architect shall respond to applicable design requirements
imposed by those authorities and entities.

§ 3.1.6 The Architect shall assist the Owner in connection with the Owner’s responsibility for filing documents
required for the approval of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.

§ 3.2 Schematic Design Phase Services
§ 3.2.1 The Architect shall review the program and other information furnished by the Owner, and shall review laws,
codes, and regulations applicable to the Architect’s services.

§ 3.2.2 The Architect shall prepare a preliminary evaluation of the Owner’s program, schedule, budget for the Cost
of the Work, Project site, the proposed procurement and delivery method, and other Initial Information, each in
terms of the other, to ascertain the requirements of the Project. The Architect shall notify the Owner of (1) any
inconsistencies discovered in the information, and (2) other information or consulting services that may be
reasonably needed for the Project.

§ 3.2.3 The Architect shall present its preliminary evaluation to the Owner and shall discuss with the Owner
alternative approaches to design and construction of the Project. The Architect shall reach an understanding with the
Owner regarding the requirements of the Project.

§ 3.2.4 Based on the Project requirements agreed upon with the Owner, the Architect shall prepare and present, for
the Owner’s approval, a preliminary design illustrating the scale and relationship of the Project components.

217

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

7

§ 3.2.5 Based on the Owner’s approval of the preliminary design, the Architect shall prepare Schematic Design 
Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Schematic Design Documents shall consist of drawings and other 
documents including a site plan, if appropriate, and preliminary building plans, sections and elevations; and may 
include some combination of study models, perspective sketches, or digital representations. Preliminary selections 
of major building systems and construction materials shall be noted on the drawings or described in writing.

§ 3.2.5.1 The Architect shall consider sustainable design alternatives, such as material choices and building 
orientation, together with other considerations based on program and aesthetics, in developing a design that is 
consistent with the Owner’s program, schedule and budget for the Cost of the Work. The Owner may obtain more 
advanced sustainable design services as a Supplemental Service under Section 4.1.1.

§ 3.2.5.2 The Architect shall consider the value of alternative materials, building systems and equipment, together 
with other considerations based on program and aesthetics, in developing a design for the Project that is consistent 
with the Owner’s program, schedule, and budget for the Cost of the Work.

§ 3.2.6 The Architect shall submit to the Owner an estimate of the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with 
Section 6.3.

§ 3.2.7 The Architect shall submit the Schematic Design Documents to the Owner, and request the Owner’s 
approval.

§ 3.3 Design Development Phase Services
§ 3.3.1 Based on the Owner’s approval of the Schematic Design Documents, and on the Owner’s authorization of 
any adjustments in the Project requirements and the budget for the Cost of the Work, the Architect shall prepare 
Design Development Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Design Development Documents shall illustrate and 
describe the development of the approved Schematic Design Documents and shall consist of drawings and other 
documents including plans, sections, elevations, typical construction details, and diagrammatic layouts of building 
systems to fix and describe the size and character of the Project as to architectural, structural, mechanical and 
electrical systems, and other appropriate elements. The Design Development Documents shall also include outline 
specifications that identify major materials and systems and establish, in general, their quality levels.

§ 3.3.2 The Architect shall update the estimate of the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with Section 6.3.

§ 3.3.3 The Architect shall submit the Design Development Documents to the Owner, advise the Owner of any 
adjustments to the estimate of the Cost of the Work, and request the Owner’s approval.

§ 3.4 Construction Documents Phase Services
§ 3.4.1 Based on the Owner’s approval of the Design Development Documents, and on the Owner’s authorization of 
any adjustments in the Project requirements and the budget for the Cost of the Work, the Architect shall prepare 
Construction Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Construction Documents shall illustrate and describe the 
further development of the approved Design Development Documents and shall consist of Drawings and 
Specifications setting forth in detail the quality levels and performance criteria of materials and systems and other 
requirements for the construction of the Work. The Owner and Architect acknowledge that, in order to perform the 
Work, the Contractor will provide additional information, including Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and 
other similar submittals, which the Architect shall review in accordance with Section 3.6.4.

§ 3.4.2 The Architect shall incorporate the design requirements of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 
the Project into the Construction Documents.

§ 3.4.3 During the development of the Construction Documents, the Architect shall assist the Owner in the 
development and preparation of (1) procurement information that describes the time, place, and conditions of 
bidding, including bidding or proposal forms; (2) the form of agreement between the Owner and Contractor; and (3) 
the Conditions of the Contract for Construction (General, Supplementary and other Conditions). The Architect shall 
also compile a project manual that includes the Conditions of the Contract for Construction and Specifications, and 
may include bidding requirements and sample forms.

218

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

8

§ 3.4.4 The Architect shall update the estimate for the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with Section 6.3.

§ 3.4.5 The Architect shall submit the Construction Documents to the Owner, advise the Owner of any adjustments 
to the estimate of the Cost of the Work, take any action required under Section 6.5, and request the Owner’s 
approval.

§ 3.5 Procurement Phase Services
§ 3.5.1 General
The Architect shall assist the Owner in establishing a list of prospective contractors. Following the Owner’s 
approval of the Construction Documents, the Architect shall assist the Owner in (1) obtaining either competitive 
bids or negotiated proposals; (2) confirming responsiveness of bids or proposals; (3) determining the successful bid 
or proposal, if any; and, (4) awarding and preparing contracts for construction.

§ 3.5.2 Competitive Bidding
§ 3.5.2.1 Bidding Documents shall consist of bidding requirements and proposed Contract Documents.

§ 3.5.2.2 The Architect shall assist the Owner in bidding the Project by:
.1    facilitating the distribution of Bidding Documents to prospective bidders;
.2    organizing and conducting a pre-bid conference for prospective bidders;
.3    preparing responses to questions from prospective bidders and providing clarifications and 

interpretations of the Bidding Documents to the prospective bidders in the form of addenda; and,
.4    organizing and conducting the opening of the bids, and subsequently documenting and distributing the 

bidding results, as directed by the Owner.

§ 3.5.2.3 If the Bidding Documents permit substitutions, upon the Owner’s written authorization, the Architect shall, 
as an Additional Service, consider requests for substitutions and prepare and distribute addenda identifying approved 
substitutions to all prospective bidders.

§ 3.5.3 Negotiated Proposals
§ 3.5.3.1   Proposal Documents shall consist of proposal requirements and proposed Contract Documents.

§ 3.5.3.2 The Architect shall assist the Owner in obtaining proposals by:
.1    facilitating the distribution of Proposal Documents for distribution to prospective contractors and 

requesting their return upon completion of the negotiation process;
.2    organizing and participating in selection interviews with prospective contractors;
.3    preparing responses to questions from prospective contractors and providing clarifications and 

interpretations of the Proposal Documents to the prospective contractors in the form of addenda; and,
.4    participating in negotiations with prospective contractors, and subsequently preparing a summary 

report of the negotiation results, as directed by the Owner.

§ 3.5.3.3 If the Proposal Documents permit substitutions, upon the Owner’s written authorization, the Architect shall, 
as an Additional Service, consider requests for substitutions and prepare and distribute addenda identifying approved 
substitutions to all prospective contractors.

§ 3.6 Construction Phase Services
§ 3.6.1 General
§ 3.6.1.1 The Architect shall provide administration of the Contract between the Owner and the Contractor as set 
forth below and in AIA Document A201™–2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction. If the Owner 
and Contractor modify AIA Document A201–2017, those modifications shall not affect the Architect’s services 
under this Agreement unless the Owner and the Architect amend this Agreement.

§ 3.6.1.2 The Architect shall advise and consult with the Owner during the Construction Phase Services. The 
Architect shall have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in this Agreement. The 
Architect shall not have control over, charge of, or responsibility for the construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work, nor shall the 
Architect be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. The Architect shall be responsible for the Architect’s negligent acts or omissions, but shall not 

219

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

9

have control over or charge of, and shall not be responsible for, acts or omissions of the Contractor or of any other 
persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

§ 3.6.1.3  Subject to Section 4.2 and except as provided in Section 3.6.6.5, the Architect’s responsibility to provide 
Construction Phase Services commences with the award of the Contract for Construction and terminates on the date 
the Architect issues the final Certificate for Payment.

§ 3.6.2 Evaluations of the Work
§ 3.6.2.1 The Architect shall visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise 
required in Section 4.2.3, to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the Work 
completed, and to determine, in general, if the Work observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the 
Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. However, the Architect shall not 
be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. On 
the basis of the site visits, the Architect shall keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and quality of 
the portion of the Work completed, and promptly report to the Owner (1) known deviations from the Contract 
Documents, (2) known deviations from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (3) 
defects and deficiencies observed in the Work.

§ 3.6.2.2 The Architect has the authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever 
the Architect considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect shall have the authority to require inspection or 
testing of the Work in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents, whether or not the Work is 
fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith 
either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Architect to the 
Contractor, Subcontractors, suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or entities performing portions of 
the Work.

§ 3.6.2.3 The Architect shall interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the 
Contract Documents on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. The Architect’s response to such requests 
shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness.

§ 3.6.2.4  Interpretations and decisions of the Architect shall be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably inferable 
from, the Contract Documents and shall be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such interpretations 
and decisions, the Architect shall endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and Contractor, shall not 
show partiality to either, and shall not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith. The 
Architect’s decisions on matters relating to aesthetic effect shall be final if consistent with the intent expressed in the 
Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.2.5  Unless the Owner and Contractor designate another person to serve as an Initial Decision Maker, as that 
term is defined in AIA Document A201–2017, the Architect shall render initial decisions on Claims between the 
Owner and Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.3 Certificates for Payment to Contractor
§ 3.6.3.1 The Architect shall review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and shall issue certificates in such 
amounts. The Architect’s certification for payment shall constitute a representation to the Owner, based on the 
Architect’s evaluation of the Work as provided in Section 3.6.2 and on the data comprising the Contractor’s 
Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, the Work has 
progressed to the point indicated, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, and that the 
Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified. The foregoing representations are subject to (1) an 
evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents upon Substantial Completion, (2) results of 
subsequent tests and inspections, (3) correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to 
completion, and (4) specific qualifications expressed by the Architect.

§ 3.6.3.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment shall not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made 
exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from 
Subcontractors and suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor’s right to 

220

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

10

payment, or (4) ascertained how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid on account of 
the Contract Sum.

§ 3.6.3.3 The Architect shall maintain a record of the Applications and Certificates for Payment.

§ 3.6.4 Submittals
§ 3.6.4.1 The Architect shall review the Contractor’s submittal schedule and shall not unreasonably delay or withhold 
approval of the schedule. The Architect’s action in reviewing submittals shall be taken in accordance with the 
approved submittal schedule or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness while 
allowing sufficient time, in the Architect’s professional judgment, to permit adequate review.

§ 3.6.4.2 The Architect shall review and approve, or take other appropriate action upon, the Contractor’s submittals 
such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance 
with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Review of such submittals is 
not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other information such as dimensions, 
quantities, and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are the Contractor’s responsibility. The 
Architect’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures. The Architect’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of 
which the item is a component.

§ 3.6.4.3 If the Contract Documents specifically require the Contractor to provide professional design services or 
certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment, the Architect shall specify the 
appropriate performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Architect shall review and take 
appropriate action on Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by the 
Contractor’s design professional, provided the submittals bear such professional’s seal and signature when 
submitted to the Architect. The Architect’s review shall be for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect shall be entitled to 
rely upon, and shall not be responsible for, the adequacy and accuracy of the services, certifications, and approvals 
performed or provided by such design professionals.

§ 3.6.4.4 Subject to Section 4.2, the Architect shall review and respond to requests for information about the Contract 
Documents. The Architect shall set forth, in the Contract Documents, the requirements for requests for information. 
Requests for information shall include, at a minimum, a detailed written statement that indicates the specific 
Drawings or Specifications in need of clarification and the nature of the clarification requested. The Architect’s 
response to such requests shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon, or otherwise with reasonable 
promptness. If appropriate, the Architect shall prepare and issue supplemental Drawings and Specifications in 
response to the requests for information.

§ 3.6.4.5 The Architect shall maintain a record of submittals and copies of submittals supplied by the Contractor in 
accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.5 Changes in the Work
§ 3.6.5.1 The Architect may order minor changes in the Work that are consistent with the intent of the Contract 
Documents and do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Sum or an extension of the Contract Time. Subject to 
Section 4.2, the Architect shall prepare Change Orders and Construction Change Directives for the Owner’s 
approval and execution in accordance with the Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.5.2 The Architect shall maintain records relative to changes in the Work.

§ 3.6.6 Project Completion
§ 3.6.6.1 The Architect shall:

.1    conduct inspections to determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion and the date of final 
completion;

.2    issue Certificates of Substantial Completion;

.3    forward to the Owner, for the Owner’s review and records, written warranties and related documents 
required by the Contract Documents and received from the Contractor; and,

221

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

11

.4    issue a final Certificate for Payment based upon a final inspection indicating that, to the best of the 
Architect’s knowledge, information, and belief, the Work complies with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.6.2 The Architect’s inspections shall be conducted with the Owner to check conformance of the Work with the
requirements of the Contract Documents and to verify the accuracy and completeness of the list submitted by the
Contractor of Work to be completed or corrected.

§ 3.6.6.3 When Substantial Completion has been achieved, the Architect shall inform the Owner about the balance of
the Contract Sum remaining to be paid the Contractor, including the amount to be retained from the Contract Sum, if
any, for final completion or correction of the Work.

§ 3.6.6.4 The Architect shall forward to the Owner the following information received from the Contractor: (1)
consent of surety or sureties, if any, to reduction in or partial release of retainage or the making of final payment; (2)
affidavits, receipts, releases and waivers of liens, or bonds indemnifying the Owner against liens; and (3) any other
documentation required of the Contractor under the Contract Documents.

§ 3.6.6.5 Upon request of the Owner, and prior to the expiration of one year from the date of Substantial Completion,
the Architect shall, without additional compensation, conduct a meeting with the Owner to review the facility
operations and performance.

ARTICLE 4   SUPPLEMENTAL AND ADDITIONAL SERVICES
§ 4.1 Supplemental Services
§ 4.1.1 The services listed below are not included in Basic Services but may be required for the Project. The
Architect shall provide the listed Supplemental Services only if specifically designated in the table below as the
Architect’s responsibility, and the Owner shall compensate the Architect as provided in Section 11.2. Unless
otherwise specifically addressed in this Agreement, if neither the Owner nor the Architect is designated, the parties
agree that the listed Supplemental Service is not being provided for the Project.
(Designate the Architect’s Supplemental Services and the Owner’s Supplemental Services required for the Project
by indicating whether the Architect or Owner shall be responsible for providing the identified Supplemental Service.
Insert a description of the Supplemental Services in Section 4.1.2 below or attach the description of services as an
exhibit to this Agreement.)

Supplemental Services Responsibility
(Architect, Owner, or not provided)

§ 4.1.1.1    Programming   Architect – Review of Prior Program in Base 
Fee

§ 4.1.1.2    Multiple preliminary designs Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.3    Measured drawings Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.4    Existing facilities surveys Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.5    Site evaluation and planning Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.6    Building Information Model management
responsibilities

Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.1.7    Development of Building Information Models for
post construction use

Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.1.8    Civil engineering Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.9    Landscape design Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.10    Architectural interior design Architect - In Base Fee
§ 4.1.1.11    Value analysis Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.12    Detailed cost estimating beyond that     required
in Section 6.3

Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.1.13    On-site project representation Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.14    Conformed documents for construction Architect - Design in Base Fee

(printing excluded)

222

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

12

§ 4.1.1.15    As-designed record drawings Architect - Design in Base Fee
(printing excluded)

§ 4.1.1.16    As-constructed record drawings Architect – Design in Base Fee
(printing excluded)

§ 4.1.1.17    Post-occupancy evaluation Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.18    Facility support services Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.19    Tenant-related services Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.20    Architect’s coordination of the Owner’s
consultants

Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.1.21    Telecommunications/data design Architect - In Base Fee
§ 4.1.1.22    Security evaluation and planning Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.23    Commissioning Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.24    Sustainable Project Services pursuant to Section

4.1.3
Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.1.25    Fast-track design services Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.26    Multiple bid packages Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.27    Historic preservation Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.28    Furniture, furnishings, and equipment design Architect - In Base Fee
§ 4.1.1.29    Other services provided by specialty Consultants Not Provided - Additional Service
§ 4.1.1.30    Other Supplemental Services Not Provided - Additional Service

§ 4.1.2 Description of Supplemental Services
§ 4.1.2.1 A description of each Supplemental Service identified in Section 4.1.1 as the Architect’s responsibility is
provided below.
(Describe in detail the Architect’s Supplemental Services identified in Section 4.1.1 or, if set forth in an exhibit,
identify the exhibit. The AIA publishes a number of Standard Form of Architect’s Services documents that can be
included as an exhibit to describe the Architect’s Supplemental Services.)

See attached list of Supplemental Services. 

§ 4.1.2.2 A description of each Supplemental Service identified in Section 4.1.1 as the Owner’s responsibility is
provided below.
(Describe in detail the Owner’s Supplemental Services identified in Section 4.1.1 or, if set forth in an exhibit,
identify the exhibit.)

See attached list of Supplemental Services. 

§ 4.1.3 If the Owner identified a Sustainable Objective in Article 1, the Architect shall provide, as a Supplemental
Service, the Sustainability Services required in AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, attached
to this Agreement. The Owner shall compensate the Architect as provided in Section 11.2.

§ 4.2 Architect’s Additional Services
The Architect may provide Additional Services after execution of this Agreement without invalidating the
Agreement. Except for services required due to the fault of the Architect, any Additional Services provided in
accordance with this Section 4.2 shall entitle the Architect to compensation pursuant to Section 11.3 and an
appropriate adjustment in the Architect’s schedule.

§ 4.2.1 Upon recognizing the need to perform the following Additional Services, the Architect shall notify the Owner
with reasonable promptness and explain the facts and circumstances giving rise to the need. The Architect shall not
proceed to provide the following Additional Services until the Architect receives the Owner’s written authorization:

.1    Services necessitated by a change in the Initial Information, previous instructions or approvals given 
by the Owner, or a material change in the Project including size, quality, complexity, the Owner’s 
schedule or budget for Cost of the Work, or procurement or delivery method;

223

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

13

.2    Services necessitated by the enactment or revision of codes, laws, or regulations, including changing or 
editing previously prepared Instruments of Service;

.3    Changing or editing previously prepared Instruments of Service necessitated by official interpretations 
of applicable codes, laws or regulations that are either (a) contrary to specific interpretations by the 
applicable authorities having jurisdiction made prior to the issuance of the building permit, or (b) 
contrary to requirements of the Instruments of Service when those Instruments of Service were 
prepared in accordance with the applicable standard of care;

.4    Services necessitated by decisions of the Owner not rendered in a timely manner or any other failure of 
performance on the part of the Owner or the Owner’s consultants or contractors;

.5    Preparing digital models or other design documentation for transmission to the Owner’s consultants 
and contractors, or to other Owner-authorized recipients;

.6    Preparation of design and documentation for alternate bid or proposal requests proposed by the Owner;

.7    Preparation for, and attendance at, a public presentation, meeting or hearing;

.8    Preparation for, and attendance at, a dispute resolution proceeding or legal proceeding, except where 
the Architect is party thereto;

.9    Evaluation of the qualifications of entities providing bids or proposals;

.10    Consultation concerning replacement of Work resulting from fire or other cause during construction; 
or,

.11    Assistance to the Initial Decision Maker, if other than the Architect.

§ 4.2.2 To avoid delay in the Construction Phase, the Architect shall provide the following Additional Services,
notify the Owner with reasonable promptness, and explain the facts and circumstances giving rise to the need. If,
upon receipt of the Architect’s notice, the Owner determines that all or parts of the services are not required, the
Owner shall give prompt written notice to the Architect of the Owner’s determination. The Owner shall compensate
the Architect for the services provided prior to the Architect’s receipt of the Owner’s notice.

.1    Reviewing a Contractor’s submittal out of sequence from the submittal schedule approved by the 
Architect;

.2    Responding to the Contractor’s requests for information that are not prepared in accordance with the 
Contract Documents or where such information is available to the Contractor from a careful study 
and comparison of the Contract Documents, field conditions, other Owner-provided information, 
Contractor-prepared coordination drawings, or prior Project correspondence or documentation;

.3    Preparing Change Orders and Construction Change Directives that require evaluation of Contractor’s 
proposals and supporting data, or the preparation or revision of Instruments of Service;

.4    Evaluating an extensive number of Claims as the Initial Decision Maker; or,

.5    Evaluating substitutions proposed by the Owner or Contractor and making subsequent revisions to 
Instruments of Service resulting therefrom.

§ 4.2.3 The Architect shall provide Construction Phase Services exceeding the limits set forth below as Additional
Services. When the limits below are reached, the Architect shall notify the Owner:

.1    Two  ( 2  ) reviews of each Shop Drawing, Product Data item, sample and similar submittals of the 
Contractor

.2     One  ( 1  ) monthly visit to the site by the Architect during construction

.3    Two  ( 2  ) inspections for any portion of the Work to determine whether such portion of the Work is 
substantially complete in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents

.4     One  ( 1  ) inspection for any portion of the Work to determine final completion.

§ 4.2.4 Except for services required under Section 3.6.6.5 and those services that do not exceed the limits set forth in
Section 4.2.3, Construction Phase Services provided more than 60 days after (1) the date of Substantial Completion
of the Work or (2) the initial date of Substantial Completion identified in the agreement between the Owner and
Contractor, whichever is earlier, shall be compensated as Additional Services to the extent the Architect incurs
additional cost in providing those Construction Phase Services.

§ 4.2.5 If the services covered by this Agreement have not been completed within Thirty  ( 30  ) months of the date
of this Agreement, through no fault of the Architect, extension of the Architect’s services beyond that time shall be
compensated as Additional Services.

224

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

14

ARTICLE 5   OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
§ 5.1 Unless otherwise provided for under this Agreement, the Owner shall provide information in a timely manner 
regarding requirements for and limitations on the Project, including a written program, which shall set forth the 
Owner’s objectives; schedule; constraints and criteria, including space requirements and relationships; flexibility; 
expandability; special equipment; systems; and site requirements.

§ 5.2 The Owner shall establish the Owner’s budget for the Project, including (1) the budget for the Cost of the Work 
as defined in Section 6.1; (2) the Owner’s other costs; and, (3) reasonable contingencies related to all of these costs. 
The Owner shall update the Owner’s budget for the Project as necessary throughout the duration of the Project until 
final completion. If the Owner significantly increases or decreases the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work, the 
Owner shall notify the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall thereafter agree to a corresponding change in 
the Project’s scope and quality.

§ 5.3 The Owner shall identify a representative authorized to act on the Owner’s behalf with respect to the Project. 
The Owner shall render decisions and approve the Architect’s submittals in a timely manner in order to avoid 
unreasonable delay in the orderly and sequential progress of the Architect’s services.

§ 5.4 The Owner shall furnish surveys to describe physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for 
the site of the Project, and a written legal description of the site. The surveys and legal information shall include, as 
applicable, grades and lines of streets, alleys, pavements and adjoining property and structures; designated wetlands; 
adjacent drainage; rights-of-way, restrictions, easements, encroachments, zoning, deed restrictions, boundaries and 
contours of the site; locations, dimensions, and other necessary data with respect to existing buildings, other 
improvements and trees; and information concerning available utility services and lines, both public and private, 
above and below grade, including inverts and depths. All the information on the survey shall be referenced to a 
Project benchmark.

§ 5.5 The Owner shall furnish services of geotechnical engineers, which may include test borings, test pits, 
determinations of soil bearing values, percolation tests, evaluations of hazardous materials, seismic evaluation, 
ground corrosion tests and resistivity tests, including necessary operations for anticipating subsoil conditions, with 
written reports and appropriate recommendations.

§ 5.6 The Owner shall provide the Supplemental Services designated as the Owner’s responsibility in Section 4.1.1.

§ 5.7 If the Owner identified a Sustainable Objective in Article 1, the Owner shall fulfill its responsibilities as 
required in AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, attached to this Agreement.

§ 5.8 The Owner shall coordinate the services of its own consultants with those services provided by the Architect. 
Upon the Architect’s request, the Owner shall furnish copies of the scope of services in the contracts between the 
Owner and the Owner’s consultants. The Owner shall furnish the services of consultants other than those designated 
as the responsibility of the Architect in this Agreement, or authorize the Architect to furnish them as an Additional 
Service, when the Architect requests such services and demonstrates that they are reasonably required by the scope 
of the Project. The Owner shall require that its consultants and contractors maintain insurance, including 
professional liability insurance, as appropriate to the services or work provided.

§ 5.9 The Owner shall furnish tests, inspections and reports required by law or the Contract Documents, such as 
structural, mechanical, and chemical tests, tests for air and water pollution, and tests for hazardous materials.

§ 5.10 The Owner shall furnish all legal, insurance and accounting services, including auditing services, that may be 
reasonably necessary at any time for the Project to meet the Owner’s needs and interests.

§ 5.11 The Owner shall provide prompt written notice to the Architect if the Owner becomes aware of any fault or 
defect in the Project, including errors, omissions or inconsistencies in the Architect’s Instruments of Service.

§ 5.12 The Owner shall include the Architect in all communications with the Contractor that relate to or affect the 
Architect’s services or professional responsibilities. The Owner shall promptly notify the Architect of the substance 
of any direct communications between the Owner and the Contractor otherwise relating to the Project. 
Communications by and with the Architect’s consultants shall be through the Architect.

225

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

15

§ 5.13 Before executing the Contract for Construction, the Owner shall coordinate the Architect’s duties and 
responsibilities set forth in the Contract for Construction with the Architect’s services set forth in this Agreement. 
The Owner shall provide the Architect a copy of the executed agreement between the Owner and Contractor, 
including the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

§ 5.14 The Owner shall provide the Architect access to the Project site prior to commencement of the Work and shall 
obligate the Contractor to provide the Architect access to the Work wherever it is in preparation or progress.

§ 5.15 Within 15 days after receipt of a written request from the Architect, the Owner shall furnish the requested 
information as necessary and relevant for the Architect to evaluate, give notice of, or enforce lien rights.

ARTICLE 6   COST OF THE WORK
§ 6.1 For purposes of this Agreement, the Cost of the Work shall be the total cost to the Owner to construct all 
elements of the Project designed or specified by the Architect and shall include contractors’ general conditions costs, 
overhead and profit. The Cost of the Work also includes the reasonable value of labor, materials, and equipment, 
donated to, or otherwise furnished by, the Owner. The Cost of the Work does not include the compensation of the 
Architect; the costs of the land, rights-of-way, financing, or contingencies for changes in the Work; or other costs 
that are the responsibility of the Owner.

§ 6.2 The Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work is provided in Initial Information, and shall be adjusted 
throughout the Project as required under Sections 5.2, 6.4 and 6.5. Evaluations of the Owner’s budget for the Cost of 
the Work, and the preliminary estimate of the Cost of the Work and updated estimates of the Cost of the Work, 
prepared by the Architect, represent the Architect’s judgment as a design professional. It is recognized, however, 
that neither the Architect nor the Owner has control over the cost of labor, materials, or equipment; the Contractor’s 
methods of determining bid prices; or competitive bidding, market, or negotiating conditions. Accordingly, the 
Architect cannot and does not warrant or represent that bids or negotiated prices will not vary from the Owner’s 
budget for the Cost of the Work, or from any estimate of the Cost of the Work, or evaluation, prepared or agreed to 
by the Architect.

§ 6.3 In preparing estimates of the Cost of Work, the Architect shall be permitted to include contingencies for 
design, bidding, and price escalation; to determine what materials, equipment, component systems, and types of 
construction are to be included in the Contract Documents; to recommend reasonable adjustments in the program 
and scope of the Project; and to include design alternates as may be necessary to adjust the estimated Cost of the 
Work to meet the Owner’s budget. The Architect’s estimate of the Cost of the Work shall be based on current area, 
volume or similar conceptual estimating techniques. If the Owner requires a detailed estimate of the Cost of the 
Work, the Architect shall provide such an estimate, if identified as the Architect’s responsibility in Section 4.1.1, as 
a Supplemental Service.

§ 6.4 If, through no fault of the Architect, the Procurement Phase has not commenced within 90 days after the 
Architect submits the Construction Documents to the Owner, the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work shall be 
adjusted to reflect changes in the general level of prices in the applicable construction market.

§ 6.5 If at any time the Architect’s estimate of the Cost of the Work exceeds the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the 
Work, the Architect shall make appropriate recommendations to the Owner to adjust the Project’s size, quality, or 
budget for the Cost of the Work, and the Owner shall cooperate with the Architect in making such adjustments.

§ 6.6 If the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work at the conclusion of the Construction Documents Phase 
Services is exceeded by the lowest bona fide bid or negotiated proposal, the Owner shall

.1    give written approval of an increase in the budget for the Cost of the Work;

.2    authorize rebidding or renegotiating of the Project within a reasonable time;

.3    terminate in accordance with Section 9.5;

.4    in consultation with the Architect, revise the Project program, scope, or quality as required to reduce 
the Cost of the Work; or,

.5    implement any other mutually acceptable alternative.

226

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

16

§ 6.7 If the Owner chooses to proceed under Section 6.6.4, the Architect shall modify the Construction Documents as 
necessary to comply with the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work at the conclusion of the Construction 
Documents Phase Services, or the budget as adjusted under Section 6.6.1. If the Owner requires the Architect to 
modify the Construction Documents because the lowest bona fide bid or negotiated proposal exceeds the Owner’s 
budget for the Cost of the Work due to market conditions the Architect could not reasonably anticipate, the Owner 
shall compensate the Architect for the modifications as an Additional Service pursuant to Section 11.3; otherwise 
the Architect’s services for modifying the Construction Documents shall be without additional compensation. In any 
event, the Architect’s modification of the Construction Documents shall be the limit of the Architect’s responsibility 
under this Article 6.

ARTICLE 7   COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES
§ 7.1 The Architect and the Owner warrant that in transmitting Instruments of Service, or any other information, the 
transmitting party is the copyright owner of such information or has permission from the copyright owner to 
transmit such information for its use on the Project.

§ 7.2 The Architect and the Architect’s consultants shall be deemed the authors and owners of their respective 
Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and shall retain all common law, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including copyrights. Submission or distribution of Instruments of Service to meet official 
regulatory requirements or for similar purposes in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication 
in derogation of the reserved rights of the Architect and the Architect’s consultants.

§ 7.3 The Architect grants to the Owner a nonexclusive license to use the Architect’s Instruments of Service solely 
and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, maintaining, altering and adding to the Project, provided that the 
Owner substantially performs its obligations under this Agreement, including prompt payment of all sums due 
pursuant to Article 9 and Article 11. The Architect shall obtain similar nonexclusive licenses from the Architect’s 
consultants consistent with this Agreement. The license granted under this section permits the Owner to authorize 
the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and suppliers, as well as the Owner’s consultants and separate 
contractors, to reproduce applicable portions of the Instruments of Service, subject to any protocols established 
pursuant to Section 1.3, solely and exclusively for use in performing services or construction for the Project. If the 
Architect rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in Section 9.4, the license granted in this 
Section 7.3 shall terminate.

§ 7.3.1 In the event the Owner uses the Instruments of Service without retaining the authors of the Instruments of 
Service, the Owner releases the Architect and Architect’s consultant(s) from all claims and causes of action arising 
from such uses. The Owner, to the extent permitted by law, further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Architect and its consultants from all costs and expenses, including the cost of defense, related to claims and causes 
of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and expenses arise from the Owner’s use of 
the Instruments of Service under this Section 7.3.1. The terms of this Section 7.3.1 shall not apply if the Owner 
rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause under Section 9.4.

§ 7.4 Except for the licenses granted in this Article 7, no other license or right shall be deemed granted or implied 
under this Agreement. The Owner shall not assign, delegate, sublicense, pledge or otherwise transfer any license 
granted herein to another party without the prior written agreement of the Architect. Any unauthorized use of the 
Instruments of Service shall be at the Owner’s sole risk and without liability to the Architect and the Architect’s 
consultants.

§ 7.5 Except as otherwise stated in Section 7.3, the provisions of this Article 7 shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement.

ARTICLE 8   CLAIMS AND DISPUTES
§ 8.1 General
§ 8.1.1 The Owner and Architect shall commence all claims and causes of action against the other and arising out of 
or related to this Agreement, whether in contract, tort, or otherwise, in accordance with the requirements of the 
binding dispute resolution method selected in this Agreement and within the period specified by applicable law, but 
in any case not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and Architect 
waive all claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance with this Section 8.1.1.

227

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

17

§ 8.1.2 To the extent damages are covered by property insurance, the Owner and Architect waive all rights against 
each other and against the contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of the other for damages, except such 
rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance as set forth in AIA Document A201–2017, General 
Conditions of the Contract for Construction. The Owner or the Architect, as appropriate, shall require of the 
contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of any of them, similar waivers in favor of the other parties 
enumerated herein.

§ 8.1.3 Not withstanding any other provision of the Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, neither the
 Architect nor the Owner, their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, contractors or subconsultants shall 
be liable to the other or shall make any claim for incidental, indirect or consequential damages arising out of or 
connected in any way to the Project or to this Agreement. This mutual waiver of consequential damages shall 
include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation and any 
other consequential damages that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, 
strict liability, breach of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty, and is applicable, without limitation, to all 
consequential damages due to either party’s termination of this Agreement, except as specifically provided in 
Section 9.7.  Both the Owner and the Architect shall require similar waivers of consequential damages protecting all 
the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others involved in this Project.

§ 8.2 Mediation
§ 8.2.1 Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be subject to 
mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution. If such matter relates to or is the subject of a lien 
arising out of the Architect’s services, the Architect may proceed in accordance with applicable law to comply with 
the lien notice or filing deadlines prior to resolution of the matter by mediation or by binding dispute resolution.

§ 8.2.2 The Owner and Architect shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other matters in question between 
them by mediation, which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American 
Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of 
this Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to this Agreement, and 
filed with the person or entity administering the mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of 
a complaint or other appropriate demand for binding dispute resolution but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in 
advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days 
from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration 
proceeding is stayed pursuant to this section, the parties may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) 
and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.

§ 8.2.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place 
where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall 
be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 8.2.4 If the parties do not resolve a dispute through mediation pursuant to this Section 8.2, the method of binding 
dispute resolution shall be the following:
(Check the appropriate box.)

[    ]    Arbitration pursuant to Section 8.3 of this Agreement

[ X  ]    Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction

[    ]    Other: (Specify)

If the Owner and Architect do not select a method of binding dispute resolution, or do not subsequently agree in 
writing to a binding dispute resolution method other than litigation, the dispute will be resolved in a court of 
competent jurisdiction.

(Paragraphs Deleted)

228

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

18

ARTICLE 9   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION
§ 9.1 If the Owner fails to make payments to the Architect in accordance with this Agreement, such failure shall be
considered substantial nonperformance and cause for termination or, at the Architect’s option, cause for suspension
of performance of services under this Agreement. If the Architect elects to suspend services, the Architect shall give
seven days’ written notice to the Owner before suspending services. In the event of a suspension of services, the
Architect shall have no liability to the Owner for delay or damage caused the Owner because of such suspension of
services. Before resuming services, the Owner shall pay the Architect all sums due prior to suspension and any
expenses incurred in the interruption and resumption of the Architect’s services. The Architect’s fees for the
remaining services and the time schedules shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 9.2 If the Owner suspends the Project, the Architect shall be compensated for services performed prior to notice of
such suspension. When the Project is resumed, the Architect shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the
interruption and resumption of the Architect’s services. The Architect’s fees for the remaining services and the time
schedules shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 9.3 If the Owner suspends the Project for more than 90 cumulative days for reasons other than the fault of the
Architect, the Architect may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than seven days’ written notice.

§ 9.4 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice should the other party
fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party initiating
the termination.

§ 9.5 The Owner may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice to the Architect for the
Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 9.6 If the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience pursuant to Section 9.5, or the Architect terminates
this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect for services performed prior to
termination, Reimbursable Expenses incurred, and costs attributable to termination, including the costs attributable
to the Architect’s termination of consultant agreements.

§ 9.7 In addition to any amounts paid under Section 9.6, if the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience
pursuant to Section 9.5, or the Architect terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.3, the Owner shall pay to
the Architect the following fees:
(Set forth below the amount of any termination or licensing fee, or the method for determining any termination or
licensing fee.)

.1    Termination Fee:

Termination expenses are in addition to compensation for the Architect's services and include expenses 
directly attributable to termination for which the Architect is not otherwise compensated. 

.2    Licensing Fee if the Owner intends to continue using the Architect’s Instruments of Service:

Licensing fee is calculated by combining Schematic Design, Design Development and Construction 
Document fees (SD-CD fee) per Sections 11.1 and 11.5 with an additional fee of fifteen percent 
( 15% ) of this SD-CD fee for continued use of the Architect’s Instruments of Service for the sole
use of completing only this Project. Architect’s Instruments of Service may not be used for any other 
project. 

§ 9.8 Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall terminate one year from the date of
Substantial Completion.

§ 9.9 The Owner’s rights to use the Architect’s Instruments of Service in the event of a termination of this
Agreement are set forth in Article 7 and Section 9.7.

229

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

19

ARTICLE 10   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 10.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located, excluding that
jurisdiction’s choice of law rules. If the parties have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution,
the Federal Arbitration Act shall govern Section 8.3.

§ 10.2 Terms in this Agreement shall have the same meaning as those in AIA Document A201–2017, General
Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

§ 10.3 The Owner and Architect, respectively, bind themselves, their agents, successors, assigns, and legal
representatives to this Agreement. Neither the Owner nor the Architect shall assign this Agreement without the
written consent of the other, except that the Owner may assign this Agreement to a lender providing financing for
the Project if the lender agrees to assume the Owner’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, including any
payments due to the Architect by the Owner prior to the assignment.

§ 10.4 If the Owner requests the Architect to execute certificates, the proposed language of such certificates shall be
submitted to the Architect for review at least 14 days prior to the requested dates of execution. If the Owner requests
the Architect to execute consents reasonably required to facilitate assignment to a lender, the Architect shall execute
all such consents that are consistent with this Agreement, provided the proposed consent is submitted to the
Architect for review at least 14 days prior to execution. The Architect shall not be required to execute certificates or
consents that would require knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this Agreement.

§ 10.5 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor
of, a third party against either the Owner or Architect. The Architect's services under this Agreement are being
performed solely for the Client's benefit, and no other party or entity shall have any claim against the Architect
because of this Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of services hereunder.

§ 10.6 Unless otherwise required in this Agreement, the Architect shall have no responsibility for the discovery,
presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any
form at the Project site.

§ 10.7 The Architect shall have the right to include photographic or artistic representations of the design of the
Project among the Architect’s promotional and professional materials. The Architect shall be given reasonable
access to the completed Project to make such representations. However, the Architect’s materials shall not include
the Owner’s confidential or proprietary information if the Owner has previously advised the Architect in writing of
the specific information considered by the Owner to be confidential or proprietary. The Owner shall provide
professional credit for the Architect in the Owner’s promotional materials for the Project. This Section 10.7 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement unless the Owner terminates this Agreement for cause pursuant to Section
9.4.

§ 10.8 If the Architect or Owner receives information specifically designated as “confidential” or “business
proprietary,” the receiving party shall keep such information strictly confidential and shall not disclose it to any
other person except as set forth in Section 10.8.1. This Section 10.8 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

§ 10.8.1 The receiving party may disclose “confidential” or “business proprietary” information after 7 days’ notice to
the other party, when required by law, arbitrator’s order, or court order, including a subpoena or other form of
compulsory legal process issued by a court or governmental entity, or to the extent such information is reasonably
necessary for the receiving party to defend itself in any dispute. The receiving party may also disclose such
information to its employees, consultants, or contractors in order to perform services or work solely and exclusively
for the Project, provided those employees, consultants and contractors are subject to the restrictions on the
disclosure and use of such information as set forth in this Section 10.8.

§ 10.9 The invalidity of any provision of the Agreement shall not invalidate the Agreement or its remaining
provisions. If it is determined that any provision of the Agreement violates any law, or is otherwise invalid or
unenforceable, then that provision shall be revised to the extent necessary to make that provision legal and
enforceable. In such case the Agreement shall be construed, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to give effect to
the parties’ intentions and purposes in executing the Agreement.

230

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

20

ARTICLE 11   COMPENSATION
§ 11.1 For the Architect’s Basic Services described under Article 3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect as
follows:

.1    Stipulated Sum
  (Insert amount)

 Fee to complete the scope of work outlined in our proposal dated February 1, 2021, at the estimated 
construction value of $3,600,000-$4,000,000, is fixed at $292,500.

If the budget for the constructed value increases above $4,000,000 and the City approves the estimate, our 
fee will be adjusted to 7.5% of the approved estimate.

(Paragraphs Deleted)

§ 11.2 For the Architect’s Supplemental Services designated in Section 4.1.1 and for any Sustainability Services
required pursuant to Section 4.1.3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect as follows:
(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation. If necessary, list specific services to which particular methods of
compensation apply.)

Hourly per the schedule listed in 11.7 

§ 11.3 For Additional Services that may arise during the course of the Project, including those under Section 4.2, the
Owner shall compensate the Architect as follows:
(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation.)

Hourly per the schedule listed in 11.7 

§ 11.4 Compensation for Supplemental and Additional Services of the Architect’s consultants when not included in 
Section 11.2 or 11.3, shall be the amount invoiced to the Architect plus Zero percent ( 0% ) mark-up.
(Insert amount of, or basis for computing, Architect’s consultants’ compensation for Supplemental or Additional 
Services.)

§ 11.5 When compensation for Basic Services is based on a stipulated sum or a percentage basis, the proportion of 
compensation for each phase of services shall be as follows:

Schematic Design Twenty percent  ( 20 %)
Design Development Twenty-Five percent  ( 25 %)
Construction Documents Thirty percent  ( 30 %)
Procurement Five percent  ( 5   %)
Construction Twenty percent  ( 20 %)
Total Basic Compensation One Hundred percent  ( 100 %)

§ 11.6 When compensation identified in Section 11.1 is on a percentage basis, progress payments for each phase of
Basic Services shall be calculated by multiplying the percentages identified in this Article by the Owner’s most
recent budget for the Cost of the Work. Compensation paid in previous progress payments shall not be adjusted
based on subsequent updates to the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work.

§ 11.6.1 When compensation is on a percentage basis and any portions of the Project are deleted or otherwise not
constructed, compensation for those portions of the Project shall be payable to the extent services are performed on
those portions. The Architect shall be entitled to compensation in accordance with this Agreement for all services
performed whether or not the Construction Phase is commenced.

231

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

21

§ 11.7 The hourly billing rates for services of the Architect and the Architect’s consultants are set forth below. The
rates shall be adjusted in accordance with the Architect’s and Architect’s consultants’ normal review practices.
(If applicable, attach an exhibit of hourly billing rates or insert them below.)

EMERGENT ARCHITECTURE HOURLY RATE TABLE:  

Employee or Category Rate ($0.00)
PRINCIPAL
DIRECTOR
LICENSED ARCHITECT
NON-REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL
INTERN / TECHNICIAN
ADMINISTRATIVE 

$175.00
$135.00
$110.00
$  85.00
$  65.00
$  65.00

§ 11.8 Compensation for Reimbursable Expenses
§ 11.8.1 Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to compensation for Basic, Supplemental, and Additional Services
and include expenses incurred by the Architect and the Architect’s consultants directly related to the Project, as
follows:

.1    Transportation and authorized out-of-town travel and subsistence;

.2    Long distance services, dedicated data and communication services, teleconferences, Project web sites, 
and extranets;

.3    Permitting and other fees ( i.e. state or local plan review, code review and/or cost analysis) required by 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Project;

.4    Site, boundary and/or topographic surveys, site-related studies, soil borings or other geotechnical cost; 

.5    Digital uploading, printing, reproductions, plots, and standard form documents;

.6    Postage, handling, and delivery;

.7    Expense of overtime work requiring higher than regular rates, if authorized in advance by the Owner;

.8    Renderings, physical models, mock-ups, professional photography, and presentation materials 
requested by the Owner or required for the Project;

.9    If required by the Owner, and with the Owner’s prior written approval, the Architect’s consultants’ 
expenses of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project, or the expense of 
additional insurance coverage or limits in excess of that normally maintained by the Architect’s 
consultants;

.10    All taxes levied on professional services and on reimbursable expenses;

.11    Site office expenses;

.12    Registration fees and any other fees charged by the Certifying Authority or by other entities as 
necessary to achieve the Sustainable Objective; and,

.13    Other similar Project-related expenditures.

§ 11.8.2 For Reimbursable Expenses the compensation shall be the expenses incurred by the Architect and the 
Architect’s consultants plus Zero percent ( 0% ) mark-up on the expenses incurred.

§ 11.9 Architect’s Insurance. If the types and limits of coverage required in Section 2.5 are in addition to the types 
and limits the Architect normally maintains, the Owner shall pay the Architect for the additional costs incurred by 
the Architect for the additional coverages as set forth below:
(Insert the additional coverages the Architect is required to obtain in order to satisfy the requirements set forth in 
Section 2.5, and for which the Owner shall reimburse the Architect.)

The total cost of additional insurance requested as quoted by current insurance carrier. 

§ 11.10 Payments to the Architect
§ 11.10.1 Initial Payments
§ 11.10.1.1 An initial payment of Zero Dollars  ($ 0.00  ) shall be made upon execution of this Agreement and is the
minimum payment under this Agreement. It shall be credited to the Owner’s account in the final invoice.

232

Item 24.



Init.

/

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document 
was produced by AIA software at 16:21:29 CT on 02/22/2021 under Order No.5063264438 which expires on 09/03/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-
time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail 
copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA3D)

22

§ 11.10.1.2 If a Sustainability Certification is part of the Sustainable Objective, an initial payment to the Architect of
Zero Dollars  ($ 0.00  ) shall be made upon execution of this Agreement for registration fees and other fees payable
to the Certifying Authority and necessary to achieve the Sustainability Certification. The Architect’s payments to the
Certifying Authority shall be credited to the Owner’s account at the time the expense is incurred.

§ 11.10.2 Progress Payments
§ 11.10.2.1 Unless otherwise agreed, payments for services shall be made monthly in proportion to services 
performed. Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Architect’s invoice. Amounts unpaid Forty-Five 
( 45 ) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal 
rate prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Architect.
(Insert rate of monthly or annual interest agreed upon.)

5%  per annum 

§ 11.10.2.2 The Owner shall not withhold amounts from the Architect’s compensation to impose a penalty or
liquidated damages on the Architect, or to offset sums requested by or paid to contractors for the cost of changes in
the Work, unless the Architect agrees or has been found liable for the amounts in a binding dispute resolution
proceeding.

§ 11.10.2.3 Records of Reimbursable Expenses, expenses pertaining to Supplemental and Additional Services, and
services performed on the basis of hourly rates shall be available to the Owner at mutually convenient times.

ARTICLE 12   SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Special terms and conditions that modify this Agreement are as follows:
(Include other terms and conditions applicable to this Agreement.)

To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Client agrees to limit the Architect's liability for the Client's damages 
to the Architect's fee. This limitation shall apply regardless of the cause of action or legal theory pled or asserted. 

ARTICLE 13   SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT
§ 13.1 This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Owner and the Architect and
supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. This Agreement may be
amended only by written instrument signed by both the Owner and Architect.

§ 13.2 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents identified below:
.1    AIA Document B101™–2017, Standard Form Agreement Between Owner and Architect 

.2   Exhibit A – Supplemental Services

(Paragraphs Deleted)

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.

OWNER (Signature) ARCHITECT (Signature)

Robert M. Green, Mayor John Jess Lizer, Principal Architect
(Printed name and title) (Printed name, title, and license number, if required)

233

Item 24.



EXHIBIT A 

200 State St - Ste 103 | Cedar Falls, IA 50613 | 319.529.3945 
               www.emergentarch.com 

1 | 3 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES 

 

4.1.1.1  Programming 

The thorough and systematic evaluation of the interrelated values, goals, facts and needs of a client, 
organization, individual users, and the surrounding community. 
  

4.1.1.2  Multiple preliminary designs 

Providing multiple, separate design schemes to illustrate variations that could be incorporated into the final 

design. 
  

4.1.1.3  Measured drawings 

Onsite measuring of a building or buildings for future renovation or as historic documentation, in absence of a 

reasonable set of building drawings, or if significant changes have been made to the building without updated 
architectural drawings. 

  

4.1.1.4  Existing facilities surveys 

Touring the existing building for purposes of:  

• determining its compliance to current codes 

• determining its structural integrity for future use 

• determining the condition of systems and materials 

• determining adequacy for renovation and/or expansion 

• survey of furniture and equipment 

At the completion of the survey, provide a report to the owner concerning these items. 

  

4.1.1.5  Site evaluation and planning 

Services to assist in site selection for a project, which may include analysis of the client’s program and 

alternative sites, site utilization studies, and other analysis, such as planning and zoning requirements, site 

context, historic resources, utilities, environmental impact, and parking and circulation. 

  

4.1.1.6  Building Information Model management responsibilities 

Management of the Model, including the model origin point, file formats, storage location, naming 

conventions, coordination of aggregating model files, access rights, security, etc.   
  

4.1.1.7  Development of Building Information Models for post construction use 

Providing a Model of the final project to the Client for future use such as future remodeling, energy 

management, maintenance management, etc. 
  

4.1.1.8  Civil engineering 

The services to plan, design and oversee the physical and naturally built environment, including works such 
as roads, bridges, canals, dams, airports, sewerage systems, pipelines, and railways. 

234

Item 24.

http://www.emergentarch.com/


 

200 State St - Ste 103 | Cedar Falls, IA 50613 | 319.529.3945 
               www.emergentarch.com 

 2 | 3 

4.1.1.9  Landscape design 

The services to plan, design, manage, and nurture the built and natural environments, including works such 
as parks, campuses, streetscapes, trails, plazas, and other projects that help define a “community”. 

   

4.1.1.10  Architectural interior design 

The services to plan and design how the interior of a building can meet the needs of the people who use them 
and identify all aspects of the interior spaces, such as doors, windows, walls, and other aesthetic features. 

  

4.1.1.11  Value analysis 

Technique used to identify the least costly combination of materials or components required to construct the 
building as designed, without any reduction in quality. 

  

4.1.1.12  Detailed cost estimating beyond that required in Section 6.3 

A detailed analysis of costs of construction beyond that which is included in the basic contract.  This detailed 

estimate would break the project down by categories and provide a complete analysis of construction cost.   
  

4.1.1.13  On-site project representation  

A full-time person on the job site on all working days in addition to the contractors’ representatives.   

  

4.1.1.14  Conformed documents for construction 

Construction Documents modified to include any addenda issued during the bidding or negotiation process. 

  

4.1.1.15  As-designed record drawings  

The record of everything the Architect designed for the Project, and include the original Construction 

Documents plus all addenda, Architect’s Supplemental Instructions, Change Orders, Construction Change 

Directives and minor changes in the work. 

  

4.1.1.16  As-constructed record drawings 

The record of the Project as constructed based on information the Contractor provides to the Owner under 

the contract for construction. Because the As-constructed Record Drawings will be based on the Contractor’s 
mark-ups, the Architect is not responsible for the accuracy or completeness of the As-constructed Record 
Drawings. 

  

4.1.1.17  Post-occupancy evaluation 

A survey of the building and monitor of the performance of its systems and materials after they have been in 
use for a pre-determined time frame. 

  

4.1.1.18  Facility support services 

Providing the client with means and measures to ensure the proper function and maintenance of the building 
and site after project completion. 
  

4.1.1.19  Tenant-related services 

Assisting prospective and signed tenants in the design of the build-out of their particular spaces. 

235

Item 24.

http://www.emergentarch.com/


 

200 State St - Ste 103 | Cedar Falls, IA 50613 | 319.529.3945 
               www.emergentarch.com 

 3 | 3 

4.1.1.20  Architect’s coordination of the Owner’s consultants 

If the owner is providing certain consultants for the project that are not part of the architect’s services, 
additional work will be required to coordinate the work of the consultants. 

  

4.1.1.21  Telecommunications/data design 

Design of structured cabling solutions for voice, data, video and other low voltage needs. 
  

4.1.1.22  Security evaluation and planning 

Developing plans for security operations, using both hardware and software, for use by the owner in providing 
on-going security to the building and its occupants. 
  

4.1.1.23  Commissioning 

At the completion of the project’s construction, a practice that involves a formal review of all parts of a 
building's systems to ensure that the project meets (and will continue to meet) certain energy objectives. 

  

4.1.1.24  Sustainable Project Services pursuant to Section 4.1.3 

Services beyond those detailed in this contract for investigating products and processes for their use in this 
building, specifically based on specified criteria for sustainability.   

  

4.1.1.25  Fast-track design services 

If the Owner determines that construction of the building will be accelerated, requiring construction 

documents to be issued in stages. 

  

4.1.1.26  Multiple bid packages 

Breaking the components of the project into specified disciplines and bidding each discipline separately, 

therefore, eliminating the coordination work of a general contractor. 

  

4.1.1.27  Historic Preservation 
Working with the appropriate agencies in either seeking preservation status for a building, or in working on 

the renovation of a building that is currently listed by the National Trust for Historic Preservation.   
  

4.1.1.28    Furniture, furnishings, and equipment design 

Work with the owner, owner’s representative(s) and employees to determine furniture, furnishing and 

equipment desired for the Project, including design, budget, bid procurement, installation and construction 

administration. 
  

4.1.1.29  Other services provided by specialty Consultants 

TBD base on the specialty Consultant. 

   

4.1.1.30  Other Supplemental Services 
TBD base on the supplemental services. 

236

Item 24.

http://www.emergentarch.com/


SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

220 Clay Street

dbeltz

1-800-300-0325

37885

Holmes Murphy & Assoc - CR

09/20/21

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

DPR9966159

City Hall
City of Cedar Falls

02/16/2021

61431823

61431823

Risk Management Office

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

USA

(Claims-Made Policy)

Professional LiabilityA 09/20/20

2,000,000

2,000,000

200 State Street, Suite 103

The Professional Liability policy contains a Material Changes Endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.
Project: City Hall Remodel

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Emergent Architecture, PLC

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Aggregate

Per Claim

237

Item 24.



ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSD WVD

PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER A :

INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EFF POLICY EXP

TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTEDCLAIMS-MADE OCCUR $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $
PRO-POLICY LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGGJECT 

OTHER: $
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

$(Ea accident)

ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
OWNED SCHEDULED

BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS

HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE
$AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)

$

OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

DED RETENTION $

PER OTH-
STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMITDESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

Y / N

N / A
(Mandatory in NH)

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION    DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.    NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY  REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION  OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,  THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.    THIS  CERTIFICATE  OF  INSURANCE  DOES  NOT  CONSTITUTE  A  CONTRACT  BETWEEN  THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:    If  the  certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If  SUBROGATION  IS  WAIVED,  subject  to  the  terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

$

$

$

$

$

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

2/25/2021

(319) 352-2880

15350

Emergent Architecture, PLC
200 State Street Suite 103
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

A 1,000,000

X X A385793 11/30/2020 11/30/2021 300,000

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

1,000,000A

A385793 11/30/2020 11/30/2021

3,000,000A
A385793 11/30/2020 11/30/2021 3,000,000

3,000,000

A

X A385806 11/30/2020 11/30/2021 500,000

500,000

500,000

Project: City of Cedar Falls, City Hall Remodel.

Certificate Holder is an Additional Insured on the above General Liability Policy on a Primary & Non Contributory Basis including Completed Operations per 
attached form: BP0450
Waiver of Subrogation applies in favor of the Certificate Holder on the above General Liability Policy per attached form: BP0497
Governmental Immunities Apples in Favor of the Certificate Holder per attached form: WB1882.
Waiver of Subrogation applies in favor of the Certificate Holder on the above Workers Compensaiton policy per attached form: WC000313. 
30 Days Notice of Cancellation apples in favor of the Certificate Holder on the above Liability Policy

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

EMERARC-01 MKUKER

The Accel Group LLC
301 Oak Ridge Circle
Waverly, IA 50677

Tony Pollastrini

certs@acceladvantage.com

West Bend Mutual Insurance Co.

X

X
X

X
X
X

X X

238

Item 24.



POLICY NUMBER: BUSINESSOWNERS
BP 04 50 Y 07 13

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY. 

West Bend Mutual Insurance Company
West Bend, Wisconsin 53095 

Contains material copyrighted by ISO, with its permission. 
BP 04 50 Y 07 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 1 of 2

ADDITIONAL INSURED – OWNERS, LESSEES 
 OR CONTRACTORS – SCHEDULED PERSON 

 OR ORGANIZATION 

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

BUSINESSOWNERS COVERAGE FORM 

SCHEDULE

Name Of Additional Insured 
Person(s) Or Organization(s) Location(s) Of Covered Operations 

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations.

Section II – Liability is amended as follows: 

A. The following is added to Paragraph C. Who Is An
Insured:

3. Any person(s) or organization(s) shown in the
Schedule is also an additional insured, but only
with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "prop-
erty damage" or "personal and advertising inju-
ry" caused, in whole or in part, by:

a. Your acts or omissions; or

b. The acts or omissions of those acting on
your behalf;

in the performance of your ongoing operations 
for the additional insured(s) at the location(s) 
designated above.

However: 

a. The insurance afforded to such additional
insured only applies to the extent permitted
by law; and

b. If coverage provided to the additional in-
sured is required by a contract or agree-
ment, the insurance afforded to such addi-
tional insured will not be broader than that
which you are required by the contract or
agreement to provide for such additional in-
sured.

If the name of the person or organization stat-
ed above includes any architect, engineer or 
surveyor, the following applies: 

The insurance with respect to such architects, 
engineers, or surveyors does not apply to 
"bodily injury," "property damage", or "personal 
and advertising injury" arising out of the ren-
dering of or the failure to render any profes-
sional services by or for you, including: 

a. The preparing, approving, or failing to pre-
pare or approve maps, drawings, opinions,
reports, surveys, change orders, designs or
specifications; and

b. Supervisory, inspection, or engineering
services.

B. With respect to the insurance afforded to these
additional insureds, the following additional exclu-
sions apply:

This insurance does not apply to "bodily injury" or
"property damage" occurring after:

1. All work, including materials, parts or equip-
ment furnished in connection with such work,
on the project (other than service, maintenance
or repairs) to be performed by or on behalf of
the additional insured(s) at the location of the
covered operations has been completed; or

2. That portion of "your work" out of which the
injury or damage arises has been put to its in-
tended use by any person or organization oth-
er than another contractor or subcontractor
engaged in performing operations for a princi-
pal as a part of the same project.

City Of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

239

Item 24.



West Bend Mutual Insurance Company
West Bend, Wisconsin 53095 

Contains material copyrighted by ISO, with its permission. 
Page 2 of 2 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 BP 04 50 Y 07 13

C. With respect to the insurance afforded to these 
insureds, the following is added to Paragraph D.
Liability and Medical Expenses Limits of Insur-
ance:

If coverage provided to the additional insured is 
required by a contract or agreement, the most we 
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the 
amount of insurance; 

1. Required by the contract or agreement; or 

2. Available under the applicable Limits of Insur-
ance shown in the Declarations;

whichever is less. 

This endorsement shall not increase the applica-
ble Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations. 

If a written contract between you and the additional 
insured specifically requires that this insurance be 
primary, then the insurance afforded by this en-
dorsement is primary insurance and we will not seek 
contribution from any other insurance available to the 
additional insured named in this schedule unless the 
other insurance is provided by a contractor other than 
the named insured. Then we will share with that other 
insurance by the method described below. 

If all of the other insurance permits contribution by 
equal shares, we will follow this method also. Under 
this approach each insurer contributes equal amounts 
until it has paid its applicable limit of insurance or 
none of the loss remains, whichever comes first. 

If any of the other insurance does not permit contribu-
tion by equal shares, we will contribute by limits. Un-
der this method, each insurer's share is based on the 
ratio of its applicable limit of insurance to the total 
applicable limits of insurance of all insurers. 

If no contract between you and the additional insured 
requires that this insurance be primary, then the cov-
erage granted to the additional insured under this 
endorsement shall be excess over any other valid and 
collectible insurance. 

240

Item 24.



THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY. 

BP 04 97 01 06 © ISO Properties, Inc.,  2004 Page 1 of 1

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF RECOVERY 
 AGAINST OTHERS TO US 

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

BUSINESSOWNERS COVERAGE FORM 

SCHEDULE

Name Of Person Or Organization:

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations. 

Paragraph K. Transfer Of Rights Of Recovery 
Against Others To Us in Section III – Common 
Policy Conditions is amended by the addition of the 
following:

We waive any right of recovery we may have against 
the person or organization shown in the Schedule 
above because of payments we make for injury or 
damage arising out of your ongoing operations or 
"your work" done under a contract with that person or 
organization and included in the "products-completed 
operations hazard". This waiver applies only to the 
person or organization shown in the Schedule above.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

241

Item 24.



THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY. 

WB 1882 04 08 West Bend Mutual Insurance Company
West Bend, Wisconsin 53095

Page 1 of 1

IOWA GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT
This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE COVERAGE PART 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART 

SCHEDULE

Name of Governmental Jurisdiction(s):

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations.

Nonwaiver of Governmental Immunity 
We expressly agree and state that the purchase of 
this policy and including the governmental jurisdic-
tion(s) shown in the schedule as an additional in-
sured does not wave any of the defenses of gov-
ernmental immunity available to the jurisdiction(s) 
under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and it may be amended from time to time. 
Claims Coverage 
We further agree that this policy shall cover only 
those claims not subject to the defense of govern-
mental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 
670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended 
from time to time. 
Assertion of Government Immunity 
The governmental jurisdiction(s) shown in the 
schedule shall be responsible for asserting any 
defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written 
request of us.  Nothing contained in this endorse-
ment shall prevent us from asserting the defense of 
governmental immunity on behalf of the governmen-
tal jurisdiction(s) shown in the schedule. 

Non-Denial of Coverage 
We shall not deny coverage under this policy and we 
shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing 
to the governmental jurisdiction(s) shown in the 
schedule under this policy for reasons of govern-
mental immunity unless and until a court competent 
jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of 
governmental immunity asserted by the governmen-
tal jurisdiction(s) shown in the schedule. 
No Other Change in Policy 
We and the governmental jurisdiction(s) shown in 
the schedule agree that the above preservation of 
governmental immunities shall not otherwise change 
or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 5613

242

Item 24.



243

Item 24.



THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY. 

West Bend Mutual Insurance Company 
West Bend, Wisconsin 53095 

Contains material copyrighted by ISO with its permission 
WB 213 12 10 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2006 Page 1 of 1

EARLIER NOTICE OF 
CANCELLATION AND/OR NONRENEWAL 

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

BUSINESSOWNERS COVERAGE PART 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART 
COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE COVERAGE PART 
COMMERCIAL LIABILITY UMBRELLA COVERAGE PART 
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART 
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY COVERAGE PART 

Notice of Cancellation and/or Nonrenewal to other Person(s) or Organization(s) 

SCHEDULE 

Name of Person(s) or Organization(s): 

Notice of Cancellation Other Than Nonpayment Number of Days Notice 

Notice of Cancellation Nonpayment of Premium Number of Days Notice 

Notice of Nonrenewal Number of Days Notice 

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations. 

As indicated in the Schedule above, we will mail or 
deliver written Notice of Cancellation for a statutorily 
permitted reason and/or Notice of Nonrenewal to the 
person(s) or organization(s) shown. 

Unless a specified number of Days Notice is shown 
above, the Notice of Cancellation and/or Notice of 
Nonrenewal does not apply. 

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

  30

   30

30

244

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: February 23, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Agreement for Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO)  
  with City of Waterloo and Habitat for Humanity 
 
 
In 1998, the City of Cedar Falls and the City of Waterloo entered into a HOME 
Investment Partnership Program Consortium Cooperation Agreement. It has been 
jointly extended for subsequent three-year terms since 2001.  HUD requires at least 
15% of HOME funds be set aside for specific activities to be undertaken by a special 
type of nonprofit called a Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO). A 
CHDO is a private nonprofit, community-based organization that has staff with the 
capacity to develop affordable housing for the community it serves. In order to qualify 
for designation as a CHDO, the organization must meet certain requirements pertaining 
to their legal status, organizational structure, and capacity and experience.  Habitat for 
Humanity is the designated CHDO. 
 
In federal fiscal year 2020, the HOME consortium award was $486,672.  10% ($48,667) 
of the total award is allocated to the City of Waterloo as the lead entity for many of the 
administrative purposes of the grant.  15% ($73,000) is allocated to a CHDO.  The 
remainder of an annual award is split following HUD criteria: 72% Waterloo ($262,804), 
28% Cedar Falls ($102,201).  
 
In the past, Cedar Falls utilized much of its HOME funds to work with Habitat for 
Humanity to purchase lots and build homes.  However for the past six years, we have 
not been able to do so mostly due to the annual allocation we were receiving being fairly 
small to support a project.  We are now in a different position.  Cedar Falls currently has 
$411,250 in HOME funds available.  Our 2019 Consortium Agreement now provides 
approximately $90,000 a year to Cedar Falls. 
 
After a number of meetings with Habitat and Waterloo, we are pleased to bring forward 
an agreement whereby Habitat will be able to complete projects in Cedar Falls again.  
The attached Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO) Agreement 
outlines HOME funds to be allocated for projects such as new construction materials 

245

Item 25.



($40,890), acquisition ($150,378), owner occupied rehabilitation projects ($69,980) and 
rehabilitation project materials ($100,000).  The agreement would run through June 
2022. 
 
Outside of this agreement, the City of Cedar Falls will continue to utilize some of the 
HOME funds to offer owner occupied rehabilitation projects that we have long offered 
through CDBG and HOME funding.  Approximately $50,000 will be available for 
projects. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends the City Council approve the 
attached CHDO agreement allowing Habitat for Humanity to utilize up to $361,246 to 
complete a variety of projects in Cedar Falls over the next one and half years. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 

246

Item 25.



247

Item 25.



248

Item 25.



249

Item 25.



250

Item 25.



251

Item 25.



252

Item 25.



253

Item 25.



254

Item 25.



255

Item 25.



256

Item 25.



257

Item 25.



258

Item 25.



259

Item 25.



260

Item 25.



261

Item 25.



262

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I 

 DATE: February 18, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Design review of property in the Central Business District Overlay 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve a Central Business District Overlay Site Plan for 
renovation of building and development of adjacent lot as outdoor patio space 
for the proposed restaurant 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Potential owner: Stone and Terrace LLC, Cory Kent 

LOCATION: 
 

PROJECT #: 
 

108 E 4th Street 
 
DR21-001 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The owner of 108 E 4th Street and the adjacent parcel to the west is requesting a site plan 
design review to retrofit the building with a new indoor/outdoor restaurant use. The applicant 
anticipates the proposed use will revive the building and its surrounding area. The property is 
located in the Central Business District Overlay. See current and proposed facade images 
below. The proposed floor plans of the building are attached. 
 

 

Existing 

263

Item 26.



 
 
BACKGROUND 
108 E 4th Street building was originally constructed in 1950. The building was used as a 
mechanic’s garage when it was built and later used as a tire store. The adjacent lot to the west 
was at one time a restaurant and then, in 1934, there was a café named George’s Café on the 
site. Around 2008, the building was demolished leaving the site vacant. The applicant proposes 
to improve the open lot and 108 E 4th Street building with an indoor/outdoor restaurant while 
restoring/maintaining the historical context of the original site. 
 
This property is located within the C-3, Commercial District Zone (Section 26-172) and the 
Central Business District Overlay (CBD) (Section 26-189). The CBD requires any “substantial 
improvement” to an exterior façade to be reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
City Council. A substantial improvement to properties in the Central Business District Overlay is 
defined in Section 26-189(f): 
 

"Substantial improvement" includes any new building construction within the overlay 
district or any renovation of an existing structure that involves any modification of the 
exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or removing exterior windows or 
doors or altering the color or exterior materials of existing walls. All facade improvements, 
changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing facade materials will be 
considered a substantial improvement. Included in this definition are any new, modified or 
replacement awning structures or similar material extensions over the public sidewalk 
area. A substantial improvement also includes any increase or decrease in existing 
building height and/or alteration of the existing roof pitch or appearance.” 

 
ANALYSIS 
The following is an evaluation of the proposed changes according to the review standards in the 
Central Business District Overlay Zone: 
 

1. Proportion: This criterion takes into account the relationship of the proposed horizontal 
elements (such as cornice lines, awnings and canopies) and vertical elements (such as 
windows and doors) with the elements of adjacent buildings. The applicant is proposing 
to retain the existing nature of building and retrofit the building with a new indoor/outdoor 
dining restaurant use. The proposal is to bring an industrial feel to the restaurant.  A 
series of large openings has been proposed along the west wall of the building facing 
Main Street with lintel bands added over the openings. These changes are not consistent 
with other storefront design buildings on Main Street, but the applicant has made an 

Proposed 

264

Item 26.



attempt to develop the facades in a manner sensitive to the original quasi-industrial use 
of the building, but with new window and door openings to respond to its location along 
Main Street.   
 
As per code, exceptions may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where window 
placement should be concentrated at the corner and may be reduced along the 
secondary street façade and for the repurposing of buildings not originally designed as 
storefronts. The proportions of the proposed windows and doors are not consistent with 
those in the district and neighboring buildings, but an attempt has been made to align the 
building design with other buildings in the downtown. Since the building was designed for 
servicing automobiles and not as a storefront building, the applicant is requesting an 
exception to the window coverage requirement Section 26-189(i)(1)  of the code. Staff 
finds that the proposed design is a good balance between honoring the history of the 
building and bringing more life and activity by the added window and doors facing Main 
Street.  Staff supports an exception to the fenestration requirement in this case.  

 
2. Roof shape, pitch and direction: The building’s roof is not being altered: however, the 

applicant is proposing to finish the existing clay tile cap coping with a paint contrasting to 
enhance the building façade and give an appearance similar to a cornice This criterion has 
been met. 

 
3.  Pattern: The pattern of solid surfaces and openings needs to be considered in the alteration 

of a building.  The applicant is proposing to leave most of the building’s facades as is while 
installing new windows and doors as needed and will be creating more vertical openings 
along the Main Street façade. Large glass-paned garage doors with windows will be installed 
along the Main Street façade, which will maximize light and views into the interior space and 
during warmer months will allow customers to walk freely between the inside and outdoor 
patio area. While such garage doors would not be appropriate as replacement for traditional 
storefront windows, within the context of this building that does not currently have any 
openings on the west side and the nature of the original use of the building, they seem 
appropriate. The composition of existing brick pattern along with the vertical windows will 
create a rhythmic pattern to the building.  There are different sizes of bricks used on the west 
wall of the building creating two patterns, since this wall of the building was originally hidden 
behind another building. The two patterns will be kept to retain the originality of the building, 
but will be painted to give a more cohesive look. The applicant is attempting to design this 
building similar to other buildings in downtown while making minimal changes to the building 
which was never intended as a storefront building. This criterion has been met. 

 
4.  Building Composition: The proposed project is about retrofitting the existing building and 

therefore will maintain the existing composition of façades. Few changes will be made to the 
building walls in order to retain existing building elements, reduce construction costs, and 
maintain the integrity of the original design. The new openings along the south and south-
east walls will maintain the existing lintel and sill heights, therefore developing a composition 
of aligned openings. The west wall of the building is blank and will be improved with the 
proposed addition of a series of wider openings and doorways. In addition to the placement 
of openings, the openings will be taller to mimic the height of storefront windows. The multi-
paned garage doors are not typical for storefront windows, lacking the large display windows 
with transom above, but will create a unique aspect in keeping with the original use of the 
building. The multi-paned grid pattern of the windows on the building is more typical of 
industrial and quasi-industrial buildings. The openings throughout the building will create 

265

Item 26.



visual breaks in the façades. Staff finds the proposed retrofit to be an improvement to 
the existing composition of the building allowing it to be adaptively re-used in a way 
that will enhance the environment along Main Street.    

 
5. Windows and transparencies: The CBD requires new storefront construction have a minimum 

of 70 percent of the storefront area between two and ten feet in height above the ground 
level to consist of clear and transparent storefront windows. Modifications to existing 
storefronts can maintain or expand their transparency percentage but decreasing the area is 
discouraged and subject to the discretion of the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 
Council. Exceptions may be allowed for building on corner lots where window coverage 
should be concentrated at the corner, but may be reduced along the secondary street 
façade, and for repurposing of buildings not originally designed as storefront buildings. In the 
case of subject property, the applicant would like to retain the original context of the building 
to develop a restaurant with an industrial feel, and therefore is requesting exception to the 
transparency requirements.  As noted above, the corner portion of the building was not 
designed as a storefront building, however, applicant has tried to create openings along the 
Main Street façade and retain most of the openings along the other facades of the building. 
The openings along the west and south wall of the building are approximately 47% of the 
wall area and south-east and east façade are 34 and 38% respectively. All the windows 
proposed will be clear and non-reflective. More details can be found in the attached 
fenestration details. Staff finds that the changes proposed will bring the building closer 
to compliance with the intent of the ordinance so recommends approval of an 
exception to the windows coverage requirements.   

 
6. Materials and textures: For new construction, building materials should be compatible to the 

walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area.  Street-facing facades must be comprised 
of at least 50% brick, stone, or terra cotta. The proposed renovation work of the subject 
property will not include any changes in the façade materials, as the facades are already 
constructed of brick; however, the bricks will be painted a more subtle sea salt color which 
will create a new identity for the building and will address the mismatched bricks along the 
Main Street facade. Steel lintel bands of contrasting color will emphasize the building design. 
A commercial awning made of commercial grade Sunbrella fabric will project out from the 
south-east façade of the building and will enhance the entranceway of the building. The 
proposed materials are in keeping with buildings materials in the district and meet the 
requirements of this section. This criterion has been met.  

 
7. Color: The proposed color alteration of the subject building will transform the existing brown 

color of the brick facade  to a subtle sea salt color and will complement the facade’s black 
iron exterior window trim. The addition of the lintel bands will create an interesting color 
composition. Buildings in the CBD utilize earth and neutral tones, so other colors can accent 
and highlight the architectural features of a building as per the code. The proposed colors 
are neutral and compatible with the existing colors of the district. While painting unpainted 
brick is discouraged in the ordinance, in this case staff feels it will enhance the façade given 
the mismatched brick along the Main Street façade. This criterion has been met. 

 
8.  Architectural features: The building is currently being used as a warehouse. The applicant 

proposes to use the existing industrial feel for a new proposed restaurant to allow customers 
to enjoy the unique industrial character of the building. The addition of architectural features, 
including, but not limited to, metal lintel bands, doors, windows, and other elements, while 
prevalent in the area, shall be considered in the alteration of a building. The proposed new 

266

Item 26.



windows, projecting sign, and projecting awning are all elements that are consistent with the 
district and add interest to the building. This criterion has been met. 

 
9. Building entries: The existing building has two entrances from W 4th Street; one entrance 

along the south wall of the building and the other along the south-east wall of the building. 
The proposed renovation will retain the southeast facing door, but will replace the existing 
door on the 4th Street (south façade) with a window. The main entrance to the restaurant will 
be covered by an awning. The entrance and awning will not directly face the street, but will 
project over an entrance patio space in the location where an auto service area was likely 
located for the original use of the building. Two additional doors will be added on the Main 
Street (west façade) outdoor dining area and to provide emergency exits for the restaurant.  
In addition, for safety purposes and building code requirement, two emergency 
ingress/egress points are provided in the enclosure from the outdoor patio space or 
restaurant. This criterion has been met. 

 
 10.Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork, exterior painting: No mural is being proposed; 

this criterion does not apply for this review. 
 
11.Signage: The applicant is proposing a projecting 

sign for the new business over the public 
sidewalk along W 4th Street. The proposal does 
not include any wall signs. Walls signs may be 
approved administratively according to the 
standards in the code if in the future the 
applicant wishes to install an additional signs.  
All projecting signs within the CBD are required 
to be at least 10 feet above the sidewalk and 
cannot project further than half the width of the 
sidewalk where the storefront is located, or five 
feet, whichever is less (Section 26-189 (j)(2)).  

 
 The proposed projecting sign will be placed 

along the south wall of the building fronting W 
4th Street. The projection of sign is 
approximately five feet from the wall and will 
have clear height distance of 10 feet above the 
sidewalk. All projecting signs shall not exceed 40 square feet per sign face (Section 26-189 
(j)). Proposed sign will be about 12 to 15 square feet in area and will be illuminated. The sign 
is diamond shaped with round corners and a small rectangle with rounded corners below the 
diamond. The sign will be supported with 2 inch square stock, blackened steel. See attached 
sign details (drawing A704) in the packet for more information. The proposed sign area, clear 
sidewalk height requirements and the projection distance all meet the city code standards. A 
separate sign permit will be required of the applicant or sign company before installing the 
proposed sign. If the signage details differ greatly from what is shown here, review and 
approval by both the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council will be required. 
This criterion has been met.  

 
12. Use: The proposed use for the subject property is for a restaurant, a use allowed as per 

zoning code. The adjacent western portion of the proposed site is currently used as common 
outdoor event space by Community Main Street, but will now be converted into outdoor patio 

267

Item 26.



space for the new restaurant. Since the applicant is intending to use the space as an outdoor 
service area, the applicant will be required to meet the standards of City Code Sections 5-46 
through 5-62.  All permitting and licenses will have to be approved by City Council prior to 
operating the space as outdoor service area. On-site parking is not required in Downtown for 
principal commercial, professional office, or service business uses or facilities as per code. 
This Criterion has been met.  

 
 Outdoor Patio: 
 The outdoor patio area on the western portion of the proposed site is an interesting feature 

of the proposed design. The applicant is planning to retrofit the existing building with an 
indoor/outdoor dining experience in conjunction with the industrial ambience of the interior 
dining area. The outdoor patio is screened with planter-boxes along the west and south side 
of the site and will also be screened with a metal fence. The outdoor patio also includes a 
few tree planters in the interior area and will have heating towers to extend use of the space 
into the cooler months. The garage door openings in the west wall of the restaurant will 
provide access and a view to the patio, streets and surrounding activities. 

 
 Street furniture elements: 
 The applicant is proposing to add city standard bike racks on south east corner and also 

within the Main Street patio frontage. The racks will not be in right-of-way and therefore not 
obstruct pedestrian movement. In addition, the applicant will be using the same brick pavers 
that are used in the downtown streetscape in the patio area and southeast corner area to 
enhance the entry/exit points to the proposed dining restaurant and outdoor patio. The 
southeast corner area will also include planter-boxes and extended patio seating. This 
proposed furniture is not in the right-of-way and its placement will enhance the entrance to 
the restaurant and the southeast corner of the site. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City engineering staff is reviewing the bioswales proposed along the edges of the patio space to 
determine how these might be best designed to work with existing stormwater infrastructure in 
the area. The applicant will be working with the city to address these issues and construction 
details will be required prior to issuance of a building permit for the project.  

268

Item 26.



 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommend approval of the submitted design review 
application for renovation of existing building located at 108 E 4th Street and development of 
adjacent lot to the west as indoor/outdoor patio restaurant, at their regular meeting on 24th 
February 2021 with a vote of 8 ayes and 0 nays. The Community Development Department also 
recommends approval of the submitted design review proposal. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
&Vote 
2/24/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the building is located at 108 E 4th Street and the 
vacant land sits at north-east corner of 4th and Main Street. The request from the 
applicant is to propose indoor/outdoor restaurant at this site and idea is to utilize 
maximum of original structure and retrofit the use. Mr. Atodaria mentioned that 
this building was never designed as a storefront building and therefore which 
exception to fenestration requirements and painting the brick façades are being 
requested by the applicant. City staff is supportive of those exceptions as code 
allows exception for buildings which are on corner lots and were never designed 
as storefront building. Mr. Atodaria discussed other façade elements in detail 
including architectural features, proportion, color, projecting sign, outdoor patio-
area, street furniture, building entries, materials, windows and transparencies, 
texture and composition of façade. Mr. Atodaria discussed that the proposal is 
likely to make a great utilization of this site and also enhance the building, its use, 
surrounding area and a great addition to downtown. Staff recommends discussion 
of the submitted design review. 

Brain Wingert on behalf of Stone and Terrace LLC, stating that this proposal is 
more of retrofitting the use in a existing building and therefore exception to 
fenestration was requested. We are excited for this adaptive reuse project. 
Previously commission did discuss about how we can emphasize on adaptive 
reuse and retain the existing character of a place, and with this project we are 
going to do the same and pay homage to the history of the site and moreover the 
project will bring light to this corner, as it is not utilized for about 11 months in a 
year. Community Main street has a plan for Santa’s workshop, so no worries on 
that end. Community Main Street provided us with a letter supporting our project 
and stating that everybody is excited for this project. We believe we meet most of 
the regulations and requested exception is also supported by staff, we would like 
to move this forward to Council if the commission does not have any concerns or 
comments, then we would like to get the project moving quickly. Ms. Saul did 
mention that the proposal looks very good. Adding to the comment, Ms. Lynch did 
mention that the proposal is going to be a great addition to downtown. 

Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Larson seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Saul, Schrad and Sears), and 0 nays. 

  
 

269

Item 26.



Cedar
RiverS Riverside Trail

â

Cla
y S

t

Sta
te 

St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

E 3rd St

E 5th St

E 6th St

W 2nd St

W 4th St

E 2nd St

W 5th St

W 3rd St

E 4th St

Bluff St

W 6th St

Main StC-1

C-3

R-3

C-2

M-2

A-1

A-1

Cedar Falls City Council
March 01, 2021

Design Review for new Restaurant
108 E 4th Street

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

270

Item 26.



EARTH

SAND /
MORTAR
PLASTER

CONCRETE

BRICK / VENEER
C.M.U.

CONCRETE
MASONRY
UNIT

METAL

FINISH WOOD

WOOD FRAMING
( THROUGH MEMBER )

WOOD BLOCKING
( INTERRUPTED
MEMBER )

PLYWOOD

ACOUSTIC TILE /
BOARD

GYPSUM BOARD

BATT INSULATION

RIGID INSULATION

WINDOW/LOUVER DESIGNATION

DOOR DESIGNATION

CEILING TAG

ROOM NUMBER

NOTE TAG

WALL TYPE

REVISION

NORTH ARROW

ELEVATION TAG

DETAIL

DETAIL - ENLARGED PLAN

SECTION

INTERIOR ELEVATION

WALL/ BUILDING
SECTION NUMBER

SHEET WHERE
SECTION IS DRAWN

DETAIL NUMBER

SHEET WHERE DETAIL IS
DRAWN

DETAIL
NUMBER

SHEET WHERE
DETAIL IS
DRAWN

AREA TO BE
DETAILED OR
ENLARGED

ELEVATION
NUMBER AND KEY

SHEET WHERE
ELEVATION IS DRAWN

ELEVATION
NUMBER

SHEET WHERE
ELEVATION IS
DRAWN

NUMBER

NUMBER FOR
LOUVER

LETTER FOR WINDOW

CLG. TYPE

CLG. HEIGHT

REVISION
NUMBER

REVISED
AREA
CLOUDED

ROOM
NAME

202

001

4A

A4.001

A1

A4.002

A1

A9.101

A1

C1

E1

G1

A3.001

A1

A2.201

A1

AIR CONDITIONING
ARCHITECT /ENGINEER
ABOVE FINISH FLOOR
AIR HANDLING UNIT

 ARCHITECTURAL
ACOUSTICAL PANEL

CENTER TO CENTER
CONSTRUCTION JOINT

DRINKING FOUNTAIN

ELECTRICAL WATER

EXPANSION JOINT

FIRE DEPARTMENT

FIRE DEPARTMENT

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

FIRE HOSE CABINET

FACE OF CONCRETE

CONCRETE MASONRY

FACE OF MASONRY

EASTE

FPRF FIREPROOFING
FT
FTG
FWC

FOOT, FEET
FOOTING
FABRIC WALL
 COVERING

ELEC

ELEV

EQUIP

EXIST
EXP JT

FIN FL
FIN GR

FLUOR

FDC

FOC
FOM
FOS

FLR

FIN
FHC

FEC

FDV

EXT

"F"
FD

EQ

EWC

EL

EA

 CONNECTION

 VALVE

 CABINET

FINISH
FINISH FLOOR

FLOOR
FINISH GRADE

FLUORESCENT

FACE OF STUD

ELECTRICAL
ELEVATION
ELEVATOR
EQUAL
EQUIPMENT

 COOLER
EXISTING

EXTERIOR

EACH

FLOOR DRAIN

CC, C/C

CLG  HT

CONC
CONT

DIM

"E"

DWG

DN

DS
DR

DET
DF
DIA
DIAG

"D"

CPT

CJT

COL

CLG

CMU

"C"

CJ
CIP

BOT
BUR

CARPET

DETAIL

DIAMETER

DIMENSION
DOWN
DOOR
DOWNSPOUT
DRAWING

DIAGONAL

BOTTOM

CEILING

 UNIT

CONCRETE
CONTINUOUS

COLUMN

BUILT-UP ROOF

CAST IN PLACE
CONTROL JOINT

CEILING HEIGHT

AC or A/C

ALUM
APPROX
ARCH

ACOUS PNL

BLDG

BLKG

"B"

BLK

AFF
AHU
ALT

"A"

A/E

ALTERNATE
ALUMINUM

ARCHITECT,

BUILDING
BLOCK
BLOCKING

APPROXIMATE

 ARCHITECTURE,

TST TOP OF STEEL
NOT APPLICABLENA

TYP

UON

UPS

UNFIN

VCT

VERT
VWC

W/O

WDW

WWF
PRESERVATIVEPT
 TREATED

PAVEMENT
PAINTED

PVMT
PTD

NUMBER

OVERALL

NOISE REDUCTION
 COEFFICIENT
NOT TO SCALE

ON CENTER

OFFICE
OPENING

OPPOSITE
ORIGINAL

OUTSIDE DIMENSION

OPPOSITE HAND

OVERHEAD

OUTSIDE DIAMETER/

NOT IN CONTRACT

PLATE

PLASTER

PANEL
PAIR

PLYWOOD

PLASTIC LAMINATE

PREFABRICATED
PREFINISHED

PREPARATION
PRELIMINARY

OPP
ORIG
OVHD

PL
PLAM
PLAS

PNL
PR
PREFAB
PREFIN

PLYWD

PREP
PRELIM

"P"

NO

NTS

NRC

"O"
OA
OC

OFF
OPNG
OPH

OD

NIC

WI
WP

WF

WD
WC

W/
W
"W"

"V"

"U"

TW

UNLESS OTHERWISE

VINYL
COMPOSITION

VINYL WALL
VERTICAL

WITHOUT

WINDOW

 FABRIC

WATER CLOSET
WOOD, WIDTH

WIDE FLANGE

WORKING POINT
WELDED WIRE

WROUGHT IRON

WEST
WITH

TYPICAL

UNFINISHED

 NOTED

 TILE, OR VITRIFIED

UNINTERRUPTIBLE
 POWER SUPPLY

TOP OF WALL

REF

REINF

REQD

REFL

SHT

SCHED
SECT

SPEC

SQ FT

STC

STD
STL

SST

SIM

SUSP
SYM
SYMM

T&G

TSL

THK

TEL

STRUCT

MASONRY

INSULATION
INSIDE DIAMETER

JANITOR

JOINT

LAVATORY

JOIST

INTERIOR

MAXIMUM

MEZZANINE

MAINTENANCE

MECHANICAL

MANUFACTURING

MINIMUM

NORTH

MULLION

MISCELLANEOUS
MASONRY OPENING

MANUFACTURER

LIGHT WEIGHT

MAS
MAINT

MAX

MFG

MECH
MEZZ

MIN

MO
MISC

MULL

MFR

N
"N"

INSUL

JAN
JST

LAV

INTR

LT WT

"M"

"L"

JT

"J"

"I"
ID

TF

TS
TJ

TFF

T
"T"

SQ

GAUGE
GALVANIZED

GRADE
GYPSUM

HEIGHT

GYPSUM BOARD
GYPSUM PLASTER

HOLLOW CORE

GLASS

HOLLOW METAL DOOR
HOLLOW METAL FRAME
HEATING, VENTILATION,
AIR CONDITIONING

HOLLOW METAL

GR
GYP
GYP BD

HC
HGT

GYP PLAS

GL

HMD
HMF
HVAC

HM

"H"

GA
GALV

"G"

SC
S
"S"

RM
RO

RD

"R"
R

QT
"Q"

SOUND

TREAD

 GROOVE

 FLOOR
THICKNESS

SYMMETRICAL

TONGUE AND

TELEPHONE
TOP OF FOOTING
TOP OF FINISH

TOP OF JOINT
TUBE STEEL
TOP OF SLAB

SCHEDULE
SECTION
SHEET

SQUARE

TRANSMISSION

STANDARD
STEEL

SIMILAR
SPECIFICATION

SQUARE FOOT
STAINLESS STEEL

SYMBOL
SUSPENDED
STRUCTURAL

REQUIRED

RISER / RADIUS
ROOF DRAIN
REFERENCE
REFLECTED
REINFORCED, 
 REINFORCING,
 REINFORCEMENT

SOUTH

ROUGH OPENING

SOLID CORE

ROOM

QUARRY TILE

CLASS

COVERING

 CLAY TILE

OWNER

Stone and Terrace LLC
Brian Wingert & Cory Kent
2021 Main St
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319.404.4884

CONTRACTOR

ARCHITECT & DESIGN TEAM
SMITH HANES STUDIO
MAGGIE MCBRIDE, RA
949 W. Marietta St. NW,
Ste X-113
Atlanta, GA 30318
maggie@smithhanes.com
(404)402-1316

MEP & SEC ENGINEERS

project description: renovation of existing masonry one-story
building with partial basement level for
restaurant tenant use.  proposed renovation
to include exterior modifications to existing
fenestration and finishes along with exterior
patio area. interior area of x,xxx sf scope of
work to include new interior non-load bearing
walls, new mechanical, electrical and plumbing
work, new fixtures, finishes and furniture.

building address: 108 e 4th street
dedar falls, ia 50613

zoning: c-3, central business district overlay

occupancy: a-2, assembly - restaurant use

construction type: type ii-b, fully sprinklered nfpa 13 at first
floor level, partial basement is not sprinklered per

building height: 1 story / 13 feet provided, 2 stories allowed
(complies with ibc 503 - type iib construction)

fire ratings: primary structural frame 0 hr
bearing walls - exterior 0 hr
bearing walls - interior 0 hr
nonbearing walls - interior 0 hr
nonbearing walls - exterior 0 hr
floor construction          0 hr
roof construction         0 hr

separation of occupancies (per ibc 508.4 and nfpa 101 6.1.14.1(b):
existing 2 hour fire separation provided
between tenant a-2 restaurant use and
adjacent building (business).
2 hours provided, 1 hour req'd per ibc 508.4

sprinkler: tenant space and entire ground floor level / 
story to be fully sprinklered (ibc 903 - 
nfpa 13  system). partial basement is not 
sprinklered per ibc 903.2.1 - sprinkler system 
is required throughout the story where the 
fire area containing group a-2 occupancy is 
located and throughout all stories from the 
group a occupancy to and including the level 
of exit discharge.  partial basement occupancy 
is solely s-2 low hazard storage.

fire alarm: not required per section 907.2

req'd protection:           existing vertical openings in building to
basement level are within tenant area.  existing
basement level is s-2 low hazard storage only

tenant area: 3,554 s.f. - interior conditioned area
3,824 s.f. - exterior patio area
3,101 s.f. - existing partial basement area

PROJECT DIRECTORY

BUILDING INFORMATION

DRAWING / SHEET INDEXABBREVIATIONSMATERIALS

SYMBOLS

VICINITY MAP (NOT TO SCALE)

george's
local

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

dwg# drawing title rev#

A000
cover sheet, building info

A000b
proposed exterior renderings

Asp1
architectural proposed site plan

A001
life safety plan and code compliance

A002
ada notes and guidlines

A003
ada notes, continued

A004
partition schedules and ul listings

A004b
door, window and hardware schedules

A004c
door & window schedule, cont.

A005
finish schedules

A006
lighting and ceiling schedules

A007
plumbing, furniture, and equipment schedules

A100
existing and demolition floor plan

A101 existing and demolition basement plan

A102 existing and demolition reflected ceiling plan

A200 proposed floor plan

A210
proposed furniture  plan

A220
proposed wall finish plan

A230
proposed floor finish plan

A231
enlarged bar details

a232
enlarged restroom plans

A300
proposed reflected ceiling plan and details

A400
proposed exterior elevations

A500 proposed building sections

A600 interior elevations

A601 interior elevations

A700 interior details

A701 interior details

A702 interior details

A703 interior details

A704 exterior details

FS 1 kitchen and bar equipment plan and schedule

TBD

north north

9'-0" A

b

Design / Build

A

cover sheet
and building info

000

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
sm i t h @ sm i t h h a n e s .c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

271

Item 26.



scale: nts

exterior rendering

1

scale: nts

exterior paint colors

3

exterior facade paint - benjamin

moore csp-95 sea salt

exterior window trim & lintel paint -

benjamin moore 2120-20 black iron

proposed exterior paint types

are an exterior commercial

grade paint - benjamin moore

ultra spec masonry elastomeric

waterproof paint or architect

approved equal.

scale: nts

exterior rendering

2

proposed metal railing

around courtyard

dining area that is per

city standard detail

proposed wood

planters surround

patio with landscaping

patio flooring to be

mostly stamped

concrete with areas of

brick pavers that

match city standard

details for pavers

existing masonry

exterior building

finish to be painted,

off-white color, exact

color to be determined

proposed

wall-mounted signage

along 4th Street

facade, illuminated

exterior fabric awning

on metal frame over

entry

steel lintels over

masonry openings,

steel painted black

metal windows and

doors to be black in

finish and color

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

proposed exterior

rendering

001
272

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 3/32" = 1'-0"

architectural site plan

1

scale: nts

legend

key notes

east 4th st

alley

west 4th st

main st

scale: nts

sheet notes

scale: nts

key notes

adjacent building -

business occupancy -

2 story

main st

alley

adjacent tenant

parking

proposed 4

yard dumpster

proposed

fryer oil

disposal

north

property line

108 e 4th st

single story masonry building with partial

basement to be restaurant/assembly use with

outdoor patio

ffe = 0'-0"

existing

outdoor

paved area

with proposed

paved border

and planter

box. brick

paved areas

shown are per

cedar falls

downtown

streetscape

reconstruction

standards -

style a & b.

72'-11
1

2
"58'-3

1

2
"

131'-2"

6
5

'
-
1
1
"

patio overall area:

3,847.51 sq. ft. total

pervious coverage area:

bioswale - 144.92 sq. ft.

in ground wood planters - 560.22 sq. ft.

in ground planted trees - 124.93 sq. ft.

brick pavers - 527.38 sq. ft.

1,357.45 sq. ft. total

existing paved city

sidewalk/pedestrian

right of way - no

work in scope

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

architectural

site plan

SP1
273

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



ada

 kitchen

dn to
basem.

bar

hall

dining

rr

ada
rr

patio

entry

waiting

rr

ada
rr

ada

entry

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"
proposed life safety floor plan 1

GENERAL NOTES:

1. exit and emergency lighting to provide adequate illumination and signage for designated
exits.

2. any modifications of electric system or mechanical system to comply with ibc 2015 and city of
cedar falls codes and ordinances.

3. the contractor is responsible for safety at the site, including but not limited to maintaining
appropriate fire extinguishers in required quantities during construction.

4. A sign clearly stating that smoking is prohibited shall be conspicuously posted by the
building owner, operator, manager, or other person n control in every public place and
place of employment. 'no smoking' signs or the international 'no smoking' symbol consisting
of a pictoral representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a red circle with a red bar
cross it shall be posted.

legend

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

EXIT SIGNAGE WITH EMERGENCY LIGHTING

DOOR EGRESS WIDTH

life safety summary
TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE = 3,554 sf       A-2, assembly

ITEM REQ'D PROVIDED
# OCCUPANTS
EXIT STAIR WIDTH
EXITS
EXIT DOOR WIDTH
TRAVEL DISTANCE
COMMON PATH
OF TRAVEL

DEAD END CORRIDOR

TRAVEL DISTANCE

20' MAX 16'-1"

381
36"

3
36"
92'-8"
47'-1"

N/A
2
36"

250'MAX
100'MAX

CODE INFORMATION

Description: Tenant Build-out of Existing 1 story Masonry Building for 
Restaurant / Assembly Use with Partial Basement for Accessory 
Storage of Dry Goods Only

Building: 108 E 4th Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa

Zoning: C-3 with Central Business Overlay District

Occupancy: A-2, Assembly - Restaurant use

Construction Type: Type 1I-B, sprinkled, existing demising wall is 2 hour fire-rated

Building Height: 1 story with partial basement
(Complies with IBC 503.1.3 - type 1I construction)

15'-1" from grade to top of structure
(Unchanged - Complies with 75'-0" max. per ibc 504.3)

Tenant Area: 3,554 sf  with  3,101 sf partial basement and 3,824 sf patio area
(Complies with IBC 503.1.3 - type II construction)

Occupant Load: Waiting (265 sf / 15 per occ) 18

Table & Chair Seating / Dining (1,237sf/15 per occ.) 83

Table & Chair Seating / Patio (3,115sf/15 per occ) 208

Booth Seats / Dining (370sf with 100 ft /24" per occ.) 50

Stool Seating / Bar & Patio (108 s.f. / 7 per occ.) 15

Restrooms / Hall (312 s.f.)   0

Basement / Accessory Storage (3,578 sf ) 0

Kitchen / Back Bar (1296 s.f./200 per occ.) 7   

TOTAL OCCUPANTS 381

APPLICABLE CODES:

� (IBC) International Building Code, 2015 Edition

project code summary

new wall

existing wall

rated demising wall

wall type legend

EXIT SEPARATION = 38'-91
2"

CALCULATED BY 1
3 OF MAXIMUM

DIAGONAL DISTANCE OF SPACE

94'-11"/3 = 31'-7" MINIMUM

max
im

um d
ia

go
nal

 w
id

th
 o

f 
sp

ac
e

94'-1
1"

existing adjacent business
tenant

area not in scope

5'-0"

4'-0"

2
'-

11
2

"

5'-0"

4
'-

1"

5'-112"

4'-112"

2'-1"

3
'-

0
"

COMMON PATH
OF TRAVEL

47'-1"

MAXIMUM TRAVEL
DISTANCE

92'-8"

existing 8" concrete block 2-hr fire rated demising
wall - u906- see ul listing on sheet aoo1b

existing exterior area

existing
exterior

alley

44" min. path
of egress

-0'-1/2"

4 occ.

exit
36"

clear

exit
72"

clear

exit
36"

clear

0'-0"

0'-0"

0'-0"

-0'-4"

Egress Door Width: 3'-0" min. provided at each exit

(Complies with 36" min. & 381 x 0.2 in./occ. / 3 exits = 25.4" calculation)

Egress Corr. Width: 4'-0" min. at restroom hall

(Complies with 44" min. & 381 x 0.3 in./occ. / 3 exits = 38.1" calculation)

Number of Exits: 3 provided, 2 required (complies with IBC 1015.1)

Exit Separation: 38'-9 12"

(Complies with ibc 1015.2.1 exception 2.  13  x 94'-11" diagonal = 31'-7" min)

Max. Travel Dist.: 92'-8"

(Complies with ibc table 1015.2 with 250'-0" max.)

Max. Common Path: 47'-1"

Dead End Corridor: 20'-0" max.

provided: 16'-1" (Complies with ibc table 1018.4)

stair is to accessory
storage only

patio

A

proposed life safety
plan and code

compliance

001

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i th @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

274

Item 26.



WINDOW SCHEDULE

Tag Window Info. Location Notes Contact

A

Window Type: Fixed, Steel & Glass Exterior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 7'-0"w x 5'-7-1/2"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Clear, by manufacterer Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: Exterior Side: MT1, PT7

Interior Side: MT1, PT3 Email:
alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

B

Window Type: Fixed, Steel & Glass Exterior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 3'-4"w x 5'-7-1/2"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Clear, by manufacterer Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: Exterior Side: MT1, PT7

Interior Side: MT1, PT3 Email:
alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

C

Window Type: Fixed, Steel & Glass Exterior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 8'-2-1/2"w x 5'-7-1/2"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Clear, by manufacterer Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: Exterior/Interior Side: MT1, PT7

Email:
alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

D

Window Type: Fixed, Wood & Glass Interior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 3'-0"w x 1'-4"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Fluted Chicken Wire Glass GL2 Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: 1x4 painted wood frame, Interior Restroom Side:

WD1/PT4 in high gloss finish, Hallway Side:
WD1/PT3 in high gloss finish Email:

alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

E

Window Type: Fixed, Steel & Glass Transom Exterior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 3'-0"w x 1'-9-1/2"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Clear, by manufacterer Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: Exterior/Interior Side: MT1, PT7

Email:
alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

F

Window Type: Fixed, Steel & Glass Transom Exterior - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Window Size: 6'-0"w x 1'-9-1/2"h Name: Alex Pappas

Glass: Clear, by manufacterer Phone: 678.642.5049
Window Finish: Exterior/Interior Side: MT1, PT7

Email:
alex@forgefinesteel.co
m

G

Window Type: Existing Window Exterior Interior facing window trim and mullions to
be painted PT5, exterior facing window
trim and mullions to be painted PT7

Source: n/a
Window Size: n/a Name: -

Glass: n/a Phone: -
Window Finish: n/a Web: -

DOOR SCHEDULE

Type Door Info. Location Notes Contact/ Source

100 Door Type: Type A - Steel + Fluted Glass Exterior Entry
Door

Front Entry -
Source: Fine Forge Steel

Door Size: 3'-0"w x 7'5"h, VIF Name: Alex Pappas

Door Material //
Finish Steel & Glass Phone: 678.642.5049

Frame Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1
Email: alex@forgefinesteel.com

Glass: Sunguard Neutral 78/65 with 78% VLT and 13%
Reflectivity or architect / owner approved equal Web: -

Hardware Set: H1 - -
107 Door Type: Type B - Steel Exterior Door to Kitchen Patio to Kitchen - Source: Fine Forge Steel

Door Size: 3'-0"w x 8'-0"h, VIF Name: Alex Pappas

Door Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1
Phone: 678.642.5049

Frame Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1
Email: alex@forgefinesteel.com

Glass: n/a Web: -
Hardware Set: H1 - -

110 Door Type: Type C - Steel + Glass Exterior Back Patio
Double Door

Back Patio Entry -
Source: Fine Forge Steel

Door Size: 6'-0"w x 8'-0"h, VIF Name: Alex Pappas

Door Material //
Finish Steel & Glass Phone: 678.642.5049

Frame Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1
Email: alex@forgefinesteel.com

Glass: Sunguard Neutral 78/65 with 78% VLT and 13%
Reflectivity or architect / owner approved equal Web: -

Hardware Set: H1 - -
101 Door Type: Type D - Interior Door

Trustile TS2060
Stairs to Basement - Source: General Contractor

Door Profile: OS-One Step Sticking &
C-Flat Panel

Door Size: 3'-0"w x 7'-0"h
Door Material //

Finish White Oak Wood, Stained WD2

Frame Material //
Finish 1x4 stained wood trim, WD2

Glass: n/a
Hardware Set: H3

101/ 102/
103/
104/
105

Door Type: Type E - Interior Door
Trustile TS2060

Restroom - Source: General Contractor

Door Profile: OS-One Step Sticking &
C-Flat Panel

Door Size: 3'-0"w x 7'-0"h
Door Material //

Finish
Interior Restroom: White Oak
Wood, WD1/PT4 in high gloss
finish Hallway: White Oak
Wood, Stained, WD2

Frame Material //
Finish

Interior Restroom: 1x4
painted wood trim, WD1/PT4
in high gloss finish Hallway:
1x4 painted wood trim,
WD1/PT3 in high gloss finish

Glass: n/a
Hardware Set: H2

108/ 112 Door Type: Type F - Interior Eliason SS
Double Action Door

Bar to Kitchen - Source: General Contractor

Door Size: 3'-0"w x 7'-0"h
Door Material //

Finish Stainless Steel
Frame Material //

Finish n/a
Glass: Clear, by manufacturer

Hardware Set: By manufacturer

111 Door Type: Type G - Roll up Exterior
Garage Door

Patio - Source: General Contractor

Door Size: 16'-2"w x 9'-10"h, VIF

Door Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1

Frame Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1

Glass: Tempered Double Pane Insulated Low-E Glass

Hardware Set: By manufacturer

109 Door Type: Type H - Roll up Exterior
Garage Door

Patio Bar - Source: General Contractor

Door Size: 13'-0"w x 6'-3-1/2"h, VIF

Door Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1

Frame Material //
Finish

Blackened Steel MT1

Glass: Tempered Double Pane Insulated Low-E Glass

Hardware Set: By manufacturer

Type Hardware Info Contact

H1

Description:
Exterior Front Entry Door/Exterior Back Patio Entry Door/Exterior Patio Door to
Kitchen

Source: Door ContactHWD:

(2) Hand Forged Metal Pulls, finish to match door

(1) Von Duprin - #5575-NL Mortise lock exit device for double door. Provide #3215
Mortise device.
(2)Closer w/ 90 Deg hold open: Finish to match Push/Pull Bar

(1) Schlage Single Cylinder Deadbolt B562P in 622 matte black

Provide Additional Hardware: hinges, weather seals, transitions, etc., where
required. Finish to match hardware specified

H2

Description: Interior Door Trustile TS2060

Provide - hinges, door stops, Door
Sweeps, threshholds, etc., where
required. Finish to be Pewter or Stainless
Steel Source: Door Contact

HWD: Restroom side: BASICS LBIII-19 Door Lever by Formani; Satin Stainless Steel

Restroom Hallway Side:(1)push plate - Cheshire Hardware; Louis Fraser Push Plate - 74mm
x 293mm (2.91" x .11.54"), Pewter finish. Provided By Smith Hanes Studio:770-780-1316

(1)One sided deadbolt with Occupancy Indicator - Pride Barco Lock Co.; K-300-V-Zi,
Polished Zinc
(1)Closer, Stainless steel (inside restroom)

H3

Description: Interior Door Trustile TS2060

Provide - hinges, door stops, Door
Sweeps, threshholds, etc., where
required. Finish to be Pewter or Stainless
Steel Source: Door Contact

HWD: Entry side: BASICS LBIII-19 Door Lever by Formani; Gunmetal

Basement side: BASICS LBIII-19 Door Lever by Formani; Gunmetal

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

door, door hardware

& window

 schedule

004b
275

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 3/8" = 1'-0"

door types

1

scale: 3/8" = 1'-0"

door types

2
scale: 3/8" = 1'-0"

window types

3

type a type dtype b type c

1
1

2
"

1
"

1"

1
1

2
"

3
'
-
5

"

4
"

metal door, mt1

clear glass, gl1

single cylinder

key lock

recessed metal

panel, mt1

1
1

2
"

1
"

1"

1
1

2
"

3
'
-
5

"

4
"

metal door, mt1

single cylinder

key lock

recessed metal

panel, mt1

5
"

5
"

1
1

2
"

1
"

1"

1
1

2
"

3
'
-
5

"

4
"

metal door, mt1

single cylinder

key lock

recessed metal

panel, mt1

5
"

clear glass, gl1

type e type f

3
1

2
"

typ

3
1

2
"

t
y
p

1

2
"

typ

overlap &

extend trim

ends

wood door, wd2

recessed wood panel,

wd2

1x4 wood door

frame, wd2

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

see schedule
see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

type e

3
1

2
"

typ

3
1

2
"

t
y
p

1

2
"

typ

overlap &

extend trim

ends

wood door, interior

restroom: wd1/pt4 in

high gloss finish

hallway: stained, wd2

recessed wood panel,

interior restroom:

wd1/pt4 in high gloss

finish, hallway:

stained, wd2

1x4 wood door frame,

interior Restroom:

wd1/pt4 in high gloss

finish, hallway: wd1/pt3

in high gloss finish

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

stainless steel,

mt4

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

9
1

2
"

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

clear glass, gl1

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

4
 
e
q

5 eq

type g

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

3
 
e
q

see schedule

4 eq

type h

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

3
 
e
q

see schedule

2 eq

type a type b

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

3
 
e
q

scale: 3/8" = 1'-0"

window types

4

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

3
 
e
q

see schedule

3 eq

type c type d type e type f

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

see schedule

3
1
2

"

t
y
p

1

2
"

typ

overlap &

extend trim

ends

1x4 wood frame,

interior restroom:

wd1/pt4 in high gloss

finish, hallway: wd1/pt3

in high gloss finish

ribbed chicken wire

glass, gl2

hand painted

restroom number

painted onsite by by

tommy taylor of

super delicious

walls:

ttaylorpainting

@gmail.com /

718.344.6630

1

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

see schedule

s
e
e
 
s
c

h
e
d

u
l
e

see schedule

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

metal frame, mt1

clear glass, gl1

all exterior glazing to be sunguard

neutral 78/65 with 78% vlt and 13%

reflectivity or architect / owner

approved equal.

scale: 3" = 1'-0"

steel door handle

5

elevation section

1" dia metal rod

to match door

frame

1

2" dia metal rod

to match door

frame

2'-6"

1
1
4

"1
1
4

"

2
"

1" dia metal rod

to match door

frame

1

2
" dia metal rod

to match door

frame

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

door, door hardware

& window

 schedule, cont.

004c
276

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



FINISH SCHEDULE

Tag Finish Info. Notes Contact

BR1 Description: Brick Pavers 4x8 carbon black brick
paver in running bond
pattern, per Cedar Falls
city paver requirements

Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Series: -

Color: Carbon Black

CO1 Description: Exisiting Concrete - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Series: -

Color: Stain TBD. Consult SHS

CO2 Description: Stamped Concrete - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Series: -

Color: Stain TBD. Consult SHS

CO3 Description: Board Formed Concrete - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Series: -

Color: TBD. Consult SHS

CO4 Description: Concrete Counterop - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Series: -

Color: Stain TBD. Consult SHS

FBK1 Description: Red Vinyl - Name: Mario
Mfr: Kravet Phone: 404-816-7941

Series: Seabiscuit Email: contract@kravet.com
Color: 9 Web: kravet.com

FBK2 Description: Blue Vinyl - Source: burchfabrics.com

Mfr: Burch

Series: Glaze

Color: SGL-108 Regatta

FBK3 Description: Green Vinyl - Name: Mario
Mfr: Kravet Phone: 404-816-7941

Series: Frankel Email: contract@kravet.com
Color: 3 Web: kravet.com

FBK4 Description: Canvas - Name: Win Collier

Mfr: Found Phone: 404.281.4083

Series: Surplus Army Navy Tarp Email: win@smithhanes.com

Color: Kahki Green Web: smithhanes.com

FL1 Description: Epoxy Floor
Install per manufacterers
recommended installation

and provide all
adhesives, trims,

transition stripe, etc,
uon

Name: Ryan Jacobs

Mfr: Protect All Phone: 888.832.8842

Series:
Wet Area System - Epoxy
flooring

Email: rjacobs@protect-allflorring.
com

Color: Dark Grey Web:

FRP1 Description: Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic Source: marlite.com

Mfr: Marlite

Series:
Standard FRP; Pebbled
Surface

Color:
#P/ 430N/ Pebbled Medium
Gray

GL1 Description: Clear Glass Source thickenss as
required or is most
suitable for application,
unless otherwise noted.

Source: General Contractor

Mfr: -

Thickness: See Notes

Finish: Clear, Tempered

GL2 Description: Ribbed Chicken Wire Glass -

Source: Fabricator

Mfr: Olde Good Glass

Series: Ribbed Chicken Wire Glass

Finish: -

GL3 Description: Ribbed Glass -

Source: Fabricator

Mfr: Olde Good Glass

Series: Ribbed Glass

Finish: -

MT1 Description: Metal - Blackened Steel - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: N/A

Finish: Varies - See Drawings

Size: Varies - See Drawings

MT2 Description: Zinc - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: N/A

Finish: Varies - See Drawings

Size: Varies - See Drawings

MT3 Description: Metal Base - Schluter Size to be determined in
field & with tile. GC to
provide in-corner pieces,
connectors, etc. verify
size with final tile
thickenss

Web: www.schluter.com

Mfr: Schluter

Name/Model: AHK

Finish: Black

MT4 Description: Stainless Steel - Source: General Contractor

Mfr: N/A

Finish: Varies - See Drawings

Size: Varies - See Drawings

PL1 Description: Plaster contractor to provide
drywall with a level 4
finish.

Name: Tommy Taylor

Mfr: Superdelicious Walls Phone: 718.344.6630

Color: Carcoal Gray Email: ttaylorpainting@gmail.com

Finish: to match sample Web: https://www.superdeliciouswa
lls.com/

PT1 Description: Interior Grade Paint Following paint finishes Web: www.benjaminmoore.com

Mfr: Sherwin Williams are typical, uon:

Color: 7593 Rustic Red Walls - Eggshell

Finish: See Notes Ceilings - Flat

PT2 Description: Interior Grade Paint Trim - Semi-Gloss Web: www.benjaminmoore.com

Mfr: Benjamin Moore Metals - Semi-Gloss

Color: 497 Shady Lane Millwork - Gloss Lacquer

Finish: See Notes - Meets ASTM E84 Class A

PT3 Description: Interior Grade Paint Web: www.benjaminmoore.com

Mfr: Sherwin Williams

Color: SW 6685 Trinket

Finish: See Notes
PT4 Description: Interior Grade Paint Web: www.sherwinwilliams.com

Mfr: Sherwin Williams

Color: SW 7008 Alabaster

Finish: See Notes
PT5 Description: Interior Grade Paint Web: www.sherwinwilliams.com

Mfr: Sherwin Williams

Color: SW 6258 Tricorn Black

Finish: See Notes
PT6 Description: Exterior Grade Paint

Exterior grade commercial paint, benjamin
moore ultra spec masonry elastomeric
waterproof paint or architect approved
equal.

Web: www.benjaminmoore.com

Mfr: Benjamin Moore

Color: CSP-95 Sea Salt

Finish: See Notes
PT7 Description: Exterior Grade Paint

Exterior grade commercial paint, benjamin
moore ultra spec masonry elastomeric
waterproof paint or architect approved
equal.

Web: www.benjaminmoore.com

Mfr: Benjamin Moore

Color: 2120-20 Black Iron

Finish: See Notes
RB-1 Description: Vinyl Rubber Base

Epoxy all gaps between vinyl rubber base
and existing concrete to ensure seamless
cove transition

Source: www.johnsonite.com

Mfr: Johnsonite

Series: Tightlock

Color: #469 Mystify; 6"

Finish: -

ST1 Description: Silestone Source: https://www.cosentino.com/us
a/Mfr: Coesntino

Series: Silestone Eternal

Color/Finish
:
Charcoal Soapstone Polished

ST2 Description: Quartz Source: caesarstone.com

Mfr: Caesarstone

Series: Pure White

Color/Finish
:
Polished

T1 Description: Glazed Brick Tile

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Maison Patina Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: White Gloss Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 2-1/2" x 9-1/2" Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

T2 Description: White Ceramic Tile

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Santos Heritage Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: Crema Glossy Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 4" x 4" Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

T3 Description: Green Ceramic Tile

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Santos Heritage Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: Army Green Glossy Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 4" x 4" Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

T4 Description: Green Ceramic Bullnose

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Santos Heritage Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: Army Green Glossy Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 3" Bullnose Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

T5 Description: Black Ceramic Tile

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Santos Heritage Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: Black Glossy Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 4" x 4" Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

T6 Description: Black Ceramic Bullnose

See elevations and details for tile
configuration

Source: Design Direct Source

Series: Santos Heritage Name: Ryan Cottrill

Color: Black Glossy Phone: 503.525.0600

Size/Install: 3" Bullnose Email: ryan@designanddirectsource.com

Grout: TBD Web: www.designanddirectsource.com

WD1 Description: Paint Grade Wood Source: General Contractor

Species: Oak

Sizes: Varies, See Plans/
Elevations/ Details

Finish: Varies, See Plans/
Elevations/ Details

WD2 Description: Dark Stained Wood Source: Millwoker / General
ContractorSpecies: Oak

Sizes: Varies, See Plans/
Elevations/ Details

Finish: To match SHS control sample

WD3 Description: Light Stained Wood Source: Millwoker / General
ContractorSpecies: Oak

Sizes: Varies, See Plans/
Elevations/ Details

Finish: To match SHS control sample

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

finish
 schedule

005
277

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts
sheet notes

scale: nts
key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"
existing conditions and demolition floor plan 1

key notes

toilet accessory tag. see schedules

scale: nts
legend

A50 X elevation tag

window tag. see schedules

door tag. see schedules

plumbing fixture tag. see schedules

a. reference sheets for schedules
b. provide blocking in ceiling and/or walls as

required for ceiling / wall mounted millwork,
equipment, toilet & decorative accessories,
etc.

tag description

remove existing window and frame

remove portion of wall

remove existing door and frame

remove existing garage door

remove existing chimney

remove existing plumbing rough ins

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

existing conditions
and demolition

floor plan

100
278

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
TA-X

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL-X

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts
sheet notes

scale: nts
key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"
existing conditions basement floor plan 1

scale: nts
legend

up to
main floor

area is only
to be used as
dry storage by
tenant

existing stairs to be brought up to
code with (16) 6-5/8" risers and 11"
treads and ada compliant 1.5" diameter
steel pipe handrails.

existing elevator shaft
to remain as
dumbwaiter as needed

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

existing
partial basement

floor plan

101
279

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
demo exterior elevation1

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
demo exterior elevation2

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
demo exterior elevation3

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
demo exterior elevation4 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

demo exterior elevation5 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
demo exterior elevation6

tag description

remove existing window

remove portion of wall

remove existing door and frame

remove existing garage door

remove existing gutter and downspout

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

exterior & demo
exterior elevations

102
280

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts

sheet notes

scale: nts

key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"

proposed floor plan 

1

key notes

scale: nts

legend

A50 X

elevation tag

window tag. see schedules

door tag. see schedules

a. reference sheets for schedules

b. provide blocking in ceiling and/or walls as

required for ceiling / wall mounted millwork,

equipment, toilet & decorative accessories,

etc.

ada

 kitchen

dn to

basem.

bar

hall

dining

rr

ada

rr

patio

entry

waiting

rr

ada

rr

ada

entry

patio border and railing to be set in by 18" to

allow for railing footings not to impact existing

sidewalk area and for an 18" bioswale planting

area around entire patio footprint for pervious

coverage and a rain garden planing area

proposed

city

standard

bike racks

proposed

wood

planter

boxes

with open

bottom

for

pervious

coverage

a

a

a

a

b

a

a

c

b

b

b

b

d

d

proposed

city

standard

bike racks

 

 

7
'
-
6

"

6
6

'
-
2

"

4
'
-
0

"

4
'
-
4
1

2
"

56'-7
1

2
"

1'-8"

17'-0
1

2
" 7'-3" 6'-0"

19'-2
1

2
"

6
4

'
-
8

"

1
2

'
-
1
1

2
"

1
2

'
-
2
1

2
"

8
'
-
0

"

4'-4"

6
'
-
5

"

4'-0"

2
0

'
-
3
1

2
"

52'-1
1

2
"

14'-5"17'-0
1

2
"

1'-2"

24'-9
1

2
"

24'-11"

1
5

'
-
2
1

2
"

5
'
-
2

"
8

'
-
4
1

2
"

3'-11
1

2
" 4'-11

1

2
"

8
'
-
5

"

19'-1
1

2
"

6
"

1'-6"1'-6"

1'-6"

19'-4
1

2
"

1
'
-
5

"

50'-10
1

2
" 7'-3" 5'-5" 7'-3

1

2
"

2
1
'
-
7

"

8
'
-
5

"
8

'
-
0

"

4'-0"

5
'
-
7

"

1
'
-
6

"

6"

3
1
'
-
1
0

"

1
2
'-
9

1 2

"

5
'-
6
"

2
'-
0
"

2
'-
0
"

2
'-
2
"

5'-2"4'-6
1

2
"

2
'
-
1
1
1

2
"

1
'
-
9
1

2
"

5'-0"

11
1

2
"

3'-4"

18'-0"

3
'
-
1
1

2
"

3
'
-
1
"

3
'
-
8

"

7
'-
1
1
1 2

"

7
'-
3
"

6
'-
1
1
"

13'-6
1

2
"

2
1
'
-
8

"

25'-0"

5'-7
1

2
" 6'-8" 6'-7

1

2
" 6'-8"

1
8

'
-
2

"
1
3

'
-
1
"

5'-4" 18'-9"

2
'
-
5
1

2
"

3
'
-
0

"

16'-7"

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

proposed

floor plan

200
281

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
110

AutoCAD SHX Text
111

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A401

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A401

AutoCAD SHX Text
A401

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A401

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7d

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
7b

AutoCAD SHX Text
7a

AutoCAD SHX Text
7c

AutoCAD SHX Text
112

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A400

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A500

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A500

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
109

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A232

AutoCAD SHX Text
7g

AutoCAD SHX Text
A402

AutoCAD SHX Text
7e

AutoCAD SHX Text
7a

AutoCAD SHX Text
7f

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A704

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A704

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts

sheet notes

scale: nts

key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"

proposed furniture plan 

1

key notes

scale: nts

legend

xxx furniture tag. see schedules a. reference sheets for schedules

b. provide blocking in ceiling and/or walls as

required for ceiling / wall mounted millwork,

equipment, toilet & decorative accessories,

etc.

ada

 kitchen

dn to

basem.

bar

hall

dining

rr

ada

rr

patio

entry

waiting

rr

ada

rr

ada

entry

merch

host

server

server

portable

heaters

1'-11" 3'-0"

3
'
-
0

"

2
'
-
0

"
4

'
-
1
1

2
"

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

f1

f2

f3

b1

b1

b2

b1b1

t1

t1

t2

t1t1

t3 t3

t3 t3

t4 t4

t3
t4 t4 t3

b3 t5 b3 t5 b3 t5

t6 t6 t6

t6

t6

t6

t6

t6

t6

b4

ch1 ch1 ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

ch1

st1

st1

s1

f4 f4

st2

f5

server

f5

t7 t7

ch2

ch2

t7
t7

ch2

ch2

fire pits

b3 b3 b3

t7 t7

ch2

ch2

t7
t7

ch2

ch2

t7 t7

ch2

ch2

t7
t7

ch2

ch2

t7 t7

ch2

ch2

t7
t7

ch2

ch2

area seat count

interior dining 106 seats

outdoor patio 76 seats

proposed

city

standard

bike racks

proposed

wood

planter

boxes

with open

bottom

for

pervious

coverage

t7

ch2

ch2

ch2

t7

t7

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

proposed

furniture plan

210
282

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts

sheet notes

scale: nts

key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"

wall finish plan 

1

scale: nts

legend

ada

 kitchen

dn to

basem.

bar

hall

dining

rr

ada

rr

patio

entry

waiting

rr

ada

rr

ada

entry

t1 wall

frp1 below bar counter

co1 wall

pl1 wall

pt1 on wd1, high gloss, wall upper

wd2 trim

wd2 wainscott

wd2 base

pt3 on wd1, high gloss, wall upper

pt3 on wd1, trim

pt3 on wd1, wainscott

pt3 on wd1, base

t6 bullnose tile cap

t2 tile wall

t5 tile border

mt3 base

reference elevations for exact

tile layout around doors and

windows in restrooms.

pt4
high gloss, wall upper

t4 bullnose tile cap

t2 tile wall

t3 tile border

mt3 base

pt4
high gloss, wall upper

frp1 wall

a. reference 000 series sheets for schedules

b. reference elevations for more information.

key notes

specified finish

key notes

specified finish

rb1 base

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

wall finish plan

220
283

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: nts

sheet notes

scale: nts

key notes

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"

floor finish plan 

1

scale: nts

legend

 kitchen

dn to

basem.

bar

hall

dining

rr

ada

rr

patio

entry

waiting

rr

ada

rr

entry

co1

key notes

specified finish

floor finish transition. provide threshold

as required

key notes

specified finish a. all finishes are to comply with nfpa 101 2012

10.2.3.2 & 10.2.3.4.  products req'd to be

tested in accordance with astm e 84 or

ansi/ul 723 shall be classified as follows in

accordance with their flame spread index and

smoke developed index:

class a interior wall and ceiling shall be

characterized by the following:

(a) flame spread index, 0-25

(b) smoke developed index, 0-450

b. reference 000 series for schedules.

c. reference elevations for more information.

d. provide threshold transitions as required.

e. floor finishes to extend underneath millwork

and furniture, typ.

fl1

co1

fl1

co1

fl1

co2

br1

br1

br1

br1

4x8 carbon

black brick

paver in

running bond

pattern, per

cedar falls.

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

floor finish plan

230
284

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



key notes

scale: nts
legend

ceiling tag with type & height

scale: nts
sheet notes

scale: nts
key notes

a. reference schedules
b. provide blocking in ceiling and/or

walls as required for wall or ceiling
mounted: millwork, equipment, toilet
& decorative accesories, etc.

c. reference elevations for exact
horizontal & vertical location, uon

tectum panels to float below decking and hold
off existing bar joists. all conduit and power
to run between existing decking and tectum
panels. reference detail id-xxx for more
information

scale: 3/16" = 1'-0"
reflected ceiling plan1

light fixture occurs in furniture below.
provide wall mounted or floor mounted
receptacle. reference ffe details for more
information
light fixture occurs in millwork below.
provide j-box for hardwaire connection.
reference details for more information

s2

s2

s2

s2 s2

p1

s3

s3

p2 p2

p2 p2

p2 p2

p2 p2 p2 p2

led led

led

p4 p4

p4 p4

s4s4 s1

r1

r1

l1

p3

p3

r1

r1

s1

s1

r2

tr1 tr1 tr1 tr1

tr1 tr1 tr1tr1

tr1 tr1 tr1 tr1

tr1 tr1 tr1 tr1

tr1 tr1 tr1 tr1

tr1 tr1

tr1 tr1

tr1

tr1

tr1tr1

tr1tr1 tr1

tr1

tr1

tr1

k1

k1

k1

existing bar joists
at 48" oc

l

p led

r

s

r

tr

k
pendant led light fixutre

wall mounted led sconce

track led light fixture

directional recessed led fixture

recessed led fixture

linear led light fixture

lay-in led panel fixture

led tape occurs in millwork.
provide dimmable switch

sn custom neon signage

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

k1

TL1

TL1

p3

p3

p3

p3

p3
p3

s3

s3

sl
string light

tectum ceiling
panels

sn3

s5

l1

s6

 

s6

 

s2

CEILING SCHEDULE
Pattern Tag Ceiling Height Notes

A Descriptio
n:

American Tin Ceilings; Pattern #18;
Ceiling Panels Nailed Up to Wood
Substrate

See RCP -

Finish: PT1 in High Gloss Finish
B Descriptio

n:
Armstrong Tectum Ceiling
Panels

See RCP Panels to be suspended 1.5"
below existing decking to
conceal all conduit and

wires.Finish: PT4
C Descriptio

n: Drywall Dropped Ceiling
See RCP -

Finish: PT4
D Descriptio

n:
2x2 Armstrong Calla High CAC
Washable Ceiling Panels in Grid

See RCP -

Finish: White

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

proposed reflected
ceiling plan

300
285

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
xx

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

1

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

2

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

3

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

4
scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

5
scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

proposed exterior elevation

6

existing brick

painted pt6

paint existing windows exterior

trim and sill scheduled paint, pt6

existing brick

painted pt6

existing brick

painted pt6

proposed angled

illuminated

vaccuuform sign

proposed angled

illuminated

vaccuuform sign

proposed fabric awning with 5'-4"

projection, to be produced in a black

sunbrella commercial fabric by local

cedar falls manufacturer.

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted pt6

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted pt6

existing brick

painted pt6

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted pt6

scheduled

garage door

scheduled

garage door

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted pt6

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted pt6

existing clay tile cap

coping, painted

scheduled paint, pt6

existing windows

to remain

2'-2"

scheduled

door

scheduled

door

9'-0"

10'-6"

12'-10"

underside of roof structural

framing, to be exposed

12'-10"

underside of roof

structural framing,

to be exposed

12'-10"

underside of roof structural

framing, to be exposed

12'-10"

underside of roof structural

framing, to be exposed

12'-10"

underside of roof structural

framing, to be exposed

fenestration calculations:

main street elevation (a-400.1):

529 sq. ft. facade surface area between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

250 sq. ft. clear and highly transparent fenestrations

between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

47% total fenestration on facade

4th street elevation (a-400.2):

205 sq. ft. facade surface area between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

97 sq. ft. clear and highly transparent fenestrations between

2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

47% total fenestration on facade

4th street elevation (a-400.3):

272 sq. ft. facade surface area between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

102 sq. ft. clear and highly transparent fenestrations

between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

38% total fenestration on facade

4th street elevation (a-400.4):

103 sq. ft. facade surface area between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

38 sq. ft. clear and highly transparent fenestrations between

2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

37% total fenestration on facade

4th street elevation (a-400.5):

112 sq. ft. facade surface area between 2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

38 sq. ft. clear and highly transparent fenestrations between

2'-0" aff + 10'-0" aff

34% total fenestration on facade

lowered entry ceiling

lowered restroom ceiling

66'-2"

1
5

'
-
1
"

25'-7"

1
5

'
-
1
"

1
5

'
-
1
"

34'-0
1

2
"

-0'-5"

grade

0'-0"

floor

12'-11"

1
5

'
-
1
"

13'-11
1

2
"

0'-0"

floor

1
5

'
-
1
"

1
2

'
-
1
1
1

2
"

0'-0"

floor

33'-5"

0'-0"

interior slab

floor finish

-0'-1/2"

grade

0'-0"

interior slab

floor finish

scheduled

window

scheduled

door

scheduled

window

12"h steel c-channel

lintel, painted pt7

proposed painted graphic to wrap

corner of building, painted onsite by

by tommy taylor of super delicious

walls: ttaylorpainting@gmail.com /

718.344.6630

8
'
-
0
1

2
"

1
'
-
9
1

2
"

3
'
 
-
6

"
6

'
-
3
1

2
"

3'-4"
13'-0" 6'-5"

8
'
-
0
1

2
"

1
'
-
9
1

2
"

9
'
-
1
0

"

16'-2"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

7'-0" 3'-4" 7'-0"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

3'-4" 3'-4"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

3'-4"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

3'-4"

5'-1"

6
'
-
0

"

5'-1"

6
'
-
0

"

5'-1"

6
'
-
0

"

5'-1"

6
'
-
0

"

4
'
-
1
0

"

9
'
-
6

"
4

'
-
0

"

22'-5"

1
0

'
-
0

"

scheduled

windows

12"h steel c-channel lintel,

painted pt7

0'-0"

floor

scheduled

window

existing brick

painted pt6

scheduled

windows

existing brick

painted pt6

scheduled

windows

scheduled

window

8'-2
1

2
"

2
'
-
0

"
5

'
-
7
1

2
"

8'-2
1

2
"

4

A700

 

2

A704

1
0

'
-
0

"

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

proposed exterior

elevations

400
286

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



-0'-1/2"

exterior patio grade

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
proposed building section1

existing roof structure to
remain, new tpo membrane

over rigid built up
insullatoin on existing

corrugated decking proposed

12'-10"

underside of
roof structure

14'-9"

top of structure

slope
1
4" : 12

drop ceiling to be inlaid in
between steel joists at 48"

o.c., ceiling to be tectum
panels

proposed openings in existing
cmu wall out to patio area

existing partial
basement

(storage only) 7
'-

61
2

"

3'-2"

6
'-

9
"

8
'-

7
"

13
'-

5
"

11
'-

10
"

expo opening
to kitchen

hall to
restrooms

exterior
alleyway

bar

-0'-5"

exterior grade

tpo membrane to wrap up
existing parapet walls a
minumum of 10" with exterior
grade sealant

11'-10"

underside of
roof structure

12'-11"

top of structure

proposed metal coping
and new 6" box gutter along
extent of roofline at alley

adjacent
building

(business occ.)

finish floor slab

tpo membrane over rigid
insulation built up on
existing steel decking

11'-10"

underside of
roof structure

12'-11"

top of parapet

dropped washable ceiling in
kitchen with insulation above

0'-0"

kitchen

9
'-

0
"

existing partial
basement

(storage only)

dining entry / host

7
'-

0
"

12
'-

9
"

7
'-

0
" 9

'-
0

"

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
proposed building section2

exterior
row
4th

street

existing masonry exterior
wall with clay coping cap, new
tpo membrane to wrap up
parapet wall 10" min. with
cant strip and exterior grade
sealant

dropped grid tin ceiling

A

proposed building
section

500

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h an es . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

287

Item 26.



scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
entry elevation1 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

entry elevation2 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
entry elevation3

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
bar elevation1

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
patio elevation1

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
bar elevation1

painted wood, wd1
painted pt1 in high
gloss finish

wood trim,
wd2

wood wainscot,
wd2

wood
base, wd2

plaster wall
finish, pl1

board stamped concrete
wall finish, co3

tile, t1 in
running bond

wood bar front
paneling, wd2

wood, wd2 front
edge with zinc strap,
mt2 and inset stone

bar top, st1

board stamped
concrete wall
finish, co3

scheduled
door

scheduled
host stand

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
lighting

metal, mt1

scheduled retail
cabinet

painted wood, wd1
painted pt1 in high
gloss finish

wood trim,
wd2

wood wainscot,
wd2

wood
base, wd2

painted wood, wd1
painted pt1 in high
gloss finish

wood trim,
wd2

wood wainscot,
wd2

wood
base, wd2

scheduled
bench

george's

scheduled
door

scheduled
hardware

1
A701

 

scheduled
door

1
A702

existing joists
painted pt4

existing joists
painted pt4

scheduled
doors

scheduled
garage door

scheduled
garage door

scheduled
furniture

scheduled equipment by
kitchen designer

2
A701

 

3
A700

 1
A700

 2
A700

 

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

interior elevations

600
288

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
dining elevation1 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

dining elevation2

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
dining elevation3 scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

dining elevation3

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
restroom corridor elevation4

plaster,
plx

wd1 painted pt3
in high gloss

finish

wood trim, wd1
painted pt3 in

high gloss
finish

wood wainscot,
wd1 painted pt3

in high gloss
finish

wood base, wd1
painted pt3 in

high gloss
finish

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
restroom elevation7

4 2

american
flag by
owner

tile, tl6

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
restroom corridor elevation5

wd1 painted pt3
in high gloss
finish

wood trim, wd1
painted pt3 in
high gloss finish

wood wainscot,
wd1 painted pt3
in high gloss
finish

wood base, wd1
painted pt3 in
high gloss
finish

scheduled
lighting

scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"
restroom corridor elevation6

31

tile, tl2

tile, tl5

gypsum board
painted pt4
in high gloss
finish

gypsum board
painted pt4 in
high gloss
finish

a b c d

wd1 painted pt3
in high gloss
finish

wood trim, wd1
painted pt3 in
high gloss finish

wood wainscot,
wd1 painted pt3
in high gloss
finish

wood base, wd1
painted pt3 in
high gloss
finish

board
stamped
concrete
wall
finish, co3

existing joists
painted pt4

board
stamped
concrete
wall
finish, co3

existing joists
painted pt4

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
furniture scheduled

furniture

1
A703

board stamped
concrete wall
finish, co3

existing joists
painted pt4

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
furniture

scheduled
furniture

scheduled
lighting

plaster wall
finish, pl1

existing joists
painted pt4

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
furniture

plaster,
plx

existing joists
painted pt4

scheduled
lighting

scheduled
furniture

scheduled
doors

door numbers to be hand painted onsite by
tommy taylor of super delicious walls:
ttaylorpainting@gmail.com / 718.344.6630

scheduled
doors

door numbers to be hand painted onsite by
tommy taylor of super delicious walls:
ttaylorpainting@gmail.com / 718.344.6630

tile, tl6

tile, tl2

tile, tl5

gypsum board
painted pt4 in
high gloss
finish

2
A702

stone countertop,
st2 and stone

apron, st2 with zinc
strap, mt2

zinc towel bar and
legs, mt2

tile, t2

tile, t5

tile, t6

gypsum board
painted pt4 in
high gloss
finish

e f g

tile, tl6

tile, tl2

tile, tl5

gypsum board
painted pt4 in
high gloss
finish

tile, t5

tile, t6

tile, t2

scheduled
lighting

4
'-

 4
-3

/4
"

3
'-

0
"

3
'-

3
"

3
'-

8
"

3
'-

3
"

1'
-0

"

scheduled
lighting

1'
-0

"

3
'-

8
"

3
'-

3
"

201111

108 e 4th street
cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113
a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8
telephone. 770.780.1316
s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

interior elevations

601
289

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



scale: 1-1/2" = 1'-0"

wood planter box

1

section

1x6 pine wood top cap

1x6 plank pine wood sides

2x4 pine wood supports

5
1

2
"

2
'
-
3
1

2
"

4'-0"

2
'
-
4

"

post cap, blackened

steel, mt1

2" square tube stock,

blackened steel, mt1

2" square tube stock,

blackened steel, mt1

2-1/2" square tube stock

post, blackened steel, mt1

3

4" square tube pickets,

blackened steel, mt1

1

4" thick base plate,

blackened steel, mt1

3
1

2
"

2
"

2
'
-
4

3
4

"
2

"
4

"
2

"
2

"

3
'
-
8

"

4'-1" 4'-1"

3 
3

4" typ

a. section b. elevation

scale: 1-1/2" = 1'-0"

railing detail

3

8 
1

4" typ

scale: 1-1/2" = 1'-0"

illuminated sign detail

2

2" square stock,

blackened steel, mt1

1

4" thick flange, blackened

steel, mt1

proposed illuminated

vaccuuform sign by

others

proposed illuminated

vaccuuform sign by

others

2" square stock,

blackened steel, mt1

1

4" thick flange, blackened

steel, mt1

6'-10
1

2
"

4
'
-
1
0

3
4

"

3
"

5'-4"

1
0

3
4

"

2'-9" 2'-3
3

4
"

6'-2
3

4
"

3
'
-
2

"

see A-400 drawing 3

for mounting height

201111

108 e 4th street

cedar falls, ia 50613

108 e 4th

949 w marietta st nw #x-113

a t l a n t a ,  g a  3 0 3 1 8

telephone. 770.780.1316

s m i t h @ s m i t h h a n e s . c o m

© 2020 smith hanes design llc

released for construction

02/08/2021

A

exterior details

704
290

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text
drawing name:

AutoCAD SHX Text
job number:

AutoCAD SHX Text
date of issue:



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

 DATE: February 23, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Remodel review of property in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District floor plan for 
the addition of bedrooms at 704-706 W 28th Street (Project #DR20-008) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Owner: Wes Geisler 

LOCATION: 704-706 W 28th Street 
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
This request involves a remodel of a duplex 
at 704-706 W 28th Street. For each unit this 
proposal includes: adding two bedrooms, 
adding a second bathroom, remodeling the 
kitchen, relocating the upstairs bathroom, and 
providing additional common living space. 
The property is located in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District and a 
review by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council is required for 
adding bedrooms to a duplex in the district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District was established for the preservation of 
neighborhood character and the stabilization of its neighborhoods after a long history of 
changes and updates to properties that typically increased occupancies and detracted from the 
original intent of those properties and neighborhoods. This trend and the establishment of the 
Overlay called for more scrutiny when reviewing changes that may affect the character of the 
neighborhood. 
 
This property is located within the R-2, Residence District of the College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay Zoning District (Section 26-181). The Overlay defines the adding of bedrooms to a 
duplex as a substantial improvement. A substantial improvement requires review and approval 

291

Item 27.



by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council. The criteria listed in the Overlay 
requires that the following be considered in this review: change in density, minimum on-site 
parking requirements, parking lot standards, stormwater drainage, open space/ landscaping 
requirements, and other provisions as applicable in the code. 
 
The property in question has been a registered rental 
since May 2001. The petitioner purchased this property in 
October 2020 with the intent that it continue as a rental but 
is seeking to double the occupancy of the property by 
adding two additional bedrooms to each unit. Currently, 
each unit has two bedrooms and 760 square feet of 
finished floor space. The proposed remodel would bring 
the number of bedrooms to four per unit (eight total) and 
1520 square feet of finished floor space per unit (3040 
total). 
 
ANALYSIS 
The existing building at 704-706 W 
28th Street is a single story 
structure. The building is 74 feet 
wide by 38 feet deep and resides 
on a lot that is 149 feet wide by 70 
feet deep (10,430 ft²). No changes 
to the building envelope are being 
proposed aside from window wells 
that are required for basement 
bedrooms. There are two 
driveways: one that is 22 feet wide 
by 40 feet deep which leads to two one-stall garages, and another that is 20 feet wide by 44 feet 
deep which was paved recently and runs along the west side of the house. The following is an 
evaluation of the proposed remodel according to standards outlined in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District and other applicable codes: 
 

1. Change in density: The properties in the surrounding neighborhood are predominantly 
rental properties. However, several of the properties within view of this one are owner-
occupied. While it is perfectly appropriate for this property to be a rental, doubling the 
occupancy may not be appropriate given the increased traffic, activity, and changes in 
neighborhood character that would result. 
 
The disposition of the Technical Review Committee was that the original design and 
carrying capacity of the property was not intended to serve 8 persons aged 18 years or 
older. The original building was constructed as a one-story ranch-style duplex. Each 
dwelling unit contains two modest-sized bedrooms, one bathroom, a small kitchen and a 
modest sized living room. The garage spaces are recessed from the front façade with 
one garage space for each unit and room for one car parked behind that space in the 
driveway, so as originally designed the dwelling provided two parking spaces per unit to 
match the number of bedrooms in each unit. The building is situated so that each unit 
had usable outdoor space accessed from a side door out to a small patio space. Until 
recently, each of these outdoor patios was screened by mature shrubbery to provide a 
semi-private outdoor space for each unit. At 760 square feet of finished space each 

292

Item 27.



dwelling unit as it currently exists is a modest space for two adults or a small family to 
occupy.  
 
The additional finished space in the basement, as proposed by the applicant, can 
certainly accommodate more people. However, this review is not necessarily to consider 
the appropriateness of the internal changes but to consider the external effects. 
Preserving neighborhood character is a priority of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District. Staff finds that the addition of bedrooms and associated increase in residential 
occupancy may have a negative effect on this particular neighborhood’s character for a 
number of reasons.  Doubling the residential occupancy of this property will result in an 
increase in the number of cars parked on the property, associated traffic from those cars 
and visitors, increased parking accommodations causing the loss of mature trees and 
usable outdoor space, and wear and tear of higher occupancy on this modest-sized 
property. 
 
Additional density may be appropriate, even desirable, in other areas of College Hill 
closer to campus and the mixed-use business district, but this is a lower-scale residential 
neighborhood that still has a marked residential character of modest-sized single family 
homes and duplexes with generous yards and mature landscaping and trees. That 
residential character is still possible to preserve. 
 
In the January 27th Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting the consensus was to 
request that staff provide more detail regarding the current density of properties within the 
neighborhood. 
 
Before examining this detail, it is important to take into account that current occupancy 
levels are not guaranteed to continue indefinitely. Current code and required reviews will 
cause many of these occupancy levels to decrease when these properties are sold or 
transferred. It has been the intent of the most recent rental housing ordinance to 
gradually reduce occupancy levels so that the rental burden on neighborhoods is 
moderated. 
 
To the right is a color-coded 
map of the immediate 
neighborhood. Each property 
in this graphic sits at least 350 
feet from the intersection 
where the subject property 
sits. The following is what 
each color means: 

 Blue = Owner-occupied 

 Green = less than four 
occupants 

 Yellow = four 
occupants 

 Orange = five to seven 
occupants 

 Red = eight occupants 
 

293

Item 27.



Here are some important highlights: 

 The occupancy of those immediately adjacent to the subject property have low to 
moderate occupancy levels (four or less). 

 Several owner-occupied properties are within close proximity. 

 Those in red with eight occupants are significantly larger parcels than the subject 
property. 

 
Below is the occupancy detail for each rental property noting which ones are duplexes 
and which ones will be subject to review and potential occupancy reduction upon sale or 
transfer. Some properties at sale or transfer have already been reduced as staff has 
applied the current rental housing regulations intended to stabilize neighborhoods. Staff 
finds that adding density at this time is contrary to the goals of those regulations. 
 

 
 

2. Minimum on-site parking requirements: The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District 
requires one parking stall per bedroom for duplexes. The required dimension of one 
parking stall for residential uses is 8’ by 18’. While tandem parking is not optimal for all 
situations, Section 26-220 outlines general parking requirements and allows tandem 
stalls to be counted for duplexes. Tandem means no more than two stalls arranged one 
in front of the other. By this standard, the property has enough parking to accommodate 
eight persons (four cars on each driveway). Therefore, the site technically meets the 
requirement. However, with potentially eight cars associated with this property it is 
important to note that the logistics of tandem parking may cause several tenants to park 

Street Address Housing Type Occupancy Notes

802-804 W 28th Duplex 8 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

801-803 W 28th Duplex 8 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

8001-8003 University Ave. Duplex 8 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

7911 W University Ave. Duplex 7 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

722-724 W 28th Duplex 6

7921 W University Ave. Duplex 6

7815 W University Ave. Duplex 5

7809 W University Ave. Duplex 5

7803 W University Ave. Duplex 5

801-803 W 29th Duplex 4

7917-7919 University Ave. Duplex 4

2821 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2815 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2809 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2705 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2704 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2722 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

2822 Walnut Single-Family 4 Subject to review/reduction at sale or transfer

716 W 28th Single-Family 3

2810 Walnut Single-Family 3

610 W 28th Single-Family 3

721 W 29th Single-Family 2

513 W 28th Single-Family 2

7715 W University Ave. Single-Family 2

294

Item 27.



on the street.  
 

3. Parking lot standards: A parking lot is defined as an area designated for parking three or 
more vehicles. However, the standards for parking lots do not apply to driveways 
servicing duplexes even where tandem parking is intended/allowed. 
 

4. Stormwater drainage: Stormwater detention requirements do not apply to duplexes. 
 

5. Open space/ landscaping requirements: This criterion regulates the width of driveways in 
the required front and side yards to no more than 18 feet wide. The recently constructed 
driveway exceeds this limit. The driveway technically should have gone through a 
mandatory review and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 
Council. A recent code review by staff brought this requirement to light. 
 
Also, the front and side yards are required to be landscaped with grass, shrubbery, and 
trees in a manner consistent with the residential neighborhood. The recently constructed 
second driveway has already detracted from the residential character of the 
neighborhood and significantly reduced the amount of accessible outdoor living space for 
prospective tenants. 
 
On the west side of the duplex there was a 
patio screened with bushes and a fence that 
were removed as part of that project. To the 
right you’ll see a picture that shows a view 
from the street prior to the project and 
another picture of the parking area showing 
all landscaping removed. Neighborhood 
decline due to unsightly exterior issues is a 
primary reason these reviews are required in 
the Overlay. Fortunately, the patio and 
landscaping serving the other side of the 
duplex were preserved. The applicant is 
required at minimum to replace the grass but it 
makes sense as part of this review to require 
that trees and shrubs be replaced as a 
condition of retroactive approval for the 
driveway. 
 

TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
There was concern by CFU about the placement of 
egress windows too close to the gas meters outside; 
a 3 foot setback was requested. The applicant has 
indicated that this setback will be maintained.  
 
With regard to the current condition of the property, staff has visited the site and found the below 
maintenance items and potential code issues that need to be addressed. These maintenance 
items will be a condition of receiving their rental permit. 

1. Clean face of gutters 
2. Touch up paint as needed at windows 
3. Repair/replace rear siding 

295

Item 27.



4. Stairs need to be replaced at the rear door if the rear door is to remain 
 
Notification of this case was sent to adjacent property owners on 2/1/2021. As of this writing, 
City Staff and the Commission received written and oral public comments from four owner 
occupants indicating concerns about this case. Written correspondences are included as 
attachments to this staff report. Oral public comments made in the Planning and Zoning 
Commission Meeting were noted in the minutes. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
To preserve neighborhood character and maintain consistency with the original carrying 
capacity of this dwelling as appropriate to its context, staff recommends that this request to add 
4 bedrooms to the building be denied. After review and discussion, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission voted 4 to 3 to recommend denial. 
 
Staff also recommends that the City Council retroactively approve the second driveway subject 
to the below condition.  

 Landscaping must be replaced to restore what was removed, including a minimum of two 
overstory trees, front yard plantings, and shrubs to screen the parking from the abutting 
property. The design and placement of plants should screen the paved vehicular areas 
from view of the neighbors and help soften the view of the new paved area from the 
street. 

The Planning and Zoning Commission on a vote of 4 to 3 chose to table this matter and not 
make a recommendation. 
 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
1/27/2021 

The first item of business was a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Review for 
704-706 W. 28th Street. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided 
background information. He explained that the request is to remodel an existing 
duplex on the southwest corner of 28th and Walnut Streets in the R-2 district in 
the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay. The proposal is to add bedrooms and 
other appropriate updates in order to double the rental occupancy of the property. 
Parking would have been an issue, but the applicant has already constructed a 
second driveway with a permit. However, it should have been brought before the 
Commission for review. The overlay defines the addition of bedrooms to a duplex 
as a substantial improvement, which requires approval by the Commission and 
City Council. Currently, each unit has two bedrooms and it is proposed to add an 
additional two to each unit.  
 
Mr. Sevy discussed the criteria for review, such as change in density. He noted 
factors that detract from the neighborhood character, including:  

 increased number of cars associated with the property,  
 traffic increase from those cars and visitors,  
 increased parking accommodations causing a loss of mature trees and 

usable outdoor space,  
 and wear and tear of increasing the occupancy in a modest sized property.  

 
He also discussed minimum on-site parking requirements, noting that the 
requirement is one parking space per bedroom for a duplex. The Code allows 

296

Item 27.



tandem parking for duplexes to count toward this requirement; however it is 
important to consider the practical logistics for eight roommates and their visitors. 
With regard to open space and landscaping requirements, the maximum driveway 
width is 18 feet with front and side yards landscaped with grass, shrubbery and 
trees. The current parking expansion has decreased outdoor living space and 
landscaping was lost and will need to be replaced.  
 
Staff recommends denial of the proposal; however, if the Commission should 
choose to approve it, staff recommends that approval be subject to the condition 
that maintenance items in the staff report be included in the renovation. These 
include cleaning the face of gutters, touching up paint as needed at the windows, 
repairing and replacing rear siding, which is intended based on a letter from the 
applicant. Stairs at the rear door will also need to be replaced. Staff also 
recommends approval retroactively of the second driveway subject to the 
condition that landscaping be replaced to restore what was removed. The 
placement and design of the plants should screen the paved vehicular areas from 
the view of neighbors and help soften the view of the new paved area from the 
street. 
 
Mr. Holst asked what the intent for the item is at this time. Does the Commission 
discuss at this meeting and continue to the next meeting or should a decision be 
made at this time? Ms. Howard stated that this is up to the Commission. Mr. Holst 
asked if there has been any contact with surrounding homeowners. Mr. Sevy 
noted that there has not. Mr. Holst felt that it would be good to inform neighbors 
before making this decision.  
 
Mr. Larson asked when the driveway was done. Mr. Sevy explained that it was 
done in October. Mr. Larson then asked if there have been any complaints with 
regard to the expansion. Mr. Sevy stated that there has not. Mr. Larson asked 
how far the driveway is out of compliance. Mr. Sevy stated that it is two feet 
beyond the regular requirement and that staff is recommending approval of the 
driveway. Mr. Larson asked if this is potentially setting a precedent. Ms. Howard 
explained that this would typically have gone through the Commission for 
approval; however, this one was missed in the approval process as needing to be 
reviewed as part of the College Hill Overlay.  
 
Wes Geisler, petitioner, stated that the majority of the houses in the area already 
rentals. He also noted that he purchased the property from the owner and said he 
would complete the paving of the gravel approach the City was asking to be 
done. He also added the other driveway, and did take out bushes to do that, 
however the other two trees were removed by the previous owner. He noted that 
he will also complete the maintenance items mentioned, noting that he intends to 
remove the door at the back, making the stairs unnecessary.  
 
Mr. Holst again noted that he feels the neighbors should be notified and the item 
continued to the next meeting.  
 
Mr. Holst made a motion to table the item to the February 10, 2021 meeting as 
the notice should have been sent to neighboring properties. Ms. Lynch seconded 
the motion.  

297

Item 27.



 
Ms. Prideaux asked about the density of the surrounding homes. Ms. Howard 
stated that they can provide that information. Mr. Sevy noted that he did look into 
the immediate surrounding homes and found that they are approved for four 
individuals on those lots.  
 
Mr. Larson felt that it sets a bad precedent to deter a homeowner from improving 
their property. Ms. Saul agreed. Ms. Howard clarified that the issue is with adding 
density, not making improvements. Ms. Lynch reiterated that she would like more 
information on the density in the neighborhood. Mr. Schrad agreed. Mr. Hartley 
asked if it is allowed on this property, would it then set the precedent for other 
properties to do the same.  
 
The motion was approved unanimously with 9 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad and Sears), and 0 nays. 

Discussion 
and Vote 
2/10/2021 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay Review for 704-706 W. 28th Street. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. 
Sevy provided background information. This item is being brought back to the 
Commission from the last Planning and Zoning meeting. Mr. Sevy explained that the 
proposal is to add bedrooms and other appropriate updates to the property with the intent 
to double the rental occupancy of the property. A further consideration is the additional 
driveway that was permitted and constructed but should have been reviewed by the 
Commission. Each unit currently has two bedrooms and 760 square feet of finished floor 
space. The proposed remodel would bring each unit to four bedrooms and a total of 
1,520 square feet. The addition of bedrooms in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District requires review and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission. The intent 
of the District is to preserve neighborhood character, stabilize neighborhoods and 
provide more scrutiny with changes in density and other factors that affect 
neighborhoods in the Overlay.  
 
 Mr. Sevy discussed the change in density and explained that the original design 
and intent of the property was not to accommodate 8 people, and that doubling the 
occupancy will have external effects that are anticipated to detract from the character of 
the neighborhood. Those factors include increase number of cars associated with the 
property, increased traffic from those cars and visitors, increased need for parking 
accommodations that will reduce mature trees and usable outdoor space and wear and 
tear of higher occupancy on a modest sized property. He displayed a map of the 
neighborhood showing the occupancy level of the homes in the area, and clarified that 
the levels may change upon sales of properties. He discussed the driveways associated 
with the property and open space/landscaping requirements. Although the new driveway 
was not approved by the Commission and is slightly larger than allowed, for practical 
reasons, the owner will not be expected to reduce the width of the driveway. However, 
landscaping requirements will need to be met. Staff recommends denial of the request to 
add bedrooms, but also recommends that the Commission retroactively approve the 
second driveway with the conditions that landscaping be added to restore what was 
removed. He clarified that the denial of the additional units is based on density, not on 
making improvements to the property.  
 
 Mr. Schrad asked if this property would be allowed if it started with one bedroom 
per unit upgrading to three. Mr. Sevy explained the process of reviewing the criteria and 
how that would be determined. Mr. Larson asked about the retroactive approval of the 
driveway and whether the permit has been opened and closed. He also asked if the 
landscaping item was tied into that part of the request. Mr. Sevy replied that he was not 

298

Item 27.



certain if the permit had been closed, but the work has been finished on the driveway. He 
indicated that the landscaping recommendation was related to the parking.  
 
 Wes Geisler, 5373 S. Hudson Road, addressed a complaint from a nearby 
neighbor about on-street parking, stating that he believes the tenants would choose to 
park in tandem in the driveway as opposed to parking further away on the street. He 
provided information on comparable properties nearby to show why he feels his project 
should be allowed. He also noted that he intends to replace the landscaping as soon as 
the weather cooperates.  
 
 Bob Diedrichs, owner of 2804 Walnut Street, commented that the College Hill 
Overlay Plan was a way for the neighbors to know what they could and couldn’t do within 
the area. He stated that if the project does not fall within the guidelines of the plan, 
exceptions should not be made or there is no purpose to the plan.  
  
 Sue Doody, 2816 Walnut Street, stated concerns with the project. She feels that 
this project is counter to the way the duplex was originally designed to create two modest 
sized units. She also believes that the change that required all parking to be concrete is 
creating more flooding issues on her street when it rains. If more people and more 
parking continued to be added, this will affect homes in the area. She also noted that 
during the development of the College Hill Plan that one of the goals was to maintain a 
diversity of housing for many different people, not just college students. She feels that 
this is an increase to density but will reduce the diversity of housing in the area.  
 
 Mr. Holst made a motion to approve the driveway with the recommended 
landscaping requirements. As there was no second the Commission continued 
discussion. 
 
 Mr. Larson noted that he is not comfortable retroactively approving the driveway 
and then approving requirements that have not been done. He moved to permanently 
table the driveway item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion.  
 
 Ms. Howard asked for clarification on what the Commission would intend by 
tabling the item.  Mr. Larson explained that he feels that the item is a moot point at this 
time and he feels that this is the way to dismiss the item. Mr. Holst stated that he believes 
that the applicant needs to have some closure stating that the City issued the permit prior 
to Commission reviewing it so this would be the opportunity for the Commission to make 
a recommendation to Council so that the matter could be settled. He stated that he 
believes it is the Commission’s role to give a recommendation on this matter. Mr. Larson 
stated that he doesn’t feel comfortable approving something that is in violation. He 
doesn’t feel the Commission should approve or deny the item. Ms. Howard clarified the 
Commission role in this matter as a recommending body to the Council. It is the City 
Council that ultimately approves or denies or approves with conditions. Mr. Larson asked 
if it would be appropriate to defer the item until the item could be discussed with the City 
Attorney.  
 
 Mr. Larson made the motion to table the item regarding the driveway until it can 
be discussed with the City Attorney. Ms. Saul seconded the motion. The motion was 
approved with 4 ayes (Larson, Lynch, Saul and Schrad) and 3 nays (Hartley, Holst and 
Leeper).  
 
 Discussion regarding density resumed. Mr. Holst noted that he was contacted by 
Melanie Griffith and a letter was distributed to the Commission. He did encourage her 
and neighbors to attend the meeting to voice their concerns. Mr. Schrad also noted his 

299

Item 27.



concern with the density. Mr. Sevy and Ms. Howard gave further insight into the added 
scrutiny for housing in the College Hill Overlay District.  
 
 Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the added bedrooms. Mr. Larson seconded 
the motion.  

 There was brief discussion regarding the intent of the overlay and thoughts 
regarding the project.   

 The motion was denied with 3 ayes (Larson, Lynch and Saul), and 4 (Hartley, 
Holst, Leeper, and Schrad) nays.  

  
 
Attachments: 
Current Main Floorplan 
Current Basement Floorplan 
Proposed Main Floorplan 
Proposed Basement Floorplan 
Applicant Letter of Intent 
Public Comments Submitted 

300

Item 27.



301

Item 27.



302

Item 27.



303

Item 27.



304

Item 27.



305

Item 27.



1

Chris Sevy

From: Karen Howard
Sent: Sunday, January 31, 2021 7:37 PM
To: Chris Sevy
Subject: Fwd: Do not allow four new bedrooms at 704-706 W 28th Street

Chris,  
Correspondence to forward to P&Z.  

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Melanie Griffith <melaniegriffith@cfu.net> 
Date: January 30, 2021 at 2:57:53 PM PST 
To: Karen Howard <karen.howard@cedarfalls.com> 
Subject: Do not allow four new bedrooms at 704-706 W 28th Street 

CAUTION: This email originated outside the City of Cedar Falls email system. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is 
safe. 
 
 
 
Please do not allow four new bedrooms at 704-706 W 28th Street. We have already experienced 
over-parking at times on our end of the street (514 W 28th Street) from students parking and 
going to class. Depending on the weather and how they park, it can be difficult to navigate our 
way out. My husband and I recently sold the property mentioned and were happy to hear that the 
young buyer planned on making “improvements.” However, adding four more bedrooms really 
increases the need for more than the additional four spots because people do have friends! 
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration 
 
Melanie Griffith 
319 215-2647 
 
 

306

Item 27.



To: Planning and Zoning Commission of Cedar Falls.  
 
I have owned the house at 2804 Walnut street since 1966. It is across the street east of 
704 W. 28th street.  
 
When we moved in, I think all the residences east of College Street were single family. 
The first two families west of us on 28th were Jim Walmsley and Professor Robert 
Waller, and 704 W. 28 was an empty lot. Things have changed, but it’s still a nice place 
to live.  
 
Over time, the areas surrounding UNI changed and the College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay District was established. One problem was the increasing number of vehicles. A 
residence housing a family with two vehicles is one thing. The same residence housing 
four people, each with a vehicle, is likely to have two vehicles on the street or on a slab 
next to the house.  There is no question but that the changes proposed for the duplex at 
704/06 W. 28th will have vehicles parked in yard space.  That is my primary concern.  
 
Commuting students park in this area. From College to Walnut street, vehicles are 
moved to alternate sides of the street each day. As shown below, the “parking side” of 
the street is full when UNI is in session.  
 

 
 
Below is a closer (alternate) view of the area in the upper right, above.  It shows a boat 
parked across from 704 W. 28. It was parked there during the summer and moved to 
the other side each day. I don’t know who the boat belonged to but it is another example 

307

Item 27.



of items for which local residents need storage space. If you have a lot of “stuff” it is 
easier to store it in the garage and move the car to the street.   
 

 
 
As noted above, my concern is the new driveway to the west. I believe it is there to 
provide space for four more vehicles. It would not be the first place with vehicles parked 
in the front yard, but it is not attractive. It is already over width and informal widening for 
another vehicle or boat would add to the problem.  For an example of that, see the drive 
at 2010 Walnut, below, where a previous owner widened the single lane drive to 
accommodate additional vehicles in front of the car port. 
 

 

308

Item 27.



 
I’m curious about item 3, Parking lot standards, in the Background Analysis. I’m not 
familiar with the standards for parking lots but, to me, “driveways servicing duplexes” 
implies a driveway leading to a garage or car port. Is a parking area in the yard – or 
another area nearby – OK so long as the stated purpose is for “servicing the duplex?”  
 
I ask that the request be denied.  
 
Thanks for considering my comments.  
 
Bob Diedrichs  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

309

Item 27.



 1	

Manette	Scallon	
715	W	28th	St.	
Cedar	Falls,	IA	50613	
	
February	8th,	2021	
	
Chris	Sevy,	City	Planner	
Department	of	Community	Development	
220	Clay	St.	
Cedar	Falls,	IA	50613	
	
I	would	like	to	thank	the	committee	for	deferring	the	decision	at	the	last	meeting	and	sending	the	
notification	regarding	the	College	Hill	Neighborhood	Overlay	District	Remodel	Application	to	add	
bedrooms	on	the	property	at	704-706	W	28th	Street.	
	
I	live	across	the	street	from	said	duplex.	Therefore,	have	an	interest	in	what	is	taking	place	in	the	
neighborhood.	I	am	also	a	landlord	doing	business	in	both	Waterloo	and	Cedar	Falls	with	one	of		
the	rental	properties	located	in	this	overlay	district.	As	such,	I	have	a	unique	situation	of	seeing	
multiple	perspectives	on	issues	being	brought	forth	in	this	area.	
	
Regarding	new	driveway:	
I	have	read	the	agenda	packet	available	online,	watched	the	video,	and	read	the	Courier	article.	As	
an	owner-occupant,	I	am	very	disheartened	to	hear	the	committee	state	retroactive	approval	of	the	
driveway.		
	
Last	fall,	I	was	stunned	to	see	all	the	bushes	and	the	privacy	fence	being	removed.	The	bushes	and	
privacy	fence	shielded	the	patio	from	view	and	muffled	the	noise	of	outdoor	gatherings.	Additional	
concrete	and	cars	versus	green	lawn	and	landscaping	have	already	changed	the	aesthetic	view	from	
my	home.	This	does	impact	the	neighborhood	character.	Previously	this	property	looked	like	a	nice	
family-style	residential	home.	Now	it	looks	like	a	conversion	of,	“let’s	cram	as	many	as	we	can	into	
this	lot.”	
	
I	have	concerns	about	precedence	being	established	that	may	generate	an	attitude	of,	“it’s	easier		
to	seek	forgiveness	(an	exemption)	than	to	get	permission”	for	homeowners	or	landlords	in	the	
overlay	district.	In	2016,	I	replaced	my	badly	deteriorated	concrete	driveway,	with	a	permit	and	
obtained	permission	to	add	a	flare	out	to	the	west	of	my	garage	for	parking	my	camper	van.	
However,	I	was	DENIED	a	variance	to	the	18	ft	width	limit	when	I	sought	to	make	it	20	ft	wide.	
	
During	the	past	few	summers,	I	have	seen	four	or	five	driveways	widened	by	several	feet,	on	this	
block	of	28th	Street.	I	doubt	the	work	went	through	the	Department	of	Community	Development	
commission.	I	cannot	definitively	affirm	if	it	did	or	did	not.	But	if	it	was	approved,	it	makes	me	
question	my	denial	when	all	around	me	others	can	have	permission	granted	or	retroactive	
approval.	
	
Regarding	interior	remodel:	
I	believe	it	is	a	total	overreach	of	governmental	authority	when	a	commission	begins	to	dictate	what	
a	person	can	and	cannot	do	to	upgrade/improve	a	property	investment,	provided	permits	are	
obtained	and	building	codes	are	met.	As	a	landlord,	this	angers	me.	Landlords	should	not	be	
prohibited	from	making	improvements	equal	to	owner-occupant	improvements.	If	permissible	for	

310

Item 27.



 2	

owner-occupants,	it	ought	to	be	permissible	for	landlords–no	discriminatory	double	standards.	Use	
the	same	rules	for	both.		
	
Regarding	street	parking:	
Density	is	an	issue	of	its	own.	Know	this	fact:	if	every	home	in	the	College	Hill	Neighborhood	
Overlay	District	were	owner-occupied	there	would	still	be	cars	parked	on	streets	due	to	students	
and	or	staff	who	commute	from	further	away.		
	
When	my	daughter	attended	UNI,	a	couple	of	decades	ago,	she	would	park	as	close	to	campus	as		
she	could	and	walk	from	car	to	campus	(usually	3-5	blocks).	Currently,	my	adult	granddaughter	
who	commutes	from	40	minutes	away	to	attend	UNI	does	the	same	thing.	In	the	neighborhoods	
near	the	campus,	there	will	be	cars	during	school	sessions.	Not	all	can	purchase	parking	permits		
for	the	campus	parking	lots.	There	are	more	students	than	available	parking	stalls	on	campus.	
	
Thank	you	for	taking	time	to	hear	my	thoughts.	Thank	you	for	careful	consideration	of	the	issues.	
	
Respectfully	submitted,	

	
Manette	Scallon	

311

Item 27.



1

Chris Sevy

From: Karen Howard
Sent: Tuesday, February 9, 2021 5:53 PM
To: Abby Sears; Amanda Lynch; Brad Leeper; Dale Schrad; 'Dave Hartley'; Kyle Larson; 'Lea 

Ann Saul'; Leslie Prideaux; Mardy Holst
Cc: Chris Sevy
Subject: FW: 704-706 W. 28th Street

Planning and Zoning Commissioners,  
 
You may have received something directly from Ms. Griffith and we included some correspondence from her in your 
packet and by email.  I am forwarding this email exchange she had with Dale so that everyone has the same information 
(see below).   
 
If you recieve any correspondence directly please forward to me so I can distribute to all.  Please advise anyone who 
contacts you outside a meeting to contact me or email the planning inbox: Planning@cedarfalls.com    Please also do not 
email to each other as that may inadvertently result in an unpublished online meeting that would be a violation of the 
open meetings laws.  
 
Thank you and see you tomorrow evening! 
 
-Karen 
 

From: daleschrad@gmail.com [mailto:daleschrad@gmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, February 8, 2021 2:58 PM 
To: Karen Howard 
Subject: Fwd: 704-706 W. 28th Street 
 

CAUTION: This email originated outside the City of Cedar Falls email system. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

 

Here is an email some commission members received.  Dale  

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Melanie Griffith <melaniegriffith@cfu.net> 
Date: February 2, 2021 at 10:48:52 AM CST 
To: Dale Schrad <daleschrad@gmail.com> 
Subject: Re: 704-706 W. 28th Street 

PS   
Just making sure the P&Z is keeping in mind that right now the number of students/cars is less 
due to COVID. 
 
Joe says Hi! 

312

Item 27.



2

Sent from my iPad 
 

On Feb 1, 2021, at 2:21 PM, Melanie Griffith <melaniegriffith@cfu.net> wrote: 

  
Thanks for the reply! 
Sorry, I did not remember your name or I would have been more personal. 
 
Regarding the Duplex.... More people means more rent for the landlord, 
but we never had more than two people per side, though we were allowed 
four.  
Even so... 
Before we sold, I needed to stop by the West side, but the young married 
couple parked tandem in their driveway (because their garage was packed 
full of stuff!)  
so there was no room for me to park. I didn't want to park in the other 
tenants space in case she came back and there was NO parking to be 
found up, down or around the streets!  
I drove home and parked in our driveway and walked back wondering 
what a service vehicle would have done. 
 
It's disappointing. We became landlords out of Self Defense, so we could 
control properties near us. We never actively sought properties.  
Landlords knew us or neighbors were going to move and asked if we were 
interested in buying. 
   
People forget or they don't understand because they don't live nearby so 
they don't experience the problems.  
More is not always better. 
 
Regarding Joe, he has been playing Pickle Ball!  I'll tell him you asked 
about his golf game. :) 
 

 
From: "Dale Schrad" <daleschrad@gmail.com> 
To: "Melanie Griffith" <melaniegriffith@cfu.net> 
Sent: Monday, February 1, 2021 12:56:38 PM 
Subject: Re: 704-706 W. 28th Street 
 
Thanks for the email expressing your concern.  Sorry as a member of the 
P & Z I cannot render an opinion to you but I will bring all your concerns to 
our next meeting.  Density is a concern for the members and as I do my 
research on the neighbor, by driving during different times of the week, 
Walnut shows no problem, as the city has put up No Parking signs on both 
sides of the street.  28th street is a parking nightmare.   How is Joe's golf 
game?  Dale 
 
On Mon, Feb 1, 2021 at 11:57 AM Melanie Griffith 
<melaniegriffith@cfu.net> wrote: 

313

Item 27.



3

I am concerned about the consequences of adding four bedrooms to 704-
706 W 28th Street and suggest a compromise of two additional bedrooms 
instead of four.  My husband and I live down the street at 514 W 28th, 
own 610 W 28th and recently sold the duplex to Wes as we are 
attempting to retire from being landlords.  
We are already experiencing congestion from students parking on our 
dead end, making it difficult to navigate. As landlords, we realize that with 
renters, come friends, especially when they are students. You can’t 
provide parking for renters friends, but you can limit the number of 
renters. 
 
Thank you for your consideration in this matter. 
 
Melanie Griffith 

 

314

Item 27.



315

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I 

 DATE: February 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: 6607 University Avenue Site Plan Revision for Starbeck’s Smokehouse 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

S-I, Shopping Center District Site and Facade Plan Review  
 

PETITIONER: 
 

JDavis Properties LLC, owner; Levi Architecture 
 

LOCATION: 
 

6607 University Avenue 
 

 
PROPOSAL:   
JDavis Properties, LLC is completing the final build out for one of the portion of the old 
Hy-Vee building on University Avenue. This includes completing tenant space for 
Starbeck Smokehouse approximately 2,900 square feet, part of Suite-B (Approx. 5320 
Sq.ft.), located in the north-west corner of the 
building at 6607 University Avenue.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
College Square Mall Development LLC (GK 
Development) owned the College Square Mall 
(including the Hy-Vee properties) from 2004-
2014. In 2013, GK Development created three 
lots through a minor subdivision plat: Parcels 
D, E & F. Parcel D is Hy-Vee Wine and Spirits, 
Parcel E is the existing Hy-Vee grocery store, 
and Parcel F is the former Hy-Vee store where 
Slumberland furniture is located. The current 
owner purchased the property in the winter of 
2016 for the development of the building on 
Parcel F.  
 
This property is S-1, Shopping Center District, 
similar to the Mall property. The purpose of this district is to provide for the development 

Parcel 

F Parcel  

E 

P
a

rc
e

l 
D

 

316

Item 29.



of shopping centers. Any changes or modifications or amendments to the plans for the 
commercial use and development of property in the S-1 zone shall be reviewed by the 
planning and zoning staff. If the change is deemed insignificant in nature, the staff may 
recommend to the council that the change be approved without the benefit of a 
mandatory review before the planning and zoning commission. (Section 26-189(5)(b)). 
For the proposed build out, the elements under review include build out for Starbeck 
Smokehouse, façade changes and sign changes.  
 
In 2018, Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council approved the 
redevelopment plans and site plan for Suite A, B and C of 6607 University Avenue 
building along with development agreement. At present, Suite C is occupied by Trinkets 
and Togs, and Suite A is occupied by Scratch Cupcakery and Suite B build out is being 
proposed. The proposal includes development of 2,900 Square feet of Suite B (5,320 
square feet) for Starbeck’s Smokehouse restaurant. And the rest of the space of suite B 
is going to be utilized as storage area and expansion of Scratch Cupcakery. The 
proposal does include some minor façade changes like changing the height and 
placement of canopies, changing the sign areas and its placement, reducing the 
number of openings, addition of partial shading (pergolas) over the patio area and some 
minor façade material changes from what was approved in 2018. Staff finds that these 
are minor changes in the building exterior, for which mandatory Planning and Zoning 
Commission review is not required, but according to the S1 Shopping District 
requirements must be reviewed and approved by City Council.  
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
This project includes the build out of the last tenant suites in the western 1/3 of the 
building. Suite A is an internal tenant with frontage on the north side of the building. 
Suite B is situated at the northwest corner of the building and Suite C is at the 
southwest corner of the building. Suite A is occupied by Scratch Cupcakery and Suite C 
is occupied by Trinkets and Togs. With this proposed build out, part of Suite B will be 
occupied by Starbeck’s Smokehouse and the other remaining portion will be taken for 
expansion by Scratch Cupcakery. After this build out, all the work in all the suites will be 
completed.  
 
The proposed build out Starbeck’s Smokehouse includes some minor changes from 
what was approved in 2018. These include minor changes in the facades of the 
building, changes in sign area and locations for signs on the building, changing canopy 
heights and shape, adding a pergola over the patio area and changes in the façade 
materials. Below is the comparison between the approved drawings and the proposed 
build out for the Suite B. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

317

Item 29.



 

Previously Approved in 2018 Currently Proposed  

 
 The approved layout of Suite A, B and C 

where Suite A is about 5,109 sq.ft., Suite B is 
about 5,320 sq.ft. and Suite C is about 5,462 
sq.ft.  

 
 

 The proposed layout changes the configuration 
of Suite A and B. Suite B is reduced to 2,900 
sq.ft. and will be occupied by Starbeck’s 
Smokehouse and Suite A is increasing to 7,529 
sq.ft. The increase in the interior space of Suite 
A will be more of interior expansion of Scratch 
Cupcakery. 

 
 The North Elevation includes dark tone 

corrugated metal panels with a rectangular 
canopy extending out of the north wall and 
awnings to shade the doors leading to patio 
area. 

 The painted EIFS on the majority of wall 
covering and a contrasting color metal coping 
will be used as a cap to the wall.  

 Number of openings includes two doors 
opening in patio area, a glass overhead door 
and a regular door with transom window. 

 
 Proposed North Elevation includes increasing 

the area of corrugated metal panels, removal of 
awnings, changing the height of canopy and 
addition of a column to support canopy. 

 The painted EIFS is now replaced with cedar 
lap siding and corrugated rustic metal panels 
and firestone matte black color metal coping 
will be used as a cap to the wall.  

 Numbers of window openings above are 
reduced. Entry doors remain the same.  

 Patio area is now proposed with a covered 
shade structure and screened with railings. 

 Proposed signage now includes three areas, 
with placement of logo beneath the canopy, a 
wall sign over the canopy with decorative 

318

Item 29.



 Patio area is uncovered and screened with 
railings. 

 Signage is proposed over the extended 
canopy over the corrugated metal panels and 
additional projecting sign is added off the 
corner of the building. 

 

lighting and a vertically aligned wall sign over 
the northwestern section of the building.  

 

 
The west elevation of the building mostly comprised 
of painted EIFS and series of windows capped with 
awning, a door leading to shared area of suites and 
a c-shaped band of painted brick. Entire façade was 
capped with metal coping at the top. 

 
Proposed west elevation includes changing the 
façade to cedar lap sidings in place of painted EIFS. 
Two vertical corrugated rustic metal panels will be 
added at both ends of the façade. Two doors are 
proposed one serving the entrance for customer and 
other leading to shared area of suites. The number of 
windows is reduced. Entire faced will be capped with 
firestone matt black color. 

 
Perspective view of the building maintaining similar 
color tones throughout the building, a faced with 
openings and awnings and an uncovered patio.  

Proposed perspective view of the building shows the 
change of materials from EIFS to cedar lap siding 
(wooden), fewer awnings, increased header height 
along the north wall, increased height of canopy and 
wall sign and eliminating the projecting sign. 
Proposed work will also include a covering over the 
patio area.  

 
Above table highlights the minor differences between the approved site plan in 2018 
and the current proposal. Apart from exterior façade modification discussed above, 
there are no changes to parking, utilities, or encroachment into any easements. All other 
aspects of the site remain the same as was approved in 2018.  

319

Item 29.



City staff notes that a separate permit will be required for signage installations. Signage 
will be reviewed by planning staff when the sign permit applications are received.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the proposed minor 
changes and modifications for Starbeck’s Smokehouse build out project (Suite B) at 
west side of 6607 University Avenue building. 
 
Attachments: Supplemental Materials 
  Elevations and renderings 

   

 
 

320

Item 29.



Peet Junior
High School

College
Square Mall

University Ave Trail

â

ââ

â

â â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Val
ley

 Pa
rk 

Dr

Arizona Rd

Idaho Rd

Da
llas

 Dr

Tuc
so

n D
r

Bo
uld

er 
Dr

University Ave

R-4

R-3

C-2

R-3

S-1

R-1

R-1

Cedar Falls City Council
March 1, 2021

S -1 Zoning Site Plan Review for 
Starbecks Smokehouse (Suite B)
6607 University Avenue

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^Location
Map

321

Item 29.



6
60

7 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 A
ve

 
R

e
de

ve
lo

pm
e

nt
U

n
iv

e
rs

ity
 A

ve
n

u
e 

| C
e

da
r 

F
al

ls

F
L

O
O

R
 P

LA
N

S
U

IT
E

 C
(M

E
R

C
A

N
T

IL
E

)
5

,4
6

2 
S

F

S
U

IT
E

 B
(A

S
S

E
M

B
LY

)
5

,3
2

0 
S

F

S
U

IT
E

 A
(B

U
S

IN
E

S
S

)
5

,1
0

9 
S

F

1
6

,3
2

1
 S

F

322

Item 29.



323

Item 29.



324

Item 29.



325

Item 29.



326

Item 29.



P.O. Box 1240  Cedar Falls, IA 50613

319.277.5636    319.277.5639fax

www.leviarchitecture.com

 Structural EngineersM2B

Date:

February 5, 2021

Construction Set

C
e

d
a

r
 
F

a
l
l
s
,
 
I
o

w
a

S
t
a
r
b
e
c
k
'
s
 
S

m
o
k
e
h
o
u
s
e
 
B

u
i
l
d
-
O

u
t

6
6

0
7

 
U

n
i
v
e

r
s
i
t
y
 
A

v
e

n
u

e
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
B

S1.0

S
t
r
u

c
t
u

r
a

l
 
N

o
t
e

s
 
P

l
a

n
s
 
a

n
d

 
D

e
t
a

i
l
s

..

327

Item 29.



328

Item 29.



329

Item 29.



330

Item 29.



331

Item 29.



332

Item 29.



333

Item 29.



334

Item 29.



335

Item 29.



336

Item 29.



Starbeck's Smokehouse
University Avenue | Cedar Falls

337

Item 29.



1

2

3

4

5

6

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. COPING - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

RECLAIMED METAL PANELS - RUSTIC GALVANIZED 

ROUGH SAWN CEDAR LAP SIDING - STAINED

ALUM. ENTRANCE FRAMING - BLACK

ALUM. WINDOW FRAMING - BLACK

GLASS O.H. DOOR - BLACK FRAME

7

8

PATIO SHADE STRUCTURE - CEDAR WRAPPED

GUARDRAIL - BLACK TO MATCH EXIST.

9 PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

10

DECORATIVE BARN DOOR FROM PREVIOUS STORE

MTL. SHUTTERS FROM PREVIOUS STORE

11

FABRIC AWNING

12

Starbeck's Smokehouse
University Avenue | Cedar Falls

3

2

2
5

4

1

1
1

6 8

7

4

DECORATIVE LIGHT
FIXTURE, TYP.

2

7

8

9 9 3 3

4 4

2

2 2

5 5

DECORATIVE LIGHT
FIXTURE, TYP.

11 12 12 12

1

1
1

10 10 10

10

WEST ELEVATION

1

NORTH ELEVATION

338

Item 29.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II  
 
 DATE: February 23, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
  Project No. SA-000-3253 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Tuesday, February 23rd, 2021 at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the 
2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. A total of four (4) bids were received, with 
Municipal Pipe Tool Company, the apparent low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $241,992.00 

Municipal Pipe Tool Co. $198,189.80 

Hydro-Klean $214,880.40 

Visu-Sewer $228,314.50 

Insituform Tech. USA, LLC $244,036.20 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $241,992.00. Municipal Pipe Tool 
Company of Hudson, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $198,189.80. 
Attached is a bid tabulation for your reference. Funding for the project is provided by the 
City’s Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund. 
 
We recommend acceptance of the lowest bid from Municipal Pipe Tool Company in the 
amount of $198,189.80. On March 15th, 2021, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance 
Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
  
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer   
  

339

Item 30.



Line Item Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

1 PIPE LINING, 8-INCH L.F. 5284 25.00$            132,100.00$  20.45$            108,057.80$  21.60$            114,134.40$  23.75$            125,495.00$  24.30$            128,401.20$  

2 PIPE LINING, 10-INCH L.F. 716 30.00$            21,480.00$     24.00$            17,184.00$     24.80$            17,756.80$     25.50$            18,258.00$     25.00$            17,900.00$     

3 PIPE LINING, 12-INCH L.F. 691 32.00$            22,112.00$     28.00$            19,348.00$     30.70$            21,213.70$     36.50$            25,221.50$     34.20$            23,632.20$     

4 BUILDING SANITARY SEWER SERVICE RECONNECTION Each 135 80.00$            10,800.00$     50.00$            6,750.00$       50.00$            6,750.00$       90.00$            12,150.00$     85.30$            11,515.50$     

5 GROUTING SERVICE LATERALS Each 135 300.00$          40,500.00$     310.00$          41,850.00$     341.25$          46,068.75$     300.00$          40,500.00$     316.00$          42,660.00$     

6 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 15,000.00$     15,000.00$     5,000.00$       5,000.00$       8,956.75$       8,956.75$       6,690.00$       6,690.00$       19,927.30$     19,927.30$     

241,992.00$  198,189.80$  214,880.40$  228,314.50$  244,036.20$  Base Bid Total(s):

2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation (#7497795)
Owner: City of Cedar Falls

Solicitor: City of Cedar Falls

02/23/2021 02:00 PM CST

Engineer Estimate Municipal Pipe Tool Company Hydro-Klean Visu-Sewer
Insituform Technologies USA, 

LLC

340

Item 30.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Rob M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: February 25th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project  
  Project No. RC-000-3242 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Monday, February 22, 2021 at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the 
Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project Phase II. A total of four (4) bids 
were received, with K. Cunningham Construction Company, Inc. the low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid Bid Add 
Alternate #1 

Total Bid              
(Base Bid + Bid Add 

Alternates 1 & 2) 

Engineering Estimate $3,050,033.00 $36,000.00 $3,086,033.00 

K. Cunningham Construction Co., Inc. $2,329,948.23 $39,960.00 $2,432,908.23 

Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc $2,591,416.25 $65,800.00 $2,657,216.25 

Lodge Construction $2,597,818.20 $55,000.00 $2,652,818.20 

Portzen Construction, Inc. $3,239,869.00 $58,000.00 $3,297,869.00 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $3,050,033. K. Cunningham Construction 
Company, Inc. of Cedar Falls, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of 
$2,329,948.23. Attached is a bid tab for your reference. 
 
We recommend acceptance of the lowest bid from K. Cunningham Construction 
Company, Inc. in the amount of $2,329,948.23. On February 5th, 2021, the Contract, 
Bonds, and Insurance Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
  
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  
  

341

Item 31.



TABULATION OF BIDS
Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Phase II

City of Cedar Falls - Project Number RC-000-3242

BASE BID

ITEM ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1 2010-108-C-0 Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 4,000.00$        4,000.00$           2,000.00$        2,000.00$           1,500.00$        1,500.00$           8,000.00$        8,000.00$           8,000.00$       8,000.00$           4,875.00$        4,875.00$             
2 2010-108-D-3 Topsoil, Off-site CY 100 100.00$           10,000.00$         75.00$             7,500.00$           30.00$             3,000.00$           48.00$             4,800.00$           95.00$            9,500.00$           62.00$             6,200.00$             
3 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 10 CY 1261 20.00$             25,220.00$         12.00$             15,132.00$         25.00$             31,525.00$         16.00$             20,176.00$         18.00$            22,698.00$         17.75$             22,382.75$           
4 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 13 CY 452 50.00$             22,600.00$         15.00$             6,780.00$           19.00$             8,588.00$           20.00$             9,040.00$           22.00$            9,944.00$           19.00$             8,588.00$             
5 2010-108-F-0 Below Grade Excavation (Core Out) CY 359 45.00$             16,155.00$         42.00$             15,078.00$         63.00$             22,617.00$         35.00$             12,565.00$         60.00$            21,540.00$         50.00$             17,950.00$           
6 2010-108-G-0 Subgrade Preparation, 12" Depth SY 5137 3.00$               15,411.00$         2.00$               10,274.00$         1.40$               7,191.80$           3.00$               15,411.00$         4.00$              20,548.00$         2.60$               13,356.20$           
7 2010-108-I-0 Subbase, Modified, 8" Depth SY 5154 11.00$             56,694.00$         9.00$               46,386.00$         12.00$             61,848.00$         10.00$             51,540.00$         12.00$            61,848.00$         10.75$             55,405.50$           
8 2010-108-I-0 Subbase, 3/4" Road Stone, 8" Depth SY 2035 18.00$             36,630.00$         8.30$               16,890.50$         24.50$             49,857.50$         10.00$             20,350.00$         12.00$            24,420.00$         13.70$             27,879.50$           
9 2010-108-I-0 Subbase, 3/4" Road Stone, 2" Depth SY 3240 12.00$             38,880.00$         6.16$               19,958.40$         20.00$             64,800.00$         7.00$               22,680.00$         5.00$              16,200.00$         9.54$               30,909.60$           

10 2010-108-L-0 Compaction Testing LS 1 7,000.00$        7,000.00$           3,000.00$        3,000.00$           5,100.00$        5,100.00$           3,000.00$        3,000.00$           9,000.00$       9,000.00$           5,025.00$        5,025.00$             
11 2010-108-M-0 Sampling and Testing For Petroleum Contamination (Remediation) EA 1 2,500.00$        2,500.00$           6,500.00$        6,500.00$           6,600.00$        6,600.00$           7,000.00$        7,000.00$           5,000.00$       5,000.00$           6,275.00$        6,275.00$             
12 2010-108-N-0 Excavation and Disposal of Contaminated Soil CY 163 125.00$           20,375.00$         100.00$           16,300.00$         87.00$             14,181.00$         400.00$           65,200.00$         200.00$          32,600.00$         196.75$           32,070.25$           
13 3010-108-C-0 Trench Foundation TON 277 40.00$             11,080.00$         25.90$             7,174.30$           17.50$             4,847.50$           40.00$             11,080.00$         35.00$            9,695.00$           29.60$             8,199.20$             
14 3010-108-F-0 Trench Compaction Testing LS 1 4,000.00$        4,000.00$           7,500.00$        7,500.00$           7,400.00$        7,400.00$           8,000.00$        8,000.00$           8,000.00$       8,000.00$           7,725.00$        7,725.00$             
15 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, PVC, 12" Diameter LF 20 75.00$             1,500.00$           40.00$             800.00$              125.00$           2,500.00$           79.00$             1,580.00$           90.00$            1,800.00$           83.50$             1,670.00$             
16 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 12" Diameter LF 24 75.00$             1,800.00$           40.00$             960.00$              151.00$           3,624.00$           79.00$             1,896.00$           95.00$            2,280.00$           91.25$             2,190.00$             
17 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 15" Diameter LF 434 75.00$             32,550.00$         52.00$             22,568.00$         67.50$             29,295.00$         65.00$             28,210.00$         82.00$            35,588.00$         66.63$             28,915.25$           
18 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 18" Diameter LF 546 95.00$             51,870.00$         57.00$             31,122.00$         70.50$             38,493.00$         75.00$             40,950.00$         90.00$            49,140.00$         73.13$             39,926.25$           
19 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 24" Diameter LF 52 150.00$           7,800.00$           76.00$             3,952.00$           97.00$             5,044.00$           95.00$             4,940.00$           125.00$          6,500.00$           98.25$             5,109.00$             
20 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 30" Diameter LF 16 170.00$           2,720.00$           93.00$             1,488.00$           215.00$           3,440.00$           115.00$           1,840.00$           150.00$          2,400.00$           143.25$           2,292.00$             
21 4020-108-C-0 Linear Trench Drain LF 20 140.00$           2,800.00$           175.00$           3,500.00$           167.00$           3,340.00$           150.00$           3,000.00$           2,000.00$       40,000.00$         623.00$           12,460.00$           
22 4020-108-D-0 Removal of Storm Sewer, All Types, All Sizes LF 767 15.00$             11,505.00$         10.00$             7,670.00$           9.35$               7,171.45$           13.00$             9,971.00$           20.00$            15,340.00$         13.09$             10,038.11$           
23 4040-108-A-0 Subdrain, Type S, Corrugated Exterior and Smooth Interior Polyethylene, 6" Dia. LF 2596 16.00$             41,536.00$         11.50$             29,854.00$         22.00$             57,112.00$         12.00$             31,152.00$         14.00$            36,344.00$         14.88$             38,615.50$           
24 4040-108-B-0 Footing Drain Collector, PVC, 6" Diameter LF 15 100.00$           1,500.00$           20.00$             300.00$              70.00$             1,050.00$           70.00$             1,050.00$           90.00$            1,350.00$           62.50$             937.50$                
25 4040-108-C-0 Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-1, 6" Diameter EA 12 550.00$           6,600.00$           550.00$           6,600.00$           774.00$           9,288.00$           500.00$           6,000.00$           750.00$          9,000.00$           643.50$           7,722.00$             
26 4040-108-D-0 Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 8" Dia. (Per CF Detail CFD.01) EA 30 250.00$           7,500.00$           200.00$           6,000.00$           116.00$           3,480.00$           300.00$           9,000.00$           275.00$          8,250.00$           222.75$           6,682.50$             
27 Special Drain Connections EA 2 1,000.00$        2,000.00$           400.00$           800.00$              439.00$           878.00$              2,000.00$        4,000.00$           1,200.00$       2,400.00$           1,009.75$        2,019.50$             
28 5010-108-A-1 Watermain, Trenched, Polywrapped DIP Class 52 w/ Tracer Wire, 8" Dia. LF 682 85.00$             57,970.00$         55.00$             37,510.00$         97.00$             66,154.00$         225.00$           153,450.00$       105.00$          71,610.00$         120.50$           82,181.00$           
29 5010-108-C-1 Fitting, 8" Tapping Sleeve and Valve EA 1 3,000.00$        3,000.00$           4,100.00$        4,100.00$           3,300.00$        3,300.00$           7,500.00$        7,500.00$           3,600.00$       3,600.00$           4,625.00$        4,625.00$             
30 5010-108-C-1 Fitting, Solid Sleeve, 8" Diameter EA 1 2,500.00$        2,500.00$           35.00$             35.00$                514.00$           514.00$              750.00$           750.00$              450.00$          450.00$              437.25$           437.25$                
31 5010-108-C-1 Fitting, 45 Degree Bend, 8" Diameter EA 10 2,500.00$        25,000.00$         325.00$           3,250.00$           634.00$           6,340.00$           750.00$           7,500.00$           425.00$          4,250.00$           533.50$           5,335.00$             
32 5010-108-C-1 Fitting, 90 Degree MJ Bend, 8" Diameter EA 6 2,500.00$        15,000.00$         350.00$           2,100.00$           656.00$           3,936.00$           750.00$           4,500.00$           465.00$          2,790.00$           555.25$           3,331.50$             
33 5010-108-D-0 Water Service Stub, Copper, Type K, 3/4" Diameter EA 8 3,000.00$        24,000.00$         1,500.00$        12,000.00$         1,400.00$        11,200.00$         3,500.00$        28,000.00$         4,700.00$       37,600.00$         2,775.00$        22,200.00$           
34 5010-108-D-0 Water Service Stub, Copper, Type K, 1" Diameter EA 3 3,200.00$        9,600.00$           2,000.00$        6,000.00$           1,600.00$        4,800.00$           5,500.00$        16,500.00$         5,000.00$       15,000.00$         3,525.00$        10,575.00$           
35 5010-108-D-0 Water Service Stub, Copper, Type K, 1.5" Diameter EA 3 3,500.00$        10,500.00$         2,250.00$        6,750.00$           2,200.00$        6,600.00$           5,900.00$        17,700.00$         5,500.00$       16,500.00$         3,962.50$        11,887.50$           
36 5010-108-D-0 Water Service Stub, DIP, 4" Diameter EA 4 5,000.00$        20,000.00$         5,000.00$        20,000.00$         3,600.00$        14,400.00$         8,400.00$        33,600.00$         6,200.00$       24,800.00$         5,800.00$        23,200.00$           
37 5020-108-A-0 MJ Gate Valve with box, 4" Diameter EA 4 2,500.00$        10,000.00$         1,375.00$        5,500.00$           957.00$           3,828.00$           1,300.00$        5,200.00$           2,000.00$       8,000.00$           1,408.00$        5,632.00$             
38 5020-108-A-0 MJ Gate Valve with box, 8" Diameter EA 4 3,100.00$        12,400.00$         2,000.00$        8,000.00$           1,500.00$        6,000.00$           1,800.00$        7,200.00$           2,400.00$       9,600.00$           1,925.00$        7,700.00$             
39 5020-108-C-0 Fire Hydrant Assembly EA 3 6,000.00$        18,000.00$         6,100.00$        18,300.00$         4,800.00$        14,400.00$         8,800.00$        26,400.00$         4,900.00$       14,700.00$         6,150.00$        18,450.00$           
40 5020-108-D-0 Flushing Device (Blowoff), Temporary, 4" Diameter EA 3 4,000.00$        12,000.00$         2,000.00$        6,000.00$           1,800.00$        5,400.00$           3,000.00$        9,000.00$           2,600.00$       7,800.00$           2,350.00$        7,050.00$             
41 5020-108-E-0 Valve Box Adjustment, Minor EA 5 500.00$           2,500.00$           500.00$           2,500.00$           220.00$           1,100.00$           900.00$           4,500.00$           200.00$          1,000.00$           455.00$           2,275.00$             
42 5020-108-I-0 Fire Hydrant Removal EA 3 1,000.00$        3,000.00$           2,500.00$        7,500.00$           598.00$           1,794.00$           1,200.00$        3,600.00$           900.00$          2,700.00$           1,299.50$        3,898.50$             
43 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, SW-401, Circular Storm, 48" Diameter EA 3 4,100.00$        12,300.00$         2,200.00$        6,600.00$           3,500.00$        10,500.00$         5,500.00$        16,500.00$         3,400.00$       10,200.00$         3,650.00$        10,950.00$           
44 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, SW-401, Circular Storm, 60" Diameter EA 1 5,500.00$        5,500.00$           3,000.00$        3,000.00$           4,100.00$        4,100.00$           8,000.00$        8,000.00$           4,100.00$       4,100.00$           4,800.00$        4,800.00$             
45 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, SW-401, Circular Storm, 72" Diameter EA 1 7,500.00$        7,500.00$           4,800.00$        4,800.00$           5,900.00$        5,900.00$           10,500.00$      10,500.00$         7,200.00$       7,200.00$           7,100.00$        7,100.00$             
46 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-501, Single Grate EA 4 4,600.00$        18,400.00$         3,200.00$        12,800.00$         3,100.00$        12,400.00$         4,750.00$        19,000.00$         2,900.00$       11,600.00$         3,487.50$        13,950.00$           
47 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-505, Double Grate EA 6 5,500.00$        33,000.00$         4,200.00$        25,200.00$         4,100.00$        24,600.00$         5,775.00$        34,650.00$         4,400.00$       26,400.00$         4,618.75$        27,712.50$           
48 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-507, Single Open-throat Curb Intake, Small Box EA 1 6,500.00$        6,500.00$           4,000.00$        4,000.00$           3,500.00$        3,500.00$           6,500.00$        6,500.00$           4,200.00$       4,200.00$           4,550.00$        4,550.00$             
49 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-511, Rectangular Area Intake EA 3 4,600.00$        13,800.00$         3,200.00$        9,600.00$           2,200.00$        6,600.00$           4,725.00$        14,175.00$         3,600.00$       10,800.00$         3,431.25$        10,293.75$           
50 6010-108-B-0 Intake, Nyoplast Drain, Rectangular Sidewalk Area Intake, 12" Diameter EA 5 2,100.00$        10,500.00$         2,150.00$        10,750.00$         477.00$           2,385.00$           3,000.00$        15,000.00$         2,000.00$       10,000.00$         1,906.75$        9,533.75$             
51 6010-108-E-0 Manhole or Intake Adjustment, Minor EA 7 1,000.00$        7,000.00$           850.00$           5,950.00$           638.00$           4,466.00$           1,250.00$        8,750.00$           1,200.00$       8,400.00$           984.50$           6,891.50$             
52 6010-108-G-0 Connection to Existing Manhole or Intake EA 2 1,300.00$        2,600.00$           500.00$           1,000.00$           1,000.00$        2,000.00$           2,500.00$        5,000.00$           1,500.00$       3,000.00$           1,375.00$        2,750.00$             
53 6010-108-H-0 Remove Manhole EA 6 1,600.00$        9,600.00$           750.00$           4,500.00$           443.00$           2,658.00$           750.00$           4,500.00$           1,200.00$       7,200.00$           785.75$           4,714.50$             
54 6010-108-H-0 Remove Intake EA 11 1,000.00$        11,000.00$         750.00$           8,250.00$           443.00$           4,873.00$           750.00$           8,250.00$           600.00$          6,600.00$           635.75$           6,993.25$             
55 6010-108-H-0 Remove Sidewalk Intake EA 3 1,500.00$        4,500.00$           500.00$           1,500.00$           271.00$           813.00$              2,100.00$        6,300.00$           500.00$          1,500.00$           842.75$           2,528.25$             
56 7010-108-A-0 Pavement, PCC,  8" Depth SY 4733 65.00$             307,645.00$       53.25$             252,032.25$       58.00$             274,514.00$       60.00$             283,980.00$       66.00$            312,378.00$       59.31$             280,726.06$         
57 7010-108-E-0 Curb and Gutter, 2.5' Width, 8" Depth LF 887 42.00$             37,254.00$         31.25$             27,718.75$         30.00$             26,610.00$         35.00$             31,045.00$         39.00$            34,593.00$         33.81$             29,991.69$           
58 7010-108-I-0 Curb and Gutter Removal LF 321 10.00$             3,210.00$           15.00$             4,815.00$           8.30$               2,664.30$           20.00$             6,420.00$           9.00$              2,889.00$           13.08$             4,197.08$             
59 7020-108-B-0 Pavement, HMA, Wedge, 5" Depth SY 251 120.00$           30,120.00$         115.00$           28,865.00$         128.00$           32,128.00$         120.00$           30,120.00$         126.00$          31,626.00$         122.25$           30,684.75$           
60 7021-108-B-0 HMA Overlay, 3" Depth SY 1081 28.00$             30,268.00$         26.00$             28,106.00$         29.00$             31,349.00$         28.00$             30,268.00$         31.00$            33,511.00$         28.50$             30,808.50$           
61 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Sidewalk SY 5518 18.00$             99,324.00$         14.50$             80,011.00$         6.25$               34,487.50$         9.00$               49,662.00$         18.00$            99,324.00$         11.94$             65,871.13$           
62 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Driveway SY 366 20.00$             7,320.00$           4.50$               1,647.00$           7.15$               2,616.90$           9.00$               3,294.00$           20.00$            7,320.00$           10.16$             3,719.48$             
63 7030-108-E-0 PCC Sidewalk, 4" Depth SY 47.4 110.00$           5,214.00$           110.00$           5,214.00$           62.50$             2,962.50$           53.00$             2,512.20$           120.00$          5,688.00$           86.38$             4,094.18$             
64 7030-108-E-0 PCC Sidewalk, 6" Depth SY 18.2 140.00$           2,548.00$           126.00$           2,293.20$           123.00$           2,238.60$           150.00$           2,730.00$           140.00$          2,548.00$           134.75$           2,452.45$             
65 7030-108-F-0 Brick/Paver Sidewalk with 8" Depth Pavement Base SY 128 200.00$           25,600.00$         225.51$           28,865.28$         151.00$           19,328.00$         150.00$           19,200.00$         175.00$          22,400.00$         175.38$           22,448.32$           
66 7030-108-G-0 Detectable Warning SF 40 75.00$             3,000.00$           45.00$             1,800.00$           55.50$             2,220.00$           39.00$             1,560.00$           45.00$            1,800.00$           46.13$             1,845.00$             
67 7030-108-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 7" Depth SY 263.6 85.00$             22,406.00$         60.00$             15,816.00$         58.00$             15,288.80$         60.00$             15,816.00$         90.00$            23,724.00$         67.00$             17,661.20$           
68 7030-108-H-1 Driveway, Paved, HMA, 7" Depth SY 80 75.00$             6,000.00$           75.00$             6,000.00$           83.50$             6,680.00$           79.00$             6,320.00$           83.00$            6,640.00$           80.13$             6,410.00$             
69 7030-108-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 8" Depth SY 43.6 100.00$           4,360.00$           75.00$             3,270.00$           80.00$             3,488.00$           79.00$             3,444.40$           115.00$          5,014.00$           87.25$             3,804.10$             
70 7030-108-J-0 Brick/Paver Sidewalk (Install Only) SY 5147 70.00$             360,290.00$       63.25$             325,547.75$       58.50$             301,099.50$       64.00$             329,408.00$       71.00$            365,437.00$       64.19$             330,373.06$         
71 7040-108-A-0 Full Depth Patches, PCC, 8" depth SY 170.6 150.00$           25,590.00$         140.00$           23,884.00$         129.00$           22,007.40$         86.00$             14,671.60$         115.00$          19,619.00$         117.50$           20,045.50$           
72 7040-108-A-0 Full Depth Patches, HMA, 5" depth SY 23.2 150.00$           3,480.00$           179.00$           4,152.80$           202.00$           4,686.40$           250.00$           5,800.00$           165.00$          3,828.00$           199.00$           4,616.80$             
73 7040-108-G-0 Milling, 3" Depth SY 807 5.00$               4,035.00$           14.00$             11,298.00$         10.50$             8,473.50$           15.00$             12,105.00$         16.00$            12,912.00$         13.88$             11,197.13$           
74 7040-108-H-0 Pavement Removal SY 5295 10.00$             52,950.00$         5.00$               26,475.00$         6.60$               34,947.00$         13.00$             68,835.00$         12.00$            63,540.00$         9.15$               48,449.25$           
75 Special PCC Base, 2'x2'x2', Non-reinforced EA 2 4,000.00$        8,000.00$           1,250.00$        2,500.00$           467.00$           934.00$              1,000.00$        2,000.00$           1,000.00$       2,000.00$           929.25$           1,858.50$             
76 8020-108-B-0 Painted Pavement Markings, Solvent/Waterborne STA 34 100.00$           3,400.00$           50.00$             1,700.00$           55.50$             1,887.00$           55.00$             1,870.00$           55.00$            1,870.00$           53.88$             1,831.75$             
77 8020-108-G-0 Painted Symbols and Legends EA 5 500.00$           2,500.00$           42.00$             210.00$              46.50$             232.50$              100.00$           500.00$              47.00$            235.00$              58.88$             294.38$                
78 8030-108-A-0 Temporary Traffic Control LS 1 20,000.00$      20,000.00$         26,000.00$      26,000.00$         61,800.00$      61,800.00$         20,000.00$      20,000.00$         21,000.00$     21,000.00$         32,200.00$      32,200.00$           
79 8030-108-B-0 Safety Fence With Detectable Edging LF 6748 6.00$               40,488.00$         8.00$               53,984.00$         6.70$               45,211.60$         7.00$               47,236.00$         12.00$            80,976.00$         8.43$               56,851.90$           
80 Special Street Sign Removal, Replacement, and Reinstallation EA 8 750.00$           6,000.00$           350.00$           2,800.00$           311.00$           2,488.00$           300.00$           2,400.00$           310.00$          2,480.00$           317.75$           2,542.00$             
81 Special Street Sign Removal and Reinstallation EA 33 500.00$           16,500.00$         250.00$           8,250.00$           222.00$           7,326.00$           250.00$           8,250.00$           220.00$          7,260.00$           235.50$           7,771.50$             
82 9030-108-C-0 Plants LS 1 116,700.00$    116,700.00$       74,000.00$      74,000.00$         42,100.00$      42,100.00$         35,000.00$      35,000.00$         42,000.00$     42,000.00$         48,275.00$      48,275.00$           
83 9040-108-A-2 SWPPP Management LS 1 8,000.00$        8,000.00$           8,000.00$        8,000.00$           8,300.00$        8,300.00$           12,000.00$      12,000.00$         2,000.00$       2,000.00$           7,575.00$        7,575.00$             
84 9040-108-T-1 Inlet Protection Device EA 26 160.00$           4,160.00$           145.00$           3,770.00$           194.00$           5,044.00$           250.00$           6,500.00$           300.00$          7,800.00$           222.25$           5,778.50$             
85 9040-108-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance EA 26 80.00$             2,080.00$           25.00$             650.00$              44.50$             1,157.00$           50.00$             1,300.00$           100.00$          2,600.00$           54.88$             1,426.75$             
86 9071-108-C-0 Granular Backfill Material TON 18 60.00$             1,080.00$           20.00$             360.00$              38.00$             684.00$              75.00$             1,350.00$           55.00$            990.00$              47.00$             846.00$                
87 9072-108-A-0 Concrete Wall CY 3 4,250.00$        12,750.00$         4,600.00$        13,800.00$         2,900.00$        8,700.00$           5,000.00$        15,000.00$         2,000.00$       6,000.00$           3,625.00$        10,875.00$           
88 Special PCC Edger, 1' width, 1' depth LF 1926 40.00$             77,040.00$         41.00$             78,966.00$         23.50$             45,261.00$         30.00$             57,780.00$         40.00$            77,040.00$         33.63$             64,761.75$           
89 Special Planter Bed with Raised Curb LF 315 40.00$             12,600.00$         62.00$             19,530.00$         23.50$             7,402.50$           53.00$             16,695.00$         55.00$            17,325.00$         48.38$             15,238.13$           
90 Special Planter Bed with Flush Curb LF 365 25.00$             9,125.00$           53.00$             19,345.00$         23.50$             8,577.50$           38.00$             13,870.00$         49.00$            17,885.00$         40.88$             14,919.38$           
91 10,010-108-A-0 Demolition Work CY 10 1,200.00$        12,000.00$         600.00$           6,000.00$           461.00$           4,610.00$           2,100.00$        21,000.00$         5,500.00$       55,000.00$         2,165.25$        21,652.50$           
92 11,020-108-A-0 Mobilization LS 1 391,000.00$    391,000.00$       240,000.00$    240,000.00$       450,000.00$    450,000.00$       120,000.00$    120,000.00$       550,000.00$   550,000.00$       340,000.00$    340,000.00$         
93 11,030-108-A-0 Maintenance of Postal Service LS 1 5,000.00$        5,000.00$           3,000.00$        3,000.00$           150.00$           150.00$              6,000.00$        6,000.00$           10,000.00$     10,000.00$         4,787.50$        4,787.50$             

February 22, 2021 at 

2:00 PM
ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE

K. Cunningham Construction 

Co., Inc.
Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc Lodge Construction Portzen Construction, Inc. BID AVERAGE

1 2 3 4

342

Item 31.



BASE BID

ITEM ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

February 22, 2021 at 

2:00 PM
ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE

K. Cunningham Construction 

Co., Inc.
Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc Lodge Construction Portzen Construction, Inc. BID AVERAGE

1 2 3 4

94 11,030-108-B-0 Maintenance of Solid Waste Collection LS 1 5,000.00$        5,000.00$           3,000.00$        3,000.00$           150.00$           150.00$              6,000.00$        6,000.00$           10,000.00$     10,000.00$         4,787.50$        4,787.50$             
95 11,040-108-A-0 Temporary Commercial Access SY 3079 40.00$             123,160.00$       30.00$             92,370.00$         0.50$               1,539.50$           30.00$             92,370.00$         8.00$              24,632.00$         17.13$             52,727.88$           
96 11,050-108-A-0 Concrete Washout EA 4 1,000.00$        4,000.00$           750.00$           3,000.00$           345.00$           1,380.00$           1,000.00$        4,000.00$           1,500.00$       6,000.00$           898.75$           3,595.00$             
97 11,060-108-A-0 Electrical Outlet Handholes EA 42 500.00$           21,000.00$         450.00$           18,900.00$         500.00$           21,000.00$         500.00$           21,000.00$         500.00$          21,000.00$         487.50$           20,475.00$           
98 11,060-108-A-1 Light Poles, Installation EA 19 2,500.00$        47,500.00$         1,600.00$        30,400.00$         1,800.00$        34,200.00$         1,700.00$        32,300.00$         1,750.00$       33,250.00$         1,712.50$        32,537.50$           
99 11,060-108-A-2 Light Poles, Removal EA 15 900.00$           13,500.00$         600.00$           9,000.00$           556.00$           8,340.00$           1,200.00$        18,000.00$         550.00$          8,250.00$           726.50$           10,897.50$           

100 11,060-108-A-3 Electrical Circuits LF 7350 22.00$             161,700.00$       18.00$             132,300.00$       20.00$             147,000.00$       19.00$             139,650.00$       20.00$            147,000.00$       19.25$             141,487.50$         
101 11,060-108-B-0 Amenities LS 1 42,040.00$      42,040.00$         108,000.00$    108,000.00$       117,100.00$    117,100.00$       65,000.00$      65,000.00$         171,500.00$   171,500.00$       115,400.00$    115,400.00$         
102 11,070-108-A-0 Vibration Monitoring EA 2 21,000.00$      42,000.00$         10,500.00$      21,000.00$         20,700.00$      41,400.00$         12,500.00$      25,000.00$         20,000.00$     40,000.00$         15,925.00$      31,850.00$           
103 9010-108-A-0 Conventional Seeding SF 1200 1.00$               1,200.00$           0.60$               720.00$              1.10$               1,320.00$           3.00$               3,600.00$           15.00$            18,000.00$         4.93$               5,910.00$             

TOTAL BASE BID: 3,050,033.00$    2,392,948.23$    2,591,416.25$    2,597,818.20$    3,239,869.00$    2,705,512.92$      
BID SECURITY: 10% 10% 10% 10%

Addenda 1 x x x x

Addenda 2 x x x x

Bid Security x x x x

x x x x

x x x x

ITEM ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1 Special Concrete Wall, Handrail, and Safety Rail LS 1 36,000.00$      36,000.00$         39,960.00$      39,960.00$         65,800.00$      65,800.00$         55,000.00$      55,000.00$         58,000.00$     58,000.00$         54,690.00$      54,690.00$           

TOTAL BID ADD ALTERNATE 1: 36,000.00$         39,960.00$         65,800.00$         55,000.00$         58,000.00$         54,690.00$           

TOTAL BID (BASE BID + BID ADD ALT 1): 3,086,033.00$    2,432,908.23$    2,657,216.25$    2,652,818.20$    3,297,869.00$    2,760,202.92$      

1 2 3 4

Non-Collusion Affidavit

Bidder Status Form

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
K. Cunningham Construction 

Co., Inc.
Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc Lodge Construction Portzen Construction, Inc. BID AVERAGEBID ADD ALTERNATE #1 - ABANDON STAIRS

343

Item 31.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: February 22nd, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3 
  Project No. SW-000-3185 
  Contract Final Out 
 
The 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3 is completed and ready for final 
acceptance. The project repaired deficient sidewalk adjacent to private property. The 
project will assess the cost of repair to the property owner. 
 
Please find attached the Final Pay Estimate for Feldman Concrete. The lien waiver and 
necessary forms have been received and have been forwarded to the City Clerk’s 
Office. Feldman Concrete’s only supplier for this project was Croell, Inc. 
 
The 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3 has been completed in reasonable 
compliance with the project plans and specifications. I recommend that the City Council 
approve and accept the 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3. 
 
 
         2/22/2021 
_______________________________________________________________ 
Brett Armstrong            Date 
 

 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer  
 Lisa Roeding, CMFO, Controller/City Treasurer       
 

344

Item 32.



345

Item 32.



346

Item 32.



347

Item 32.



348

Item 32.



349

Item 32.



350

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: February 22, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3 
  Project No. SW-000-3204 
  Presentation of Final Statement of Expenditures for Material and Labor 
 
The 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3 is completed and ready for 
assessment. The project repaired deficient sidewalk adjacent to 76 private properties for 
a total assessment cost of $36,778.75.  
 
In 2019, approximately 130 notices were sent out for defective or missing sidewalk. The 
notices informed the property owners of their responsibility to repair the adjacent 
sidewalk. If the property owners didn’t repair the sidewalk, the City would repair the 
sidewalk and assess the property. Forty-two percent of the property owners notified 
repaired the defective or missing sidewalk, and fifty-eight percent of the property owners 
notified did not repair the defective or missing sidewalk.  The average cost per property 
to repair defective sidewalk was $477.65 with the highest cost at approximately 
$1,767.40.  
 
Attached please find the Final Statement of Expenditures for Material and Labor for the 
2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 3.  
 
I recommend that the City Council approve and accept the Final Statement of 
Expenditures for Material and Labor for the 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project for Zone 
3. 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works  
      David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer  

 

351

Item 33.



Address Item No. 1 Unit Price Extended Item No. 2 Unit Price Extended Item No. 3 Unit Price Extended Item No. 4 Unit Price Extended Item No. 5 Unit Price Extended Item No. 6 Unit Price Extended Total Cost of Replacement

Property Owner Mailing Address City State Zip Code or Legal Description Removal of price Sidewalk price Sidewalk price Topsoil price Seeding price Traffic Control price or Installation

Location Sidewalk (S.Y.) Replacement 4" Replacement 6" (C.Y.) (S.F.) (L.S.)

(S.Y.) (S.Y.)

John Dutcher 1238 Clark Drive Cedar Falls IA 50613 1238 Clark Drive 8914-14-202-045 3.60 $27.00 $97.20 3.60 $54.00 $194.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.30 $100.00 $30.00 16.20 $1.00 $16.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $389.80

Thomas Rader 1303 Clark Drive Cedar Falls IA 50613 1303 Clark Drive 8914-14-201-010 1.80 $27.00 $48.60 1.80 $54.00 $97.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.00 $1.00 $8.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $220.80

Paul Siddens III LIV Trust 1408 West 18th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1408 West 18th Street 8914-14-253-009 2.90 $27.00 $78.30 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.90 $58.50 $169.65 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $299.95

Gage Calhoun 1247 Newton Street Denver CO 85260 1316 West 18th Street 8914-14-282-001 2.00 $27.00 $54.00 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.00 $58.50 $117.00 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $223.00

Jeff Knupp 1303 Clark Street Dysart IA 52224 1207 West 19th Street 8914-14-282-011 3.50 $27.00 $94.50 3.50 $54.00 $189.00 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.29 $100.00 $29.00 15.80 $1.00 $15.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $380.30

Troy Danielson 1110 West 18th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1110 West 18th Street 8914-14-283-002 5.40 $27.00 $145.80 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 5.40 $58.50 $315.90 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $513.70

Panther Builders LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1803 College Street 8914-14-283-009 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Nicholas Bonewitz 4117 Cedar Wapsi Road Cedar Falls IA 50613 909 West 19th Street 8914-14-283-012 2.40 $27.00 $64.80 2.40 $54.00 $129.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.16 $100.00 $16.00 8.60 $1.00 $8.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $271.00

Matthew McGeough 5024 Samantha Circle Cedar Falls IA 50613 1315 College Street 8914-14-228-013 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

E and J Enterprises LLC 4566 William Drive Waterloo IA 50701 1309/1311 College Street 8914-14-228-012 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.80 $58.50 $163.80 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $291.40

Michael Geisler 5373 S. Hudson Road Cedar Falls IA 50613 920 West 13th Street 8914-14-228-009 4.40 $27.00 $118.80 4.40 $54.00 $237.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.37 $100.00 $37.00 19.80 $1.00 $19.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $465.20

Troy Weaver 1222 College Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1222 College Street 8914-13-101-017 5.60 $27.00 $151.20 5.60 $54.00 $302.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.37 $100.00 $37.00 20.00 $1.00 $20.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $562.60

Paul Baumgartner 1322 College Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1322 College Street 8914-13-104-015 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Daniel Carbiener 1404 College Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1404 College Street 8914-13-107-001 18.30 $27.00 $494.10 18.30 $54.00 $988.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 1.22 $100.00 $122.00 65.80 $1.00 $65.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,722.10

B2K Properties LLC P.O. Box 92 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1510 College Street 8914-13-111-008 5.40 $27.00 $145.80 5.40 $54.00 $291.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.36 $100.00 $36.00 19.40 $1.00 $19.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $544.80

Lucille Lettow 1516 College Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1516 College Street 8914-13-111-007 3.70 $27.00 $99.90 3.70 $54.00 $199.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.24 $100.00 $24.00 13.20 $1.00 $13.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $388.90

Gregory Tovar 821 West 18th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 821 West 18th Street 8914-13-155-007 8.40 $27.00 $226.80 8.40 $54.00 $453.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.56 $100.00 $56.00 30.20 $1.00 $30.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $818.60

Gunda Brost 902 West 12th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 902 West 12th Street 8914-14-227-009 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Courtney Banwart 820 West 12th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 820 West 12th Street 8914-13-101-001 8.60 $27.00 $232.20 8.60 $54.00 $464.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.57 $100.00 $57.00 31.00 $1.00 $31.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $836.60

John McCabe 713 West 14th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 713 West 14th Street 8914-13-104-011 3.40 $27.00 $91.80 3.40 $54.00 $183.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.23 $100.00 $23.00 12.20 $1.00 $12.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $362.60

Bigs Real Estate Holdings LLC 3633 N. Union Road Cedar Falls IA 50613 723 West 18th Street 8914-13-156-007 6.70 $27.00 $180.90 6.70 $54.00 $361.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.45 $100.00 $45.00 24.20 $1.00 $24.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $663.90

Dolly's Rentals LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1604 Olive Street 8914-13-152-001 2.30 $27.00 $62.10 2.30 $54.00 $124.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.16 $100.00 $16.00 8.40 $1.00 $8.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $262.70

Kevin Bash 1510 Olive Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1510 Olive Street 8914-13-112-008 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.19 $100.00 $19.00 10.20 $1.00 $10.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $308.00

Allen Messerschmidt 1509 Walnut Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1509 Walnut Street 8914-13-112-003 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Katie Kolar 1521 Iowa Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1521 Iowa Street 8914-13-113-005 5.60 $27.00 $151.20 5.60 $54.00 $302.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.37 $100.00 $37.00 20.00 $1.00 $20.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $562.60

Brad Howard 5314 Celtic Court Cedar Falls IA 50613 1504 Walnut Street 8914-13-113-001 5.60 $27.00 $151.20 5.60 $54.00 $302.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.37 $100.00 $37.00 20.00 $1.00 $20.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $562.60

Cedar Falls Gospel Hall Assoc 4115 Briarwood Drive Cedar Falls IA 50613 1304 Walnut Street 8914-13-105-010 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.20 $58.50 $128.70 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $240.10

Angela Novick 1309 Iowa Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1309 Iowa Street 8914-13-105-004 2.90 $27.00 $78.30 2.90 $54.00 $156.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.19 $100.00 $19.00 10.40 $1.00 $10.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $316.30

Sarah Stickfort 1315 Iowa Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1315 Iowa Street 8914-13-105-005 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.20 $58.50 $128.70 0.07 $100.00 $7.00 4.00 $1.00 $4.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $251.10

Adri Tjoa 524 West 12th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 524 West 12th Street 8914-13-103-001 13.90 $27.00 $375.30 13.90 $54.00 $750.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.93 $100.00 $93.00 50.00 $1.00 $50.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,320.90

CV Properties LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1310 Iowa Street 8914-13-106-008 9.00 $27.00 $243.00 9.00 $54.00 $486.00 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.60 $100.00 $60.00 32.40 $1.00 $32.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $873.40

CV Properties LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1421 Tremont Street 8914-13-110-005 2.30 $27.00 $62.10 2.30 $54.00 $124.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.20 $1.00 $8.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $261.50

Caleb Krapfl 1515 Tremont Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1515 Tremont Street 8914-13-114-004 2.10 $27.00 $56.70 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.10 $58.50 $122.85 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $231.55

Prudence Naber 3466 Hammond Avenue Waterloo IA 50702 1603 Tremont Street 8914-13-154-002 8.90 $27.00 $240.30 8.90 $54.00 $480.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.59 $100.00 $59.00 32.00 $1.00 $32.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $863.90

Alex Becker 1616 Iowa Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1616 Iowa Street 8914-13-154-008 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.19 $100.00 $19.00 10.20 $1.00 $10.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $308.00

Konrad Sadkowski 1309 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 418 West 13th Street 8914-13-130-007 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Joshua 24 15 Properties LLC P.O. Box 304 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1709 Franklin Street 8914-13-180-003 2.70 $27.00 $72.90 2.70 $54.00 $145.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 9.80 $1.00 $9.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $298.50

Andrew Morse 1621 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1621 Franklin Street 8914-13-176-004 2.90 $27.00 $78.30 2.90 $54.00 $156.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.19 $100.00 $19.00 10.40 $1.00 $10.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $316.30

Nancy Koehn 1521 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1521 Franklin Street 8914-13-138-006 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Stephanie Saak 1509 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1509 Franklin Street 8914-13-138-004 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Edward See 420 West 12th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 420 West 12th Street 8914-13-126-013 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Raymond Anderson 1215 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1215 Franklin Street 8914-13-126-006 2.70 $27.00 $72.90 2.70 $54.00 $145.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 9.80 $1.00 $9.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $298.50

William Giesler 1007 Lindale Road Cedar Falls IA 50613 324 West 12th Street 8914-13-127-001 4.40 $27.00 $118.80 4.40 $54.00 $237.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.30 $100.00 $30.00 16.00 $1.00 $16.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $454.40

Brian Wolf 1309 Clay Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1309 Clay Street 8914-13-131-004 2.30 $27.00 $62.10 2.30 $54.00 $124.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.20 $1.00 $8.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $261.50

Nathan Dalziel 1321 Clay Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1321 Clay Street 8914-13-131-006 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 2.20 $54.00 $118.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.00 $100.00 $0.00 0.00 $1.00 $0.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $230.20

Michael Panther 1322 Franklin Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1322 Franklin Street 8914-13-131-007 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 2.20 $54.00 $118.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.00 $1.00 $8.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $253.20

Marilyn DeKruyff 1515 Clay Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1515 Clay Street 8914-13-139-004 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.20 $58.50 $128.70 0.09 $100.00 $9.00 4.60 $1.00 $4.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $253.70

Shelly Gates 1791 310th Street Rowley IA 52329 1710 Franklin Street 8914-13-181-008 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

CV Properties LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1721 Clay Street 8914-13-181-005 14.90 $27.00 $402.30 14.90 $54.00 $804.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 1.00 $100.00 $100.00 53.80 $1.00 $53.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,412.70

Brent Schweer 602 Tammy Street Janesville IA 50647 221 West 18th Street 8914-13-182-006 18.80 $27.00 $507.60 18.80 $54.00 $1,015.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 1.25 $100.00 $125.00 67.60 $1.00 $67.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,767.40

Laura Jackson 1703 Washington Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1703 Washington Street 8914-13-182-002 4.20 $27.00 $113.40 4.20 $54.00 $226.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.28 $100.00 $28.00 15.20 $1.00 $15.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $435.40

JMZ LLC 319 NE 9th Street Waverly IA 50677 1322 Clay Street 8914-13-132-006 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 2.20 $54.00 $118.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.00 $1.00 $8.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $253.20

Kimbie Dinsmore Flick 1312 Clay Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1312 Clay Street 8914-13-132-008 1.70 $27.00 $45.90 1.70 $54.00 $91.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.12 $100.00 $12.00 6.20 $1.00 $6.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $51.00 $206.90

Mark Hecimovich 221 West 13th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 221 West 13th Street 8914-13-128-007 1.70 $27.00 $45.90 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 1.70 $58.50 $99.45 0.06 $100.00 $6.00 3.00 $1.00 $3.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $206.35

Joshua 24 15 Properties LLC P.O. Box 304 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1403 Washington Street 8914-13-136-004 5.20 $27.00 $140.40 5.20 $54.00 $280.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.35 $100.00 $35.00 18.80 $1.00 $18.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $527.00

Timothy Kidd 1221 Washington Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1221 Washington Street 8914-13-128-005 7.80 $27.00 $210.60 2.20 $54.00 $118.80 5.60 $58.50 $327.60 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.00 $1.00 $8.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $732.00

Clayton Meinders 1221 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1221 Main Street 8914-13-129-006 5.30 $27.00 $143.10 5.30 $54.00 $286.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.36 $100.00 $36.00 19.20 $1.00 $19.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $536.50

Bianca Pontious 1321 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1321 Main Street 8914-13-133-005 2.70 $27.00 $72.90 2.70 $54.00 $145.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 9.80 $1.00 $9.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $298.50

Marian Lindberg 1410 Washington Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1410 Washington Street 8914-13-137-009 1.60 $27.00 $43.20 1.60 $54.00 $86.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.13 $100.00 $13.00 7.00 $1.00 $7.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $201.60

Northwestern Bell Telephone Co 756 9th Street Des Moines IA 50309 1504 Washington Street 8914-13-141-010 14.10 $27.00 $380.70 14.10 $54.00 $761.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.94 $100.00 $94.00 50.80 $1.00 $50.80 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,338.90

Aidan Moran 1515 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1515 Main Street 8914-13-141-004 2.90 $27.00 $78.30 2.90 $54.00 $156.60 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.20 $100.00 $20.00 10.60 $1.00 $10.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $51.00 $316.50

Mitchel Bloomquist 1523 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1523 Main Street 8914-13-141-005 6.70 $27.00 $180.90 6.70 $54.00 $361.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.45 $100.00 $45.00 24.30 $1.00 $24.30 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $664.00

Steven Bundy 1609 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1609 Main Street 8914-13-179-005 3.20 $27.00 $86.40 3.20 $54.00 $172.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.21 $100.00 $21.00 11.40 $1.00 $11.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $343.60

Lindsey Kotz 1615 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1615 Main street 8914-13-179-006 3.10 $27.00 $83.70 3.10 $54.00 $167.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.20 $100.00 $20.00 11.00 $1.00 $11.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $334.10

Richard Fauser 1622 Washington Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1622 Washington Street 8914-13-179-008 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.19 $100.00 $19.00 10.20 $1.00 $10.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $308.00

DT Rentals LLC 32322 140th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1722 Washington Street 8914-13-183-007 2.30 $27.00 $62.10 2.30 $54.00 $124.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.20 $1.00 $8.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $261.50

Judy Crew 1624 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1624 Main Street 8914-13-251-004 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 0.00 $54.00 $0.00 2.20 $58.50 $128.70 0.07 $100.00 $7.00 3.90 $1.00 $3.90 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $251.00

Mary Bienfang 3004 Cedar Heights Drive Cedar Falls IA 50613 1612 Main Street 8914-13-251-002 2.10 $27.00 $56.70 2.10 $54.00 $113.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.14 $100.00 $14.00 7.40 $1.00 $7.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $51.00 $242.50

Michael Crall 1504 Main Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1504/1506 Main Street 8914-13-210-001 2.70 $27.00 $72.90 2.70 $54.00 $145.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 9.60 $1.00 $9.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $298.30

Jane Sents 204 9th Street Aplington IA 50604 119 East 15th Street 8914-13-210-008 4.30 $27.00 $116.10 4.30 $54.00 $232.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.29 $100.00 $29.00 15.60 $1.00 $15.60 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $444.90

Kenneth Peverill 121 East 15th Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 121 East 15th Street 8914-13-210-006 2.30 $27.00 $62.10 2.30 $54.00 $124.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.20 $1.00 $8.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $261.50

Hi Yield LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1404 Main Street 8914-13-207-011 16.80 $27.00 $453.60 16.80 $54.00 $907.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.44 $100.00 $44.00 24.00 $1.00 $24.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,480.80

Hi Yield LLC P.O. Box 128 Cedar Falls IA 50613 1403 State Street 8914-13-207-021 13.20 $27.00 $356.40 5.60 $54.00 $302.40 7.60 $58.50 $444.60 0.30 $100.00 $30.00 16.40 $1.00 $16.40 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $1,201.80

Andrew Tetmeyer 1010 State Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1322/1324 Main Street 8914-13-204-004 2.80 $27.00 $75.60 2.80 $54.00 $151.20 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.18 $100.00 $18.00 10.00 $1.00 $10.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $306.80

Walter Petersen 1402 State Street Cedar Falls IA 50613 1402 State Street 8914-13-208-015 5.60 $27.00 $151.20 5.60 $54.00 $302.40 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.37 $100.00 $37.00 20.00 $1.00 $20.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $562.60

Mauricio Miranda Garcia P.O. Box 15201 Fort Lauderdale FL 33318 1412 State Street 8914-13-208-012 2.20 $27.00 $59.40 2.20 $54.00 $118.80 0.00 $58.50 $0.00 0.15 $100.00 $15.00 8.00 $1.00 $8.00 0.01300 $4,000.00 $51.00 $252.20

No Boundry LLC 4118 Briarwood Drive Council Bluffs IA 51503 3434 Tucson Drive 8914-24-279-009 5.80 $27.00 $156.60 3.80 $54.00 $205.20 2.00 $58.50 $117.00 0.32 $100.00 $32.00 17.20 $1.00 $17.20 0.01300 $4,000.00 $52.00 $580.00

362.30 321.40 40.90 21.08 1140.40 $4,000.00

Total $36,778.75

2020 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NUMBER SW - 000 - 3204

Final Statement of Expenditures for Material and Labor

352

Item 33.



353

Item 33.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 24, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Terracon Consultants, Inc. 
   W. 1st Street Reconstruction – Iowa DNR Tier 2 Report 
   Supplemental Agreement No. 2 
   City Project No. RC-000-3118 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 2 with Terracon Consultants Inc. 
that outlines additional scope of services and costs to develop a work plan with the Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources, provide construction oversight, and generate a site 
monitoring report (SMR) based on the Iowa Department of Natural Resources 
requirements of the completed Tier 2 Report. 
 
Terracon Consultants, Inc. completed the Tier 2 Report as the laboratory analysis of the 
soil and groundwater samples identified chemical concentrations that exceed applicable 
IDNR Tier 1 target levels and risk receptors. Work will include updating a section of 
water main located beneath Iowa Street with ductile iron pipe with nitrile gaskets. The 
associated Tier 2 Report is required by the Iowa DNR and must be completed by a 
certified groundwater professional. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Service Agreement with Terracon 
Consultants Inc. for the Iowa DNR Tier 1 Report on February 17th, 2020. Funding for 
this Supplemental Agreement will be provided by the General Obligation Bond in the 
amount of $7,270. This project is included in the City of Cedar Falls’ Capital 
Improvements Program (#133). 
 
The Public Works Department requests your consideration and approval of this 
Supplemental Agreement No. 2 with Terracon for the Tier 2 work plan and site 
monitoring report. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

354

Item 34.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197` 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 2 
 

W. 1st Street Reconstruction – Franklin Street to Hudson Road 
Iowa DOT Project No. NHSX-057-2(29)-3H-07 

Iowa DNR Tier 2 Report 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3118 
 

 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(CLIENT), and Terracon Consultants, Inc., a Delaware corporation (CONSULTANT), dated February 17

th
, 

2020 for the municipal engineering support services; and 
  
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include Scope of 
Services and Compensation for additional items required as a part of the Iowa DNR Tier 2 requirement, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement by adding 
the following items: 
 

I. SCOPE OF WORK 
 
See attached Exhibit A – Scope of Services. 

 
II. COMPENSATION 

 

Compensation for this scope of Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the 

hourly fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total 

compensation is a not to exceed fee of Seven Thousand Two Hundred and Seventy Dollars 

($7,270).  

 

III. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in 
the Professional Services Agreement dated February 17

th
, 2020, as supplemented. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written 
below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT. 
 

By:  By:  
 
 

Printed Name: :  Robert M. Green   Printed Name:   Dave C. Cleary               
 
 

Title: :  Mayor of Cedar Falls             Title:  Environmental Department Manager             
 
 

Date:  Date:    2/24/2021

355

Item 34.



Terracon Consul tants,  Inc.      3105 Capi ta l  Way     Cedar Falls,  Iowa 50613
P  [319]  277-4016     F  [319]  277-4320 terracon.com

November 5, 2020

City of Cedar Falls
Department of Public Works – Engineering Division
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Attn: Mr. Matthew Tolan, EI
P: (319) 268-5164
E: matthew.tolan@cedarfalls.com

Re:   Water Line Replacement Oversight and Site Monitoring Report
City ROW
Highway 57 and Iowa Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
Registration No. 201900050 LUST No. 9LTS59
Terracon Proposal No. P13207097

Dear Mr. Tolan,

Terracon Consultants, Inc. (Terracon) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal
to conduct water line replacement oversight and Site Monitoring Report (SMR) services for
the above referenced site.  The following sections will present Terracon’s approach to
meeting Iowa Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) requirements and are based on the
Tier 2 Report for the above referenced site and the IDNR Tier 2 Report Review dated August
31, 2020.

PROJECT INFORMATION

A Tier 2 report was completed by Terracon and dated August 18, 2020, which classified the
site high risk for the soil to water line pathway.  This classification was accepted by the
IDNR in correspondence dated August 31, 2020.  At the time of the Tier 2, a portion of the
Iowa Street water main (WLA1) and portions of the service line to the east adjoining carwash
(WLB1 and WLB2) were classified as high risk.

Based on discussions with the City of Cedar Falls, Terracon understands the preferred
corrective action to address the high risk receptors is to replace the at-risk portions with
petroleum resistant materials.  During a conference call with the City of Cedar Falls on
October 8, 2020, Terracon learned that the at-risk portion of the carwash service line was
recently replaced during a right-of-way construction project.  The service line was replaced
with ductile iron pipe and petroleum resistant gasketing (nitrile).  Based on this new

356

Item 34.



Water Line Replacement Oversight and Site Monitoring Report
City ROW ■ Cedar Falls, Iowa
November 5, 2020 ■ Terracon Proposal No. P13207097

Responsive ■ Resourceful ■ Reliable 2

information, Terracon does not believe replacement of the carwash service line will be
necessary at this time.  Documentation of the service line construction will need to be
provided to the IDNR during the 2021 SMR in order to reclassify the receptor.  The following
sections will present Terracon’s scope of services.

SCOPE OF SERVICES

Terracon has a 100% commitment to the safety of all its employees.  As such, and in
accordance with our Incident and Injury Free® safety culture, Terracon will generate a project
safety plan for use by our personnel during field services.  Prior to commencement of on-site
activities, Terracon will hold a meeting to review health and safety needs for this specific
project.  At this time, we anticipate performing fieldwork in a United States Environmental
Protection Agency (USEPA) Level D work uniform consisting of hard hats, safety glasses,
protective gloves, and steel-toed boots.  It may become necessary to upgrade this level of
protection, at additional cost, during sampling activities in the event that petroleum or chemical
constituents are encountered in soils or groundwater that present an increased risk for
personal exposure.

2.1 Water Line Replacement

 Work Plan

As requested by the IDNR, Terracon will prepare a work plan detailing our approach
including the section of the water main to be replaced and proposed schedule.  The work
plan will be submitted to the IDNR within 30 days of notice to proceed for review and
approval.  The work plan will also identify the new construction data regarding the carwash
service line in order to notify the IDNR that section will not be included for replacement.

 Project Oversight and Coordination

Based on a review of prior assessments at the site, Terracon is recommending a section of
the water main located beneath Iowa Street be replaced with ductile iron pipe (DIP) or cast
iron (CI) pipe with nitrile gaskets.  Terracon understands that the water line replacement
activities, including permitting and engineering, will be performed in 2021 utilizing City of
Cedar Falls and/or Iowa Department of Transportation personnel.

Terracon will assist the City of Cedar Falls in the disposal of contaminated soil removed
from the water main excavation at a sanitary landfill (Black Hawk County Landfill).  Terracon
will be on-site during the excavation process to field screen soil and collect necessary
samples for characterization as required by the landfill (up to 10 hours on-site).  In addition,

357

Item 34.



Water Line Replacement Oversight and Site Monitoring Report
City ROW ■ Cedar Falls, Iowa
November 5, 2020 ■ Terracon Proposal No. P13207097

Responsive ■ Resourceful ■ Reliable 3

Terracon will perform periodic site checks to document the installation of the replacement
water main, including the collection of photographs to verify replacement activities (up to
four, two-hour visits over the course of the project).  Terracon will obtain approval from the
landfill for disposal including completion of required permitting.

2.2 Report Preparation

Terracon will complete an SMR based on the results of the above described tasks.  The
SMR will document water main replacement and well as provide documentation regarding the
construction of the carwash service line.  This evaluation may or may not result in a
recommendation for no further assessment or remediation.  No warranties, express or
implied, are intended or made.

COMPENSATION

Fees for services specific to this site are $7,270 and are detailed in the attached Table 1.
Interim invoices will be submitted regularly and are due upon receipt.  Invoices will reflect the
units performed in accordance with the above discussion and expressed in Table 1.

AUTORIZATION

We understand the Client will amend the Professional Services Agreement dated February
17, 2020 and provide to Terracon for review. Services will be initiated upon receipt of the
written notice to proceed.  This proposal is valid only if authorized within 90 days from the
proposal date.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide this proposal and look forward to continuing our
work with you on this project.  If you have questions or comments regarding this proposal,
please contact Dave Cleary at (319) 277-4016 or via email at dave.cleary@terracon.com.

Sincerely,
Terracon Consultants, Inc.

Dave C. Cleary, REM Jesse M. Nelson, REM, CGP
Environmental Department Manager                         Environmental Project Manager

DMG/JMN: N:\Projects\2020\13207013\Proposal\13207013.City ROW Tier 2 Supplmental Proposal.draft.docx

Attachments: Table 1

Copies:  Addressee (emailed)

358

Item 34.



Terracon Proposal Number:
Site Name:

Address:
City, State:

LUST Number:
Registration Number:

Date:

Task Unit Type No. of Units Total
Engineering Services
Work Plan 2,000$ LS 1 2,000$
Site Monitoring Report 1,250$ LS 1 1,250$
Environmental Department Manager - Project Coordination 120$ /hour 6 720$
Environmental Project Manager (CGP) - Project Coordination 135$ /hour 6 810$

Subtotal 4,780$
Field Services
Field personnel mobilization 160$ /mobilization 4 640$
Daily equipment charges (IP/water probe, PID, survey, etc.) 125$ /day 2 250$
Field Scientist 75$ /hour 18 1,350$

Subtotal 2,240$
Sample preparation and laboratory analysis:

Soil:  OA-1 (BTEX), OA-2 (TEH) and 8 RCRA Metals 250$ /sample 1 250$
Subtotal 250$

Total 7,270$

Table 1:  Services and Fees

Cost per
Unit

201900050
11/5/2020

9LTS59
Cedar Falls, Iowa
Highway 57 and Iowa Street
City ROW
P13207097

359

Item 34.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 25, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3171 
  CenturyLink Agreement 
 

Attached is a utility relocation and easement conveyance/vacation agreement between the 
City of Cedar Falls and CenturyLink for approval. The City of Cedar Falls is in the final 
design phase of the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project. This agreement 
addresses the necessary right of way needs from CenturyLink in order to meet the Iowa 
DOT and City’s scheduled funding years for construction. 
 
The Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction project will include reconstruction of Cedar Heights 
Drive from East Viking Road to East Greenhill Road. The existing two-lane rural roadway will be 
replaced with a two-lane urban roadway that has a raised median from East Viking Road to 
Prairie Street, two-lane urban roadway that has a designated southbound left turn lane from 
Prairie Street to Huntington Road, and a two-lane urban roadway that has a center left turn lane 
from Huntington Road to East Greenhill Road. The project will include improvements to the 
sanitary sewer, water main, storm sewer, and other miscellaneous roadway items. This project 
also includes the replacement of the existing traffic signal at the Cedar Heights Drive/East 
Greenhill Road intersection with a multilane roundabout and will include the construction of a 
single lane roundabout at the Cedar Heights Drive/Huntington Road intersection.  
 
The City will use General Obligation funds for the design and right of way portion of this 
project. The City entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder and 
Associates, of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, on September 5, 2017 for property acquisition and 
design services. Funds for this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital 
Improvements Program in FY20, FY21 and FY 22 under item number 123. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve of the Utility Relocation and Easement 
conveyance/Vacation Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and CenturyLink. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

360

Item 35.



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613, (319) 273-8600 

Utilities Relocation and Easement Conveyance/Vacation Agreement  

Between 

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

And 

Qwest Corporation d/b/a CenturyLink QC 

 

This Utilities Relocation and Easement Conveyance/Vacation Agreement is entered into effective on the 

_____ day of ______________, 2020, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, an Iowa municipality 

(hereinafter the “City”), and Qwest Corporation d/b/a CenturyLink QC, a Colorado corporation (hereinafter 

“CenturyLink”). 

WHEREAS, the City is planning a public improvement Project that involves reconstruction of Cedar 

Heights Drive, including the construction of roundabouts at Huntington Road and Greenhill Road; and 

WHEREAS, CenturyLink’s predecessors in interest acquired easements along Cedar Heights Drive, and 

placed facilities within said easements and also within existing public right-of-way over the years; and 

WHEREAS, the City has acquired right-of-way for road improvement projects over the years, including in 

connection with the current public improvement Project; and 

WHEREAS, the many portions of easements now owned by CenturyLink are located within public right-

of-way; and 

WHEREAS, due to requirements of the public improvement Project, there are areas of conflict with 

CenturyLink facilities within the public right-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, due to the aforementioned conflicts, abandonment, adjustment and relocation of CenturyLink 

facilities is necessary at several locations within the area of the public improvement Project; and 

WHEREAS, as part of the public improvement Project, the City has acquired a Public Utility Easement 

adjacent to the City right-of-way at and near the intersection of Cedar Heights Drive and Huntington Road 

where a roundabout will be constructed; and 

361

Item 35.



2 
 

WHEREAS, the City has agreed to pay for the cost of relocation and adjustment of CenturyLink’s 

facilities, including relocation through and across the Public Utility Easement as well as relocation to and 

adjustment within the public right-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, CenturyLink has agreed to vacate and convey to the City its rights, title and interest in the 

aforementioned easements that are located within the public right-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, the City and CenturyLink have agreed to the terms and conditions of the above, and now 

wish to set forth their agreement in writing. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein and for other valuable consideration, 

the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the parties, it is mutually covenanted and 

agreed as follows: 

1.  Public Purpose.  This Agreement is deemed to be in the public interest because reaching an 

agreement regarding resolution of CenturyLink facilities conflicts will allow the public improvement Project 

to proceed in an orderly and efficient fashion and without significant delay, given that time is of the 

essence in the completion of the public improvement Project. 

2.  Definitions. 

       a.  “Project” means the reconstruction of Cedar Heights Drive extending from southwest of Prairie 

Street generally north to and including the intersection of Cedar Heights Drive and Greenhill Road, 

including, but not limited to, grading, paving, the construction of roundabouts at Huntington Road and at 

Greenhill Road, underground utility work, and landscaping. 

       b.  “Project Area” means the entire geographic area included in the Project, as generally depicted as 

the grey shaded area in Exhibit A attached.  Project Area does not include CenturyLink easements 

located outside the public right-of-way, other than the Public Utility Easement. 

       c.  “CenturyLink facilities” or “facilities” means copper cables and fiber optic cables owned by 

CenturyLink and currently located within easements and within the public right-of-way within the Project 

Area.                                                                                                                                    

       d.  “Public Utility Easement” means the City’s interest in land acquired as part of the Project, recorded 

in Document # 2021-8484 in the Office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa, as legally described 

and depicted in the acquisition plat attached as Exhibit B. 

3.  Abandonment, Relocation and Adjustment of CenturyLink facilities.  CenturyLink agrees to abandon, 

relocate or adjust, as necessary, some of its facilities located within the Project Area as follows:   

       a.  Plans and specifications related to the abandonment, relocation and adjustment of CenturyLink 

facilities within the Project Area shall be prepared and submitted to the City prior to execution of this 

Agreement.  Such plans and specifications must be approved by the City Engineer or designee in writing 

prior to execution of this Agreement.  Any modification of such plans and specifications are subject to 

written approval by the City Engineer or designee prior to the commencement of relocation or adjustment 

construction.  At the conclusion of facilities abandonment, relocation and adjustment, CenturyLink shall 

provide to the City, at CenturyLink’s cost, as-built plans and specifications to the extent they differ from 

City approved plans and specifications.  

      b.  The cost of abandonment, relocation and adjustment is estimated to be $ 150,070.49 as shown in 

the estimate provided by CenturyLink attached as Exhibit C.  Any modification of the cost of such 

362

Item 35.



3 
 

abandonment, relocation or adjustment must be approved by the City in writing in advance.  Within 30 

days after completion of the abandonment, relocation and adjustment work, and acceptance by the City 

of such work, the City shall pay to CenturyLink the sum of $ 150,070.49, or if modified, the agreed upon 

modified amount.  CenturyLink hereby agrees to hold the City harmless and defend and INDEMNIFY the 

City from and against any claim or demand made by any person or entity providing services, materials, 

equipment or labor related to the abandonment, relocation or adjustment work, and for and against any 

claim or demand for personal injury, including death, or property damage incurred or claimed by any 

person or entity related to, arising out of, or in connection with such abandonment, relocation or 

adjustment work.  For purposes of this subparagraph, the City includes the City’s employees, officers, 

elected and appointed officials, agents and assigns as well as the municipal utility, Cedar Falls Utilities.  

       c.  All applicable City permits must be obtained by the persons or entities performing such 

abandonment, relocation or adjustment work, and such work shall be performed in accordance with all 

federal, state and local laws, regulations and standards.   

       d.  The abandonment, relocation and adjustment work of CenturyLink’s facilities is not a public 

improvement under Iowa law and is not subject to competitive bidding. 

       e.  Stages 1-4 of the abandonment, relocation and adjustment of CenturyLink’s facilities in the area of 

Cedar Heights Drive and Greenhill Road shall be completed no later than July 15th , 2021.  All other 

facilities abandonment, relocation and adjustment shall be completed no later than November 18, 2021.  

Any extension of this deadline is within the sole discretion of the City, and may be granted for good 

cause, including unavoidable delay through no fault of CenturyLink. City and CenturyLink agree to 

perform all coordination and communication necessary to facilitate CenturyLink’s abandonment, 

relocation, and adjustment work. Failure to complete such facilities abandonment, relocation and 

adjustment by the above dates, or any City allowed extension, shall be considered a breach of this 

Agreement.Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the City’s other legal and equitable remedies for 

such breach, which are specifically preserved.  

       f.  All areas within the public right-of-way affected by abandonment, relocation and adjustment of 

CenturyLink’s facilities shall be restored by CenturyLink to a state suitable for road construction.  All areas 

within the Public Utility Easement affected by abandonment, relocation and adjustment shall be restored 

to now existing condition and grade.  Costs for such restoration are included in the total cost of relocation 

set forth in subparagraph 3(b) above or if not so included shall be at CenturyLink’s cost.  

       g.  All materials, supplies, vehicles and equipment used in the abandonment, relocation and 

adjustment work shall be used, stationed and stored in such a way that no interference with the Project 

will occur.  

       h.  CenturyLink shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this Agreement by any and all persons 

or entities performing any work in accordance with this Agreement, and such provisions shall be binding 

on such persons and entities.     

4.  Conveyance of CenturyLink Easements to the City; Vacation.  CenturyLink hereby conveys to the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and hereby vacates, abandons, releases and terminates all of the easement rights 

and any other related rights granted to CenturyLink, including those granted to CenturyLink’s 

predecessors in interest, as follows: 

       a.  Segment 1.  That part of a CenturyLink easement commencing north of the intersection of Cedar 

Heights Drive and Greenhill Road, and extending southward through the intersection and continuing 

southward on the east side of Cedar Heights Drive to the South line of the SE Quarter of the NW Quarter 

363

Item 35.



4 
 

of Section 29 Township 89 Range 13, as generally depicted as a red broken line in Exhibit A attached, 

and as legally described and as shown in the surveying plat attached as Exhibit D (Segment 1), which is 

incorporated herein by this reference, and includes the following grants:   

Grantor(s)                      Date of Grant           Black Hawk County, Iowa          Date of Recording 

                                                                        Recorder’s Office Doc. #                                                                                       

 

Ruth Glenny Whittle               April 18, 1966                Book 165, Page 273                  May 4, 1966 

 

Aaron Miller                

John G. Miller, Jr.                   May 4, 1966                  Book 165, Page 272                  May 4, 1966 

       c.  Segment 2.  That part of a CenturyLink easement commencing at the South line of the SE Quarter 

of the NW Quarter of Section 29 Township 89 Range 13 and on the east side of Cedar Heights Drive, as 

generally depicted as a yellow broken line in Exhibit A attached, and as legally described and as shown in 

the surveying plat attached as Exhibit E (Segment 2), which is incorporated herein by this reference. 

       d.  Segment 3.  That part of a CenturyLink easement commencing at or near the intersection of 

Cedar Heights Drive and Greenhill Road and extending generally south on the west side of Cedar 

Heights Drive, as generally depicted as a green broken line in Exhibit A attached, and as legally 

described and as shown in the surveying plat attached as Exhibit F (Segment 3), which is incorporated 

herein by this reference;  

and also, 

That part of a CenturyLink easement extending through and across the right-of-way of Cedar Hills Road, 

as also generally depicted as a green broken line in Exhibit A attached, and as legally described and as 

shown in the surveying plat attached as Exhibit G (Segment 3), which is incorporated herein by this 

reference. 

       e.  If not already described herein, all CenturyLink Easements within the Project Area. 

        f.  Because the precise location of some of CenturyLink’s easements within the Project Area is 

based upon the location of first laid lines, determining the metes and bounds of CenturyLink’s easements 

has proven difficult.  The parties have made good faith attempts to ascertain the metes and bounds of 

CenturyLink’s easements using locating equipment.  The parties agree that the descriptions herein 

accurately and completely describe the area of CenturyLink’s easements in order to effect a conveyance 

and vacation of Segment 1, Segment 2, and Segment 3 of CenturyLink’s easements within the Project 

Area, and hereby waive any inaccuracy or irregularity in same.    

The City hereby accepts all conveyances described in this Agreement. 

5.  Future Relocation. In the event that the City deems it necessary that CenturyLink’s facilities that were 

required to be relocated or adjusted within the Project Area be relocated or adjusted in the future, 

including those facilities that now will be located in the Public Utility Easement, the City agrees to pay for 

the reasonable cost of such relocation(s) or adjustment(s).  CenturyLink shall provide the City with 

364

Item 35.



5 
 

documentation of its estimated costs for such future relocation or adjustment in a separate agreement in 

advance of such relocation or adjustment. That agreement shall govern the payment and coordination of 

such relocation or adjustment.  Future relocation or adjustment of CenturyLink facilities within the Project 

Area that were relocated or adjusted as part of the Project for any reason other than the City deeming 

future relocation or adjustment necessary shall be at CenturyLink’s cost.  This Paragraph shall not apply 

to any CenturyLink facilities not relocated or adjusted as part of the Project or any CenturyLink facilities 

not already installed at the time of completion of the Project. 

6.  No Additional Compensation.  No further or additional compensation or damages whatsoever shall be 

paid by the City to or for CenturyLink for abandonment, relocation or adjustment of CenturyLink’s facilities 

or for conveyance/vacation of CenturyLink Easements within the Project Area, which are hereby fully and 

completely waived and released, except as specifically set forth herein. 

7.  Notice of Relocation.  CenturyLink hereby acknowledges proper and sufficient notice by the City of the 

requirement to abandon, relocate and adjust utility services within the Project Area, and waives any 

irregularity or deficiency in the same.   

8.  Vacation of Right-of-Way.  As long as CenturyLink remains in compliance with this Agreement, the 

City shall not, by ordinance or otherwise, vacate the Public Utility Easement or the public right-of-way 

within the Project Area, without preserving such rights as may be necessary to allow CenturyLink the 

continued use of the CenturyLink facilities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, provided, 

however, that nothing in this Section shall in any way limit the City to require CenturyLink to relocate the 

CenturyLink facilities elsewhere with the public right-of-way in accordance with this Agreement. 

9.  Public Right-of-Way.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to limit or restrict in any 

way the City’s right to use the public right-of-way, grant permission for other entities to use the public 

right-of-way, or to control or manage the public right-of-way.  Further, nothing in this Agreement shall be 

construed to create any property interest or right in CenturyLink to occupy space within the public right-of-

way. 

10. Governing Body.  This Agreement shall not be effective until or unless approved by the City Council of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

11.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is binding upon the parties and their respective assigns, 

transferees and successors. 

12.  No Third-Party Claim.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to create any claims 

or rights on the part of any person or entity not a party to this Agreement. 

13.  Integration; Amendment.  This Agreement, including Exhibits, constitutes the entire understanding 

and agreement of the parties and supersedes any previous understandings between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and no amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be 

valid and binding unless made in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the parties. 

14.  Governing Law.  The construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws 

of the State of Iowa. 

15.  Forum.  All matters relating to the construction and performance of this Agreement shall be litigated 

only in the state or federal courts of the State of Iowa, and in particular the Iowa District Court in and for 

Black Hawk County or the US District Court in and for the Northern District of Iowa, Cedar Rapids 

Division. 

365

Item 35.



6 
 

16.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more facsimile counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original but all of which together constitute one and the same instrument. 

17.  Non-assignable.  The rights, duties and obligations under this Agreement may not be transferred or 

assigned without the prior written consent of the non-transferring or non-assigning party. 

18.  Nondiscrimination.  CenturyLink agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant 

for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 

disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other 

classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where age or sex is an essential bona fide 

occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational disqualification.  CenturyLink 

shall inform all contractors, subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their 

compliance with the same. 

19.  Severability.  In the event a court of competent jurisdiction shall adjudge any provision of this 

Agreement invalid or illegal, such invalidity or illegality shall in not in any way affect the remaining 

provisions of this Agreement or their validity or legality, and this Agreement shall continue in full force and 

effect, as if said provision had not been so adjudged invalid or illegal, or shall at the City’s option, cause 

termination of this Agreement.   

20.  Notice.  Any notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be either 

personally delivered, emailed or sent by ordinary mail to: 

City:        CenturyLink: 

David Wicke, PE     Brent Giese 
City Engineer      Engineer II 
319-268-5162      563-35-2592 
220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, IA 50613   3908 Utica Ridge Rd., Bettendorf, IA 52722 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Relocation and Easement Agreement as of the 

effective date listed above. 

 

Qwest Corporation d/b/a CenturyLink QC 

 

By:      _________________________ 

Name: _________________________ 

Title:       ________________________ 

 

State of    __________________) 

                                                    )  ss: 

366

Item 35.



7 
 

County of ___________________) 

 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _____day of _______________, 2020, by 

______________________, as ____________________________ of Qwest Corporation d/b/a 

CenturyLink QC, a Colorado corporation. 

                                                                                                  __________________________________ 

                                                                                    Notary Public in and for the State of _____________ 

                                                                                                   My Commission Expires: ______________  

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: ____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

STATE OF IOWA             ) 

                                         ) ss: 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY ) 

 

This record was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of ________________, 2020, by Robert M. 

Green, as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

                                                                                                       ______________________________ 

                                                                                                      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

367

Item 35.



8 
 

                                                                                                       My Commission Expires: __________  

368

Item 35.



' ouE :pepn*susJ aq llyfilnoqePunoJ e e*q^\

peou uolouBunH puE an1r6 s1q61ag repaS lo uollcssrolu! 3ql 'lBau p'" il i' -'*'q6p 
^ttc 

at$ ol luaoBfpe

luoulasql l+rrnn'rrqnJe pallnboe oq Irc 
"n'palpla 

luaurerordul qpnd agpped sE 'sVJU:ll{M

pueipato.r6ueuerroldru!qrynd."TloEalBeqlull.$l,{tguol}EcolHa^es}efuessamus!SeuucE

,untunlue, ro ,Or,".[] pr"iL,rnriifpe lueu,uop,pq' 'qAUu@ pEudfrreuarq, eql ol enp '$r'eU3HM

puEl{earr-1o-lq6uqtqndau}ult$uAsa$|lcEllu!.lfun1ue3

r$Ur lotuuoo lo sBarE arB ara$ lcetgrd u",ri"irJ*' ,ilqno 
",|l 

lo sluauallnbal ol enp 's\Eu3l{M

puE:ABruUo

{q0u cuqnd utr$ln\ pal$ol erB lunfunuec [q peufio ilotl queuggEo l0 !u0u0d fiueru eq1 '$!rJu]l'l'14

pue :patord luatuano.durt qgnd luaxncots qly{r uol'peuuoo

u1 Burpnpur 
,seaA eql rano +ca{od tu*lr"n*a*t p'o''ol rteJt{rg1q6p par;nboe sEq trllc sts 'sv3u3l{ 

'\

pueluee[aqlJa^oIe,tt-1o-lq6pqgndEunsxaultst,l^os|BpuBqueu,eseeplEsu!qt!,l\safi|llcelpaoeld
pue.aAuos}t{B!aH,Epac6uoFsuauaseaper;nbcelsalelu!u!slosssepeJdsJul]&n}ua3.s\Eu:ll.t1^

pue ipeos ,rquaere pu, peoH uo,5urunFl P $nqppunil p 116mruNlOl ef$ $11PI1pU Ill|lfl SIO|AH

rBpec p uoilcruFuoooJ ssAIO^ul lEql #f.od tuauaaodurl qnrd e ouluued q rtll3 e$ 'svSueHA

'(">lunfunlue3"

regeulateq) uo[eriloc opaolo3 e 'OO lu!]rtnlue3 e/ryp uoge.rod.ro3 ]so'Yr0 Pue '(.&!31sql rageu;aeq)

riledprunnr 
"^ot 

," Lol;,r;i"p"Jp niclqii**"q-pue 'tq '*oz'- lo [ep

aql uo e^lpe$a ou dd; {lu"**rov',iog*e6pcueAanuo3 }ueulese3 pup uogesoFu sc[lpn slql

39 4u;$rnpag ?rqrp uopetodlo3 lssrstg

puv

erno;'s11e1 repoC 1o'{ttC st;1

uaonlog

paureslEy uollEoE6/Bcuartaruog 1uaurssE! pue uoffs3olau sal'Upn

369

Item 35.



qons lo lsoo au, ro uossaulporr luv .c 1qlqE se per{celle >lut-trtnlua3 rtq peplrrod qEulEsa aql

u! utnoqs se 6r.0/0,0gt $ eq ol pelEuBse q tusutFnrpB puE uosecolej 'luauuopueqE ro lssJ allf 'q

'suoBecllceds pue sued penordde l{l13

uo4Ja$lp farfllue]xe aq] ol suoBagpeds pue suep illnq€e lso sJunr{rnueg le '613 aQ ol apnold

lleqs lulfunlue3 'luatr4snfpe pue uoliecole] 'NeuJuopuEgB saHlpq ]o uoFnpuoo e$ lV 'uoFru]suoo

lueulsn[peIouo[E?ol3J]Olueueouaruocs\0crouoaau6;saplo'reeul6u3IUCer+[qpnoddeuauu'l^
ol lgalqns arE suogeouoads pue .rrd qr# lo ,q}ecup* r(uv ?ueruear6y s1q1p uo!]mexe ol roud

6u$mrr u1 aeuorsap ro o"-riora ,{lc aql rtq penordde eq Fnur suoBecupads pue sueld t{cns luaureiov

sll.lllouollncaxaolloudIUCaWolpe$FrlqnspuepeledaldsqllBqsearvpeloldsq]u!l$l,tsoBl|!3ql
rlur-.lrtnluaS Jo rr"*"ntp" pu. ,on*q* luet'uuopueqe eql ol palElil suollsauuceds pue suPH 'e

:s,vrollolseeerypeloldst{Iu!t{}l'ttpe]sf,olssllll!3B]sltJoelJos'ItessgSause'pnfpeJoa]Ecolol
'uopueqe o1seel6e lunfinue3 

e

'g mtqrJ s" per{cB}lB]eld uo$lqnboe sql U papldap pue

peqmsap 1tte6q se 'erv\ol 'qunoC Xff\BH )pelg ;Jrep.raceg oql p soSO otll ul tBt&LZ0Z # iuetumoo ul

pepJolal lcafold aq1lo yed se pallntsae puq 
'] 

t"".r"lut s'trllC er8 sueeu JueuasE3 AtBn qHnd' 'p

'e3JV

pe[ouetBul$nr{eru-lo.tq6[qlqndaqlullfll/spuesilueulesEgull+!,$pqgJollpuaunapueluS,trqua3
{q paur*ro salq@ q$o:aqg pue sagBc raddoc suEaul 

'saqlpe;' 
Jo 

'sal1lcE 1q1ftn1ue3. 'c

'luaueseS l(lnlln qtqna aql ueLllla$o '[e'd-l+]tt6u qlqnd eq aplsBno pe]Ecol

slueuasEaluSrtrrgue3epnpu|lo,*pearvlce[ou-'p3!cE|}EVilqlqx3u!EoJEpappqsl(a$aq}
sepapldapt{pauaose,pafo,d".gutp"pnputearaqqaeJ6oa6ar$uaaqlsueatx.ea.typa[or6,.q

'6u1decspue1 pug 5llom Sllnn puno'r6'rspun 'peou lllquaale

le puE peog uo$uBUnH 1p qnoqepunor 1o ,o*n4tuoo e$ '6u6ed '6ulpa6 'ot pe1uJll tou yrq 'Eulpnpul

'peou lllqueeJe pue aauo qqQaH l"p"i'o'on*o"l't aq 6u1pnpu1 puE ol tfuou filelaueo pe4s

aplerd p p"*tpnos uro4 6ulpuaya EAUO s[q-qeH Jep€3lo uo{pn4su@r oql sueau pa[or6" 'e

siFrc-o'z

'pa[or6 luaulanoldru; c11qnd aql Io uofiaduo aql u[ suasse

aqllos!eu[let|}uerq6,{elep}uecuuols}no$ptApuEuollsEluepsepue,tpaploueutpeeoo.tdo}
lcsford lueruerodult cltqnd oql /vtolle nl^ q'ru'* 

""iirrr'=] 'lunA'ryu"c 
lo uo[npsil 6ulple6a'r luauaer6e

uesulqceaesnBsaqFelalu|qn,u",+u!eqolpa]eaps!luauan6vsrqtEdffi?i-5iiiifi?'l
:s/lttollol se Pael0e

puepe}ueu€}noo{;enpus;11.sa;yedeqlqpe6parioD|cBl(qareqqq4q,*lolcuaprgnspuetdFoareql
'uo[eleplsuoo eHenle laqio Jo, puE uleJaq saspuold lenmu ats lo uo|teJepsuq' ul '=UOJAU]HI MON

'Eulilrrr ut lualaelEe Jlar{l qIoJ las o] qs!'rl

,r,\ou pue 'aloqe atD p suoBlpuoo pue su.tal aql o1 paar6e areq 1unfunpeg pue 
'qtC e$ 'SVJU=II{M

pue lrte*lo-lq6u olqnd st{l ult$p$ pa}ecq aJB}Eql qualua€sa pauofluan'aJo]e

aq}u|lsala}u!puea$$.s1q61rq1trucaqo1,(anuoopUBglRfe^olpea.r6eseqlu5fu4ua3,sv3u3l{^/\
pue lfe,vt-lo-tqE.u olqnd e$ ult$!'rr luarrrlsnfpe

pue ol uooBoola, sE 1F,11se luauasE3 ,tttgn cltqna 3\B ssolJE pue q6norql uofle'opJ 6upnpu! 'sesilpe]

s;lug,truueg p pau4snfpe pue uollEootsi lo rso:) eq} rol ,{ed ol Fer6e sEq 
'tl!c 

oto 'sv=tu3l'lM

370

Item 35.



Jeueno MN eqr Jo Jqreno 3s e$ ;o eurl qpos aql ol e po qqqaH lepec lo apls lsB' aql uo pJE/*qlnos

Eulnugum pu, uo$ces,elu! aql q6norql pr-"*,gr,o" Bulpualxa pr, :p*g lllLluaare puB e^!Jo slq6leH

rBpeo lo uotl3ssrelu! ers lo quou 6ulcuau** r'"Lo* iun'trnpec e 1o yed lgttr t luaurtsas 'e

:srutollol selsslslul u1 s'tossacaperd

s.rtu',funluEc ol peluer6 esoqo 6utpnpu! llunfunlueo ol petue.r6 qu6u paptar raqlo rue pue

slq6lr luauasea oql lo lle s"pr!*r"t ru, """""r"., 
;=ropu"q" 'salecgn Aqereq pue 'ernO1 'Sllel JBpeS,o

,{uc eql o1 s6aauoo &#qrrirlrnru"c 'uoii#ti:Ri5 im oi euem*e= xuhnmua5 F muercruo5 'r

'salulua Pue suosled qcns uo

SurputqaqilEqssuols;no.tdqsnspus.pautaalEyslqlqu,ng3uBpJqaoeu!IJo^ItfueBuguopadsagluarc
suos.lad lle pue r{ue [q pauraa-r6v s!rl]]o suolsloro i lr,$lro aouelldtuoc a1nsue Ileqs >lu!l6n]us3 'tl

'lm3o lllAfi

palold arl] r{lfn a3uaJa#eu! ou }eql /En e rpns u! peJoF puE peuo|lels 'pasn eq lFqs IJonA}ueulpnfpe

pueuo!}aoFl.luat[uopueqegqlUlpesnparudlnbapuesaplqe^.salpdns.s|puoleLu|lV.6

1soo s,rtulllilnluao le 3q lleus papnpul os lou ll ro a^oqe (q)g qdelEeredqns ul t.0.tolles

uollecolaiplsmFloteqlu!papnpuleJBuoBEJOlSeJqsnsJolslso3'apei6puEuolllpuo36uus;xa'uouol
perolser eq llEt{s luarupn[pe puB uorlBsola i'"*'op'"qe lQ papa$e ]uauese3 trutgn qnna eql ulupfli

sEare IIV 
.uomn*euoo psor Jol olqerns 

"1e1" " 
or lullturuuec [q potopa sq [Bqs s38ll!3E s.1ul-1finpe3

p luaulsntoe puB uoqecola1 .lueuuopueqe {q papege rerrle}tlEu c;1qnd aU} u!q}!liA seaJP ilv I

'paruesad {pcgpads are qolqi,Ir'qcEaJq rpns

JolselpeueJelqepbapuele6qraqps.filgeqluurllolpenqsuocaqfleqsuFJeqoulrfloN.luetrraat6v
slr$ro rfrseJq e paaplsuoJ { lleq6 .roir"rrrp"*lp Ilr,3 lue n 'selep e^oqe aw rtq }ueu4snfpe

puBuollBcolaJ.luauuopuEqEsa[!lpe}qansaleldurocolalnllEj')|jo,$lual.rllsnfPePue.uollEsoFJ
,}uauuopueqes,lul.]drn}ua.Jelgllll3ElolfuessaaauuollEclunu,UocpuEuoseulplooclterrrrolJad

oleel6e>|ut.]r{lnluacpue,{lc.lql,tnlua3JoilnetouqEnolqlIelepaEeppnBun6ulpnpu!.esnec
poo6 t€u paluao ag Aeu pue ,,t!3 eql lo uonejslp eps aP ullf,lri q aullpeep slrll ]o uolsualxa {uV

'rcAZ'glr"q*"nop ,r,fl.lalBl ou patalduroc eq lpqs lueurpnfpe pue uo!]E3ol$ 'luaruopueqB se$;1cel

rar{to IIV 'LZOZ',ng L 
'qnf 

uErfl ralq ou papputo eq llEt{s peou [lLluae.re pue enuo slq0eH JEpaC

la ee)eeql ul saul|lcel s.lutfnnUaC lo lueulsn[pe pue LP!]ecopJ 'lueuruopueqe e$ 
'o 

f L sa6e]S 'a

'EutppH an[lledtum ol palqns ]ou s! puE iAel E'r ol rapun ]usursno'ldul!

cllqnctetouEsalilpBls;ur-llrnlua3JoIJo'$luanrlsnlpepu8uoREcoPJTueuuopuEq"3ql'p

'spJepuBls pue suogeln6al 's,t'tq lecq pue apls ';ercpa1

llEqlr,\eouBpJoryJeulperrrropadeq[eqsljoivtl,pnspuBluoihluauqsnlpBJouollEcoFl,lueuluopuBqE
qcns 6u;ru.rol.rad sannue lo suosled aql rtq paurelqo eq lsnu suurad r{ttC egeqdde llv 'c

.sa$lBn slpJ repac 
,ArlDn 

ledlclunul a$ se ile,{t se suEpse pue que6e 'splcg;o pelu;odde puE pe}ceF

,srsglo ,saa{o1dua s,rqC e$ sapnpu!rtUi",ll'r;derceredqns qr$Jo sesodJnd JoJ 'ryo'nluar'ri}sntpe

Jouo!}geo|aJ,peuuopuBqPqsns.*r^uorr*,uoou!Jo!o$o6uFue.o}p€lEFJA[uarouos.lod
Iue Aq peul'p.,o p*nru! e6euep i{Uedold Jo 'qleep 6u!pnpu! 'fun[u, ;euos,ad JoJ pueuep Jo u!el3

[uelsuleoepu",olpu":uo,ttlugu4sn[perouogecoFj,}ueuuopueqee$o}pelPPjlqelJo}ueu4nba
.s|eue}euj,solruss6utprro:d{l0uaJouos.rad[ue[qepeu,puEuep]otu|Elcf,uepuleEepueuo+Iitc

eql AJlN6l3oNl pue pualep puE sseluilErl rtttc sr0 proq ol saalEa rqa.req 1unfun1ua3 lunouE paBlpolx

uodn paa6e aql 'pegpour ll ro '6r'010'09f S lo ulns eql luqfunpa3 ol /Ed [eUs [ttO eU 5IoftA Wns lo

,Qp aql [q scuegeoe pue ,1rorr p"rt"nip, pre uosecop, lusutuopueqB otsJo uoqa]dLuoo pse sfiep

og ulrslrvl .s3ue pE ui or*u^ u! iqlc eql r(q pa^ordde aq lsnt! luaulsnlpe Jo uo!]RJolal 'luauruopueqe

371

Item 35.



tlltn\,q!3 aU eppold lpqs'un'tnlue3 
'(sl1ueulsnfpe lo (s)uogecopl qons p 1ssJ egeuoseel eq]

n, Ied o1 saer6e nfC 
",8 lu"*"r"j Sffnn 

'nq'J 
3$ ul palecol aq ilFi 'vtou 

letg se$lpel asoql 6ulpnpu!

'alnlryargulppnfoeJopelecopJ"qo.,Vfc"fp,detsulr$'J$pelsnfpeJopslEcopteqolpa'rlnbe't
are,v\l'rll se$$cE s.1unfunpa3 pq ftessacau ti =*""p 'tlt3 

?t$l,t{l lu"* "'n 
ul -ii6lF-oi4lffiTfr]i 'g

luautaalEy ELtl q paqucsep sEoueltaluoo 11e qdacoe [qsraq {*C aqt

'axes u! 
'{llJeln6a'r'rr 

rc Icanoeul [Ue enlean Aqa'raq puE 'Eelv

Falord aqt utr.{}lr^ s}ueulasee srullrr$ua3ii i'u.li"'o"s pue 'z}uaru6as 't luauroas lo uollgce^ puE

aouer(enuoc e pese ot lepro u! slueu,"sEe 
".linn,rlu"c 

to ?e:w 
eqlrcsap fiapp*oc puE Alalanoe

ureraq suo$dpcsep aW ,"r* aarOe sa;yi;i['t"JrOlnba 
'ugrrol 'upn 

quauasea s'>1u5[rnpeg

lo spunoq pr" ."*"*-"ui rirr.,*"" ot slouuene'-tue1 poo6 apBu, a^Eq ssqred aq1 1lmgllp uanord seq

sluauasea s,>rur-1{rntueolo spunoq pr" *"1", 
"$'i;riut*"1"p 

'sau[ plell"lulo uo!]*,ol eqt uodn paseq

sr ea:y pa[ord eq] ulqilril queuesea s"1u;1fun1ua3 p auos lo uoBE ol aspard aq] esnB'ag ']

'ea:y pa[ol4 aql ulq]!'$ siluotrrase3 1u5lfun1ue9 lle 'uleJaq paqgcsop {peerF lou ll 'e

's3UeJ3leJ

slql,{q ulaeq pale.rodrour s! rl3lqfr 
,(g par.uBag) e uqlqE sE pawsl}s p1d Eu;rtaruns aq} u! ui{tol'ls

sepuEpeqpcsapr!F6qSepue.peryfqlBvIqlttr3uleu||uo}plqusarEesepapldepAFraua6ospsE
'pBou slllH rBpas ro Ie*r-lo-ltt6p oql ssone p" t{6no.rqr Oulpuaye ryiluasea 1qil'rnpa3 e 1o yed leUI

'oslE pue

:sruarela Eql & ulaeq

paprod.roculsl qclqn'(gluaur6eg) J llqlq4l se per4cqp fl! Olferuns aql ul u'ltroL{s se pue pequcs€p

;{1p6a1 sE puE 'paryrqlE v }lqlQql 
"ii'tl 

tl"T 
".lo'L"l,Io 

e se pepldep r{11eraua6 se 'e^uo qqqaH

reps3lo apF lsa/$ e$ uo q$os fipaueo 6ulpue$e pue peou lllquasre pue e tro stu6lsH 'tBpoc

lo uo|]3asrqu! aql Jeeu lo le 6upuatt* ir"*"ree >lul-li{rnlue3 e p yed leql 'e uaufus 'p

.aoueJelil slr{l ,{q upraq paprod.roou! sl rlolrlrv\ '(z lueu6es) r ilqlux3 sB peqoeBe }Pld outferuns aql

u! uir^oqs se pup paqgrsep,tp6et sE puB 'peqcqle Vuqlqq ,t"'tt u"ioq naqp{ e se pepldep rlppua6

ss 'a^uo slqoFH repo3lo €pls lsee eql uo pu" il-"6u'u 63 dlqsumol 6z uollcss Io reueno MN aql lo

reuEno 3s aql,o eu* gnos ar+ ,, 6upuars,r.L-rJ"*r.ea rulrft'uuec 
p lo ued lpt& 'z 1lIeu6es 'c

996! 't r(Bt lZtZa6ea '9gt.Ioo€9g6t 'r r(etll

9g6L 't,(entLZefled '991loog

#'coo a3ulo sJapjoceu

996l '81[rdv

oulproceu p alBO errrol '{1uno3 x'$eH l-lelg }uerep 3}eo

'Jr 'relllhl 'e uqor

Jelllttl uojq/

atgq A {uua1g qPg

(sIotuEr9t

:slua0 EuUrrrotlol sl'{l sapnflu! pue 'aouaJqoJ slt$ 
'(q 

u1arcq-pap'rodroout

s! tlolq/n '(! luau.r6es) O Uqlwq sB paqcqlE pid0u'''t"^tns eql q u'lttoqs sB pue p€qpcsep file6al se pue

'peqceg" V Uqlq6 u! aull ua)plq peJ E se pa;s$Bp {11aaua6 se '81 a6ueg 6g dtqsuiuol 6Z uopes Jo

372

Item 35.



'uo!st^!o

spldBu repec '?,1Aol Jo lsulslc uJequoN aql rol puE u! unoc pl4slo sn au ro AlunoS listBH lcElE

rol pue ul unoc ,rlrr"ro ,*l "ql 
rJlnrsr* u! pue 'ery\ol 1o a}etS 

"rtt 
lo ,qrnoc le,ap6t Jo elEts aql u! {uo

pap6tttl aq lleqs tuaruJer6v qql,o eouEullogad pue uo[cn4suoo eq] ot Eugepl slegeul 1;y Eril6'i 'gl'

'Etrtollo alels at*lo

s^^e|eq}rtqpau.rarcEeqller-|sparrraarBys!t{lloacueunpedpuBuoBcn4suooot]Ire1TiElm-eI€.,t

.se|uede\0losa4p}uasadarpa4Jo$nEAqpauftspueEururnu!epeusselunButpugpuep[e^

eqfleqsluauaalEyslLlllouollB]g'po*.,ol"Lupuetreoupue'uptaqFssajppesja]leular8q]cadseJ
t{prn seB.red eql uea,toq sEulpuqs.reprn 

"noinrro 
lue sapesradns pue senJEd eqllo }usu'ael6e pue

6urpueF.rgpuneJ$ueat8seFI}st,oo,8uq|qrJ6urpnpu1.tuauael6Vslqt@'el
'lueuael6v slql ol ,tued e pu l{lwa lo uocrad Aue p Ued sql uo slq6u ro

sulpt, Aue eparc ol parulsuoo aq lpqs paruaarEv Eql q psuPluo 6qqop --' .EiI'ffi 
',Zt

'sJosssapns puE SAeJalsue'l

.su6psca4padsalJ!gt,flpuesepedaq1uodn6urpuHs1parlaal6ysrqt'@.ll
'e,hol 'sllal lepe3 lo trI3 etll

to tpunoC fiC aql ltq pelo-rdde ssalun ro lllun o4lca$a aq lou lleqs lueulear6v qql T ffi6@65'Ol
'dBan

-+o-tq6p cllqnd aql u;qlrt eceds Adncoo ol lullIrn1ua3 q lq6p rolsrslul fuedord {ue aleerc ol paru}suof,

eq llErls luauaar6v s1q1 q 6u1q1ou 're$rnJ l,t"*+J1,J6., qiqnO etl} aGeueut Jo lolluoo ol rc 'r{err-lo-ltl6!

crlqnd aql asn ol seg*ua Jsqro Jol uolss;ru.rad rr"i6 'r" -l*rq6u qnnd eql esn ol lq6p s.r{13 aq feitr

f,ue ugpulsar ro 1qrlt ol pen4su@ eq lpr{s lusuaal6v slql u! peuglum Euglop TElfi-1?TtiE[EEmi '6

luauraer6y slr{l qllrr,r aouep1qJce ul {e,n{o'}q6p qpnd e$ quin aJaq,l esle seul!3Bl 1ul1rtn1ueg

aql alEcola1 ol1uttfrniuaj'e4nUar o1 &13 eql UurU Ien ,{ue u! lleqs uogces s;q1 q 6u;tgou lBql 'ia e'I$otl

'pepyro.rd'lueuaat6yqWlosulJolatsqu'v\suepJoryf,EulsarullceJ>lu!'lrtrquaCoqlJoesnFnulluoo
eql lullfJnu"c ^orr" 

oirt o"-r", aq rJur se slq6.u qsns oulruasard lnoqlrnr'earypafou aq] u!l'l]!ll\

Ie,Utrlo-tqouclHndar$.rolueueseSr{lBnqnna6qle}BcE'as!'BraqloJoeouEulpJo&'pullEqstrIC
aql.lueue€J6vstt.ltqpnaouer1du*ut.ul"*",>tut..t,trnluacse6uo;sV@'8

'eue: a+ q r{cua.ngap.p,{luqn6all

{ue sanlar* pu= ,eoJV paloa eql u|1$!,}\ saqruas ll|lfln pn[pe pue e}Ecolel ,uopuEqB o1 parrra.rlnba.t

eql lo [I3 aql Aq acltou tu"t"Un" pue laOola ss6peFfroupe ltqaaq >1ur1r{'rn1ua3 TolEiSffi@EN 'e

'ularcq quoJ lgs {lecgrceds se ldacxe 'pasBepJ pue pe lefl 'fielaldutoo
pue {;pT {qalaq arB qolqr*'earypefol6 aql uiq1;a spaurase3 lu;1bnpa3p uogEsel/aouefanuoorol'to

sagllpe, s,>;u11Arruua3 p lueuqsnfpe ro uollesolsr 'lueuuopueqs JoJ 1ut1'tnluag loJ Jo ol '{ttC 
er+ [q ped

3q|leqsle^eoqeq^\*,6","p,o.uopesuaduroo|BuoUppeJoJaqilruoN@'g
'pe[o.rd arg 1o uopepurooJo aull aql le pelFlsu! ipear;e pu

se$tpEllul'l{rnpa3 Aue.n}ca[ou argpped se pq"nfpero palecolarlou sa$l!cBt{u]-l'{rnue3 due ol

rroieiou tieqs qde.,6aed stql lsao s.r1u5&nuec le eq tpqs fuessanau $autsnlpe lo uo!]sx]lei arn]ru
' 

Euluraep luc at{l ,ew"rlto uosEar rtue .rol pafo.rd 3q1p ued se pepnfpe Jo PslBeoFJ 3Ja^ lEq] eflv

lcelo.rd ar0 ulr8f^ seulpet >lunfunluaC p luatr.qsnfOe Jo uol]B3opJ em]nJ ?usuqsnfpe Jo uo!]aoleJ qons

,o uo!]BulpJoqo pu" fu"*i"O aq1 ulano6 ll.qs ,uax""J6e pr.ll luanlsn[pB Jo tloll'coleJ qcns lo scu,^pB

,ltu"*""rOe alaedes e u!luet4snlpe.ro uoFmFJ eJnnl qcns ro] silsoo p€i]eul]se sU ]o uollquaumop

373

Item 35.



loegs

co luntrrlqt€ en p uqProdlos rse'sc)

'e6oqg pqq slsPe,\flryp

ar$ |o s $4u.na6t' tr'alrFEtsa pus lpFsolau s$ Pap*:ra a Btl s€$'Ed ils 'JoEIIEIHA'I ss=$tlJt^ Hl

:ss t

,Tffim-
@

efigq rroplaneg'?U a6HU
z6te€e€gg

UraEs,&t3
s8qg)paqg

€tgggvt tlPJ@C'1p f'ry1Cgg
zstE*W€lc
-taat$ug &C

3d'a'pnatrrrE(l

:483
rl4-I,furqrqt

:q [a! &eqpro rQ px lo FsHIre 'paaqpJp'rml8d

lst{u?'eqileqstrIE6u*mulaclF.|s$all€3Jfrrquotluengrdrgt6smr615g@N 
.02

ruaLlpafir s.nfl P trofls'Frlg

asnes '$qldo s&3 €{S }e Ueqs r 'pfi;1 'o pg9*14 pa6pnss oc t@ pu pal rgclr}od HBs # ss ?ryp

pu' arq FU uf on*e.rJp*ri ur*rmrry ".t* tr; 'StF6;l .ro 
'q;ppt 

.1prp 'o 1uau*r6y q1glo suqEAod

6u;u;euer arg palp trs,n fire q pu u! u'tnt'oi*ar: Iury::*'te6eru ro ntex+ tua n&*

q*B p us.si^.,4 iue &n6e neqs ,*i*i$*6'rtr Io urrco B,,frt., 
".$ 

ul q1TF-E at

'erlresa*r{$t€ile$$oo

4sil gJn$.6 q s@s €filgffiaj sNsl ilBx.ls trtB luEEua4r&a' IlF'rqd& Fr*a pUB qoPl$'4,qE!1'lill

*r.,npr,**rgv q,er"pun ir,q*Apd sUefie pue erqaeauoaqns 'sry'ryloo lF UlIo$E plls

1u5gr*ua3 
.rm6ecg4pnbsp lEuqdnfiJo tpf 

",iq 
e E ,l#qEs.F eleqero $al**ta F*qBdI,oo

ep$ Buoq F[u€ssa ,J;;:" "d 
greqr,r ]d&a 'ilet 1gool .g1 'egs pffiJ & pasp6 ooflHstsp

Jaq,o ILE.K]'stry1s ueIsls Jo LqBIIIE t[ qat8'{4uap'tapd't'Wusl'o FrD@s 
.IU]$BE['

?& ,uqQpr 'g1rlgp F!iltr4lJo l4r315 !4qro Fugs|;t'ipo 'rqoo- 5<a6 'ffiI,o dlEsaq +ss&dua q
peqddero aetro$p l* r*t@ rytryrq'Ep pu rn*u ptn sasr69 xflIryryJ t6@@:ffifr 'el

'IUed fuluqss*tlotl.c Eqrqsr.ea+ql fl8Jo $esu@ Eryl'r Jo{Jd al* lncE0l'A pry8pse

ro pareletE4 aq pq AEu rrrall€etad els 'qun *'qqBqno p* sa*np 'elq$ eqr EF-ffi 'el

paUlnnsn' eEBg stgpue sro slnln$mratIeBotqstllnfo geuqprfiro UE pql@pg(l lFlls tp$$

loqse.qIEd.EllltsoqlruFcBaqrl.pamurpe''@,,"qdgrltrramarsue'{r@FIffi.g|'

374

Item 35.



L

Err\ollo alels aql JoJ pue ul ctlqnd fuelop

eir\ol 'snel repa3lo AlC aqtlo lralC fu3 se ?$lt{ 'ueslalue0,a-uf:3:f::l:::.1::i::j3
'h! Ueqou Aq 'OZ0Zlo f"p otll uo aul aJoleq ps6pafiroupe seff\ pJoos.l sll'{I

( ArNno3 )lMvH Y3\fl8

:ss (

(vMollo 3lVrS

IJal3 IllC'3yUAl'uasletueg eutpnb're1

:ISSIJV

rodery 'uaare 'n Paqou

vMol 's']lvl uvcl33 JO Al-13

:r{8

:sel1dx3 uolsslu'ru'ro3 IY1

q6ffi to alels aql ro] pue ur $Hnd tueloN

e/qlp uollejedlo3 lsaalgl 1o

ffi T;tt f}i*f 
no{ffi 

tlfi 
03.,''r

iiovuo'toc Jo rwls
cngnd AuvIoH
ulv-18lt{Ylo

Aq '?zoz '--@- w Aeffffaql uo ou aro'aq

Wlo{uno3

e'OO lulttunluao

375

Item 35.



E Greenhill Rd

Greenhill Dr

Luke St

Ch
adw

ick
 Rd

Huntington Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

Prairie St

Cedar Hill Rd

Gre
en

Cre
ek

Rd

Millenium Dr

Segment 1
Segment 2
Segment 3
Current Project Area

Exhibit A

376

Item 35.



LLJ 
> 
Q: 
a 
.\!) 
I-
:r: 
(.'.) 

LLJ 
:r: 
Q: 
.q: 
a 
LLJ 
u 

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF 
ACQUISITION 

TRANSPORTATION 
PLAT 

EXHIBIT "A" 
BLACK HAWK STATE CONTROL NO. 

STBG-SWAP-11850--SG-07 PARCEL NO. 35 
29 89 RANGE 13 

COUNTY 
PROJECT NO. 
SECTION 
ROW-FEE ______ S.F. 

TOWNSHIP 
EASE 0.14 AC 6,253 s. F. EXCESS-FEE s . .F. 

ACCESS RIGHTS ACQUIRED STA ____ _ 
ACCESS RIGHTS ACQUIRED ST.A ____ _ 
ACQUIRED FROM SLR FARMS LLC 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS; IOWA· 
EASEMENT ACQUIRED FOR Pu.sue UTILITY EASEMENT 

NW Corner NE1/4 SW1/4 
Sec 29-89-13 FNO PK No i I 
Head . of Nai I Missing 
Ex Corner Cert Bk 2007 Po 261 79 
Ti es Check · · 

STA 
STA 

MAIN LINE SIDE 
SIDE ROAD SIDE 

N[ CO RNER . NE1/4 SW1/41CENTERI 
SEC W-89-13 FNO MAG NAIL 

Ex Corner Cert Bk 2003 Pg 6 765 
T Jes Check 

~------------------------- - -------S89~~2'0~:~,-~24.3_8: ____ __ ________ __ ____ _ --------+--

I 
• ~Cl 

[Sa oO 
.QO 

1:~ 
l~~ 
oNN 

i6~ VJ VJ 

I 

!1 

HUNT I NG TON ROAD 

8 .86 

SW Corner NE1/4 SW1/4 

31.50 ' Pub I ic 
Utility Easement 

Sec 29.-89-13 FNO 3/4 ". Pipe 
Ex Corner Cert Bk 2009 Pg 8576 
Ti es Check 

I hereby certify that this land surveying document 
was prepared and the reloted survey wQrk.wos 
performed by me or under my direc1 personal 
supervision and that -I om a du I y I i censed 
PrOfessionol Land Surveyor under the lows of lhe 
State of Iowa. 

7'~ ~ 7-13-~zo 
1iRYCOA DA TE: 

·License nurrDer 18643 

My License Renewal Dote is Decerrber 31. 2021 

Pages covered by this seal: _______ _ 

EXHIBIT "A" ONLY 

DATE REVISED ____________ _ 

V> 
w 
a: « 
> 

--15------

~ FOUND SECTION 
CORNER 

a: 

• FOUND RIGHT OF 
WAY RAii: 

• FOUND AS NOTED 

N 

J:!k 
0 SET 112" REBAR W~f\E 

YELLOW PLASTIC CAP 
#18643 

0 25' 50' 

5==---,~~~I 

DATE DRAWN JULY 13 2020 SCALE ____ 1_"_=_5_0' ____ ~ 377

Item 35.

tolanm
Text Box
Exhibit B



::·, ~ •• • ~, eo· 

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT GRANTED FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES IS TO LAND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 
13 WEST. OF.THE 5rn P.M., NOW INCLUDED IN AND FORMING A PART OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK 
HAWK COUNTY, IOWA AS SHOWN ON THE ACQUISITION PLAT EXHIBIT "A", ATTACHED HERETO AND BY 
REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRiBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF 
SECTiON 29; THENCE SOUTH 0°28'17'! EAST ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 
SOUTHWEST li4 OF SECTION 29, A DISTANCE OF 120.00 FEE'( THENCE NORTH 89°31'22" EAST, 33.00 
FEET TO THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CEDAR HEIGHTS DRIVE; THENCE SOUTH 0°28'17" EAST ALONG 
SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, 38.84 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 61°10'11" 
EAST, 113.88 FEET; THENCE NORTH 72°51'37" EAST, 155.46 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 61°10'11" WEST, 283.12 
FEET TO SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; THENCE NORTH 0°28'17" WEST ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF
WAY LINE, 35.SO FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND CONTAINING 0.14 AC. (6,253 S.F.) 

PROPERTY SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENjS OF RECORD. 

. V:\l'rojects\2019\119.0263.08\Design\ROWAcquisitionV/35- SLR Fanns\Parccl 35 PUE.docx . 
BLACK HA WK COUNTY . - -
PROJECT NO. STBG-SWAP-1185()-SG-07 
PARCEL35 . 
PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT 

378

Item 35.



EXHIBIT C 

 

CenturyLink Relocation Cost Estimate 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

 

          $   16,369.14     Material 

          $  133,701.35    Labor 

          $  150,070.49    Total Cost 

    

379

Item 35.



380

Item 35.



381

Item 35.



382

Item 35.



383

Item 35.



384

Item 35.



385

Item 35.



386

Item 35.



387

Item 35.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: February 25, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Street Construction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3227 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Street Construction Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, March 15, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Tuesday, March 23, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by March 
5, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on March 5, 
2021 allowing three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the construction of portions of fourteen (14) City streets totaling 2.63 miles. 
Work will include 15,770 SY removal and replacement of the existing pavement; 8,891 SY 
removal of HMA surfacing and milling; 5372 ton HMA overlays; 1,696 LF of PCC Curb and 
Gutter; subgrade preparation; 2,195 LF of various sized storm sewer; 23 new storm sewer 
intakes; 207 LF of sanitary sewer replacement; sanitary sewer services; 2,560 LF of 4” 6” and 8” 
water main relocation; 4,040 LF of subdrain installation; replacement of driveway approaches 
and pedestrian ramps. In addition, the project requires intake modifications, installation of 
signage and associated posts and striping.   
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $4,345,182.75. The project will be 
funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund, GO 2020, Sanitary Sewer Rental 
Fund and Cedar Falls Utilities funding sources.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

388

Item 36.



ITEM ITEM UNIT TOTAL

NO. CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 2010-108-C-0 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. $3,500.00 1 $3,500.00

2 2010-108-D-3 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. $20.00 1117 $22,340.00

3 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. $15.00 5488 $82,320.00

4 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. $30.00 25 $750.00

5 2010-108-F-0 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. $9.00 520 $4,680.00

6 2010-108-G-0 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. $250.00 33 $8,250.00

7 2010-108-H-0 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. $3.50 8707 $30,474.50

8 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. $10.00 2253 $22,530.00

9 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. $20.00 15568 $311,360.00

10 3010-108-D-0 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS $25.00 3210 $80,250.00

11 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" TRUSS PIPE L.F. $80.00 130 $10,400.00

12 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. $100.00 72 $7,200.00

13 4010-108-E-0 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE STUB, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. $100.00 5 $500.00

14 4010-108-H-1 REMOVAL SANITARY SEWER L.F. $5.00 202 $1,010.00

15 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. $60.00 1106 $66,360.00

16 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. $65.00 276 $17,940.00

17 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. $70.00 175 $12,250.00

18 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. $75.00 289 $21,675.00

19 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. $80.00 28 $2,240.00

20 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. $100.00 78 $7,800.00

21 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. $120.00 243 $29,160.00

22 4020-211 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH $500.00 2 $1,000.00

23 4020-108-D-1 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. $15.00 4796 $71,940.00

24 4040-108-A-0 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. $12.00 4040 $48,480.00

25 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH $400.00 22 $8,800.00

26 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH $400.00 45 $18,000.00

27 4040-108-A-0 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. $25.00 40 $1,000.00

28 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. $60.00 60 $3,600.00

29 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. $65.00 40 $2,600.00

30 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. $70.00 2460 $172,200.00

31 5010-108-C-2 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. $15.00 5200 $78,000.00

32 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH $1,250.00 22 $27,500.00

33 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH $2,600.00 13 $33,800.00

34 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, SHORTSIDE, 2" EACH $2,500.00 1 $2,500.00

35 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 2" EACH $3,000.00 1 $3,000.00

36 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH $125.00 12 $1,500.00

37 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH $150.00 12 $1,800.00

38 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH $175.00 24 $4,200.00

39 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH $225.00 4 $900.00

40 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH $250.00 37 $9,250.00

41 5010-XX-3 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH $175.00 66 $11,550.00

42 5020-108-A-0 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH $2,200.00 15 $33,000.00

43 5020-108-C-0 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH $5,000.00 6 $30,000.00

44 5020-108-E-0 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH $500.00 1 $500.00

45 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH $4,000.00 3 $12,000.00

46 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60" DIA. EACH $4,500.00 1 $4,500.00

47 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH $6,000.00 2 $12,000.00

48 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH $5,600.00 1 $5,600.00

49 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-508 EACH $6,500.00 1 $6,500.00

50 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH $10,000.00 1 $10,000.00

51 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH $5,800.00 19 $110,200.00

52 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH $3,200.00 5 $16,000.00

53 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH $2,200.00 2 $4,400.00

54 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH $3,200.00 1 $3,200.00

55 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH $2,000.00 5 $10,000.00

56 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH $2,600.00 9 $23,400.00

57 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-3 TOP & INSERT EACH $3,200.00 2 $6,400.00

58 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-5 TOP & INSERT EACH $3,700.00 8 $29,600.00

59 6010-108-E-0 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH $1,500.00 35 $52,500.00
60 6010-108-F-0 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH $2,500.00 14 $35,000.00

61 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH $1,000.00 46 $46,000.00

62 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH $1,500.00 2 $3,000.00

63 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. $50.00 10613 $530,650.00

64 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 9 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. $65.00 5178 $336,570.00

65 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. $50.00 515 $25,750.00

66 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. $25.00 1105 $27,625.00

67 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. $60.00 76 $4,560.00

68 7010-XX-1 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. $520.00 7 $3,640.00

69 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON $120.00 2686 $322,320.00

70 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON $120.00 2686 $322,320.00

71 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. $9.00 769 $6,921.00

72 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. $9.00 1131 $10,179.00

73 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. $45.00 1122 $50,490.00

74 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. $60.00 281 $16,860.00

75 7030-108-G-0 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. $50.00 482 $24,100.00

76 7030-108-H-0 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. $50.00 644 $32,200.00

77 7030-108-H-2 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS $35.00 310 $10,850.00

78 7040-108-A-0 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. $300.00 34 $10,200.00

79 7040-108-C-0 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS $200.00 20 $4,000.00

80 7040-108-G-0 MILLING S.Y. $37.75 4674 $176,443.50

81 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. $7.00 15770 $110,390.00

82 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. $7.00 8891 $62,237.00

83 7040-108-I-0 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. $12.00 1619 $19,428.00

84 8010 REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION LS $10,000.00 1 $10,000.00

85 8020-108-B-0 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. $45.00 44 $1,980.00

86 8020-108-G-0 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH $75.00 18 $1,350.00

87 8020 STOP SIGN(BLINKERSTOP) FLASHING WITH SOLAR LED EACH $3,000.00 3 $9,000.00

88 8020-XX-1 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH $500.00 43 $21,500.00

89 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $50,000.00 1 $50,000.00

90 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. $0.85 6715 $5,707.75

91 9020-108-A-0 SOD S.F. $1.00 53466 $53,466.00

92 9040-108-A-2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS $20,000.00 1 $20,000.00

93 9040-108-D-1A WATTLES, 9IN STRAW L.F. $4.00 7008 $28,032.00

94 9040-108-D-2A WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. $0.50 7008 $3,504.00

95 9040-108-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH $150.00 85 $12,750.00

96 9040-108-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH $50.00 85 $4,250.00

97 11020-108-A-0 MOBILIZATION L.S. $300,000.00 1 $300,000.00

98 11030-XX-1 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH $500.00 25 $12,500.00

99 11050-108-A-0 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS $5,000.00 1 $5,000.00

$3,895,172.75

$34,110.00

$415,900.00

$4,345,182.75

TOTAL STREET RECONSTRUCTION

TOTAL SANITARY WORK

TOTAL WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

2021 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

P.C.C. PAVING / SUBDRAINAGE
CITY PROJECT NO. RC - 000 - 3227

FINAL ESTIMATE OF COSTS

AND QUANTITIES

FEBRUARY 25, 2021

389

Item 36.



390

Item 37.



391

Item 37.



392

Item 37.



393

Item 37.



394

Item 37.



395

Item 37.



396

Item 37.



397

Item 37.



398

Item 37.



399

Item 37.



400

Item 37.



401

Item 37.



402

Item 37.



403

Item 37.



404

Item 37.



405

Item 37.



406

Item 37.



407

Item 37.



408

Item 37.



409

Item 37.



410

Item 37.



411

Item 37.



412

Item 37.



413

Item 37.



414

Item 37.



415

Item 37.



416

Item 37.



417

Item 37.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of February 15, 2021
	210215MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation-Read Across America Day
	2021-03-02_ReadAcrossAmericaDay

	Item 3.	Proclamation-International Women's Day
	2021-03-08_InternationalWomensDay2021

	Item 4.	PH-Band Shell Lease
	band lease hearing.council.mem
	band lease_001

	Item 5.	PH-Adaptive Reuse of Buildings
	1. Memo_Adaptive Reuse of Church Buildings.CC.3.1.2021
	Ordinance.adaptive reuse of institutional buildings.TA20-002.final.final.

	Item 6.	2984-Permitting Poultry
	1  poultry ord memo 1-26-21B
	2  2984-Permitting Poultry

	Item 7.	2985-Rear Yard Poultry
	3  2985-Rear Yard Poultry

	Item 8.	2983-Nuisance Poultry
	4  2983-Nuisance Poultry

	Item 9.	Mask Mandate Extension
	Res-Extend Mask Mandate

	Item 10.	CBMF Public Event Permit
	1-sp. event permit Cedar Basin council.mem
	2-Res-Cedar Basin permit
	3-CB Music Permit
	4. Letter CF

	Item 11.	LT9 Public Event Permit
	4-sp. event permit Live to 9 council.mem
	5-Res-Live to 9 permit
	6-LT9 Permit

	Item 12.	Mayor's Monthly Report-February
	2021-02-25_Mayor_MonthlyReport

	Item 13.	CF Racial Equity TF-Mayor
	2021-02-23_CFRacialEquityTaskForceMemo

	Item 14.	Resignations-Boards & Commission
	Bartlett resignation-ACB
	Weeg resignation-BOA

	Item 15.	Work Session Minutes
	02-15-21 City Council Work Session Minutes

	Item 16.	Committee of the Whole Minutes 2/15/21
	Comm of the Whole 021521

	Item 17.	Monthly Report - January
	01-January 2021 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 18.	Liquor-Beer 03/01/2021
	Liquor Beer 03.01.21

	Item 19.	Assessment-234 Clark Drive
	234 Clark Dr.-Supporting docs

	Item 20.	Assessment-821 Madison Street
	821 Madison St.-Supporting docs

	Item 21.	Assessment-2303 Washington Street
	2303 Washington-Supporting docs

	Item 22.	Suspending Paid Parking-Extension
	1-memocc-suspend parking fees
	Res-Extend Suspension of Paid Parking

	Item 23.	McMahill-amend Deed of Dedication
	1-Memo to Mayor Council Amendment to Deed of Dedication McMahill First Addition
	2-Amendment to Deed of Dedication red line McMahill (2)
	3-Amendment to Deed of Dedication McMahill smooth 1-14-2021 (2)
	4-Resolution Approving Amendment to Deed of Dedication for McMahill First Addition

	Item 24.	Emergent Agreement-City Hall Remodel
	Memo-Consulant Contract - Emergent
	B101-2017 - Owner-Architect Agreement - Updated
	Certificate of Insurance - Professional
	Certificate of Insurance - General

	Item 25.	CHDO Agreement-Habitat for Humanity
	1. Memo on CHDO Agreement V2 2-22-21
	2. Agreement-CHDO Habitate 2021-WlooCF signed 2-9-21

	Item 26.	CBD Site Plan-108 E 4th Street
	01 CC Staff report 108 E 4th St
	02 ZoningLocationMap
	03 210215_Georges supplemental materials

	Item 27.	CHN Site Plan-remodel-704-706 W 28th Street
	1_CC Staff report 704-706 W 28th.3.1..21.fv
	2_Current Main Floor
	3_Current Basement
	4_Proposed Main Floor
	5_Proposed Basement
	6_Applicant Letter of Intent
	7_Submitted Public Comment - Melanie Griffiths
	8_Submitted Public Comment - Bob Diedrichs
	9_Submitted Public Comment - Manette Scallon
	10_Submitted Public Comment - Correspondence with Melanie Griffiths
	11_Submitted Public Comment - More correspondence from Melanie Griffiths

	Item 29.	S-1 Site Plan-Facade Improvements- 6607 University Avenue
	01 CC staff report for 6607 university avenue
	02 ZoningLocationMap
	03 Previously approved drawings
	04 Starbecks Smokehouse Build-Out - 2.5.21
	05 Starbeck&#39;s Smokehouse - Materials - 2.19.21

	Item 30.	Bids-2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project
	1. Low Bid - 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehab
	3253 - 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehab Bid Tab

	Item 31.	Bids-Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project Phase II
	1. Memo - Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Phase II
	2. Bid Tab

	Item 32.	Final Out-2020 Sidewalk Assessment
	1. Memo - 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Final Out
	2. Final Pay Estimate - Signed
	3. Performace, Payment and Maintenance Bond-Signed
	4. Croell Lien Waiver

	Item 33.	Final Statement-2020 Sidewalk Assessment
	1. Memo - 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Breakdown of Final Costs
	2. Breakdown per location - 2020 Assessment Project
	3. Sidewalk Zone Map

	Item 34.	Terracon SA2 Agreement
	1. Memo - Terracon Tank Supplemental Report
	2. SA2 - Terracon 1st St Water Line &amp; Monitoring
	3. SA2 - Exhibit A - Terracon Work Plan Proposal

	Item 35.	CenturyLink Agreement Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction
	1. Memo - Cedar Heights Lumen Agreement
	2. CenturyLink Relocation and Easement Agreement
	2  2021 02 26 - CenturyLink Signed Agreement
	3. Exhibits A-G

	Item 36.	Set PH-2021 Street Construction Project
	1. Memo - 2021 Street Construction
	2. Estimate

	Item 37.	Allow Bills and Claims of March 1, 2021
	1 Daily Invoices 030121
	2 Council Invoices 030121

	Bottom

